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REPORT OF OPENING SESSION

The Opening Session was called to order at
09:00 hours on October 16, 2006, by the
Chairman, Dr. Vera Alexander, who welcomed
delegates, observers and researchers to the
PICES Fifteenth Annual Meeting (PICES XV).

Welcome addresses on behalf of the host
country, the host city and the host agency

Mr. Akira Nakamae (Deputy Director-General
of the Fisheries Agency of Japan) welcomed
participants on behalf of the host country (OP
Endnote 1), Mr. Hiroshi Nakada (Mayor of
Yokohama) addressed the session on behalf of
the host city (OP Endnote 2), and Mr. Kyouichi
Kawaguchi (President of the Fisheries Research
Agency of Japan) greeted participants on behalf
of the host agency (OP Endnote 3).

Remarks by representatives of Contracting
Parties and the Chairman of PICES

Dr. Alexander invited Dr. Laura Richards
(Regional Director of Science, Pacific Region,
Fisheries and Oceans Canada) to make a
statement on behalf of the Canadian
Government. Dr. Richards addressed the
session and her remarks are appended to the
report as OP Endnote 4.

Dr. Alexander called upon Mr. Fengkui Liang
(Division Director, Department of International
Cooperation, State Oceanic Administration,
People’s Republic of China) to make a statement
on behalf of the Chinese Government.
Mr. Liang addressed the session and his remarks
are appended to the report as OP Endnote 5.

Dr. Alexander then asked Dr. Ig-Chan Pang
(Director, Headquarters for Marine Environ-
ment, National Fisheries Research and
Development Institute, Ministry of Maritime
Affairs and Fisheries, Republic of Korea) to
speak on behalf of the Korean Government.

Dr. Pang addressed the session and his remarks
are appended to the report as OP Endnote 6.

Dr. Alexander invited Dr. Lev N. Bocharov
(Director-General, Pacific Scientific Research
Fisheries Center, Federal Agency on Fisheries,
Russian Federation) to make a statement on
behalf of the Russian  Government.
Dr. Bocharov addressed the session and his
remarks are appended to the report as OP
Endnote 7.

Dr. Alexander requested Dr. Samuel Pooley
(Director, Pacific Islands Fisheries Science
Center, National Oceanic and Atmospheric,
Administration, United States of America) to
speak on behalf of the U.S. Government.
Dr. Pooley addressed the session and his
remarks are appended to the report as OP
Endnote 8.

Dr. Alexander called upon Dr. Tokio Wada
(Counselor, Resources Enhancement Promotion
Department, Fisheries Agency, Japan) to speak
on behalf of the Japanese Government.
Dr. Wada addressed the session and his remarks
are appended to the report as OP Endnote 9.

Dr. Alexander thanked Mr. Nakamae,
Mr. Nakada and Mr. Kawaguchi, and all the
delegates for their remarks and spoke on behalf
of PICES. The text of her address is appended
to the report as OP Endnote 10.

Wooster Award presentation ceremony

Dr. Alexander and the Science Board Chairman,
Dr. Kuh Kim, conducted the Wooster Award
presentation ceremony. Dr. Kim quoted the
following Science Board citation for the 2006
Wooster Award (reading of the citation was
accompanied by a special slide show dedicated
to Dr. Makoto Kashiwai):
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In 2000, PICES established an award in honor
of Dr. Warren S. Wooster, the principal founder
and first Chairman of PICES, and world-
renowned researcher and statesman in the area
of climate variability and fisheries production.
The award is to be given annually to an
individual who has made significant scientific
contributions to North Pacific marine science;,
has achieved sustained excellence in research,
teaching, administration or a combination of
these in the area of the North Pacific; has
worked to integrate the various disciplines of the
marine sciences; and preferably someone who
is or had been actively involved in PICES
activities.

Prior recipients of the Wooster Award are Prof-
Michael M. Mullin (2001), Prof. Yutaka Nagata
(2002), Prof. William Pearcy (2003), Prof. Paul
H. LeBlond (2004), and Dr. Daniel Ware
(2005). Today, it is with great pleasure that |
announce the Warren S. Wooster Award
recipient for 2006. The Wooster Award for
2006 is being given to Dr. Makoto Kashiwai, a
nationally and internationally distinguished
interdisciplinary ocean scientist.

Dr. Kashiwai has authored or co-authored more
than 20 primary journal articles, book chapters
or review papers covering several disciplines
that include fine-scale coastal hydrodynamics,
biological production and fish population
dynamics, and climate-scale ocean variability.
His early career was with the Faculty of
Fisheries at Kyoto University, where his
research used hydraulic model experiments and
theory to study tidal exchange, residual
circulation and tidal vortices in Kumihama Bay.
While in Kyoto, he also investigated the
formation of the anoxic layers of water in
Kumihama Bay using field observations, and he
contributed to the development of a continuous
fish egg sampler, which was used in
interdisciplinary studies of the microdistribution
of fish eggs, larvae and plankton and its relation
to ocean microstructure.

In 1986, Dr. Kashiwai moved to the Hokkaido
National Fisheries Research Institute where he
worked as the Head of the Physical
Oceanography Section, and later as the Director

of the Fisheries Oceanography Division until his
retirement in 2001. During this period, he
conducted a series of studies on the
oceanographic structure and variability of the
Oyashio region and its ecological influences.
Among other observations obtained at this time,
Dr. Kashiwai began routine physical and
ecological observations of the Oyashio region
along the “A-Line”. This line is now an
important time series, which continues today,
and which has contributed greatly to the
understanding of seasonal to decadal variability
of the Oyashio region. Dr. Kashiwai, with other
colleagues, also initiated studies of the
relationships between oceanographic variability
and fish population dynamics of Japanese
sardine and walleye pollock in the Oyashio. In
1989, he organized a special session at an
international symposium on “The Okhotsk Sea
and sea ice”, where the results of the Oyashio
project were presented. This symposium marked
Makoto’s first appearance on the international
stage. At the symposium, he met Prof. Yutaka
Nagata and Dr. Daniel Ware (both previous
Wooster Award winners), and those meetings
led him into ecosystem modeling in the Oyashio
region and to PICES. Later, Makoto and his
Japanese colleagues conducted comparative
studies of the La Perouse, Oyashio and
Labrador ecosystems under a Japan/Canada
Science and Technology Exchange program with
Canadian scientists from the Department of
Fisheries and Oceans. As part of this work,
ecosystem models were developed to compare
the impact of interannual and decadal ocean
climate variations on lower trophic levels and
fish population dynamics between western and
eastern boundary current regions.

Dr. Kashiwai has been generous in serving the
ocean science community at both the national
and international levels. He served as a member
on several committees of the Japanese Society of
Fisheries Oceanography, and later as the Vice-
President of that society. OK, but what has he
done for PICES, you wonder? Well, his service
to PICES has been also extensive and in many
roles. He was a member of PICES’ Working
Group 1 on the Okhotsk Sea and Oyashio
region. Japan offered to host the PICES Third
Annual Meeting in Nemuro in 1994. Makoto



was appointed the main local coordinator of the
meeting. On October 5" 10 days before the
start of the Annual Meeting, an 8.1-magnitude
earthquake occurred in the southern Kurils and
northern Hokkaido. The arranged venue for the
PICES meeting was severely damaged and
unusable. Makoto took the lead in arranging
alternate facilities and preparing everything
from scratch for the meeting, which was finally
held primarily in the Nemuro-City Library. At
the same  meeting, he  convened a
PICES/GLOBEC workshop and was appointed
the Co-Chairman of the PICES/GLOBEC
initiative on Climate Change and Carrying
Capacity (CCCC). He devoted significant time
toward getting the CCCC Program up and
running,  establishing  task  teams, and
contributing scientifically to the MODEL Task
Team. At PICES IV in 1995, he succeeded his
friend and colleague, Dr. Daniel Ware, as the
Chairman of the Science Board of PICES. His
term as the Science Board Chairman concluded
in 1998, and that same year, the Japanese
Government appointed him as national delegate
to PICES. Thus, in a few short years, he had
served as Co-Chairman of the first PICES
scientific program, as Science Board Chairman,
and as a national delegate on Governing
Council. But, that apparently was not enough,
for in 2000 he became again the Co-Chairman
of the CCCC Program for another three years!

In his recent “retirement” years, Makoto has
continued his study of the Oyashio ecosystem, he
has coordinated a cooperative study of Nemuro-
city and SakhNIRO, Russia, on the larval
transport of the Hanasaki crab, and he has been
an adjunct professor at the Tokyo University of
Agriculture, where he continues to teach
fisheries oceanography of the subarctic Pacific
to undergraduate and graduate students.

In conclusion, Dr. Makoto Kashiwai is an active
leader in fisheries oceanography, on theoretical
and observational studies of the structure and
variability of the Oyashio, and has contributed
greatly to the goal of international cooperation
and collaboration on North Pacific Ocean
research in general, and through PICES
specifically. He is eminently qualified and a
worthy recipient of the Wooster Award of
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PICES, and we are pleased to honor him today
with this award.

Dr. Wooster was the Chairman of PICES during
the first year when Dr. Kashiwai served as the
Science Board Chairman, and they also co-
chaired the PICES/GLOBEC Ccccc
Implementation Panel and developed a special
working relationship. Dr. Alexander read the
following tribute sent by Dr. Wooster:

1t is an honor for me to participate in this award
to Makoto Kashiwai, one of the early and most
substantial ~ contributors to the scientific
programs of PICES. He first made his mark
with development of the CCCC Program. While
the question was inspired by the threat of
saturating the North Pacific with expatriate
salmon, its broad scope became clear in
Makoto’s classic paper on the history of the
carrying capacity concept. This demonstrated
that carrying capacity was not just an arbitrary
and ill-defined constant in a theoretical
productivity equation, but was an index of
ecosystem productivity and a variable function
of environmental change. It made evident, to me
at least, that the carrying capacity for a specific
population, for example that of Steller sea lions,
could change with the climate as did the
availability of suitable food. The development of
this program, to which Makoto has made major
contributions, has been fundamental towards
achieving the scientific goals of PICES.

Of course, as the Science Board makes clear in
its citation, Makoto has been involved in most
scientific activities of PICES, so perhaps that
which I have emphasized is not the most
significant. But it has certainly clarified the way
I look at the effects of climate variations on
marine ecosystems, so perhaps the education of
this  oceanographer at least is worth
recognizing. In my view, the case for presenting
this award to Makoto Kashiwai is crystal clear.

Dr. Alexander presented a commemorative
plaque to Dr. Kashiwai (a permanent plaque
identifying Wooster Award winners resides at
the PICES Secretariat), who accepted the award
with the following remarks:
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Thank you, Vera. Thank you, Dr. Kim. This is
the greatest honour of my life.

When I heard from my old PICES friends that
they were planning to nominate me as a
candidate for the PICES Wooster Award of this
year, [ felt a strong hesitation because I do not
feel that I am a great professor or excellent
scientist as the previous recipients. But they told
me that the major reason for my nomination is
that I am one of the first generation PICES
scientists that is brought up by PICES and
helped to shape the Organization today. I could
not deny that and so I accepted the nomination,
which will be a strong encouragement for
present and future PICES scientists, especially
from non-English-speaking countries.

I can clearly remember the words of Dr. Warren
Wooster, back in 1995, when I hesitated to
accept the position of Science Board Chairman
because of my insufficient English speaking
ability. Warren said, “My expectation is not in
your English speaking ability”. I thought, at
that time, that Warren might have found in me
some possible capability to cope with the role of
Science Board Chairman. Now [ am sure that
Warren meant nothing but my incapability in
English itself. It was very important for PICES
at that time, for any scientist from a non-
English-speaking country to sit in a major
driving seat of PICES, because, except for 2
member countries in North America, the rest of
the 4 member countries on the western side of
the Pacific are non-English-speaking countries.

My first project was to compose the Chairman’s
Handbook. The most important task for me was
to incorporate the guideline “Use slow and

clear English, not machine-gun talk”, which was
much help through my PICES days. This might
be one of the expectations of Warren. This
Handbook was not an instruction booklet made
by the Secretariat, but a driving manual for new
Chairmen of any subsidiary body of PICES,
hoping that PICES can be an organization
driven by scientists.

During my Science Board Chairmanship, both
PICES and 1 benefited from the powerful
participation of elder and younger colleagues,
and it was a truly rich and enjoyable time.
Thus, this award is a proof of the achievement
by all the PICES scientists who shared my
PICES days with me. So, I would like to ask all
of the PICES colleagues here to share this
honour and happiness with me. Thank you.

PICES “Year-in-Review” 2006

Dr. Kuh Kim reviewed PICES’ scientific
accomplishments since the Fourteenth Annual
Meeting (OP Endnote 11).

Keynote lecture

The keynote lecture entitled “Biological
production, animal migration and ecosystem
regime shifts in the Kuroshio and Oyashio
Currents: Perspectives for sustainable use” was
given by Dr. Akihiko Yatsu (Hokkaido National
Fisheries Research Institute) as a part of the
Science Board Symposium on “Boundary
current ecosystems”.  The abstract of his
presentation is appended to the report as OP
Endnote 12.

The Opening Session closed at 10:40 a.m.
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Welcome address on behalf of the host country by Mr. Akira Nakamae

Madame Chairperson, distinguished guests,
ladies and gentlemen: It is my great pleasure to
be able to hold the Fifteenth Annual Meeting of
the North Pacific Marine Science Organization
(PICES) in the city of Yokohama. On behalf of
the Government of Japan, let me extend my
sincere welcome to you.

Since its foundation, PICES has made valuable
scientific contributions toward the issues of
climate change and to the responses observed in
the marine ecosystem. It has recently dealt with
the problems in coastal areas being shared by the
member nations, such as the occurrence of
harmful algal blooms, the outbreak of jellyfish
on a large scale, or the spreading of invasive
alien organisms, and attained profound results. I
would like to pay my full respect to those who
extended their best effort during this period, in
particular to the Chairperson, Dr. Vera
Alexander, and the Executive Secretary,
Dr. Alexander Bychkov.

I have been involved with various international
fisheries negotiations, including those on tuna

and whales. Through these negotiations, which

OP Endnote 2

sometimes have led to a severe conflicting
position due to one’s own interests, I strongly
feel that what is most important is an objective
discussion based on the scientific knowledge
and the spirit of reciprocity. The benefits of
living marine resources and marine ecology are
the common assets nature has given to mankind,
and it is our duty to conserve them appropriately
and to utilize them in a sustainable and wise
manner. In undertaking such obligations, the
advancement of marine science carried out by
PICES, and by coordination and cooperation of
the member countries for that target will, I am
sure, render a great support. I expect that in the
future PICES will continue to play a central role
in the research of marine science in the North
Pacific Ocean, and will return the outcomes to
various areas of the North Pacific Ocean as well
as to the member countries.

Finally, I wish this Annual Meeting will bear
scientifically fruitful results and give an
opportunity to deepen the mutual friendship and
trust among all the participants.

Thank you very much.

Welcome address on behalf of the host city by Mr. Hiroshi Nakada

Distinguished ladies and gentlemen: On behalf
of the 3.6 million citizens of Yokohama, I would
like to celebrate the opening of the Fifteenth
Annual Meeting of the North Pacific Marine
Science Organization (PICES). 1 am very
pleased to hear that PICES was established to
serve the collaboration of fisheries and marine
science in the North Pacific Ocean area.

The Red Brick Warehouse where you are
presently was a popular building from Meiji
through the Taisho period, that is, from around
130 years ago to the 1920s, and until 1955,
freighters were installed here, carrying goods
and fisheries products from the port. So this red
brick building on the water-front is a historical
structure and symbolizes Y okohama.

I am sure you have already seen some parts of
Yokohama. As the city is on the seaside, whales
and young tuna were seen in the olden days.
The high-grade materials for Japanese Edo style
sushi, such as mantis shrimp or sea eel used to
be harvested here. There are beautiful water-
front scenery, the biggest China-town in the
world and shopping areas for you to enjoy.

The world, in particular Yokohama city, is
watching the activities of PICES this time.
Please attain a fruitful meeting and provide us
with the scientific information. I wish that your
work will further be developed and your
research will contribute to the society.

Thank you very much.
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OP Endnote 3

Welcome address on behalf of the host agency by Mr. Kyouichi Kawaguchi

Madame Chairperson, distinguished guests,
ladies and gentlemen: On behalf of the hosting
organization for the Fifteenth Annual Meeting of
the North Pacific Marine Science Organization
(PICES), as the President of the Incorporated
Administrative Agencies, Fisheries Research
Agency, I would like to extend my cordial
welcome to you all.

PICES, since its establishment in 1992, has
carried out, until now, various scientific
activities to advance marine science in the North
Pacific Ocean and to promote international
cooperation toward that objective. During this
period, a rapid expansion was noticed in the
exchange between scientists and research
institutes of the member countries, advancing
research in diverse fields of marine science and
strengthening the ties among scientists and
research institutions.

The Fisheries Research Agency, having its head
office here in Yokohama, is a core organization
of marine research in Japan. It has actively
performed activities of PICES together with
other universities and research institutes of
fisheries or marine studies. We are very pleased
to have contributed, during these years, to the
measures such as changes in the marine
ecosystem of the North Pacific Ocean,
elucidation on the dynamic movement of marine
ecosystem, and counter-measures against toxic
red tide or outbreak of jellyfish. And it is a great
honor for us to help organize the Annual
Meeting at this occasion.

OP Endnote 4

Today, when the influence of global warming is
getting visible, and since the main focus of
PICES is placed on climate changes and
elucidation on the response by marine
ecosystems, the activities of the Organization
will be much more important in the future, not
only for the member nations, but also for the Pan
Pacific area. Under such circumstances, the
research institutes and universities in the
member countries have to keep closer ties and
work in collaboration to elucidate the problems
we are facing, and widely return the fruitful
outcomes to society. At present, the Fisheries
Research Agency is aiming to build a
comprehensive and cooperative relationship
with the Chinese National Marine Science
Research Institute and with the Korean National
Fisheries Research and Development Institute.
A Memorandum of Understanding is scheduled
to be signed in the near future.

I strongly believe that the closer ties among the
three countries, Japan, China and Korea, will
further advance research on fisheries and the
ocean, and at the same time make activities of
PICES further developed.

Lastly, I wish that this Annual Meeting would
be completed with great success, and I hope you

will enjoy a comfortable stay in Yokohama.

Thank you very much.

Remarks at the Opening Session by Dr. Laura Richards (Canada)

Madame Chairman, distinguished guests and
colleagues: On behalf of Canada and the
Canadian delegation, I would like to thank the
Fisheries Research Agency and the Government
of Japan for inviting us here to the beautiful port
city of Yokohama.

PICES has just completed another exciting year
with the CCCC synthesis symposium in Hawaii.

This symposium not only examined how
ecosystems respond to climate variability but
also identified priorities for the next stages
climate—ecosystem variability research. Then,
the Line-P symposium in Victoria in July
examined 50 years of oceanography along
Line-P, and outlined plans to ensure the
continuation of this important data series.
Another highlight is the planning for the next



major integrative scientific program. These
events continue the long history of research in
oceanography and fisheries science in the North
Pacific — a history of which PICES now plays a
proud part.

The new program, FUTURE, will build on the
success of the CCCC Program and continue to
advance PICES’ work by developing a
forecasting capability, thereby further
developing PICES’ ability to advise member
nations on important changes that are occurring
in the Pacific Ocean. This will require, more
than ever, a truly multinational, interdisciplinary
approach — an approach that PICES will
continue to foster. These developments will
ensure that PICES stays relevant by providing
information to help governments and society in

OP Endnote 5
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making the tough choices that lie ahead.
FUTURE should also bring new people and
fresh ideas into PICES to keep it a vibrant and
dynamic organization. I expect FUTURE to be
a hot topic of conversation during this meeting.

For next year, I look forward to welcoming you
all to Victoria when it is Canada’s turn to host
the PICES Sixteenth Annual Meeting. This will
be a particularly special event for us, since it
will mark the beginning of a year-long
celebration recognizing 100 years of science at
the St. Andrews Biological Station on Canada’s
east coast and the Pacific Biological Station at
Nanaimo, north of Victoria, on Canada’s west
coast. I hope to see you there.

Thank you.

Remarks at the Opening Session by Mr. Fengkui Liang (People’s Republic of China)

Respected Chairperson, distinguished delegates,
representatives and  guests, ladies and
gentlemen: First of all, I would like, on behalf
of the Chinese Delegation, to extend our thanks
to the Government of Japan and the PICES
Secretariat for inviting us to attend this Fifteenth
Annual Meeting of PICES. Our thanks also go
to their hard effort devoted to the preparation of
the meeting. It is our great pleasure and honor
to be able to participate in this important
gathering in the field of marine science in the
region.

For the past decade, PICES has grown into a full
fledged and an important intergovernmental
regional organization for marine science. The
successful implementation of its various
programs and activities by the participating
governments and their distinguished scientists
contributed a lot to the sustainable use of the
ocean resources of the member countries. And
now, more and more countries have paid greater
attention to the role of marine science in
promoting the sustainable development of ocean
resources. In order to achieve the sustainable
development of the ocean, an ecosystem

approach has been widely advocated by several
UN agencies, governmental and non-
governmental organizations, including the
World Summit on Sustainable Development.
There is general understanding that there is still
great uncertainty how the ecosystem-based
approach works in science. There will be a great
role for PICES to exert in solving these
uncertainties through science. And therefore,
we in principle endorse the proposed themes for
the future PICES Integrative Scientific Program
entitled Forecasting and Understanding Trends,
Uncertainty and Responses of Ecosystems,
which is to be the focus of the future activities of
the Organization for the next phase. We would
also continue encouraging Chinese scientists to
be more deeply involved in the implementation
of the PICES program and contribute to its
success.

Finally, we wish all of us a wonderful stay in
Japan and great success for the Annual Meeting.
We welcome you all to Dalian in 2008 for the
PICES Seventeenth Annual Meeting.

Thank you very much.
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OP Endnote 6

Remarks at the Opening Session by Dr. Ig-Chan Pang (Republic of Korea)

The Chairperson of PICES, distinguished
delegates, guests, colleagues, and ladies and
gentlemen: On behalf of the Republic of Korea
and the Korean delegation, it is my great honor
to welcome all of you to this Fifteenth Annual
Meeting of PICES. 1 would like to express our
sincere thanks to the Government of Japan, the
Chairperson of PICES, Dr. Vera Alexander, the
Executive Secretary of PICES, Dr. Alexander
Bychkov, and the local organizing committee for
hosting this important meeting.

Through PICES activities, we in the North
Pacific are expanding our international and
interdisciplinary scientific cooperation. [ would
like to appreciate the enthusiastic efforts of
PICES scientists. The Republic of Korea
realizes the importance of international
cooperation in ocean science, and our
government is getting more interested in PICES
activities and has encouraged young scientists to
join PICES activities with various supporting
programs. One of such programs is to bring 24
young scientists to PICES XV by the research

OP Endnote 7

vessel Gaya of Pukyong National University
from Busan port in Korea to Yokohama port in
Japan. As a part of PICES activities, the
CREAMS/PICES international workshop and
the first PICES international summer school,
held in Korea this summer, were partly
supported by our government, and both were
well attended and concluded with very good
results. The Government of the Republic of
Korea is willing to support PICES activities.

PICES is a unique organization that includes the
involvement of both scientists and governments.
Through the coordinated efforts of PICES
scientists, we can maintain the North Pacific
ecosystem. PICES is getting important and
therefore, can play an important role in the
future in helping the member countries in policy
decision making for the ecosystem.

I wish all of you successful achievement at this
Fifteenth Annual Meeting with the PICES spirit.

Thank you very much.

Remarks at the Opening Session by Dr. Lev N. Bocharov (Russian Federation)

Dear Dr. Vera Alexander, distinguished guests,
dear participants, ladies and gentlemen: First,
on behalf of the entire Russian delegation I
would like to thank PICES for the invitation to
take part in the Fifteenth Annual Meeting. 1
would also like to thank the local organizing
committee for their prompt and effective activity
during the preparation of the meeting.

The scale of PICES activities has enormously
increased during the 14 years since the origin of
the Organization. Today, PICES is a widely
known and authoritative international
organization, whose role in the study of oceans
and seas has been constantly growing. PICES
relationships and joint activities with other
international  organizations have notably
strengthened during the last years. Interest in
PICES projects as demonstrated by a wide
international audience has increased as well.

At the moment, PICES is considering the
possibility of new coming members and
observers from other Pacific Rim countries to
join the organization. Involvement of new
countries will certainly improve our knowledge
and understanding of marine ecosystems,
particularly, their state-of-the-art dynamics and
interaction.

Much work is done in between PICES Annual
Meetings. Scientists from various fields
(biology, oceanography, chemistry, efc.) are
involved in research under the auspices of
PICES. They develop complex ecosystem
approaches, organize inter-disciplinary symposia
and promote research projects.

The Russian Federation has always paid much
attention to the development of scientific
knowledge about marine living resources of the



World Ocean. That is why an international
scientific community, called “PICES”, and its
activities, are highly appreciated in Russia. The
fact that Russia is involved in PICES provides
an additional credit to our country and favors
our increasing influence on the development of
international cooperation in the Pacific Ocean
region of Asia.

The participation of Russian scientists in various
PICES programs and conferences provides an
access to the extensive set of data on
fundamental and applied ecosystem studies for
other PICES countries. These data are
incorporated into the international database thus
improving our understanding of global processes
underlying environmental changes and their
impact on marine inhabitants.

All of us are now completing the integrative
CCCC Program, and working on development
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of the next PICES integrative scientific program,
“FUTURE”. Russia is interested in pooling
efforts of all the PICES members to fulfill these
programs. We have worked out several concrete
suggestions on how to implement these
programs.

“Boundary Current Ecosystems” of the North
Pacific Ocean is the key theme of the PICES
Fifteenth Annual Meeting. 1 am quite sure that
the progressive ecosystem approach towards the
study of the ocean will be widely used by all
nations in their endeavors towards the utilization
of marine living resources and the development
of aquaculture.

In conclusion I would like to wish all the
participants of this meeting an interesting and

fruitful meeting.

Thank you for your attention.

Remarks at the Opening Session by Dr. Samuel Pooley (U.S.A.)

Good morning, distinguished delegates and
fellow scientists. It is with great pleasure that
the United States thanks the Government of
Japan for hosting this year’s PICES Annual
Meeting at this wonderful venue in Yokohama.
Yokohama has a rich history and we look
forward to getting to know it better.

The United States understands that this is a
pivotal meeting for PICES as we develop a
program for our future work. Collaborative
science is the hallmark of PICES, and our future
integrative science program must weave these
strands in a truely interdisciplinary fashion. But
this integration is not easy, just as the work of an
essentially voluntary organization of academic,
governmental, and independent scientists is not
easy. Both depend on a strong spirit of
collegiality and creativity. The challenge is
even greater as we bring the forces of climate
and human impacts into the equation concerning
ecosystem processes, biological productivity,
and resource use.

The development of young scientists in all
member nations goes hand-in-hand with
developing the new PICES science program.
The United States is pleased to host the 2007
ICES/PICES Early Career Scientists Confe-
rence, as well as to continue its support of the
PICES Intern Program to help build capacity in
young scientists internationally. We encourage
strong participation in the Early Career
Scientists Conference and look forward to
continued success for the Intern Program.

It is a special pleasure for me to represent the
United States at this meeting in Yokohama since
the staff of my own fisheries research laboratory
has a 50—year history of work with Japan’s Far
Seas Laboratory located nearby in Shimizu.
When we look at the patterns of productivity in
the North Pacific albacore fishery, we see strong
decadal signals that can only be caused by
complex interactions of biology with an
underlying oceanographic process. Similarly,
new technologies allow us to identify so-called
“hot spots” of the occurrence of bigeye tuna and
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other fishery species at 30°N related to
oceanographic conditions. We hope that PICES
will broaden its focus to include new species
such as tunas and their more extensive habitats.

Finally, let us hope that the close working
interactions of the PICES scientific community

OP Endnote 9

foster the kind of international cooperation that
enhances the role of science in society.

With that, let me close by wishing everyone a
productive fortnight.

Thank you for your attention.

Remarks at the Opening Session by Dr. Tokio Wada (Japan)

Madam Chairperson, distinguished delegates,
guests, ladies and gentlemen: Welcome to
Y okohama! On behalf of the Japanese
participants, and as a citizen of Yokohama, I
would like to extend my sincere welcome to all
of you. One hundred and fifty years ago,
Yokohama opened its port to the world.
Thereafter, Yokohama has been developed as a
Japanese window where the East meets the West
beyond the Pacific Ocean. Therefore, I could
say that here is the best place to hold this PICES
Fifteenth Annual Meeting.

Boundary current ecosystems, the theme of this
Annual Meeting, have been a basic topic for
PICES. We have frequently discussed various
aspects of their role, such as a transport system
of eggs and larvae, a migration passage of
marine organisms, and a transport system of heat
and other materials. Those discussions have not
only promoted the North Pacific marine science,
but also affected fisheries management and
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ecosystem conservation in the Contracting
Parties.

On the other hand, the boundary current is an
interface of coastal and offshore waters. If its
heat transport changes with global warming,
coastal ecosystems must be strongly affected.
Therefore, studies on the interaction between
boundary currents and coastal waters are
important for understanding the influence of
global warming to various ecosystem services of
coastal waters.

As an old proverb says, by exploring the old,
one becomes able to understand the new. I
would like to expect that this Annual Meeting
will provide an opportunity to synthesize the
previous discussions, and will be a starting point
for more advanced studies.

Thank you very much.

Welcome Address by Dr. Vera Alexander, Chairman of PICES

Mr. Nakamae, Mr. Nakada, Mr. Kawaguchi,
distinguished delegates and members of the
PICES community: It is a great pleasure to be
warmly welcomed here in  Yokohama.
Yokohama is a strong and vital maritime center,
famous as a focus for Japanese research on the
deep sea and for advanced technology. We
thank our hosts for their vision and hospitality in
making this unusual and charming venue
available for this PICES Annual Meeting.

This is the last time that I will have the pleasure
of addressing you as Chairman of PICES, and I
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have to tell you that I have enjoyed working
with this marvelous PICES family over the past
4 years as Chairman and, in fact, during the
entire gestation and life of the Organization in
other capacities as well. I say “family” rather
than our more usually applied term “member”
because that is what we are. We are a
multinational multitude of scientists all united in
a common cause — developing an in-depth and
predictive understanding of the North Pacific
Ocean. The contributions by scientists from all
the signatory nations have been amazing. As a
result, our goal of advancing knowledge of the



North Pacific Ocean is being achieved. Not only
have official participants in the various bodies of
the Organization worked hard and effectively,
but a much broader community has been
engaged in the scientific meetings, symposia and
workshops.

The theme of my message to you today, as I
prepare to step down as Chairman, is the
compelling need to continue to address our
changing world, and the important role PICES
has to play in this. Why? In the process of
developing PICES, well before the memorable
occasion in Ottawa in November 1992, when
finally signatures were put on paper, the group
that I call the “PICES plotters” held meetings
and symposia that, for the first time, examined
the relationship  between  oceanographic
processes, climate and biological processes,
including fisheries. This blending of disciplines
was prescient, and led towards the contemporary
approach, now universally accepted — almost!
It is hard for our young scientists to understand
that there once were formidable difficulties in
bringing long-established disciplines together.
No one recognized this more than our founder,
Dr. Warren Wooster, a physical oceanographer
himself. Now, we accept the juncture among
fields, and the holistic approach to our oceans.

The PICES/GLOBEC CCCC Program built on
this enlightened approach. The practical
application of its results becomes even more
important, as climate warming persists and we
recognize that now, more than ever, biological
resources need a new management paradigm.
This will be to the benefit of all PICES nations
and beyond. A comprehensive understanding of
ecosystem science is needed to enable a new
enlightened approach.

PICES has produced the report on the status of
the North Pacific Ecosystem and is winding
down the CCCC Program. The nature of the
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next large integrative PICES program is as yet
unknown. As we proceed with the conception
and planning, PICES almost certainly will bring
a new dimension into the picture — the human
dimension.

History shows that PICES can rise to the
occasion, and address timely and important
scientific issues. Arguably, nothing is more
critical than the potential effects of climate
change, and nothing confounds our ability more
to predict future conditions. Managing fisheries
in the context of such change and taking into
account the complexities of a marine ecosystem,
is a daunting task, and acquiring an in-depth
scientific knowledge is but the first step.

We will need to take our collective knowledge,
apply newly emerging scientific understanding,
and develop a new paradigm for dealing with
our Pacific Ocean. This will be to the benefit of
all PICES nations and beyond. The next decade
promises to be fruitful, if we can continue to
apply the PICES tradition of relentless
international cooperation in addressing the
problem. We are a small organization, with six
nations and a small secretariat. The Pacific
Ocean is vast, and relatively understudied, at
least in comparison with the Atlantic. We must
count on you, the PICES scientists, to lead the
charge and get the job done.

Science is truly the international language, and it
recognizes no boundaries. Just as we break the
scientific barriers through cooperation, so we
also develop a mutual understanding among the
nations on the North Pacific margins, again to
the benefit of all. There is a lot of work to be
done, and the PICES family is ready, willing and
able to move ahead. Let this meeting be a
milestone in effecting a regime shift in
knowledge.

Thank you for your attention.

11
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PICES “Year-in-Review” 2006 by Dr. Kuh Kim, Chairman of Science Board

PICES aims to develop international
collaborations by bridging scientists across
disciplines, national boundaries and institutions
through the organization of meetings and
publications.

PICES has maintained excellence in its record of
publications in 2006. Selected papers from two
Topic Sessions convened at PICES XIII in 2004
on “Mechanisms that regulate North Pacific
ecosystems: Bottom up, top down, or something
else?” and “Hot spots and their use by migratory
species and top predators in the North Pacific”
are published this year in Progress in
Oceanography (Vol. 68, Nos. 2-4) and Deep-Sea
Research II (Vol. 53, Nos. 3-4), respectively.
Two more major publications are now in press:
results of the IFEP SERIES experiment will be
published by the end of 2006 in Deep-Sea
Research II (Vol. 53, Nos. 20-22), and a set of
papers on NEMURO and NEMURO.FISH
models will appear in Ecological Modelling in
February 2007. 1 would like to take this
opportunity to express our thanks to the guest
editors of all four special issues for their
outstanding efforts to make these publications
possible in time.

Since its inception, PICES has established the
Scientific Report Series as an essential vehicle to
distribute its knowledge, and in 2006 two more
reports are added. PICES Scientific Report
No. 31 is the proceedings of the 2004 workshop
on “In situ iron enrichment experiments in the
eastern and western subarctic Pacific”, and
PICES Scientific Report No. 32 is the
proceedings of the 2005 workshop on “Oceanic
ecodynamics comparison in the subarctic
Pacific”. Results of the PICES/NPRB workshop
on “Integration of ecological indicators of the
North Pacific with emphasis on the Bering Sea”
will be published in December as PICES
Scientific Report No. 33.

This year is particularly notable in that the

PICES community has met thirteen times at
workshops and meetings around the world since
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the 2005 Annual Meeting in Vladivostok. Some
of these include:

= In October 2005, an NPAFC/PICES
symposium on “The status of Pacific salmon
and their role in North Pacific marine
ecosystem” was held in Jeju (Korea);

» In November 2005, a workshop on “Global
comparison of sardine, anchovy and other
small pelagics — building towards a multi-
species model” (sponsored by FRA, APN,
IAI, PICES and GLOBEC) was held in
Tokyo (Japan);

= In April 2006, a PICES/GLOBEC
symposium on “Climate variability and
ecosystem impacts on the North Pacific: A
basin-scale synthesis” was convened in
Honolulu (U.S.A.);

= In June 2006, a PICES/NPRB workshop on
“Integration of ecological indicators for the
North Pacific with emphasis on the Bering
Sea” was convened in Seattle (U.S.A.);

* In June 2006, an ESSAS workshop to
develop comparative studies of the sub-
Arctic seas (sponsored by GLOBEC, PICES
and TINRO-Center) was organized in St.
Petersburg (Russia);

* In July 2006, a symposium on “Time series
of the Northeast Pacific Ocean” (sponsored
by DFO and PICES) was convened in
Victoria (Canada), to mark the 50"
anniversary of Line-P, which has been a
backbone of time series observation
programs in the northeastern Pacific;

* In August 2006, a CREAMS/PICES
workshop on “Model/data inter-comparison
for the Japan/East Sea” (sponsored by SNU,
KORDI, PKNU and PICES) was held in
Busan (Korea);

= Close cooperation between PICES and ICES
continued this year with two joint theme
sessions on “Large-scale changes in the
migration of small pelagic fish and the
factors modulating such changes”, and on
“Operational Oceanography convened at
the ICES Annual Science Conference in
Maastricht (Netherlands) in September.



As PICES has been recognized as a very
successful organizer of international meetings,
several big symposia are already in front of us.
Preparation is well underway for the 4"
International Zooplankton Production
Symposium on “Human and climate forcing of
zooplankton populations” (co-sponsored by
PICES, GLOBEC and ICES) to be held in May
2007, in Hiroshima (Japan). Active
participation of the PICES community is
expected in the 5™ International Conference on
“Marine bioinvasions” (co-sponsored by ICES,
PICES and the U.S. National Sea Grant
Program) in May 2007 (Cambridge, U.S.A.),
and in the International Symposium on
“Reproductive and recruitment processes in
exploited marine fish stocks” (co-sponsored by
NAFO, PICES and ICES) in October 2007
(Lisbon, Portugal). PICES will organize, with
ICES and IOC, an International Symposium on
“Effects of climate change on the world’s ocean”
to be held in May 2008, in Gijon (Spain).

PICES’ long-term interests in capacity building
resulted in organizing the first PICES summer
school on “Ocean circulation and ecosystem
modeling” held August 23-25, 2006, in Busan
(Korea). This school was co-sponsored by
PICES and several Korean universities and
institutions. Seven lecturers from Japan and
U.S. taught a total of 37 participants from all 6
PICES member countries plus Chile and
Indonesia (14 Ph.D. and 11 M.Sc. students, 7
early-career scientists, 4 undergraduate students,
and 1 from a private company). Certificates
were delivered to all participants on completion
of the school. PICES has already received a
proposal from Japan to host a second summer
school on “Ecosystem-based management’ in
September 2008, at Hokkaido University, in
Hakodate.

It has taken 3 years for PICES and ICES to
prepare the Early Career Scientists Conference
on “New frontiers in marine science” to be
hosted by the University of Maryland Center for
Environmental Science from June 26-29, 2007,
in Baltimore, U.S.A. The goal of the conference
is to foster the development of contacts,
collaborations, and associations among early
career scientists that will persist for decades, and
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to establish personal and institutional networks
that will help to advance our understanding of
the marine environment. Approximately 100
young scientists from around the globe will be
invited to share their interests in marine
sciences. For detailed information about the
conference please visit the PICES website.

Now I would like to turn to the most important
agenda of this Annual Meeting. As all of you
know very well, a Study Group was formed in
May 2005 to develop recommendations for one
or more new integrative scientific programs to
be undertaken by scientists in PICES member
countries, as the CCCC Program will come to its
completion in the near future. Since then, ideas
and themes have been widely solicited from
PICES communities, reviewed and assessed at a
special meeting convened on October 4, 2006,
during PICES XIV in Vladivostok, and
presented at the PICES XIV Closing Session.

As reported in the July 2006 issue of PICES
Press by Dr. Vera Alexander, PICES Chairman,
and Dr. John E. Stein, Science Board Vice-
Chairman, the Study Group has developed a
preferred theme, and a working document is
produced out of intense discussions at the joint
2006 inter-sessional Science Board/Governing
Council Meeting under a tentative title
“FUTURE”, which stands for “Forecasting and
Understanding  Trends,  Uncertainty  and
Responses of the North Pacific Ecosystem”. It
was agreed that the ultimate goal for the
Program is “To understand and forecast
responses of North Pacific marine ecosystems to
climate change and human activities at basin-
wide and regional scales, and to broadly
communicate this scientific information to
governments, resource managers and the
general public”.

Central Scientific Issues to be addressed by

FUTURE include:

" marine ecosystem responses on seasonal,
annual and decadal time scales;

= climate forcing of physical, biological and
biogeochemical processes at scales relevant
to PICES member countries;

= ecological interactions and linkages across
ecosystems;
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» the direct and indirect effects of human
activities such as fishing, aquaculture,
species invasion, and pollution;

* the cumulative impacts of multiple
ecosystem stresses on biological diversity;

= forecasting in a policy environment through
risk-based ecological assessments.

It is expected that all of you will participate in
Committee meetings on Wednesday (October
18) afternoon to further review the preferred
theme and specify the key research activities of
FUTURE. At the Open Forum on Thursday
(October 19) afternoon we will hear outcomes
from Committee meetings on the highest priority
research activities, what type of forecasts should
we develop and what our focus should be to
broaden the communication of PICES science.

Finally, I would like to announce that to
facilitate the continuity of Science Board affairs,
the Governing Council (at the 2006 inter-
sessional meeting) established a Science Board

OP Endnote 12

Chairman-elect position to allow the election of
the Science Board Chairman 1 year before the
official change of the chairmanship. It is my
honor to report to you that Dr. John Stein
(U.S.A.) was elected as the next Science Board
Chairman for 2007-2010. Dr. Stein has been
the Vice-Chairman of the Science Board and the
Chairman of the MEQ Committee. Please
welcome Dr. Stein.

PICES XVI will be held from October 26—
November 5, 2007, in Victoria, Canada. The
theme of this Annual Meeting is “The changing
North  Pacific: Previous patterns, future

projections, and ecosystem impacts”. In 2008,
we will meet in Dalian, China, for PICES XVII.

All materials in my presentation and up-to-date
information of PICES are available real-time on
the PICES website, and I urge you to be part of
PICES through this website.

Thank you.

“Biological production, animal migration and ecosystem regime shifts
in the Kuroshio and Oyashio Currents: Perspectives for sustainable use”
Abstract of the keynote lecture
by Dr. Akihiko Yatsu (Hokkaido National Fisheries Research Institute, Japan)

The poleward-flowing Kuroshio and the
equatorward-flowing Oyashio are western
boundary currents that transport heat, nutrients,
and planktonic animals, including fish larvae
from the subtropical/subarctic gyres, to the
coastal areas of the Japanese archipelago. They
converge east of Honshu Island to form an
oceanographically complex Transition Zone that
is an important area for the recruitment of some
pelagic fishes of commercial interest. These
species have developed life history traits and
horizontal migration patterns by adapting to the
seasonality of biological production and
oceanography. Climatic and ecosystem regime
shifts are key factors affecting the population
dynamics of species in this region and need to be
considered for the sustainable use of the region’s
ecosystem services, including fish harvests.
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Proper understanding of how ecosystem
dynamics are linked to both climate and human
activities is essential for wise management,
which recognizes ecosystem factors and various
uncertainties. The most plausible mechanisms
for sardine/anchovy cycles in the
Kuroshio/Oyashio system are discussed to
highlight  the importance of  these
interconnections. Perspectives for sustainable
use of ecosystem services, including fishing,
will be discussed more generally in relation to
case studies involving: 1) reclamation effects on
a coastal ecosystem, 2) mitigation -efforts,
3) successful adaptive co-management in a
coastal fish stock, and 4) failure of fisheries
management due to an overcapitalization that
resulted from a mismatch between investment to
fishing fleets and ecosystem regime shifts.
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REPORT OF GOVERNING COUNCIL

The Governing Council met from 9:00-12:30 on
October 17, from 9:00-17:00 on October 21, and
from 9:00-12:30 on October 22, under the
chairmanship of Dr. Vera Alexander. All
Contracting Parties were represented at the three
sessions (GC Endnote 1). At the first session,
the Chairman welcomed attendees, introduced
the agenda and suggested the order in which to
take up the various items. The agenda was
adopted as presented (GC Endnote 2). This
report summarizes the treatment of each agenda
item during the course of the three sessions.

Report on Administration (Agenda Item 3)

The Executive Secretary summarized the
activities of the Organization and the Secretariat
since PICES XIV. Council reviewed and
adopted the report. (GC Endnote 3).

Report of 2006 Governing Council inter-
sessional meeting (GC Agenda Item 4)

The tradition of holding inter-sessional meetings
of Science Board and Governing Council is
fairly new, but has become an integral part of
PICES management. As PICES is involved in a
daunting array of activities, it is not practical for
the governing entities to meet only once each
year at the Annual Meeting, and the plan is to
continue these inter-sessional meetings as
needed.

At the invitation of Dr. Samuel Pooley, the U.S.
National Delegate, the 4™ inter-sessional Science
Board meeting, with the participation of Council
members, was convened on April 17-18, 2006,
at the Ala Moana Hotel in Honolulu (U.S.A.). It
was followed by the meeting of Council on the
afternoon of April 18. The Pacific Island
Fisheries Science Center of the National Marine
Fisheries Service provided $3,000 to partially
offset PICES expenses for these events. The
dates and location of the meetings were chosen
to allow participants the option to attend the
PICES/GLOBEC Symposium on “Climate

variability and ecosystem impacts on the North
Pacific”, also held at the Ala Moana Hotel on
April 19-21. The report of the inter-sessional
Science Board meeting can be found elsewhere
in this Annual Report. A summary report of the
inter-sessional Council meeting is appended as
GC Endnote 4. An article that briefly reviews
the results from both meetings was published by
Dr. Vera Alexander in PICES Press (Vol. 14,
No. 2).

Membership and observers from other
countries (Agenda Item 5)

The Secretariat did not receive proposals from
any country to accede to the PICES Convention
in 2006.

The Chairman pointed out that expansion of
involvement with PICES among Pacific Rim
countries has been the subject of discussion in
Council. Earlier, Council expressed a strong
interest in encouraging Mexico to accede to the
PICES Convention (an initial resolution was
adopted at PICES VIII, Decision 99/A/5), and
spent significant efforts in doing so. Details can
be found in the 1999-2005 PICES Annual
Reports. Mexican scientists have been
enthusiastic about their involvement in PICES
activities. The formal response acknowledged
the interest on the part of Mexico as well as the
potential importance of membership. However,
economic considerations precluded their joining
at this time.

At PICES XIV, Council agreed that there is
merit for the Organization to consider the Pacific
Ocean in its entirety, and decided that it is time
to explore interest from other Pacific Ocean
countries in joining PICES activities, or even
membership if the Organization were, at some
point, to expand its geographic scope (Decision
05/A/6). The issue was further discussed at the
2006 inter-sessional Council meeting (see GC
Endnote 4 for details).
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The Chairman informed Council on her contacts
with 4 Pacific Rim countries that are currently
affiliated members of ICES (Australia, Chile,
New Zealand and Peru). Her letters of March 2,
2006, were intended to initiate a dialog that will
allow Council to determine whether scientists
from these countries might be interested in
having a greater role in the activities of our
Organization. PICES XV was suggested as the
appropriate venue to continue this dialog, and
invitations were extended to their representatives
to attend this Annual Meeting as observers.

Responses indicating an interest in taking up the
dialogue were received from 3 leading scientific
organizations: CSIRO Marine and Atmospheric
Research (CSIRO, Australia), National Institute
of Water and Atmospheric Research (NIWA,
New Zealand) and Instituto del Mar del Pert
(IMARPE, Peru). Two organizations sent their
representatives, Drs. John Gunn (Deputy Chief,
CSIRO) and Julie Hall (Biological Oceano-
graphy Program Leader, NIWA), to participate
in PICES XV. IMARPE was unable to send an
observer to PICES XV, but an invitation was
extended to PICES to visit IMARPE to inform
scientists and authorities about activities of the
Organization, and to discuss how PICES and
IMARPE can work together in the future. The
suggested time for this visit is in conjunction
with the international conference on “The
Humboldt Current system”, to be held
November 27-December 1, 2006, in Lima.
PICES is one of the co-sponsors of this
conference hosted by IMARPE.

Argo International Program

Asia-Pacific Network for Global Change Research (APN)

Bering Ecosystem Study (BEST)
Census of Marine Life (CoML)

At the first session of Council on October 17,
Drs. Gunn and Hall gave presentations on the
structure and activities of their respective
organizations and potential areas for their
cooperation with PICES. They kindly allowed
us to make their presentations accessible for
Council, Science Board and F&A Committee
members for future references. The Chairman
thanked both guests for addressing the Council,
and confirmed that they will be informed on
actions decided by PICES.

After long discussion Council approved the
recommendation of the F&A Committee that a
Study Group be established to explore options
on how scientific cooperation with other (non-
member) countries could be best achieved
(Decision 06/A/6). Terms of Reference and
membership of the Study Group are listed in GC
Appendix B. Council also agreed that Dr. R. Ian
Perry, PICES member of the Scientific Steering
Committee for the Humboldt Current system
conference, will visit IMARPE on behalf of
PICES to discuss potential areas and means for
collaboration.

Relations with relevant organizations and
programs (Agenda Item 6)

Letters of invitation to attend PICES XV were
sent to organizations and programs on the agreed
2005-2006 Standing List (with some additions),
and the following sent observers:

Dr. Nobuyuki Shikama
Mr. Hiroki Hashizume
Dr. George L. Hunt, Jr.
Dr. Ron O’Dor

Climate Variability and Predictability Program (CLIVAR) Dr. William R. Crawford

Ecosystem Study of Sub-Arctic Seas (ESSAS)
Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO)
Global Ocean Ecosystem Dynamics (GLOBEC)

International Council for the Exploration of the Sea (ICES)
International Geosphere-Biosphere Program (IGBP)

Dr. Kenneth F. Drinkwater
Mr. Ichiro Nomura

Dr. Manuel Barange

Dr. Adolf Kellermann

Dr. Manuel Barange

Integrated Marine Biogeochemistry and Ecosystem Research (IMBER) Dr. Julie Hall
Northwest Association of Networked Ocean Observing Systems (NANOOS) Dr. Jack Barth

North East Asian Regional GOOS (NEAR-GOOS)
Northwest Pacific Action Plan (NOWPAP)
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Dr. Takashi Yoshida
Dr. Norio Baba
Dr. Jeung Sook Park



North Pacific Anadromous Fish Commission (NPAFC)
North Pacific Fishery Management Council (NPFMC)

Pacific Coast Ocean Observing System (PaCOOS)

Scientific Committee on Oceanic Research (SCOR)

Surface Ocean Low Atmosphere Study (SOLAS)

IOC Sub-Commission for the Western Pacific (WESTPAC)
Yellow Sea Large Marine Ecosystem project (YSLME)

The Executive Secretary provided a report on
communication with the relevant international
and national organizations and programs since
last year’s Annual Meeting (see GC Endnote 3
for details). At the first session of Council
(October 17, a.m.), invited representatives of
several organizations and programs (APN,
BEST, CoML, ESSAS, FAO, IMBER,
NOWPAP, NPAFC, PaCOOS, SCOR, SOLAS,
YSLME) expressed their views on potential
areas of collaboration with PICES. The
Chairman thanked all guests for attending and
presenting their thoughts, and assured them that
PICES will continue expanding its relationships
with organizations and programs aligned with
the PICES ecosystem research focus, and that
their proposals will be carefully considered by
relevant Committees and Science Board. All
available presentations will be posted on the
PICES website.

Some programs and organizations (AOOS,
Argo, APN, BEST, ESSAS, IMBER, NANOOS,
NOWPAP, NPRB, PaCOOS) had posters on
display outlining general information and
highlighting their scientific objectives and recent
activities. Representatives of GLOBEC and
ICES were invited to discuss on-going or
proposed joint activities with PICES at the
Science Board meeting.

Council reviewed the progress made in the
integration and coordination of PICES activities
with other international and national scientific
organizations and programs, and discussed the
Standing List of International and Regional
Organizations and Programs and priorities for
interaction in 2006-2007. It was noted that no
changes or additions were recommended by
Science Board to the Standing List approved for
2005-2006 (Decision 05/S/7, SB Endnote 7 in
the 2005 PICES Annual Report).
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Dr. Richard J. Beamish
Dr. Diana Evans

Dr. Jonathan T Phinney
Dr. Julie Hall

Dr. Shigenobu Takeda
Dr. Hyung-Tack Huh
Dr. Yihang Jiang

At PICES XIV, Council pointed out the
importance of establishing relations with the
Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC),
and suggested that Science Board develop
potential areas of cooperation with APEC
Working Groups on Fisheries (APEC-FWGQG)
and Marine Resources Conservation (APEC-
MRC). Unfortunately, no progress was made on
this issue.

Progress report of the Study Group on
Future Integrative Scientific Program(s)
(Agenda Item 7)

At the 2005 inter-sessional meeting, Council
established a Study Group (SG-FISP) to develop
ideas for one or more new integrative scientific
program(s) to be undertaken by scientists in
PICES member countries (Decision 05/S/6). A
presentation on the progress made by SG-FISP
in 2006 was given by Dr. John E. Stein (Science
Board Chairman-elect) on October 21.

After PICES XIV, the themes proposed for the
next PICES integrative scientific program,
FUTURE - Forecasting and Understanding
Trends, Uncertainty and Responses of the North
Pacific Marine Ecosystem, and their short
descriptions, as well as a 2005 SG-FISP
progress report were posted on the PICES
website for comments and advice from the
scientific community. Feedback from PICES
colleagues and SG-FISP members stimulated an
in-depth discussion of FUTURE at the 2006
inter-sessional Science Board/Governing
Council meeting.  This meeting, reviewed
actions taken by SG-FISP since PICES XIV, and
developed a list of central scientific issues and
key words, and what was considered to be the
ultimate goal for the Program: To understand
and forecast responses of North Pacific marine
ecosystems to climate change and human
activities at basin-wide and regional scales, and
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to broadly communicate this  scientific
information to governments, resource managers
and the general public.

A sub-group composed of Drs. Stein, Michael J.
Dagg and Michael G. Foreman was formed and
requested to prepare a draft outline of central
scientific issues and key research activities for
FUTURE. The draft outline was sent to
Council, Science Board and SG-FISP members
for review on May 26, 2006. Responses were
collated by the Secretariat and provided to the
sub-group on June 15. The revised FISP outline
was widely circulated within the PICES
community on September 1, and posted on the
PICES website for comments. The document
pointed out that FUTURE is motivated by three
important societal issues in the North Pacific:
(1) the loss of resilience and productivity of
natural  environmental capital, such as
renewable  resources and  habitat,  and
irrepairable  damage  to  non-renewable
resources;,  (2) the loss of socioeconomic
opportunities due to natural and anthropogenic
change in marine ecosystems; and (3) increased
uncertainty and risk in decision making faced by
managers and policy makers due to climate
change and irreversible ecosystem change.

The FUTURE outline was assessed at the FISP
Open Forum held on October 19 at PICES XV.
The Forum included the review of the outline by
Dr. Stein, presentations by all Scientific and
Technical Committees to suggest the priorities
within FUTURE from the perspective of each
Committee, and comments from PICES
scientists and guests. Subsequent discussion at
the Science Board meeting resulted in the draft
workplan and timelines for the development of
FUTURE, which were presented to Council.

Proposed workplan and timelines were reviewed
at the Council meeting on October 22. The U.S.
delegation indicated that they had some
comments on the development of FISP they
wished to share with other Contracting Parties
and Science Board. Some of their questions and
comments were raised on October 21 during
Dr. Stein’s presentation, and then on October 22
with Dr. Kuh Kim during his presentation of the
Science Board report. A written record of their
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comments was provided on October 25 and is
appended as GC Endnote 5.

Council instructed the PICES Secretariat to
circulate the U.S. write-up and ask for additional
comments and recommendations from the other
Contracting Parties. Then all materials had to be
directed to Science Board.  Council also
suggested that input from Science Board by mid-
November 2006 would be important to prevent
delays. [A revised work plan with associated
timelines  was  prepared, taking into
consideration the U.S. comments on FISP
planning, and approved by Council in December
2006. Simultaneously, as a part of this work
plan, a FISP Writing Team, that includes 14
scientists representing all PICES member
countries, was established to develop a Science
Plan for FUTURE.]

High priority projects (Agenda Item 8)

Council reviewed the current status of the high

priority initiatives identified at the 2005 inter-

sessional Science Board/Governing Council

meeting:

= the development of PICES future integrative
scientific program(FISP);

» the preparation of the next North Pacific
Ecosystem Status Report (NPESR);

= capacity building; and

=  GOOS integration.

Details on the development of FISP can be
found under Agenda Item 7.

North Pacific Ecosystem Status Report

The responsibility for the development of the
next NPESR was assigned to the MONITOR
Technical Committee. It was expected that, in
consultation with the Secretariat and other
appropriate  PICES entities, MONITOR will
establish procedures, and schedule for the report
production. The first step in this direction was
made at PICES XIV (October 2005,
Vladivostok, Russia) when a workshop on
“Filling the gaps in the PICES North Pacific
Ecosystem Status Report” was convened to
review the successes and shortcomings of the
pilot NPESR (published in December 2004), and



to decide how future reports should look. At
PICES XV, MONITOR recommended that the
following =~ NPESR-related  products  be
developed: (1) a website reporting seminal time
series from Large Marine Ecosystems in the
PICES region, (2) a paper (and PDF) version of
the full report, and (3) brochure-like Outlooks or
Advisories to PICES member countries on
emerging ecosystem issues, and that a Section
within MONITOR be formed to deliver all 3
products (MONITOR Endnote 3).

These recommendations were not supported by
Council. Instead, it was agreed to establish a
Study Group on Ecosystem status reporting
under the direction of Science Board, with terms
of reference and membership as described in GC
Appendix B (Decision 06/S/6(i1)).

Capacity building

PICES’ strategy for capacity building was
approved in 2003, and is available on the PICES
website at http://www.pices.int/about/
capacity strategy.pdf. = At the 2005 inter-
sessional Science Board/Governing Council
meeting, several capacity building initiatives
were identified as the most important:
(1) 2007 ICES/PICES Early Career Scientists
Conference (ECS Conference); (2) PICES
summer schools on marine sciences; (3) travel
support for early career scientists to attend
PICES Annual Meetings and symposia;
(4) PICES Intern Program; (5) workshops on
ecological modeling; and (6) international
student exchange.

ICES/PICES ECS Conference

It has taken three years for PICES and ICES to
prepare an Early Career Scientists Conference
on “New frontiers in marine science” to be
hosted by the University of Maryland Center for
Environmental Science from June 26-29, 2007,
in Baltimore, U.S.A. The goal of the conference
is to foster the development of contacts,
collaborations, and associations among early
career scientists that will persist for decades, and
to establish personal and institutional networks
that will help to advance our understanding of
the marine environment. Participation is by
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invitation only, and approximately 100 scientists
from around the world will be invited by the
Conference Scientific Steering Committee to
share their interests in marine sciences. Detailed
information about the conference can be found
on the PICES website. Lodging and meals will
be provided by organizers at no cost to all
participants. ~ Limited funds will be also
available to cover the cost of travel for selected
scientists. Major funding for the conference
comes from ICES and PICES. ICES’
contribution is US $90,000. At PICES XIV,
Council approved $25,000 from the encumbered
funds designated for high-priority PICES
projects to be earmarked for the ECS
Conference (Decision 05/A/8). Our fund-raising
resulted in additional support for this event from
the North Pacific Research Board (NPRB, US
$15,000) and the Korean Ocean Research and
Development Institute (KORDI, US $3,000).
Council also agreed to use part of the surplus
($20,000) generated by the successful fund-
raising for the 2006 CCCC Symposium on
“Climate variability and ecosystem impacts on
the North Pacific: A basin-scale synthesis” to
finance the ECS Conference.

PICES summer schools on marine sciences

The first PICES summer school on “Ocean
circulation and ecosystem modeling” was held
on August 23-25, 2006, in Busan, Korea. Seven
lecturers from Japan and the U.S. taught a total
of 37 participants from all 6 PICES member
countries plus Chile and Indonesia (14 Ph.D. and
11 M.Sc. students, 7 early-career scientists, 4
undergraduate students, and 1 from a private
company). The major part of the funding for the
project was provided by the Seoul National
University (SNU), the Korean Ocean and
Research Development Institute (KORDI), the
Korean Ministry of Maritime Affairs and
Fisheries (MOMAF), the National Fisheries
Research and Development Institute (NFRDI),
and the Brain Korea 21 (BK 21) Program of the
Korean Ministry of Education and Human
Resources.

A proposal has been received from Japan to host

the second PICES summer school on
“Ecosystem-based management” in September
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2008, at Hokkaido University, in Hakodate.
Possibilities for co-funding include: the
Hokkaido University Sustainable Government
Project (HU-SGP), the Japanese Society for
Promotion of Science (JSPS) and the Asia
Pacific Network (APN).

Travel support for early career scientists

Travel support for early career scientists to
attend PICES XV was provided from the Trust
Fund. Applications received for this support and
their dispositions were reported at the F&A
meeting. Total expenses are close to $35,000,
but ~28% of this amount was granted by the
Scientific Committee on Oceanic Research
(SCOR). SCOR also allocated funds for
scientists from countries with “economies in
transition” to participate in the 2006 CCCC
Symposium (US $6,800), the 2007 Zooplankton
Production Symposium on “Human and climate
forcing of zooplankton populations” (US
$6,000) and the 2008 Symposium on “Effects of
climate change on the world’s oceans” (US
$7,500). The University of Hawaii Pelagic
Fisheries Research Program (UH PFRP, U.S.A.)
provided travel support for 7 students and post-
docs from the Pacific Rim countries to attend the
2006 CCCC Symposium.

PICES Intern Program
Details can be found under Agenda Item 9.

Workshops on ecological modeling

It was recommended that PICES partner with
other organizations/programs to broaden
applications of the NEMURO.FISH model
developed by our MODEL Task Team. The first
in the series was a workshop on “Climate
interactions and marine ecosystems” (co-
sponsored by the Asia Pacific Network and
PICES) convened October 10-13, 2004, in
conjunction with PICES XIII (Honolulu,
U.S.A.). A workshop on “Global comparison of
sardine, anchovy and other small pelagics:
Building towards a multi-species model” was
held November 14-17, 2005, in Tokyo, Japan.
Support for the workshop was provided by the
Japanese Fisheries Research Agency, PICES,
GLOBEC, the Asia Pacific Network for Global
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Change Research (APN), Scientific Capacity
Building/Enhancement for Sustainable Develop-
ment in Developing Countries Program
(CAPaBLE) and the Inter American Institute for
Global Change Research (IAI), enabling
participation by 22 attendees from Chile, China,
India, France, Japan, Mexico, Pakistan, the
Philippines, South Africa, the United Kingdom,
and the United States of America. Lectures and
practical exercises on ecosystem modeling using
NEMURO and NEMURO.FISH were also
included in the first PICES summer school.

International student exchanges

At PICES XIV, it was recommended that for
international student exchange PICES should
explore a possibility to match funds with the
Office of International Science and Engineering
at the National Science Foundation. No action
has been taken so far.

GOOS integration

At PICES XIV, a Study Group to develop a
strategy for GOOS was established under the
direction of the MONITOR Technical
Committee (Decision 05/S/6(v)). This Study
Group will meet at PICES XV to complete its
report. The preliminary recommendation, yet to
be considered by MONITOR and Science
Board, is that PICES should not propose a North
Pacific GOOS pilot project to I-GOOS and
should focus its efforts to facilitate the
cooperation and coordination among the existing
North Pacific observing systems and GOOS
Regional Alliances (GRAs) in developing cross-
GRA observing projects and technologies, and
common communication protocols for sharing of
data and information. Council agreed that this
approach is an effective way to implement one
of PICES’ major objectives — to coordinate and
facilitate observations on the status of the North
Pacific ecosystems.

The F&A Chairman, Dr. Laura Richards,
reminded Council that the amount of the
encumbered funds kept in the Working Capital
Fund under the general “high priority projects”
category is about $110,500. She pointed out that
the F&A Committee was unable to earmark a



level of expenditures for any individual high
priority project as specific activities under these
projects are not sufficiently well defined at this
point to make meaningful recommendations.

PICES Intern Program (Agenda Item 9)

The PICES Intern Program was approved in
1999 (Decision 99/A/7) and commenced in
2000. Council reviewed the current status of the
Intern Program and confirmed that PICES and
member countries are benefiting from the
Program, and that it should be continued.

The Executive Secretary reminded Council that
Mr. Xuewu Guo (Yellow Sea Fisheries Research
Institute, China) was selected as the next PICES
intern, and his term is expected to start on
February 1, 2007. This term could be from § to
a maximum of 12 months, depending on the
intern’s performance, the workload in the
Secretariat and availability of funds. At the
recommendation of the F&A Committee,
Council extended the deadline of nominations
for the 2008 PICES Internship until the 2007
inter-sessional meeting (Decision 06/A/8(iii)).
Japan and Korea in particular, were encouraged
to nominate candidates for this term.

The Intern Program has not been budgeted for,
and over the years has been financed solely by
voluntary contributions.  Following Decision
05/A/7(ii), Contracting Parties were invited to
provide voluntary contributions to support the
Program. In response to this request, the Pacific
Islands Fisheries Science Center and the Alaska
Fisheries Science Center (NMFS, U.S.A))
contributed US $15,000 and US $10,000,
respectively, to the Trust Fund for the Program.
Council requested the Executive Secretary to
send a letter to the National Marine Fisheries
Service (U.S.A.) to thank them for their
continuing support of the Intern Program
(Decision 06/A/8(1)).

Council instructed the Executive Secretary to
invite Contracting Parties to provide voluntary
contributions to support the Program in 2006

and beyond (Decision 06/A/8(ii)). These
contributions are crucial, as expenses for the
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Intern Program in FY 2007 are estimated at the
level of $28,000, whereas the amount of funds
held for the Program is about $22,000.

Council also confirmed that the stipend should
be kept at the current level of $2,000 per month,
and given the modest stipend, advised
Contracting Parties to consider whether the
personal circumstances of the intern warrant
supplementation (Decision 06/A/8(iv)).

Improvement of participation in PICES
activities (Agenda Item 10)

At the last three Annual Meetings, Council
extensively discussed ways of improving the
participation of scientists from PICES
Contracting Parties in the activities of the PICES
Standing Committees and their subsidiary
bodies, and made several recommendations
targeting at resolving existing problems. The
Executive  Secretary  reported on  the
implementation of these decisions.

Guidelines for Chairmen and Convenors

Council requested that relevant information be
provided to national delegates by the Secretariat
to be used when selecting members for PICES
permanent committees and temporary expert
groups, and clarifying their responsibilities at the
time of their appointment (Decision 03/S/7(iii)).

The second edition of the PICES Handbook was
published prior to PICES XV, as the first PICES
Handbook, compiled in 1998 and re-printed in
1999, is outdated and out of stock. The goal of
this publication is to have in one place all basic
documents regulating the functioning of the
Organization. The format of the new Handbook
allows the replacement of a revised clause or an
outdated document, and the addition of a
document at low costs. The Handbook will be
sent to all committee and expert group members
immediately after the Annual Meeting. National
delegates are encouraged to use materials from
the Handbook when appointing new members
for these committees and groups.

21



GC-2006

Guidelines for temporary expert groups

Important lessons can be learned from the
performance and experience of past temporary
expert groups (Working Groups, Study Groups,
Task Teams, Advisory Panels). At the request
of Council (Decision 04/S/7(i)), Science Board
performed a review of the temporary expert
groups established since the inception of the
Organization. The purpose of the review was
not to evaluate the performance of any single
group, but to get an idea of whether the current
approach of the formation and financing of these
groups is working. After presenting an
assessment report at PICES XIV, Dr. Michael G.
Foreman (POC Chairman) was asked to use the
results of his analysis to prepare a set of
guidelines for future PICES temporary expert
groups. The draft document was reviewed by
the F&A Committee at PICES XV. Given the
extensive overlap between this document and
the existing PICES Handbook for Chairmen and
Convenors (prepared in 1999 and amended in
2001), it was recommended that the documents
be merged, and the final document be presented
for approval at the next Annual Meeting.

National membership review

National delegates were requested (Decisions
03/S/7(i1)) and 04/S/7(i1)) to regularly review
their national membership and make changes as
appropriate. Nevertheless, all Contracting
Parties have committee or expert group
members who never or rarely attend PICES
Annual Meetings. The problem is most serious
with the People’s Republic of China.

National membership lists

The Secretariat is updating membership lists on
the PICES website as frequently as new
information is provided (http://www.pices.int/
members/default.aspx).  In accordance with
Decisions 03/S/7(ii)) and 04/S/7(ii), national
membership lists have also been included as
Appendices in the Annual Reports since 2003.
This practice will continue to maintain a
historical record of PICES membership, and to
assist in improving participation in activities of
the Organization.
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In the following discussion, the importance of
inter-agency coordination was re-iterated.
Within Contracting Parties, different agencies
have the principal responsibility for interaction
with PICES. The lead agencies often do not
represent the interest of other agencies or
coordinate PICES interactions with them. In
fact, few countries have an effective inter-
agency coordination mechanism. The problem
of inter-agency cooperation and coordination is
one that must be faced at the national level, and
PICES can only urge that it be recognized and
solved at that level. The formation of national
committees to enhance and coordinate
involvement of scientists in PICES activities, as
recommended by the PICES Review Committee,
might be the appropriate solution.

The main activities of permanent committees
and temporary expert groups take place at
meetings, especially during PICES Annual
Meetings. While it is obviously important for
appointed scientists to attend such meetings, and
Rule 1(iii) of the PICES Rules of Procedure
explicitly states that “each Contracting Party
shall bear the expenses of its own Delegation to
all meetings authorized by the Council, held
pursuant to this Convention”, Contracting
Parties often fail to support attendance of their
appointed experts at Annual Meetings. The
work of committees and expert groups is thereby
seriously impaired. The funding problem is not
disconnected from the inter-agency problem, as
the costs of participation can be shared among
interested agencies.

Schedule and financing of future Annual
Meetings (Agenda Item 11)

At the 2005 inter-sessional meeting, Council
approved the proposal of Canada to host the
Sixteenth Annual Meeting in Victoria, in 2007
(Decision 05/A/5(i)). At the 2006 inter-
sessional meeting, Council accepted the new
dates, October 26-November 4, 2007, for PICES
XVI (Decision 06/A/7(i)). These dates are later
than usual, but will avoid the overlap with the
extended national holidays in China in early
October, and with several international scientific
meetings at the end of September or early
October (including the 2007 ICES Annual



Science Conference in Helsinki, and the 2007
NPAFC Annual Meeting in Vladivostok). The
theme of PICES XVI will be “The changing
North  Pacific: Previous patterns, future
projections, and ecosystem impacts”, and the list
of various scientific sessions and workshops to
be convened at the meeting can be found in
Decision 06/S/1. Dr. Laura Richards confirmed
that Canada is not planning to request any funds
from PICES to cover Annual Meeting costs.

At the 2006 inter-sessional meeting, Council
approved the proposal of China to host the
PICES Seventeenth Annual Meeting in Dalian,
with the National Marine Environmental
Monitoring Centre of the State Oceanic
Administration as the local organizer (Decision
06/A/7(ii)). China was requested to inform the
Secretariat by November 15, 2006, if changing
the initially agreed dates of October 16-26,
2008, to October 23-November 2, 2008, is
acceptable. The new dates are now confirmed
by the State Oceanic Administration. The theme
of PICES XVII will be “Beyond observations to
achieving understanding and forecasting in a
changing North Pacific: Forward to the future”.

Following the established 6-year rotation cycle,
Council invited Korea to explore the feasibility
of hosting the PICES Fighteenth Annual
Meeting in 2009, and inform the Secretariat on
this matter by March 31, 2007 (Decision
06/A/7(iii)).

Council confirmed that the practice of charging
a registration fee for future PICES Annual
Meetings should continue, and accepted the
same registration fee structure for 2007 as was
decided for the previous three Annual Meetings
(Decision 06/A/7(iv)). Fees will be collected by
the Secretariat and credited to the Working
Capital Fund to support high priority projects
and the Intern Program, and to cover costs
associated with Annual Meetings. The allocation
among these three purposes should be flexible
and decided by the Executive Secretary
(Decision 04/A/5(iv)).

Council re-iterated its strong support for the
concept of inter-sessional Science Board
meetings with the participation of Council
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members, but confirmed that the need for such a
meeting should be evaluated each year and,
given meeting costs and time commitment of the
members, an inter-sessional meeting should be
held only if the agenda is substantive. Council
thanked the Pacific Islands Fisheries Science
Center (NMFS, U.S.A.) for co-sponsoring the
2006 inter-sessional meeting.

Council approved an inter-sessional Science
Board/Governing ~ Council ~ meeting in
conjunction with a workshop to develop a
Science Plan for the new integrative scientific
program of PICES, provided that costs are
carefully controlled. Council accepted Japan’s
offer to host both events in Yokohama in April
2007 (Decision 06/A/7(v)).

Report of Science Board (Agenda Item 12)

The Science Board met under the chairmanship
of Dr. Kuh Kim, who presented the report to
Council on October 22. The report was approved
by Council, and is included elsewhere in this
Annual Report. Details are given in GC
Appendix A (Decisions 06/S/1-06/S/7).

Report of F& A Committee (Agenda Item 13)

The Finance and Administration Committee
(F&A) met under the chairmanship of Dr. Laura
Richards, who presented the report to Council
on October 21. The report was approved by
Council, and is included elsewhere in this
Annual Report. Details are given in GC
Appendix A (Decisions 06/A/1-06/A/11).

13.1  Audited accounts for fiscal year 2005

At the recommendation of the F&A Committee,
Council accepted the audited accounts of FY
2005 (F&A Endnote 3, Decision 06/A/1).

13.2  Annual contributions

Council reviewed the payment schedule of
annual fees to the Organization (F&A Endnote
4), and noted that even though only two (Japan
and Canada) of the six annual contributions for
FY 2006 arrived prior to the due date (January 1,
2006), there has been an overall improvement in
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the timeliness of payment, and the annual
contributions have been received within the first
two months of the PICES fiscal year from all
Contracting Parties except China. Korea and
Russia have made especially impressive
progress, moving the time of their payments
from the third/forth quarters in 2000-2001 to
February in 2006.

Council instructed the Executive Secretary to
send a letter to Contracting Parties commending
them for improved performance in submitting
annual contributions for /'Y 2006, and describing
the difficulties that late and/or partial payment
cause the Organization (Decision 06/A/2(3)).

Council re-iterated that for the planning of their
funding requests for annual contributions,
Contracting Parties should continue to use the
guideline generally accepted at PICES VIII
(Decision 99/A/2(ii)), which states that the
annual contributions will increase at the rate of
inflation in Canada (Decision 06/A/2(ii)).

13.3  Fund-raising activities

External funding and voluntary contributions
received for the period since PICES XIV for
various activities of the Organization are
reflected in GC Endnote 3 and F&A Endnote 5.

It was pointed out that due to efforts from the
PICES scientific community, national delegates,
F&A Committee members, and the Secretariat,
the level of external funding for various
activities initiated by PICES has increased
significantly over the last several years, and
about a third of the current operational budget is
now supported by voluntary contributions and
partnerships. Fund-raising continues to be an
important component of PICES activities, but
most of the funding offers have specific product
and service requirements. Therefore, it is
becoming critical to develop a strategy to
manage the workload of the Secretariat, the size
and structure of which have remained
unchanged for the last 12 years.
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13.4  Budget

Estimated accounts for fiscal year 2006

The estimated accounts for FY 2006 were
reviewed by the F&A Committee and approved
by Council (Decision 06/A/3(i)).

Relocation and Home Leave Fund

The status of the Relocation and Home Leave
Fund (RHLF) was reviewed. At the end of the
fiscal year, RHLF will be approximately $5,300
below the currently required amount of
$110,000. No relocation or home-leave
expenses are expected in Y 2007, and interest
earned during that year will bring RHLF close to
the required amount. Therefore, the F&A
Committee does not foresee a need to transfer
funds to maintain RHLF at $110,000 at the end
of FY 2006. Council supported this suggestion.

Trust Fund

In FY 2006, more than $65,000 from the Trust
Fund was used to finance the Intern Program,
and to support participation of young scientists
from all Contracting Parties and scientists from
countries with “economies in transition” to
scientific meetings organized and co-sponsored
by PICES. These expenditures were only partly
compensated for by interest earned by the Fund,
the voluntary contributions for the Intern
Program, and a travel grant from SCOR.
Council approved a transfer from the Working
Capital Fund to the Trust Fund to recover the
2006 expenses, and to restore the Trust Fund to
the level of $110,000 by the end of the fiscal
year (Decision 06/A/4(i1)).

At the 2006 inter-sessional meeting, Council
adopted the revised guidelines for operating the
Trust Fund (Decision 06/A/4(i)). The guidelines
are posted on the PICES website and included in
the new PICES Handbook.

Working Capital Fund

After inter-fund transfers approved by Council
(Decisions 06/A/3(ii) and 06/A/4(ii), the amount
of funds available in the Working Capital Fund



is estimated at about $276,308. This includes
$175,054 in encumbered funds held for special
and  high-priority PICES projects with
completion in 2007-2008, leaving a balance in
operating funds slightly above the required level
of $100,000. The F&A Committee was unable
to earmark a level of expenditures for specific
high priority projects as these activities are not
sufficiently well defined at this point to make
meaningful recommendations.

Proposed budget for fiscal year 2006

Council approved the proposed FY 2007 budget
of $745,000 (F&A Endnote 6). The amount of
$94,000 will be transferred from the Working
Capital Fund to balance the budget, setting the
total annual contribution at $651,000, and the
2007 annual fee at $108,500 per Contracting
Party (Decision 06/A/3(ii)).

Forecast budget for fiscal year 2007

The FY 2007 forecast budget of $760,000 was
examined by the F&A Committee and presented

to Council for information only. It will be
further discussed at PICES XVI.

Election of Chairman and Vice Chairman
(Agenda Item 14)

In accordance with Rule 6 of the PICES Rules of
Procedure, “The Chairman and the Vice-
Chairman shall each be elected from among the
Delegates for a term of two years and each shall
be eligible for re-election only once for a
successive term”.

Dr. Vera Alexander (U.S.A.) was elected as the
Chairman of Council in 2002 at PICES XI
(Qingdao, People’s Republic of China). She
was re-elected in 2004 at PICES XIII (Honolulu,
U.S.A.), with her second term ending at the
completion of this year’s Annual Meeting.

Following Rule 5(ii) of the Rules of Procedure,
“Nominations of candidates for elections in the
Council shall be sent in writing to the Executive
Secretary at least 60 days prior to the start of
the Annual Meeting at which the election will
occur”. Prior to the deadline (August 16, 2006),
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Mr. Akira Nakamae (Deputy Director General,
Fisheries Agency of Japan) nominated Dr. Tokio
Wada (National Delegate of Japan) to be
considered for the next PICES Chairmanship.
At the meeting, Council unanimously elected
Dr. Wada as the Chairman of PICES for a 2-year
term (Decision 06/A/9(1)).

Delegates expressed their gratitude to Dr.
Alexander for her strong leadership and efforts
over the past years. She will continue serving
PICES as the Past-Chairman (Decision 96/A/5)
and, in this capacity, will attend the meetings of
Council for the period of Dr. Wada’s
Chairmanship.

Dr. Wada was elected the Vice-Chairman in
October 2004 at PICES XIII, and his term will
end at the conclusion of this year’s Annual
Meeting. Prior to the deadline, Dr. Lev N.
Bocharov (National Delegate of Russia) was
nominated for this position by Mr. Vladimir
Izmaylov (Deputy Minister, Russian Ministry of
Agriculture), Mr. Stanislav IlI’yasov (Head,
Russian Federal Agency for Fisheries), and Dr.
Samuel Pooley (National Delegate of U.S.A.).
At the meeting, Council unanimously elected
Dr. Bocharov as the Vice-Chairman of PICES
for a 2-year term (Decision 06/A/9(ii)).

Delegates congratulated Drs. Wada and
Bocharov on their election, who expressed their
thanks for the support given by Council.

Appointment of F&A Chairman (Agenda
Item 15)

Dr. Laura Richards (Canada) was appointed as
the Chairman of the Finance and Administration
Committee in 2004 at PICES XIII, and her first
term of office will end at the completion of this
year’s Annual Meeting. At the recommendation
of the F&A Committee, and in accordance with
Rule 19(iii) of the PICES Rules of Procedure,
Council re-appointed Dr. Richards as the F&A
Chairman for another 2-year term (Decision
06/A/10).

Other business (Agenda Item 16)

No other business was identified by members.
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2006 Governing Council decisions

06/A/1: Auditor

Council accepted the audited accounts for FY
2005.

06/A/2: Annual contributions

i.  Council instructed the Executive Secretary
to send a letter to Contracting Parties
commending them for improved
performance in  submitting  annual
contributions for FY 2006, and describing
the difficulties that late and/or partial
payment causes the Organization.

ii. For planning of their funding requests for
annual contributions, Contracting Parties
should continue to wuse the guideline
generally accepted at the PICES Eighth
Annual Meeting (Decision 99/A/2(ii)),
which states that the annual contributions
will increase at the rate of inflation in
Canada.

06/A/3: Budget

i.  Council accepted the estimated accounts for
FY 2006.

ii. Council approved the 2007 budget of
$745,000. The amount of $94,000 will be
transferred from the Working Capital Fund
to balance the budget, setting the total
annual contribution at $651,000, and the
2007 annual fee at $108,500 per Contracting
Party.

06/A/4: Trust Fund

i. Council adopted the new guidelines for
operating the Trust Fund (at the 2006 inter-
sessional meeting).

ii. Council approved a transfer from the
Working Capital Fund to the Trust Fund to
recover the 2006 expenses, and to restore the
Trust Fund to the level of $110,000 by the
end of the fiscal year.
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06/A/5: Rules of Procedure and Financial
Regulations

Council adopted the new Rules of Procedure and
Financial Regulations (at the 2006 inter-
sessional meeting).

06/A/6: Scientific cooperation with non-
member countries

A Study Group has been established under the
direction of Council, to explore options on how
scientific cooperation with other (non-member)
countries could be best achieved. Terms of
Reference and membership of the Study Group
are listed in GC Appendix B.

06/A/7: Schedule and financing of future
Annual Meetings and inter-
sessional Science Board/Governing
Council meetings

i. Council accepted the new dates, October
26—-November 4, 2007, for the PICES
Sixteenth Annual Meeting to be held in
Victoria, Canada (at the 2006 inter-sessional
meeting). The theme of PICES XVI will be
“The changing North Pacific:  Previous
patterns, future projections, and ecosystem
impacts”.

ii. Council approved the proposal of China to
host the PICES Seventeenth Annual
Meeting in Dalian with the National Marine
Environmental Monitoring Centre of the
State Oceanic Administration as the local
organizer (at the 2006 inter-sessional
meeting). China was requested to inform
the Secretariat by November 15, 2006, if
changing the initially agreed dates of
October 16-26, 2008, to October 23—
November 2, 2008, is acceptable (the new
dates are now confirmed). The theme of
PICES XVII will be “Beyond observations
to achieving understanding and forecasting
in a changing North Pacific: Forward to the
Sfuture”.

iii. Following the established 6-year rotation
cycle, Council requested Korea to explore



the feasibility of hosting the PICES
Eighteenth Annual Meeting in 2009, and
inform the Secretariat on this matter by
March 31, 2007.

iv. Council accepted the same registration fee
structure for 2007 as was maintained for
2004-2006:

Type CDN $
Registration fee 225
Early registration fee 150
Students registration fee 50
Spousal registration fee 50

v. Council approved an inter-sessional Science
Board/Governing Council meeting, in
conjunction with a workshop to develop a
Science Plan for the new integrative
scientific program of PICES, provided that
costs are carefully controlled.  Council
accepted Japan’s offer to host both events in
Y okohama in April 2007.

06/A/8: Intern Program

i. Council requested the Executive Secretary
to send a letter to the National Marine
Fisheries Service (U.S.A.) to thank them for
their continuing support of the Intern
Program.

ii. Council instructed the Executive Secretary
to invite Contracting Parties to provide
voluntary contributions to support the Intern
Program in 2007 and beyond.

iii. Council extended the deadline of
nominations for the 2008 PICES Internship
until the 2007 inter-sessional Science
Board/Governing Council meeting.

iv. Council confirmed that the stipend should be
kept at the current level of $2,000 per
month. The nominating Contracting Party
could consider supplementing this modest
stipend, depending on the intern’s personal
circumstances.

06/A/9: Election of Chairman and Vice
Chairman

i. Council unanimously elected Dr. Tokio
Wada (Japan) as the Chairman of PICES for
a 2-year term (2006-2008). Accordingly
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Dr. Vera Alexander (U.S.A.) will serve as
the Past-Chairman.

ii. Council unanimously elected Dr. Lev N.
Bocharov (Russia) as the Vice-Chairman of
PICES for a 2-year term (2006-2008).

06/A/10: Appointment of F&A Committee
Chairman

Council re-appointed Dr. Laura Richards
(Canada) as the Chairman of the Finance and
Administration Committee for a 2-year term
(2006-2008).

06/A/11: Science Board Chairman-elect

To facilitate the continuity of Science Board
affairs, Council established a Science Board
Chairman-elect position to allow the election of
the Science Board Chairman 1 year before the
official change of the chairmanship (at the 2006
inter-sessional meeting). Dr. John E. Stein
(U.S.A.) was unanimously elected for this
position at PICES XV.

06/S/1: PICES Sixteenth Annual Meeting

The following workshops are to be convened (a
List of Acronyms can be found at the end of the
Annual Report):

= A Y»-day BIO (MIE-AP) workshop on
“Lessons learned during MIE-1 and MIE-2:
Reconciling acoustics and trawl data”;

* A l-day FIS workshop on “Methods for
Standardizing trawl surveys to ensure
constant catchability”;

= A l-day FIS/MEQ (WG 19) workshop on
“Comparative analysis of frameworks to
develop  ecosystem-based approach to
management and research needed for
implementation”;

= A l-day MEQ (HAB-S) workshop on
“Review of selected harmful algae in the
PICES region: IllI. Heterosigma akashiwo
and other harmful raphidophyes” preceded
by a 2-day laboratory demonstration on
Heterosigma cell and toxin detection;

* A Y-day MONITOR/BIO workshop on
“Monitoring primary productivity in the
North Pacific”;
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* A l%-day POC/CCCC (WG 20/CFAME)
workshop on “Climate scenarios for
ecosystem modeling”.

The following scientific sessions are to be
convened (a List of Acronyms can be found at
the end of the Annual Report):

A %-day Science Board Symposium on

“The changing North Pacific:  Previous

patterns, future projections, and ecosystem

impacts’;

= A l-day BIO Contributed Paper Session;

= A 1l-day BIO/POC Topic Session on
“Decadal changes in carbon
biogeochemistry in the North Pacific”;

= A Y»-day BIO/FIS/POC Topic Session on
“Phenology and climate change in the North
Pacific:  Implications of variability in the
timing of zooplankton production to fish,
seabirds, marine mammals and fisheries
(humans)”;

= A l-day CCCC Contributed Paper Session;

= A 1l-day CCCC/FIS Topic Session on
“Towards ecosystem-based management:
Recent developments and successes in multi-
species modeling”;

= A l-day FIS Contributed Paper Session;

* A l-day FIS Topic Session on “Ecosystem
approach to fisheries: Improvements on
traditional management for declining and
depleted stocks;

= A 's-day FIS/CCCC/BIO Topic Session on
“Fisheries interactions and local ecology”;

* A l-day MEQ Topic Session on “The
relative contributions of off-shore and in-
shore sources to harmful algal bloom
development and persistence in the PICES
region”;

= A Y»-day MEQ/FIS Topic Session on
“Coldwater biogenic habitat in the North
Pacific”;

= A I-day MONITOR Topic Session on
“Recent advancements in ocean observation
systems. Scientific  discoveries and
technical aspects”;

= A l-day POC Contributed Paper Session;

* A I-day POC/CCCC/MONITOR Topic

Session on “Operational forecasts of oceans

and ecosystems”;
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* A '»-day TCODE Topic Session on “Data
management, data analysis and data
delivery systems to support detection and
prediction of North Pacific ecosystem
changes”.

06/S/2: Inter-sessional meetings/workshops

The following inter-sessional meetings and
workshops are to be convened/co-sponsored in
2007 and beyond (a List of Acronyms can be
found at the end of the Annual Report):

= A 2-day meeting of the FISP Writing Team,
February 16-17, 2007, Seattle, U.S.A.;

= A 2-day meeting of CREAMS-AP, March
2007, Qingdao, China;

= A 3-day workshop to develop a Science Plan
for future integrative scientific program of
PICES and an inter-sessional Science Board/
Governing Council meeting, April 16-19,
2007, Yokohama, Japan;

= A display of PICES publications at the joint
meeting of the Mexican Fisheries Society
and the Mexican Chapter of the American
Fisheries Society, May 2—4, 2007, La Paz,
Mexico;

= A 5" International Conference on “Marine
bioinvasions” (co-sponsored by ICES,
PICES and the U.S. National Sea Grant
College Program), May 21-24, 2007,
Cambridge, U.S.A. (approved in 2003);

* A 2-day joint meeting of PICES WG 21 on
Non-indigenous aquatic species, ICES WG
on Introductions and Transfers of Marine
Organisms and ICES/IOC/IMO WG on
Ballast Waters and Other Ship Vectors, May
25-26, 2007, in Cambridge, U.S.A.;

= A 3-day FIS workshop on “Forecasting
climate impacts on fish production”, May
2007, Seattle, U.S.A., or June 2007,
Hakodate, Japan;

= A 3-day CFAME workshop on “Linking
climate-forcing mechanisms to indicators of
species  ecosystem-level changes: A
comparative approach”, May 2007, Seattle,
U.S.A., or June 2007, Hakodate, Japan;

= A 4™ International Zooplankton Production
Symposium on “Human and climate forcing
of zooplankton populations” (co-sponsored
by PICES, ICES and GLOBEC), May 28—



06/S/3:

June 1, 2007, Hiroshima, Japan (approved in
2003);

ESSAS/PICES Workshops on “Evaluation
of climate scenarios for subarctic regions”
(1 day) and “The role of seasonal sea ice
cover in marine ecosystems” (2 days), June
4-6, 2007, Hakodate, Japan;

An ICES/PICES Conference for Early
Career Scientists on “New frontiers in
marine science”, June 26-29, 2007,
Baltimore, U.S.A. (approved in 2003);
ICES/PICES Theme Sessions on
“Integrating observations and models to
improve predictions of ecosystem response
to physical variability”, on “Comparative
marine ecosystem structure and function:
Descriptors and characteristics” and on
“The ecosystem approach:  What's the
impact on marine science, science based
advice and management of marine
ecosystems” at the ICES Annual Science
Conference, September 17-21, 2007,
Helsinki, Finland;

An International Symposium on
“Reproductive and recruitment processes in
exploited marine fish stocks” (co-sponsored
by NAFO, PICES and ICES), October 1-3,
2007, in Lisbon, Portugal;

An International Symposium on “Effects of
climate change on the world’s oceans” (co-
sponsored by ICES, PICES, 10C, GLOBEC,
SCOR and WCRP), May 19-23, 2008,
Gijon, Spain (approved in 2005).

Travel support

PICES will provide travel support for:

PICES XVI

Invited speakers for Topic Sessions at the
Annual Meeting with the normal allocation
of approximately $5,000 per Committee
(including Science Board) and CCCC
Program; additional requests are subject to
fund availability;

1 invited speaker for the BIO workshop on
“Lessons learned during MIE-1 and MIE-2:
Reconciling acoustics and trawl data’;

1 invited speaker for the FIS workshop on
“Methods for standardizing trawl surveys to
ensure constant catchability”;
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1 invited speaker for the FIS/MEQ work-
shop on “Comparative analysis  of
frameworks to develop ecosystem-based
approach to management and research
needed for implementation”;

2 invited speakers for the MEQ workshop
on “Review of selected harmful algae in the
PICES region: IIl. Heterosigma akashiwo
and other harmful raphidophyes”;

1 invited speaker for the POC/CCCC
workshop on “Climate scenarios for
ecosystem modeling”.

Inter-sessional meetings

PICES representative to participate in the 3™
Forum of GOOS Regional Alliances
(November 14-17, 2006, Cape Town, South
Africa);

PICES representative to attend the GOOS
Scientific Steering Committee meeting
(March 13-17, 2007, Seoul, Korea);

PICES representative to present information
on activities of the Organization at the joint
meeting of the Mexican Fisheries Society
and the Mexican Chapter of the American
Fisheries Society;

2 invited speakers for the FIS workshop on
“Forecasting climate impacts on fish
production”;

2 invited speakers for the CFAME workshop
on “Linking climate-forcing mechanisms to
indicators of species  ecosystem-level
changes: A comparative approach”;

2-3 Asian scientists to attend the 5"
International ~ Conference on  “Marine
bioinvasions” and the joint meeting of
PICES WG 21, ICES WGITMO and

ICES/IOC/IMO WGBOSV;
PICES SSC members for the 4"
International ~ Zooplankton  Production

Symposium on “Human and climate forcing
of zooplankton populations”;

1 member of WG 20 to attend
ESSAS/PICES workshops on “Evaluation of
climate scenarios for subarctic regions” and
“The role of seasonal sea ice cover in
marine ecosystems’;

PICES representative to attend the 10C
General Assembly (June 2007, Paris,
France);

PICES convenors to the joint ICES/PICES
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Theme Sessions at the ICES Annual Science
Conference;

PICES representative to attend the SCOR
Executive Committee meeting (August
2007, Bergen, Norway);

PICES representative to attend the NPAFC
Fifteenth Annual Meeting (September 2007,
Vladivostok, Russia);

PICES convenor and SSC member to attend
the Symposium on “Reproductive and

recruitment processes in exploited marine
fish stocks”.

Science Board Chairman to attend:

The workshop to develop a Science Plan for
future integrative scientific program of
PICES and an inter-sessional Science Board
Meeting (April 2007, Yokohama, Japan);
PICES Sixteenth Annual Meeting (October
2007, Victoria, Canada).

06/S/4: Publications

1.

Council approved the following publications:

PICES Scientific Report Series, 2007—2008

Final report of WG 16 on “Climate change,
shifts in fish production, and fisheries
management” (approved in 2002 for
publication in 2004; delayed till 2007,
pending review by FIS);

Guide to best practices for oceanic CO,
measurements and data reporting (approved
in 2002 for publication in 2004; delayed till
2007, pending review by CC-S);

Report of FIS workshop on “Forecasting
climate impacts on fish production” (2007);
Final report of WG 19 on “Ecosystem-based
management science and its application to
the North Pacific” (planned for 2008).

Special issues of primary journals, 20072008
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Ecological Modelling (February 2007; Guest
Editors: M.J. Kishi, S.-I. Ito, B.A. Megrey
and F.E. Wemer) — selected papers on
NEMURO and NEMURO.FISH models
(approved in 2004);

Deep-Sea Research 11 (2007; Guest Editors:
K. Drinkwater, G.L. Hunt, D.L. Mackas and
S. McKinnell) — selected papers from the
ESSAS Symposium on “Climate variability

and  sub-arctic  marine  ecosystems”
(approved in 2005);

»  Progress in Oceanography (2007; Guest
Editors: H. Batchelder and S. Kim) —
selected papers from the PICES/GLOBEC
Symposium on “Climate variability and
ecosystem impacts on the North Pacific: A
basin-scale synthesis” (approved in 2005);

»  Progress in Oceanography (2007; Guest
Editors: A. Pefia, S. Bograd and A.
Bychkov) — selected papers from the
symposium on “Time series of the Northeast
Pacific: A symposium to mark the 50"
anniversary of Line-P” (approved in 2005);

= Plankton and Benthos Research (2007—
2008; Guest Editors: H. lizumi and TBD) —
selected papers from the PICES XV Topic
Session on “The human dimension of
jellyfish blooms”™;

= Journal of Marine Systems (2007-2008;
Guest Editors: K.-I. Chang, S. McKinnell,
C. Mooers and TBD) — selected papers from
the 2006 CREAMS/PICES workshop on
“Model-data  inter-comparison for the
Japan/East Sea”;

»  JCES Journal of Marine Science (2008;
Guest Editors: J. Carlton, J. Pederson and
TBD) — selected papers from the 5™
International Conference on “Marine
bioinvasions”;

» JCES Journal of Marine Science (2008;
Guest Editors: M. Dagg, R. Harris, L.
Valdez and S.-I. Uye) — selected papers
from the 4™ International Zooplankton
Production Symposium on “Human and
climate forcing of zooplankton populations”,;

= Journal of Northwest Atlantic Fishery
Science (2008; Guest Editors: R.D. Brodeur,
M. Dickey-Collas and E. Trippel) — selected
papers from the International Symposium on
“Reproductive and recruitment processes of
exploited marine fish stocks”.

Other publications, 2007—2008

» American Fisheries Society book on “The
ecology of juvenile salmon in the Northeast
Pacific Ocean:  Regional comparisons”
(approved in 2005 for publication in 2006;
delayed till 2007; Guest editors: R.D.
Brodeur, C. Grimes, L. Haldorson and S.
McKinnell);



= Brochure on “Ecosystem-based management
science and its application to the North
Pacific” (planned for 2008).

ii. Council established a new electronic PICES
Technical Report series. The TCODE report
on “Metadata federation of PICES member
countries” will be the first report published
in this series in 2007.

06/S/5: Future of current groups

= Study Group (under the direction of
Council) on Rules of Procedure and
Financial Regulations should be disbanded
after completing its task (Council adopted
the new Rules of Procedure and Financial
Regulations at the 2006 inter-sessional
meeting);

=  Working Group 18 (under the direction of
FIS and MEQ) on Mariculture in the 21st
century — The interaction between ecology,
socio-economics and production should be
disbanded for inadequate progress in
achieving its tasks;

= POC should withdraw as a co-sponsor of the
North Pacific Data Buoy Advisory Panel,
and this Advisory Panel should report only
to the Data Buoy Cooperation Panel

GC Appendix B
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(DBCP). The Executive Secretary was
requested to send a letter informing DBCP
on this decision.

06/S/6: New PICES groups

= A Study Group on Scientific cooperation
between PICES and non-member countries
has been established under the direction of
Council, with terms of references and
membership as described in GC Appendix B,

= A Study Group on Ecosystem status
reporting has been established under the
direction of Science Board, with terms of
reference and membership as described in
GC Appendix B;

= A Study Group on Marine aquaculture and
ranching in the PICES region has been
established under the direction of Science
Board, with terms of reference as described
in GC Appendix B.

06/S/7: Relations with other organizations
and programs

Council approved the revised Standing List of
International Organizations and Programs, and
agreed with the identified priorities for
interaction in 2006—2007.

Study Group on Scientific cooperation between PICES and non-member countries

Terms of Reference:

1. Identify options and propose mechanisms
for scientific cooperation between PICES
and non-member countries within the
current Convention. The options considered
will include a review of the ICES “Affiliate
Status” arrangement and how it could be
adapted to the needs of PICES. Benefits and
drawbacks should be identified for each
option in terms of (a) scientific objectives of
PICES, (b) financial and human resources
implications, and (c) needed changes to the
Rules of Procedure and Financial
Regulations.

2. Assess the benefits and challenges in terms
of the scientific objectives of PICES of

expanding the “area concerned”, as specified
under Article II of the Convention, to the
Southern Pacific, and provide a compilation
of all Contracting Parties’ views on such a
change to the Convention.

3. Provide its report by August 15, 2007, for
consideration at PICES XVI (October 2007,
Victoria, Canada).

Membership:
The Study Group will be chaired by the

Chairman of the F&A Committee, and its
membership will include one representative
from each Contracting Party, plus a
representative from Science Board and a
representative from the Secretariat.
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Study Group on Ecosystem status reporting

Terms of Reference:

1. Develop options and budgets for paper and
electronic versions of the North Pacific
Ecosystem Status Report;

2. Provide its report by April 15, 2007, for
consideration at the 2007 inter-sessional
Science Board/Governing Council meeting.

Membership:
The Study Group membership will include one

representative from each Contracting Party and a
representative from the Secretariat.

Study Group on Marine aquaculture and ranching in the PICES region

Terms of Reference:

1. Review and access why PICES WG 18 on
Mariculture in the 2lIst century — The
interaction  between  ecology,  socio-
economics and production had limited
success in achieving its terms of reference;

2. Determine the highest priority marine
aquaculture and/or ocean ranching science

GC Endnote 1

needs (< 10) for the next 5-10 years in each
PICES member country;

3. Develop recommendations for joint
activities in marine aquaculture and/or ocean
ranching using the PICES Action Plan
format;

4. Provide its report by September 2007, for
consideration at PICES XVI.

Participation list

Canada
Serge Labonté
Laura Richards

Japan
Tokimasa Kobayashi (advisor, October 21 only)

Hideki Nakano (advisor)
Yoshihide Tsuda (alternate delegate)
Tokio Wada

People’s Republic of China

Zhi-Xin Chen (alternate delegate, October 17
only)

Fengkui Liang (alternate delegate, October 17
only)

Fangli Qiao (advisor, October 17 and 22 only)

Gongke Tan (advisor)

Dongmei Tang (advisor, October 17 only)

Republic of Korea
Seok Jin Kang (alternate delegate)
Ig-Chan Pang
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Russia

Lev N. Bocharov

Oleg Katugin (advisor)

Igor Shevchenko (advisor, October 17 only)

U.S.A.

George W. Boehlert

K. Alexandra Curtis (advisor)

Patricia Livingston (advisor, October 17 only)
Samuel Pooley

Other

Vera Alexander (Chairman, PICES)

Alexander Bychkov (Executive Secretary)

Hyung-Tack Huh (Past-Chairman, PICES)

Kuh Kim (Chairman, Science Board, October 22
only)

John E. Stein (Chairman-elect, Science Board,
October 21 and 22 only)
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Governing Council meeting agenda

GC Endnote 2

1. Opening remarks

2. Adoption of agenda and meeting procedures
3. Report on administration

4. Report of 2006 inter-sessional Governing

Council meeting

5. Membership and observers from other

countries

6. Relations with relevant international and

regional organizations

7. Progress report of the Study Group on

Future Integrative Scientific Program(s)
8. High priority projects:

a. Development of the next PICES

integrative scientific program

b. Preparation of the next North Pacific

Ecosystem Status Report

GC Endnote 3

14.
15.
16.

c. Capacity building
d. GOOS integration
PICES Intern Program

. Improvement of participation in PICES

activities

. Schedule and financing of future Annual

Meetings

. Report and recommendations of Science

Board

. Report and recommendations of F&A

Committee

Election of Chairman and Vice-Chairman
Appointment of F&A Committee Chairman
Other business

Preliminary Report on Administration for 2006

I. Annual contributions

According to Regulation 5(ii) of the PICES
Financial Regulations, all national contributions

Japan

to PICES are payable by the first day of the
financial year (January 1) to which they relate.
Dues for 2006 were paid as follows:

December 15, 2005

Canada

December 28, 2005

U.S.A.
Republic of Korea

January 30, 2006
February 8, 2006

Russian Federation

People’s Republic of China

II. External and additional funding

Details on external funding and voluntary
contributions received since PICES XIV are

included in F&A Endnote 5.

III. Inter-sessional meetings

Since PICES XIV (October 2005), the following
inter-sessional meetings were convened/co-
sponsored, for which financial, travel and

logistical arrangements were made:

= a SEEDS-II Experiment Workshop (co-
sponsored by the Ocean Research Institute
and PICES) to synthesize results from the

February 28, 2006

.......... August 1, 2006

second in situ iron enrichment experiments
in the western subarctic North Pacific
(SEEDS 1I), and to discuss differences in
magnitude, biology and export between
SEEDS I and SEEDS II, October 17-18,
2005, Tokyo, Japan;

an NPAFC/PICES Symposium on “The
status of Pacific salmon and their role in
North Pacific marine ecosystems”, October
30—November 1, 2005 (in conjunction with
the NPAFC Annual Meeting), Jeju, Korea;
an International Workshop on “Global
comparison of sardine, anchovy and other
small pelagics — building towards a multi-
species model” (co-sponsored by FRA,
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APN, IAI, PICES and GLOBEC),
November 14-17, 2005, Tokyo, Japan;

an International Repeat Hydrography
Workshop (co-sponsored by JAMSTEC,
CLIVAR, IOCCP and PICES) and a
meeting of the PICES Section on Carbon
and climate, November 14-17, 2005,
Shonan Village, Japan;

a CFAME Workshop on “A4 comparison of
regional mechanisms for fish production:
Ecosystem perspectives”, January 12-13,
2006, Tokyo, Japan;

Panel discussions at the “Marine Science in
Alaska” Symposium (January 25, 20006,
Anchorage, U.S.A.) and at the meeting of
the North Pacific Fisheries Management
Council (February 8, Seattle, U.S.A.), to
involve the Bering Sea and international
communities in the development of a set of
operational objectives;

an inter-sessional Science Board/Governing
Council meeting, April 17-18, 2006,
Honolulu, U.S.A.;

a PICES/GLOBEC Symposium on “Climate
variability and ecosystem impacts on the
North Pacific: A basin-scale synthesis”,
April 19-21, 2006, Honolulu, U.S.A.;

a PICES/NPRB Workshop on “Integration
of ecological indicators for the North
Pacific with emphasis on the Bering Sea”,
June 1-3, 2006, Seattle, U.S.A.;

a Workshop to develop comparative studies
of the sub-Arctic seas (co-sponsored by
ESSAS/GLOBEC, PICES and TINRO-
Center), June 12-14, 2006, St. Petersburg,
Russia;

a Symposium on “Time series of the
Northeast Pacific Ocean: A symposium to
mark the 50™ anniversary of Line-P” (co-
sponsored by DFO and PICES), July 5-8,
2006, Victoria, Canada;

an International Symposium on “Bio-
invasion of non-indigenous species” and a
workshop on “Remote sensing of marine
environment in the in the Northwest Pacific
region” (co-sponsored by KIOS, PKNU,
NPEC, NFRDI, MOMAF, NOWPAP,
IOC/WESTPAC and PICES), July 30—
August 2, 2006, Busan, Korea;

a CREAMS/PICES Workshop on “Model-
data inter-comparison for the Japan/East

Sea” (co-sponsored by SNU, KORDI,
PKNU and PICES), August 21-22, 2006;
Busan, Korea;

= a PICES Summer School on “Circulation
and ecosystem modeling” (co-sponsored by
SNU, KORDI, MOMAF, NFRDI and
PICES), August 23-25, 2006, Busan, Korea;

» JCES/PICES Theme Sessions on “Large-
scale changes in the migration of small
pelagic fish and the factors modulating such
changes” (September 23, 2006) and on
Operational Oceanography (September 19,
2006) at the ICES Annual Science
Conference, Maastricht, Netherlands.

The following workshops were convened in

conjunction with PICES XV in Yokohama,

Japan:

= a BIO/POC Workshop on “Responses of
marine mammals and seabirds to large-
scale and long-term climate change:
Mechanisms of environmental forcing”,
October 12, 20006;

= an IFEP/MODEL Workshop (co-sponsored
by SOLAS) on “Modeling iron biogeo-
chemistry and ocean ecosystems”, October
13, 2006;

= an MIE Workshop on “Micronekton
sampling gear inter-calibration
experiment”, October 13, 20006;

= a CFAME Workshop on “Climate forcing
and marine ecosystems”, October 13, 2006;

» a FIS Workshop on “Linking climate to
trends in productivity of key commercial
species in the subarctic Pacific”, October
13-14, 2006;

= an MEQ Workshop on “Review of selected
harmful algae in the PICES region: II.
Dinophysis & Cochlodinium”, October 14,
2006;

= a POC workshop on “Evaluation of climate
change projections”, October 14, 2006;

= an MEQ/FIS Workshop on “Criteria
relevant for the determination of unit eco-
regions for EBM in the PICES area”,
October 15, 2006;

= a MONITOR/TCODE Workshop on “Data
management, delivery and visualization of
high-volume data products”, October 15,
2006;



Preparations, arrangements or planning are in
progress for:

an International Conference on “The
Humboldt Current system: Climate, ocean
dynamics,  ecosystem  processes  and
fisheries” (co-sponsored by IMARPE, IRD,
NASA, FAO, GLOBEC, ICES, PICES and
IMBER), November 27-December 1, 2006,
Lima, Peru;

a 5" International Conference on “Marine
bioinvasions”, (co-sponsored by ICES,
PICES and the U.S. National Sea Grant
College Program), May 21-24, 2007,
Cambridge, U.S.A.;

a 4™ International Zooplankton Production
Symposium on “Human and climate forcing
of zooplankton populations” (co-sponsored
by PICES, ICES and GLOBEC), May 28—
June 1, 2007, Hiroshima, Japan;

an ICES/PICES Conference for Early Career
Scientists on “New frontiers in marine
science”, June 26-29, 2007, Baltimore,
US.A;

an International Symposium on “Reproduc-
tive and recruitment processes in exploited
marine fish stocks” (co-sponsored by
NAFO, PICES and ICES), October 1-3,
2007, Lisbon, Portugal;

an International Symposium on “Effects of
climate change on the world’s oceans” (co-
sponsored by ICES, PICES, 10C, GLOBEC,
SCOR and WCRP), May 19-23, 2008,
Gijon, Spain.

IV. Publications

Publications produced after PICES XIV or still
in progress include:

Primary journals

“Marine ecosystem structure and dynamics”
(Guest Editors: G. Hunt and S. McKinnell)
— Progress in Oceanography, Vol. 68(2-4),
2006 (special issue from the PICES XIII
Topic Session on “Mechanisms that regulate
North Pacific ecosystems: Bottom up, top
down, or something else?”);

“Top predator hot spots in the North
Pacific” (Guest Editors: W. Sydeman, R.
Brodeur, A. Bychkov, C. Grimes and S.
McKinnell) — Deep-Sea Research II, Vol.
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53(3-4), 2006 (special issue from the PICES
XIII Topic Session on “Hot spots and their
use by migratory species and top predators
in the North Pacific”),

“Modeling of North Pacific marine
ecosystems” (Guest editors: M. Kishi, B.
Megrey, S.-I. Ito and F. Werner) -
Ecological Modeling, 2006 (special issue on
NEMURO and NEMURO.FISH models);
“Canadian SOLAS: Subarctic Ecosystem
Response to Iron Enrichment (SERIES)”
(Guest Editors: P.J. Harrison, P.W. Boyd,
M. Levasseur, A. Tsuda, R.B. Rivkin, S.O.
Roy and W.L. Miller) — Deep-Sea Research
1, Vol. 53 (20-22), 2006 (papers from the
IFEP-AP SERIES experiment).

Peer-review process is in progress for three
special issues with expected publication in 2007:

Deep-Sea Research Il (Guest Editors: K.
Drinkwater, G. Hunt, D. Mackas and S.
McKinnell) — selected papers from the
ESSAS Symposium on “Climate variability
and sub-arctic marine ecosystems”;
Progress in Oceanography (Guest Editors:
H. Batchelder and S. Kim) — selected papers
from the PICES/GLOBEC Symposium on
“Climate variability and ecosystem impacts
on the North Pacificc A basin-scale
synthesis”;

Progress in Oceanography (Guest Editors:
A. Pefia, A. Bychkov and TBD) — selected
papers from the symposium on “Time series
of the Northeast Pacific: A symposium to
mark the 50" anniversary of Line-P”.

PICES Scientific Report Series

Takeda, S. and Wong, C.S. (Eds.) 2006.
Report of the 2004 Workshop on “In situ
iron enrichment experiments in the eastern
and western subarctic Pacific”. PICES Sci.
Rep. No. 31, 207 pp.

Miller, C.B. and lkeda, T. (Eds.) 2006.
Report of the 2005 Workshop on “Oceanic
ecodynamics comparison in the subarctic
Pacific”. PICES Sci. Rep. No. 32, 105 pp.

The following reports are to be published by the
end of this year:

Kruse, G.H., Livingston, P., Overland, J.E.,
Jamieson, G.S., McKinnell, S. and Perry,
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RI. (Eds.)) 2006. Report of the
PICES/NPRB Workshop on Integration of
Ecological Indicators of the North Pacific
with Emphasis on the Bering Sea;

= Megrey, B.A., Macklin, S.A, Bahl, K. and
Klawitter, P.D. (Eds.) 2006. Metadata
federation of PICES member countries.

Other publications

= PICES 2005 Annual Report;

= PICES Handbook;

* Announcement, poster and book of abstracts
for PICES XV;

* Announcement and poster for the 4™
International ~ Zooplankton  Production
Symposium on “Human and climate forcing
of zooplankton populations”;

*  Announcement (flyer) for the ICES/PICES
Conference for Early Career Scientists “New
frontiers in marine science”.

PICES Press - Newsletters
= Two regular issues: Vol. 14, No. 1 (January
2006) and Vol. 14, No. 2 (July 2006).

V. Representation at other organization
meetings and travel by PICES officers

* Dr. Skip McKinnell (Deputy Executive
Secretary) represented PICES at the 2005
CalCOFI Conference and the PaCOOS
Board meeting (December 2005, La Jolla,
US.A));

=  Ms. Darlene Smith (WG 21 Co-Chairman)
represented PICES at the meetings of the
ICES/IOC/IMO Working Group on Ballast
Waters and Other Ship Vectors and the
ICES Working Group on Introductions and
Transfers of Marine Organisms (March
2006, Oostende, Belgium);

= Dr. Suam Kim (CCCC Co-Chairman)
represented PICES at the 2006 Pacific-Rim
Fisheries Congress (March 2006, Hanoi,
Vietnam);

= Dr. Alexander Bychkov (Executive
Secretary) represented PICES at the 2006
EGU General Assembly (April 2006,
Vienna, Austria);

» Ms. Christina Chiu  (Deputy on
Administration) represented PICES at the
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International Fisheries Commissions
Pension Society meeting (April 2006, La
Jolla, U.S.A));

* Drs. Vera Alexander (PICES Chairman) and
Kuh Kim (Science Board Chairman) and
members of the Secretariat travelled in April
2006, to Honolulu, U.S.A., for the 2006
Science Board/Governing Council Meeting;
and in October 2006 to Yokohama, Japan,
for PICES XV;

= Dr. Harold P. Batchelder (CCCC Co-
Chairman) represented PICES at the
GLOBEC SSC meeting (April 2006,
Honolulu, U.S.A.);

* Dr. Masahide Kaeriyama (FIS member)
represented PICES at the 2006 NPAFC
CSRS meeting (April 2006, Sapporo,
Japan);

= Dr. Skip McKinnell represented PICES at
the IOC Executive Committee meeting
(June 2005, Paris, France);

* Dr. Yoshiro Watanabe (CFAME member)
and Dr. Bernard A. Megrey (TCODE
member) served as PICES convenors to the
joint ICES/PICES theme sessions on
“Large-scale changes in the migration of
small pelagic fish and the factors
modulating  such  changes” and on
“Operational Oceanography”, respectively,
at the ICES Annual Science Conference
(September 2006, Maastricht, Netherlands);

* Dr. Alexander Bychkov will represent
PICES at the NPAFC Fourteenth Annual
Meeting  (October 2006, Vancouver,
Canada);

= Dr. R. Ian Perry will represent PICES (as a
member of the SSC) at the International
Conference on “The Humboldt Current
system: Climate, ocean  dynamics,
ecosystem  processes  and  fisheries”
(November 2006, Lima, Peru).

VI. Relations with international scientific
organizations and programs

The following reflects relationships with
international  scientific  organizations and
programs of regional and global scale, and with
regional scientific and monitoring efforts in the
North Pacific:



Asia-Pacific

Network for Global Change

Research (APN)

APN and APN CAPaBLE (the APN
Capacity Building/Enhancement for
Sustainable Development in Developing
Countries Program) co-sponsored the
MODEL Workshop on “Global comparison
of sardine, anchovy and other small pelagics
— building towards a multi-species model”,
held November 14-17, 2005, in Tokyo,
Japan (other co-sponsors were FRA, PICES
and GLOBEC);

Mr. Hiroki Hashizume (Director, APN
Secretariat) attended PICES XV as an
observer and addressed Council on potential
areas of cooperation between APN and
PICES. APN also had several posters at this
meeting outlining general information and
highlighting scientific objectives and recent
activities of the project.

International Argo Program

Dr. Nobuyuki Shikama (Argo Science
Team) attended PICES XV as an observer.
Argo also had a poster at this meeting
outlining  general  information  and
highlighting scientific objectives and recent
activities of the project.

International Research Programme on Climate

Variability and Predictability (CLIVAR)

PICES co-sponsored, with CLIVAR,
JAMSTEC and IOCCP, an International
Repeat Hydrography =~ Workshop  held
November 14-16, 2005, at the Shonan
Village, Japan, and convened a meeting of
its Section on Carbon and climate in
conjunction with this workshop;

PICES Working Group 20 on Evaluation of
Climate Change Projections (established in
2005) is the appropriate avenue to enhance
collaboration with CLIVAR through its
Pacific Panel. Currently Dr. William
Crawford serves as a liaison between the
two groups.

Census of Marine Life program (CoML)

Dr. Ron O’Dor (CoML Chief Scientist)
attended PICES XV as an observer and
addressed Council on potential areas of
cooperation between CoML and PICES. It
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was suggested that CoML is interested in
updating, prior to 2009, a report entitled
“Marine life in the North Pacific Ocean:
The known, wunknown and unknowable”
developed by PICES in 2005. This report
was published as PICES Special Publication
No. 2, and an interactive fully searchable
version of the report was posted on the
PICES website.

Ecosystem Studies of Subarctic Seas (ESSAS)

In May 2005, PICES co-sponsored and
served as the local organizer for the
GLOBEC  Symposium on  “Climate
variability and  sub-arctic marine
ecosystems” held in Victoria, Canada. The
symposium brought together 230 scientists
from 16 countries (including all six PICES
member countries) to present current
knowledge of the structure and function of
sub-arctic marine ecosystems and to discuss,
at two special workshops, the Science and
Implementation Plans of ESSAS, a new
GLOBEC regional program. A special issue
of Deep-Sea Research II to be published in
2007 includes over 40 papers from the
Symposium;

PICES assisted in organizing the first
ESSAS Workshop to develop comparative
studies of the sub-Arctic seas (June 12-14,
2006, St. Petersburg, Russia), including the
logistical arrangements and providing travel
funds for scientists to attend;

Drs. Kenneth Drinkwater and George Hunt
(ESSAS SSC  Co-Chairmen) attended
PICES XV as observers and addressed
Council on potential areas of cooperation
between ESSAS and its U.S. component for
the Bering Sea (BEST) and PICES. ESSAS
and BEST also had posters at this meeting
outlining  general information  and
highlighting scientific objectives and recent
activities of both projects.

A series of ESSAS-related events, including
workshops on “Evaluation of climate
scenarios for subarctic regions” and “The
role of seasonal sea ice cover in marine
ecosystems”, is planned for June 2007, in
Hakodate, Japan, and PICES agreed to co-
sponsor these workshops.
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Exxon Valdez Oil Spill Trustee Council (EVOS)

The sample collection and analysis for the
north-south  transect of the PICES
Continuous  Plankton Recorder (CPR)
survey of the North Pacific has been
financially supported for the period from
2000 to 2006 by EVOS. In November 2006,
this grant was extended to 2007.

Global Ocean Ecosystem Dynamics project

(GLOBEC)

The PICES Climate Change and Carrying
Capacity (CCCC) Program provides a
mechanism  for  integrating  national
GLOBEC research programs in the North
Pacific and is a regional component of the
international GLOBEC effort;

The PICES/GLOBEC Symposium on
“Climate variability and ecosystem impacts
on the North Pacificc A basin-scale
synthesis” was held April 19-21, 2006, in
Honolulu, U.S.A. This symposium and a
special issue of Progress in Oceanography
to be published in late 2007 or early 2008
are considered as a part of GLOBEC
synthesis efforts;

PICES and GLOBEC are working together
to organize the 4™ International Zooplankton
Production Symposium on “Human and
climate forcing of zooplankton populations”
to be held May 28-June 1, 2007, in
Hiroshima, Japan;

Dr. Manuel Barange (GLOBEC Executive
Director) and Dr. Francisco Werner
(GLOBEC SSC Chairman) attended PICES
XV as observers and briefed Science Board
on GLOBEC’s synthesis and integration
efforts and invited PICES’ involvement in
these activities.

Global Ocean Observing System (GOOS)
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At the 2005 inter-sessional Science
Board/Governing Council meeting, GOOS
integration was identified as a high priority
PICES activity. At PICES XIV, a Study
Group (SG-GOOS) to develop a strategy for
GOOS was established under the direction
of the MONITOR Technical Committee;

In its 2006 report, SG-GOOS suggested that
PICES should direct its efforts to facilitate
the cooperation and coordination among

North Pacific GOOS Regional Alliances
(GRASs) in developing cross-GRA observing
projects, observing technologies, and
common communication protocols for
sharing of data and information;

A 1-day MONITOR/TCODE workshop on
“Data management, delivery and
visualization of high-volume data products”,
highly-relevant to GOOS was convened at
PICES XV;

Dr. Takashi Yoshida (NEAR-GOOS
Chairman) and representatives of several
regional  monitoring efforts (AOOS,
NANOOS, PaCOOS) attended PICES XV
and addressed MONITOR and SG-GOOS
on potential areas of collaboration with
PICES.

International Council for the Exploration of the

Sea (ICES)

PICES co-sponsored two Theme Sessions
on “Large-scale changes in the migration of
small pelagic fish and the factors
modulating  such  changes” and on
Operational Oceanography at the 2006
ICES Annual Science Conference. Drs.
Yoshiro Watanabe and Bernard A.
Megrey/Jeffrey Napp served as PICES
convenors for these sessions;

ICES accepted PICES’ invitation to support
an invited speaker (Dr. Kenneth Drinkwater)
for the Science Board Symposium on
“Boundary currents ecosystems” convened
at PICES XV;

Dr. Adolf Kellermann (ICES Head of
Science Program) attended PICES XV as an
observer and addressed Science Board on
potential future joint ICES/PICES activities;
To discuss/initiate possible co-operation on
marine bioinvasions, Ms. Darlene Smith
(WG 21 Co-Chairman) attended the annual
meetings of the ICES/IOC/IMO Working
Group on Ballast Waters and Other Ship
Vectors (WGBOSV) and the ICES Working
Group on [Introductions and Transfers of
Marine Organisms (WGITMO) in March
2006, in Oostende, Belgium. Dr. Judith
Pederson (Chairman of WGITMO) and Dr.
Anders Jelmert (Chairman of WGBOSYV)
participated in the annual meeting of WG 21
at PICES XV;



ICES and PICES are working with the U.S.
National Sea Grant College Program to
organize the 5™ International Conference on
“Marine bioinvasions” to be convened May
21-24, 2007, in Cambridge, U.S.A. A 2-day
joint meeting of WG 21, WGBOSV and
WGITMO will be held immediately after the
conference;

ICES is one of the co-sponsors for the 4"
International ~ Zooplankton  Production
Symposium on “Human and climate forcing
of zooplankton populations”, to be held May
28—June 1, 2007, in Hiroshima, Japan;

The ICES/PICES Conference for Early
Career Scientists on “New frontiers in
marine science” will be held June 26-29,
2007, in Baltimore, U.S.A. The goal of the
conference is to foster the development of
contacts, collaborations and associations
among early career scientists with similar
interests from around the globe, that will
persist for decades;

ICES and PICES joined NAFO in
organizing an International Symposium on
“Reproductive and recruitment processes in
exploited marine fish stocks” to be held
October 1-3, 2007, in Lisbon, Portugal;
ICES and PICES initiated the organization
of the International Symposium on “Effects
of climate change on the world’s oceans”
(other sponsors are IOC, GLOBEC, SCOR
and WCRP) to be held May 19-23, 2008,
Gijon, Spain.

Integrated Marine Biogeochemistry and Ecosys-

tem Research (IMBER)

The joint PICES/IMBER Topic Session on
“Interactions  between  biogeochemical
cycles and marine foodwebs in the North
Pacific” was convened at PICES XV;

Dr. Julie Hall (IMBER SSC Chairman)
attended PICES XV as an observer and
addressed Council on potential areas of
cooperation between IMBER and PICES.
IMBER also had a poster at this meeting
outlining  general  information  and
highlighting scientific objectives and recent
activities of the project;

There is a strong interest in including issues
of marine biogeochemistry and food webs
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that would link PICES with IMBER in a
new PICES integrative scientific program.

Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission

(I10C)
In 2002, IOC and PICES agreed to cooperate on

four fronts: (i) monitoring (see under GOOS);
(i1) ecosystem indicators (see under SCOR);
(i) CO, data integration and synthesis (see
under IOCCP); and (iv) harmful algal blooms
(see below).

In June 2005, IOC and PICES signed a
formal agreement to establish a partnership
in systematically compiling, storing and
presenting on-line, records on harmful algal
events. Event records will be compiled and
stored annually in the format specified in the
HAE-DAT database. HAE-DAT is hosted
at the IOC server in Paris and presented with
equal credit to the partner organizations
(PICES and ICES). The HAE-DAT
partnership is open to other appropriate and
complementary regional organizations as to
achieve global coverage of HAE-DAT.
Building a common data resource will allow
inter-comparison ~ of  HAB species
composition and the magnitude of
environmental and economic impacts;

IOC supported an initiative by ICES and
PICES to organize the International
Symposium on “Effects of climate change
on the world’s oceans” to be held May 19—
23, 2008, Gijon, Spain.

International Ocean Carbon Coordinated Project

(I0CCP)

IOCCP is working on establishing
international agreements on observation
methods, best practices, data management,
and data sharing that will lead to the joint
development of global data products and
synthesis activities documenting the ocean
carbon cycle. PICES, through its Working
Groups on CO; in the North Pacific (WG
13, 1998-2001) and Biogeochemical data
integration and synthesis (WG 17, 2002-
2005), has been long acting as a regional
coordinator for these activities. The PICES
Section on Carbon and Climate provides
clear channels of communication to IOCCP,
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and to large-scale IGBP programs such as
SOLAS and IMBER;

IOCCP and PICES are co-sponsoring the
preparation of the “Guide to best practices
for oceanic CO; measurements and data
reporting” to be published in the PICES
Scientific Report Series in 2007.

North Atlantic Fisheries Organization (NAFO)

NAFO and PICES (with ICES as another
co-sponsor) partner to organize the
International Symposium on “Reproductive
and recruitment processes in exploited
marine fish stocks” to be held October 1-3,
2007, Lisbon, Portugal.

North Pacific Anadromous Fish Commission

(NPAFC)

NPAFC accepted PICES’ invitation for the
Chairman of NPAFC’s Committee on
Scientific Research and Statistics (CSRS) to
present annual updates on the status of
Pacific salmon in the North Pacific to the
MONITOR Technical Committee. Every
third year, the CSRS Chairman will make a
more complete presentation on the status of
Pacific salmon in the North Pacific as input
to update the North Pacific Ecosystem
Status Report. A representative of PICES
will present the North Pacific Ecosystem
Status Report to NPAFC Annual Meetings;
Dr. Richard Beamish (NPAFC CSRS
Chairman) attended PICES XV as an
observer and addressed Council on potential
areas for cooperation between NPAFC and
PICES.

North Pacific Research Board (NPRB)
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NPRB approved a grant of $90,000 for the
production of the next North Pacific
Ecosystem Status Report;

NPRB provided US $20,000 for the 2006
PICES/GLOBEC Symposium on “Climate
variability and ecosystem impacts on the
North Pacific: A basin-scale synthesis”
(April 19-21, 2006, Honolulu, U.S.A.), and
US $15,000 for the ICES/PICES Conference
for Early Career Scientists on “New frontiers
in marine science” to be held June 26-29,
2007, in Baltimore, U.S.A.;

A PICES proposal entitled “Integration of
ecological indicators for the North Pacific
with emphasis on the Bering Sea” was
funded by NPRB (a grant of US $99,957).
The project goal is to provide a report on the
merits and recommendations for use of
various classes of ecosystem indicators,
through the application of selection criteria
and their correspondence to operational
objectives. The project was successfully
completed by convening a 3-day
PICES/NPRB workshop on “Integration of
ecological indicators of the North Pacific
with emphasis on the Bering Sea” in June
2006, Seattle, U.S.A., and publishing
proceedings of the workshop as PICES
Scientific Report No. 33 in December 2006.

Scientific Committee on Oceanic Research

(SCOR)
Relationships with GLOBEC, SOLAS, IMBER

and IOCCP are reflected separately.

Other

collaborations between PICES and scientific
projects and groups established/co-sponsored by
SCOR are listed below.

In October 2004, PICES established a new
Working Group on Ecosystem-based
management science and its application to
the North Pacific. This Working Group will
definitely benefit from activities of SCOR-
I0C WG 119 on Quantitative ecosystem
indicators for fisheries management. The
Co-Chairman of SCOR WG 119, Dr. Villy
Christensen, was one of invited speakers at
the PICES/NPRB Workshop on “Integration
of ecological indicators for the North
Pacific with emphasis on the Bering Sea”;

PICES strongly supported the formation of
the SCOR WG 125 on Global Comparisons
of Zooplankton Time Series and agreed to
provide funding for one additional member
from the North Pacific (Dr. Harold P.
Batchelder, Oregon State  University,
U.S.A.) to participate in its activities. Some
future meetings of this SCOR WG 125 are
planned to be held in conjunction with
symposia organized/co-ponsored by PICES;
Since 2005, the PICES HAB Section has
been convening an annual series of
workshops to document the existing
knowledge on the eco-physiology of HAB



species that impact all, or most, countries in
the North Pacific. The SCOR GEOHAB
Program is invited to play an active role in
future workshops of this series;

= SCOR provided a total of US $15,000 for
scientists from countries with “economies in
transition” to attend the 2006
PICES/GLOBEC Symposium on “Climate
variability and ecosystem impacts on the
North Pacific: A basin-scale synthesis” and
PICES XV;

» SCOR has approved US $6,000 for
scientists from countries with “economies in
transition” to attend the Zooplankton
Production Symposium on “Human and
climate forcing of zooplankton populations”
(May 28—June 1, 2007, Hiroshima, Japan)
and US $5,000 to travel to PICES XVI for
SCOR-relevant sessions.

Surface  Ocean-Lower Atmosphere  Study

(SOLAS)

= Meso-scale iron enhancement experiments
are an important part in the agenda of both
SOLAS and PICES. Three international
collaborative field projects were developed
under the umbrella of PICES, through its
Advisory Panel on the [ron Fertilization
Experiment in the Subarctic Pacific Ocean
(IFEP) established in 2000. SERIES
(Subarctic Ecosystem Response to Iron
Enrichment Study) was performed in the
eastern subarctic Pacific in summer of 2002,
and SEEDS-I and SEEDS-II (Subarctic
Pacific Iron Experiment for Ecosystem
Dynamics Study) were conducted in the
western subarctic Pacific in the summers of
2001 and 2004, respectively. Important new
findings from the first two experiments were
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published recently in Science (SEEDS-I:
Tsuda et al. 2003, 300: 958-961) and
Nature (SERIES: Boyd et al. 2004, 428:
549-553). More detailed results from these
experiments can be found in special issues
of Prog. Oceanogr. 2005. Vol. 64, Nos. 24,
pp. 91-324 (SEEDS-I) and Deep-Sea
Research I1. 2006. Vol. 53, Nos. 20-22, pp.
2005-2454 (SERIES);

= The joint PICES/SOLAS workshop on
“Modeling iron biogeochemistry and ocean
ecosystems” was convened at PICES XV;

= Dr. Shigenobu Takeda (SOLAS SSC
member) attended PICES XV as an observer
and addressed Council on potential areas of
cooperation between SOLAS and PICES.
SOLAS also had a poster at this meeting
outlining  general  information  and
highlighting scientific objectives and recent
activities of the project;

= PICES agreed to provide travel support for
young Asian scientists to attend the SOLAS
Open Science Meeting to be held in March
2007, in Xiamen, People’s Republic of
China.

U.S. Fishery Management Councils

» The North Pacific Fishery Management
Council (NPFMC) and Western Pacific
Fishery Management Council (WPFMC)
provided US $5,000 and $15,000,
respectively, for the 2006 PICES/GLOBEC
Symposium on “Climate variability and
ecosystem impacts on the North Pacific: A
basin-scale synthesis”.

VII. PICES Intern Program
See GC Agenda Item 9 for details.

Summary report of the 2006 inter-sessional Governing Council meeting

The 2006 inter-sessional Governing Council was
held on April 18, under the chairmanship of Dr.
Vera Alexander. The list of participants and
agenda for the meeting are included at the end of
this section.  All Contracting Parties were
represented at the meeting.

The main order of business was the adoption of
the updated Rules of Procedure and Financial
Regulations (RPFR). A Study Group on RPFR
was established at PICES XIII (Decision
04/A/7). The intent was to ensure that the Rules
of Procedure and Financial Regulations agreed
with the current practice of the Organization,
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and to eliminate problematic areas of ambiguity.
A SG-RPFR report was presented by its
Chairman, Dr. Laura Richards. She pointed out
that discussion of the proposed amendments
began at the 2005 inter-sessional Council
meeting and continued at PICES XIV. After
PICES XIV, all comments were collated by the
Secretariat and used for preparation of the final
drafts circulated on February 14, 2006, to ensure
the 2-month period required for Council to
consider the adoption of both documents.

Additional changes in Rules 3-5, 11 and 20 of
the Rules of Procedure were implemented
during the meeting. It was also agreed that
Regulation 12(v) of the Financial Regulations be
revised at a later date (after consulting with a
Canadian tax specialist on wording for this
clause), to allow the extension of the tax levy
practice to the Canadian staff members of the
PICES Secretariat. The revised documents were
approved by consensus (Decision 06/A/5).

The other matter discussed was the guidelines
for operating the PICES Trust Fund. This fund,
established in 1994 (Decision 94/A/4) and
supported primarily by voluntary contributions
from the Contracting Parties, has been a useful
mechanism for facilitating involvement in
PICES activities by young scientists, and for
providing funds for the PICES Intern Program as
needed. Since the guidelines had not been
updated in more than a decade, the F&A
Committee determined at PICES XIV that a
review was warranted to bring the current
practice and the guidelines into accord, and to
improve transparency of the decisions.
Canadian Delegate, Mr. Serge Labonté, worked
with the Secretariat in updating the procedures.
The proposed document was discussed at length,
and after further revisions made in clauses 4(iv)
and 7(i), it was adopted by consensus (Decision
06/A/4(1)).

Dr. Vera Alexander provided an update on her
contacts with 4 Pacific Rim countries that are
currently affiliated members of ICES (Australia,
Chile, New Zealand and Peru). Her letters of
March 2, 2006, were intended to initiate a
dialogue that will allow Council to determine
whether marine scientists from these four
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countries might be interested in having a greater
role in the activities of our organization. PICES
XV was suggested as the appropriate venue to
continue this dialogue, and invitations were
extended to their representatives to attend this
Annual Meeting. By the time of the 2006 inter-
sessional Council meeting, the only response
received was from Dr. Renato Guevara Carrasco
(IMARPE, Peru), who indicated the enthusiasm
of the IMARPE staff with respect to PICES’
proposal. Mr. Serge Labonté pointed out the
importance to understand why there are no other
responses, and Dr. Laura Richards suggested
that the start of a new PICES scientific program
may encourage more interest. Dr. Tokio Wada
indicated that Japan recognizes the importance
and merit of cooperation beyond the North
Pacific with the current expansion of PICES
scientific activities, but it is the Japanese
government’s understanding that the expansion
of the geographic scope and the introduction of
an affiliated member system like ICES will
require an amendment of the present PICES
Convention. Japan believes that the expansion
of research cooperation can be achieved through
collaboration with other international
organizations or countries under the present
Convention, and this expansion alone is not a
substantial reason that calls for an amendment of
the Convention.

Council reviewed several recommendations

from the 2006 inter-sessional Science Board

meeting, and the following decisions were made:

= To facilitate the continuity of Science Board
affairs, a Science Board Chairman-elect
position was established to allow the
election of the Science Board Chairman 1
year before the official change of the
chairmanship (Decision 06/A/11).

= Dr. Phillip R. Mundy (U.S.A.) was
appointed as the Chairman of the Study
Group to develop a strategy for GOOS.
This Study Group was formed at PICES
XIV, under the direction of MONITOR
(Decision 05/S/6).

=  An amount of $10,000 from the encumbered
funds designated for high-priority projects
was earmarked to support the preparation of
a HUFO-DAT Vol. 2 CD-ROM with a 50-
year gill net data collected by T/S Oshoro-



maru and T/S Hokusei-maru in the western
and eastern North Pacific and the Bering
Sea.

Other decisions/recommendations were:

= The new dates (October 26—November 4,
2007) for PICES XVI in Victoria, Canada,
were supported by all Contracting Parties
and permanent Committees, and accepted by
Council (Decision 06/A/7(1)).

= Council approved the proposal of China to
host PICES XVII (2008) in Dalian, with the
National Marine Environmental Monitoring
Centre of SOA as the local organizer. China
was requested to inform the Secretariat by
the end of April if the tentative dates of
October 16-26, 2008, are acceptable
(Decision 06/A/7(i1)).

* The United States urged that PICES
consider charging overhead for running
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various events. The Secretariat should
contact the PICES auditor to determine the
amount of overhead.

*  China nominated Mr. Xuewu Guo from the
Yellow Sea Fisheries Research Institute
(Chinese Academy of Fishery Sciences,
Qingdao) as the intern for the 2007 term of
the PICES Intern Program.

» Canada suggested that the Secretariat should
contact local universities that deal with
training students for international relations
to examine the possibility of broadening the
Intern  Program  without  budgetary
implications.

=  Council supported a recommendation of
Japan to establish a new PICES award for
monitoring and data management activities
and requested Dr. Tokio Wada to prepare a
proposal for consideration at PICES XV.

Participation list of the 2006 inter-sessional Governing Council meeting

Canada
Serge Labonté
Laura Richards

Japan
Tokio Wada

Yukimasa Ishida (advisor)

People’s Republic of China
Fengkui Liang (alternate delegate)

Republic of Korea
Ig-Chan Pang

Russia
Lev N. Bocharov
Igor Shevchenko (advisor)

U.S.A.

George Bocehlert

Patricia Livingston (advisor)
Samuel Pooley

Other

Vera Alexander (Chairman, PICES)
Alexander Bychkov (Executive Secretary)
Skip McKinnell (Deputy Executive Secretary)
Kuh Kim (Chairman, Science Board)

John E. Stein (Vice-Chairman, Science Board)

2006 inter-sessional Governing Council meeting agenda

1. PICES Rules of Procedure & Financial
Regulations

2. PICES Trust Fund guidelines

3. Potential PICES membership

4. Recommendations from the 2006 inter-
sessional Science Board meeting

5. Financial and administrative matters
5.1  Auditor’s report for £'Y 2005

5.2 Status of annual contributions
5.3 Status of voluntary contributions
5.4  Administrative matters
6. Schedule and financing of future Annual
Meetings of the Organization
7. PICES Intern Program
8. Other business
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GC Endnote 5
U.S. comments on planning for the PICES Future Integrative Science Program as presented
at the Governing Council meeting on October 22, 2006, in Yokohama, Japan

We very much appreciate the hard work that has been put into FISP. There was an excellent discussion at
the Open Forum on FUTURE, and both the drafters of the Prospectus and the Committee Chairmen
deserve congratulations for making this progress. We realize this is not an easy task, and it is a task that
has substantial implications for PICES. So you will understand if the Governing Council is taking a
careful look at the program’s proposed Content as well the Process by which FISP moves forward.

Our questions on process focus on the Science Board’s presentation to Governing Council on October 21.
We realize that this is a work in progress, but we are also concerned that the time is shrinking in which to
implement this program. We raised some of these concerns during the oral presentation on the Science
Board’s plan and discussed them further with the Science Board Chairman the following day.

Without benefit of a write-up on the process, our understanding of the FISP planning process is somewhat
sketchy, but we believe we have the gist of it. Our understanding of the process is that the Committees
will provide input to FISP by the beginning of December, and the FISP team will compile this
information plus that provided from this year’s Open Forum for a meeting of the Writing Team in
February 2006. We also think we heard that between December and February team members in the
Seattle (U.S.A.) area would get together to get a “head start.” The Writing Team would generate a draft
plan that would be further developed in a wider workshop including all of the Science Board and a
number of scientists from within PICES, to be held in April 2007, in Yokohama. The structure of the
workshop was not well defined, but the objective, as we understood it, was to finalize the FUTURE
science plan. The product from that meeting would receive external review comments from individuals
largely outside PICES. The final draft would be posted for external review and PICES comments in
August, with the final version available for Governing Council review and approval at PICES XVI in
Victoria (Canada), in October 2007. In the following year, an implementation plan for FUTURE would
also be developed.

The Governing Council did support the spring 2007 workshop in Yokohama, Japan, and authorized work
to proceed on that workshop, subject to some constraints.

1. Overall process

Collaborative research is both exciting and frustrating, the latter from the difficulties of coordinating
researchers in different institutions. There are several approaches to cooperative research planning,
including use of planning consultants, expert researchers, inter-active research teams, and planning
workshops, to name several. The FISP process seems to promise all of these approaches except the
use of planning consultants. But the exact constellation of these approaches is not at all clear. We
believe SB/FISP should provide a much more detailed write-up of each step of the planning process.
For example, for the workshop, we would like to see the objectives, proposed agenda, planning
activities, and deliverables. We would like to see this kind of detail about each step in the process.

2. Geographical balance, including vetting by the Contracting Parties
The Science Board understands, as well as any of us, the importance of involving all components of
PICES in its activities, and we recognize there has been an attempt to do so in the Writing Team and
the workshop. However, this appears to have been incomplete and participation was not been vetted
by the national delegates and Governing Council. We believe that the SB/FISP should provide its
nominations for participation in the Writing Team and the workshop to the Contracting Parties, who
will affirm these nominations to the Secretariat or suggest alternatives. The SB/FISP should also
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identify methods for involving scientists from the western side of the Pacific in any informal
meetings — using techniques such as teleconferencing or direct contacts.

Methodological balance

We may be treading on the terrain of Science Board to suggest that the gist of FISP is the kind of
integrative modeling that ties together the components of PICES into a coherent perspective on the
dynamics of the North Pacific ecosystem. It is this, plus the advice to management and
communication of results, that differentiate FUTURE from the CCCC Program. Thus, expertise in
these areas is crucial. We suggest that more attention be focused on the modeling aspect of the
project, with top level modelers included in the process. We are pleased to see that several policy
advisors have been suggested for the planning process, but we would suggest that the Communication
theme is really quite different and needs a specialist on that topic. We would also like to see a more
complete strategy for involving both the human dimensions of the research component and the
communications strategy from the beginning, particularly as pertains to different approaches across
the member countries.

New ideas

The Science Board and FISP team have dedicated a substantial amount of their professional time
toward this project which we appreciate. Yet we have some concern that the project seems more like
a roll-over of the CCCC Program rather than a new project. We would suggest some explicit
reaching out to people in this region who either have not been involved in PICES, such as coastal
scientists, or who have been involved and are faded away, as well as to young scientists.

Timeline

We all appreciate that pulling this together by next fall will be a major accomplishment, but we are
concerned that the schedule is compressed toward the decision-making end of the timeline. We
would like to see a schedule that accelerates the drafting process from the point of Committee input in
December 2006 through the provision of the draft plan. If this schedule cannot be accelerated with
the activities currently planned, then a re-evaluation of the process would be warranted.

Cost

Frankly we were worried that the cost of the FISP planning process may absorb all of the flexibility in
the PICES budget. We agree this is the highest priority for PICES, but we would like to see an
explicit budget. The United States suggests that the total cost of FISP science plan development in
2007 should not exceed one half of the PICES discretionary budget, i.e., less than $55,000. [The
Chairman of F&A, Dr. Laura Richards, subsequently suggested a budget not to exceed $40,000
would be appropriate.] We would like to see an explicit budget for the entire planning process,
including best estimates for the implementation planning stage.
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REPORT OF THE FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE

3

O

The Finance and Administration Committee
(hereafter F&A) met from 09:00—12:00 hours on
October 18, and from 14:00-14:30 on October
20, 2006, under the chairmanship of Dr. Laura
Richards.

Opening remarks (Agenda Item 1)

The Chairman called the meeting to order,
welcomed the participants and requested an
introduction of members for each delegation.
All Contracting Parties were present at the
meeting (F&A Endnote 1).

Adoption of agenda (Agenda Item 2)

The Committee reviewed the draft agenda (F&4
Endnote 2). At Canada’s request, a discussion
of procedures relating to membership and
observers from other countries was added under
Agenda Item 14 (Other business).

Audited accounts for FY 2005 (Agenda
Item 3)

The FY 2005 financial statements were
submitted to the PICES external auditor, Flader
& Hale, on March 15, 2006. The Auditor’s
Report for FY 2005 (F&A Endnote 3) was
completed and circulated by e-mail to all
Contracting Parties on April 12, 2006, and hard
copies of the report were distributed at the 2006
inter-sessional Council meeting held April 18,
2006, in Honolulu (U.S.A.). In the auditor’s
opinion, the financial statements are an accurate
representation of the financial position of the
Organization as of December 31, 2005. The
Committee reviewed the Auditor’s Report and
recommended it for approval by Council.

Annual contributions (Agenda Item 4)

As stated in Financial Regulation 5(ii), all
national contributions to PICES “shall be
considered due as of the first day of the financial
year (January 1) to which they relate”. The

Executive Secretary reported on the 2006 annual
fee payment dates, and provided information on
the payment schedule of national contributions
for the last 7 years (F&A Endnote 4).

The Committee noted that annual contributions
were received within the first 2 months of the
PICES fiscal year from all Contracting Parties
but China. The Committee recommended that
Council instruct the Executive Secretary to send
a letter to Contracting Parties commending them
for their performance in submitting annual
contributions for 2006, and describing the
difficulties that late and partial payment causes
the Organization. It was also recommended that
for planning purposes, Contracting Parties
should continue to use the guideline generally
accepted at the PICES Eighth Annual Meeting
(Decision 99/A/2(ii)), which states that “the
annual contributions will increase at the rate of
inflation in Canada”.  This should assist
member countries in preparing timely funding
requests to cover annual contributions, and the
Executive Secretary in developing future
budgets.

At PICES X1V, the Committee noted that, from
the high expectations placed on PICES, a case
could be made to raise the contributions from
Contracting Parties. To assess the relevance of
any significant increase in annual contributions,
the Executive Secretary was asked to study how
the Organization might finance the anticipated
growth in its activities from savings accrued as a
result of reducing current expenditures. To
assist in this analysis, F&A members were
requested to consider which activities could be
scaled back in order to operate PICES within the
current (or a lower) budget, and to send their
suggestions to the Executive Secretary no later
than December 31, 2005. The only specific
suggestions received were from Ms. Patricia
Livingston (U.S.A.), who recommended
consideration of (1) minimizing printing
expenditures by making electronic copies of
PICES publications available on-line and

47



F&A-2006

charging for hard copies of these publications;
and (2) recovering meeting costs by increasing
meeting registration fees.

After extensive discussion, the Committee
agreed that more work was still required to
understand how PICES could operate within its
budget. Canada (Mr. Serge Labonté) agreed to
meet with the Secretariat to prepare options for
presentation at the next F&A meeting in 2007.

In addition, the Committee requested that the

Executive Secretary prepare a more detailed

analysis of options for electronic publication of

PICES documents. This report should include:

1. breakdown of publications into various
categories;

2. printing and distribution costs, by category;

3. options for transition to electronic
publications, by category;

4. impacts on existing distribution system
(libraries; commercial distributors, etc.);

5. mitigation measures (if any) to rectify
resulting distribution problems;

6. impacts on Secretariat infrastructure and
document archival processes (with the
assistance of TCODE);

7. consideration of impacts of any changes on
each of the Contracting Parties;

8. recommended options and Action Plan.

The Committee noted that Contracting Parties
must carefully review the draft document
prepared by the Secretariat to ensure that any
impacts on Contracting Parties (item 7) are
correctly identified and communicated to the
Executive Secretary.

Fund-raising activities (Agenda Item 5)

The Executive Secretary reported on fund-
raising efforts for the period since PICES XIV
(F&A Endnote 5). Fund-raising continues to be
an important component of PICES activities,
and about a third of the current operational
budget is supported by external contributions
and partnerships. It was indicated that as
partnerships expand, a strategy will be needed to
manage the workload of the Secretariat.
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Budget (Agenda Item 6)

Estimated accounts for FY 2006 (Agenda
Item 6a)

The Committee reviewed the estimated accounts
for FY 2006 and recommended their acceptance
by Council.

Interest and other income (Agenda Item 6b)

In FY 2006, the total income is estimated at
$337,919. This amount includes the income of
$123,275 from “guaranteed” sources and
$22,585 from other sources, and $192,059 in
voluntary contributions and grants as listed in
F&A Endnote 5.

Relocation and Home Leave Fund (Agenda
Item 6c¢)

The Relocation and Home Leave Fund (RHLF)
is currently set at $110,000. At the end of
FY 2006, if home-leave expenses are offset only
by interest earned by the Fund, RHLF will be
approximately $5,500 below the currently
required amount of $110,000. The Committee
noted that no relocation or home-leave expenses
are expected in FY 2007, and interest earned
during that year will bring RHLF close to
$110,000. Therefore, the Committee does not
foresee a need to transfer funds to maintain
RHLF at $110,000 at the end of the fiscal year.

Trust Fund (Agenda Item 6d)

In FY 2006, the Trust Fund (TRF) estimated
income is at a level of $47,425 ($44,425 in
voluntary contributions and grants) and
estimated expenses are $69,195. The
Committee recommends a transfer from the
Working Capital Fund (WCF) to recover the
2006 expenses and restore the Trust Fund to the
level of $110,000.

Working Capital Fund (Agenda Item 6e)

In FY 2006, the Working Capital Fund estimated
income is at a level of $287,769 ($147,634 in
voluntary  contributions and grants) and
estimated expenses are $243,708. After



recommended inter-fund transfers, the amount
of funds available in the Working Capital Fund
at the fiscal year end will be $276,308. This
includes $175,054 in encumbered funds held for
special and high-priority PICES projects with
completion in 2007-2008, and $101,254 in
“operating” funds.

F&A discussed whether a level of expenditures
should be earmarked for specific high priority
activities. However, the costs of these activities
are not sufficiently well defined at this point to
make meaningful recommendations.

Budget for FY 2007 and forecast budget for
FY 2008 (Agenda Item 6f)

The Committee reviewed the proposed FY 2007
budget of $745,000 (F&A Endnote 6) and
recommended its approval by Council. The
budget was noted to be consistent with the
guideline generally accepted at the PICES
Eighth Annual Meeting (Decision 99/A/2(ii)),
stating that “the annual contribution will
increase at the rate of inflation in Canada”. The
Committee recommended a transfer of $94,000
from the Working Capital Fund to balance the
budget, setting the total annual contribution at
$651,000, and the 2007 fees at $108,500 per
Contracting Party.

The Executive Secretary presented the FY 2008
forecast budget of $760,000, and noted that this
budget is prepared based on preliminary
information available as of August 10, 2006, and
is about 2% higher than in FY 2007. It was
indicated that if the inflation rate in Canada
remains the same, then under the adopted
guidelines, the 2007 annual fee should be set at a
level of $111,500 per Contracting Party. Then
the total annual contribution would be $669,000,
and a transfer of $91,000 from the Working
Capital Fund would be required to balance the
budget. The Committee submitted the FY 2008
forecast budget to Council for information only.

Financing of high priority projects (Agenda
Item 7)

The Committee reviewed the high priority
projects previously identified by Science Board.
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As referenced under Agenda Item 6e, the cost
requirements for these projects are not yet
known. However, the Committee recommended
that expenditures related to development of the
future integrative scientific program be
identified as the highest priority.

PICES Intern Program (Agenda Item 8)

The Committee reviewed the current status of
the Intern Program. In April 2006, Mr. Xuewu
Guo from the Yellow Sea Fisheries Research
Institute (Chinese Academy of Fishery Sciences,
Qingdao, China) was nominated and
consequently accepted as the 2007 PICES intern.
His 8-month term is expected to start on
February 1, 2007. The term could be extended
to a maximum of 12 months, depending on his
performance, availability of funds, and the
workload in the Secretariat.

Applications for the Intern Program, reviewed
by national delegates, should normally be
received by the Executive Secretary by the date
of the first Governing Council session at the
PICES Annual Meeting. Considering that Mr.
Guo’s term will be completed not earlier than in
September 2007, the Committee recommends
that the deadline for nominations be extended
until  the 2007 inter-sessional  Science
Board/Governing Council meeting, or until the
end of March 2007, if no inter-sessional meeting
is held.

The Executive Secretary reminded the
Committee that the Intern Program remains
unbudgeted, and over the years has been
financed solely by voluntary contributions. The
Committee recommended that Council thank the
National Marine Fisheries Service (U.S.A.) for
their continuing support of the Intern Program,
and instructed the Executive Secretary to invite
Contracting Parties to provide voluntary
contributions supporting the Program in 2007
and beyond.

The Committee reviewed the level of stipends
for the interns and discussed whether this
stipend is sufficient to cover the cost of living in
Canada. It was recommended that the stipend be
kept at the current level of $2,000 per month.
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The nominating Contracting Party could
consider supplementing this modest stipend,
depending on  the intern’s  personal
circumstances.

Schedule and financing of future Annual
Meetings (Agenda Item 9)

At PICES XIV, Governing Council requested
China to explore the possibility of holding the
Seventeenth Annual Meeting in 2008, and
inform the Secretariat on this matter by March
31, 2006 (Decision 05/A/5(ii)). At the 2006
inter-sessional Science Board/Governing
Council meeting, the Chinese government
confirmed their intention to host PICES XVII in
Dalian, with the National Marine Environmental
Monitoring Centre of SOA as the local
organizer. China also accepted the proposed
dates (October 16-26, 2008) for the Annual
Meeting. However, the Committee
subsequently learned that the 5™ World Fisheries
Congress will be held October 20-24, 2008, in
Yokohama, Japan. To avoid overlap, the
Committee recommended that the dates for
PICES XVII be changed, and that the meeting
begin instead on October 23, 2008. The Chinese
delegation indicated that they could confirm
these dates within the next 2 weeks.

The Committee recommended that, in keeping
with the 6-year rotation cycle, Korea be invited
to explore the feasibility of hosting the
Eighteenth Annual Meeting in October 2009,
and inform the Secretariat on this matter by
March 31, 2007.

At PICES X, Council approved the charging of a
registration fee for future Annual Meetings of
the Organization and indicated that the
registration fee structure should be reviewed
annually (Decision 01/A/4(iv)). It was agreed
that the fees have to be collected by the
Secretariat and credited to the Working Capital
Fund to support high priority projects and the
Intern Program, and to cover costs associated
with Annual Meetings; the allocation among
these three purposes should be flexible and
decided by the Executive Secretary (Decision
04/A/5(iv)). Council accepted the same
registration fee structure for PICES XV as was
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decided for the previous two Annual Meetings
(Decision 05/A/5(iii)). The Committee again
reviewed the fee structure and recommended
that Council maintain the same registration fee
structure for PICES XVI in 2007:

Type CDN $
Registration fee 225
Early registration fee 150
Students registration fee 50
Spousal registration fee 50

The Committee recognized the importance of
holding an inter-sessional Science Board
meeting in 2007, in conjunction with a
workshop to develop a Science Plan for the new
integrative  scientific program of PICES
(FUTURE). The Committee recommended that
Council accept Japan’s offer to host this event.
The Committee also emphasized the need to
keep overall costs to the minimum possible.

PICES Handbook (Agenda Item 10)

The second edition of the PICES Handbook was
published prior to PICES XV as the first PICES
Handbook, compiled in 1998 and re-printed in
1999, is outdated and out of stock. The goal of
this publication is to have in one place all basic
documents regulating the functioning of the
Organization. The new Handbook includes the
text of the PICES Convention, the Headquarters
Agreement between PICES and the Government
of Canada, the revised PICES Rules of
Procedure, Financial Regulations and Trust
Fund Guidelines (approved at the 2006 inter-
sessional Council meeting), the PICES Strategic
Plan (approved at the 2004 inter-sessional
Council meeting), and the historical list of
PICES officers for the period from 1992-2006.
It was noted that the PICES Handbook is printed
in a format that allows the replacement of a
revised separate clause or a whole outdated
document, and the addition of a new document
at low costs.

The Committee reviewed two documents
(“Guidelines for Chairmen and Convenors” and
“Guidelines for temporary expert groups™) to be
added to the PICES Handbook. Given the
extensive overlap between these documents, the



Committee recommended that the documents be
merged. The Committee further recommended
that a small group be formed with the Chairman
of F&A, the Secretariat, and representation by
Science Board to work by correspondence to
complete the document for approval at the next
Annual Meeting. In the interim, these draft
documents could be used as a guide.

Administrative matters (Agenda Item 11)

The Committee reviewed the progress on the
status of income tax levies for personnel at the
PICES Secretariat.

Space, facilities and services for the PICES
Secretariat office (Agenda Item 12)

PICES has a Headquarters Agreement with the
Government of Canada (entered into force
December 15, 1993), and in accordance with this
agreement, the PICES Secretariat is located at
the Institute of Ocean Sciences (IOS) of the
Department of Fisheries and Oceans (DFO) in
Sidney, British Columbia, Canada.

Space and certain general administrative
services are traditionally provided to the PICES
Secretariat by DFO. The original agreement
commenced on April 1, 1992, and continues
indefinitely with a periodic review. The last
time the agreement was amended was on April
1, 2002, and it should be renewed by the end of
2006.

In FY 2006, PICES is to pay an annual sum of
$23,500 for postage and $2,000 for janitorial/
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maintenance services. Telephone and fax lines,
previously covered in the amount of $2,500
under the agreement, are currently paid by
PICES to Telus directly. The new agreement
between PICES and DFO should take into
account the substantial increase in mailing costs
by Canada Post and the costs that have shifted to
PICES.

Appointment of F&A Committee Chairman
(Agenda Item 13)

The Committee recommended that Dr. Laura
Richards (Canada) be re-appointed to another 2-
year term as F&A Chairman.

Other business (Agenda Item 14)

The Committee discussed the documentation
provided in the Governing Council Briefing
Book on membership and observers from other
countries (GC Agenda Item 5). Should Council
decide to expand PICES membership, the
Committee recommended that a Study Group to
explore options (for example, affiliate status or
Memorandum of Understanding) and any legal
recommendations (such as amendments to the
Convention) be established.

Adoption of the F&A report and recommend-
dations to Council (Agenda Item 15)

The draft report has been circulated and
approved by all F&A members. All
recommendations to Council were brought
forward by Dr. Richards at their meeting on
October 21, 2006.
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F&A Endnote 1

Canada

Robin M. Brown
Serge Labonté

Japan

Tokio Wada
Hideki Nakano (advisor)

People’s Republic of China

Zhixin Chen
Fangli Qiao (advisor)

Republic of Korea

Seok Jin Kang (alternate)
Ig-Chan Pang (advisor)

F&A Endnote 2
1. Welcome and opening remarks
2.
3. Audited accounts for fiscal year 2005
4. Annual contributions
5. Fund-raising activities
6. Budget:
a. Estimated accounts for /Y 2006
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Russia
Igor Shevchenko

U.S.A.
K. Alexandra Curtis (alternate)
Patricia Livingston

Other

Laura Richards (F&A Chairman)

Vera Alexander (Chairman, PICES)
Alexander Bychkov (Executive Secretary)

F&A Committee meeting agenda

7. Financing of high priority projects

Adoption of agenda and meeting procedures 8. PICES Intern Program

e e o

Interest and other income

Relocation and Home Leave Fund

Trust Fund
Working Capital Fund

Proposed budget for FY 2007 and

forecast budget for FY 2008

9. Schedule and financing of future Annual
Meetings

10. PICES Handbook

11. Administrative matters

12. Space, facilities and services for the PICES
Secretariat office

13. Appointment of F&A Committee Chairman

14. Other business

15. Adoption of report and recommendations to
Council
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F&A Endnote 3
Auditor’s report (2005) to the Organization

To the Council of the
North Pacific Marine Science Organization

We have audited the statement of financial position of North Pacific Marine Science Organization as at
December 31, 2005 and the statement of operations and changes in fund balances for the year then ended.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the organization’s management. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the organization as at December 31, 2005 and the results of its operations and changes in fund balances
for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Flader & Hale

Chartered Accountants

9768 Third Street

Sidney, B.C.,

Canada. V8L 4B2

PHONE: 1-250-656-3991
FAX: 1-250-656-6486

E-mail: mail@fladerandhale.ca

Sidney, B.C.
April 6, 2006
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NORTH PACIFIC MARINE SCIENCE ORGANIZATION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2005

ASSETS
2005 2004
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and short term deposits (note 4) $ 800,990 $ 722,791
Accounts receivable 14,500 1,825
Prepaid expenses 2,560 3,096
$ 818,050 $ 727,712
LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 56,683 § 34,886
Funds held for contracting parties (note 3) 105,500 102,500
162,183 137,386
FUND BALANCES
WORKING CAPITAL FUND (note 4) 435,867 370,326
TRUST FUND 110,000 110,000
RELOCATION AND HOME LEAVE FUND 110,000 110,000
655,867 590,326

$ 818,050 § 727,712

54



F&A-2006

97€06S § L98°6S9 $ 000011 $ 000°0TT $ L98°SEy § - $ 1834 30 pud ‘SHONV'IVI ANNA
- - (8L0°7) vLS'Y (96+°7) - (S a10u) SYAASNVIL ANNAHALNI
- - - - (YOLT)  $0LC (¥ @10u) ANNA TVLIdVD ONDTIOM INOUA YFAASNVIL
9T€06S  L98°SS9 8LOCIT 9TF'SOl  L90'T¥y  (YOL'T) ATAVTIVAV SANNA LAN
PrE018 L98°0L6 - 168°1S TLL'S0T YO EIL
v6S‘Y She'e - - - Sye'e (8 910U) SSO[ 93UBYOXd USI2I0]
L9E'L - - - - - uonNeOO[Y
6T €e - - - - - Hodoy SAAYAA
68T°€1 - - - - - 110doy smeIg WISAs0o5
8EL'SE 6SY 11 - 65t V1 - - wegoad ursyu]
18T°¢ 189°¢ - - - 189°¢ SNOJUEB[[OISIA
€ELTT 00T°LE - - 00Z°61 00081 SOOIAIOS [ENOBIUO))
01S°L 0€1°6 - - 8ST°T TL6'L sorjddng
810°01 vLEL - - - VLE L 1uswdimby
6€8°€€E TOL 1€ - - - TO6L 1€ UONBOIUNWWIO))
S00°L9 €75°8T1 - - 0St°€9 €L0°S9 Sunurig
955°9T1 geeTel - [43%3 TI8°S IT1°68 [eABL]
€8L°G9 ThYLST - - 980°L8 95€°0L sSunoow [e10ads
€LT61 12349 - - vevSl 000°0% Sunooy [enuuy
676°6S¢€ TET°06€ - - TE9°¢l 00S°9LE SOOIAIAS [QUUOSI]
STANLIANAIXA
0L9°00v T ¥€L°9T9°T  8LOTII LIELST  6€89Y9  00S0IL saImIpuadxa 210Joq ‘SHONVIVE ANNA
8I¥CL6  809€0'T  8LOC L1ELY €1S'9LT  00S0IL
60S°CIT  €19911 8L0°C T60°C PP TII - (L 910U) SWODUT JSYI0 PUB JSAIIU]
60L°8ET  S6LVOE - STT'SY 0LS°6ST - (9 9j0u) sjueRIZ pUE SUOHNGLIIUOD AIBJUN[OA
- - - - (00$°s6)  00S°S6 (G 930u) pun, [eISUILD) 0] I9JSueI} PAle3pnyg
002129 000°S19 - - - 000°S19 sanIed Suroenuo)) Woij suonnqgriuo))
SANANA A0 SADANOS
TST8TY § 9TE06S § 000011 $ 000011 § 9TE0LE § - $ 1224 Jo SuruuIseq ‘SFONVIVE ANNA
[ejo], [ejoL puny puny puny puny
v00C S00¢C JABY | JWIOH snag, —NHMQ&U [eJ9UudnH)
puE uonEBIOY SunjIopn

S00T ‘1€ YAIINADAA AAANT AVIA THL 404
SHONVIVE ANAA NI SHONVHD ANV SNOILVYHAdO 40 INAIWHALV.LS
NOILVZINVOYHO HONAIOS ANIIVIA DIAIDVd HLION



F&A-2006

1.

NORTH PACIFIC MARINE SCIENCE ORGANIZATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2005

PURPOSE OF ORGANIZATION

The North Pacific Marine Science Organization (PICES) is an intergovernmental non-profit scientific
organization whose present members include Canada, Japan, the People’s Republic of China, the
Republic of Korea, the Russian Federation and the United States of America. The purpose of the
organization is to promote and coordinate marine scientific research in order to advance scientific
knowledge of the North Pacific and adjacent seas.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the North Pacific Marine Science
Organization’s Financial Regulations and are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles. The following is a summary of the significant accounting policies used in the
preparation of these financial statements:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)
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Fund Accounting
The Working Capital Fund represents the accumulated excess of contributions provided from
Contracting Parties over expenditures in the General Fund. The purposes of the General Fund and

Working Capital Fund are established by Regulation 6 of the Organization Financial Regulation.

The Trust Fund was established in 1994 for the purpose of facilitating participation of a broad
spectrum of scientists in activities of the Organization.

The Relocation and Home Leave Fund was established in 1995 to pay relocation and home leave
expenses of new employees and their dependents to the seat of the Secretariat and removal after
period of employment has ended, and to provide home leave for international staff. This fund is set at
$110,000.

Capital Assets

Capital assets acquired by the Organization are expensed in the year of acquisition. During the
current year the organization purchased $7,374 of capital assets.

Contributions

Contributions from contracting parties are recorded in the year in which they relate to. All other
contributions and grants are recorded in the year received.

Income Tax

The Organization is a non-taxable organization under the Privileges and Immunities (International
Organizations) Act (Canada).
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(e) Foreign Exchange
Transactions originating in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the
transaction dates. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are translated to equivalent
Canadian amounts at the current rate of exchange at the statement of financial position date.

(f) Financial Instruments
The Organization’s financial instruments consist of cash and short term deposits, accounts receivable
and accounts payable. Unless otherwise noted, it is management’s opinion that the Organization is
not exposed to significant interest, currency or credit risks.

(g) Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that effect the reported amounts

of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

3. FUNDS HELD FOR CONTRACTING PARTIES
The funds held for contracting parties are advance contributions from Japan ($105,500).
4. WORKING CAPITAL FUND

Of the total amount in the Working Capital Fund, $217,536 is restricted for specific designated projects.

Pursuant to decision 05/A/3(iii) of the Governing Council, $97,000 of the funds held in the Working
Capital Fund will be transferred to the General Fund at the beginning of the 2006 fiscal year to reduce
2006 contributions.

Pursuant to Financial Regulation 6 (iii), the Working Capital Fund is to be increased/decreased by the
surplus/deficit in the General Fund.

5. INTERFUND TRANSFERS

The Governing Council approved the transfer of $95,500 at the beginning of 2005 from the Working
Capital Fund to the General Fund (Decision 04/A/3/ii), in order to facilitate in the reduction of the annual
contribution fee per Contracting Party.

The Governing Council approved the transfer of funds from the Working Capital Fund to restore the
Trust Fund to $110,000 (Decision 05/A/3/iii). The amount of the transfer was $4,574.

The Governing Council approved the transfer of the surplus in the Relocation and Home Leave Fund to

the Working Capital Fund to return the Relocation and Home Leave Fund to $110,000 (Decision
05/A/3/iii). The amount of the transfer was $2,078.
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6. VOLUNTARY CONTRIBUTIONS AND GRANTS

Working Capital
Fund Trust Fund
AFSC/NWFSC (U.S.A.) contribution for interim meeting $ 12,458 $ -
Contributions for 2006 CCCC Symposium:
NPFMC (U.S.A)) 6,020 -
NPRB (U.S.A)) 23,622 -
PIFSC (U.S.A) 11,610 -
DFO (Canada) contribution for 2006 Line P Symposium 10,000 -
EVOS (U.S.A.) contribution for GEM 18,248 -
GLOBEC contribution for ESSAS Symposium 11,332 -
Korean contribution for position at Secretariat 19,200 -
NPRB (U.S.A.) grant for second NPESR 37,080 -
U.S.A. contribution for high priority projects 110,000 -
AFSC (U.S.A.) contribution for young scientists - 3,503
Contributions for Intern Program:
DFO (Canada) - 14,000
NMFS (U.S.A) - 17,415
TINRO-Center (Russia) - 3,597
OECOS/OSU (U.S.A.) contribution for young scientists - 690
SCOR travel grant for PICES XIV - 6,020
$ 259,570 § 45,225
7. INTEREST AND OTHER INCOME
Relocation and
Working Capital Home Leave
Fund Trust Fund Fund
Interest income $ 10,627 $ 2,092 $ 2,078
Income tax levies 23,611 - -
GST, PST & WCB rebates 16,050 - -
Registration Fees for PICES XIV 44,982 - -
Registration Fees for CCCC Symposium 8,950 - -
Reimbursement for PiO Publication 5,710 - -
Other income 2,513 - -
$ 112,443 $ 2,092 $ 2,078
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8. FOREIGN EXCHANGE LOSS

At year end all funds held in foreign currency (US $111,033) are converted to Canadian dollars using the
December 31st exchange rate. A foreign exchange loss has been reported on the current year financial
statements; this amount is an unbudgeted item which has been caused by the ongoing fluctuations in the
US dollar (2005 =1.1659, 2004 =1.2020), and not by the actual purchase or sale of any foreign currencies.

9. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A statement of cash flows has not been presented, as the required information is readily apparent from the
other financial statements presented and the notes to the financial statements.

F&A Endnote 4
Payment schedule of annual contributions, 2000-2006'
Canada China Japan Korea Russia US.A.
2000 Feb. 9, 00 Aug. 29, 00 Nov. 30, 99 June 1, 00 Nov. 2, 00 Jan. 18, 00
2001 Jan. 24, 01 Dec. 10, 01 Dec. 13,00 | Aug. 23,01 May 18, 01 Jan. 3, 01
2002 Jan. 21, 02 Oct. 8, 02 Nov. 27, 01 Aug. 26,02 | June 10,02’ | Dec. 24,01
2003 Jan. 13, 03 Oct. 3, 03* Dec. 11, 02 May 5, 03 Apr. 2, 03 Dec. 6, 02
2004 Jan. 5, 04 Aug.10, 04 Dec. 26, 03 Mar. 24, 04 Mar. 2, 04 Feb. 9, 04°
2005 Dec. 24,04 | Sept. 22, 05 Mar. 2, 05 Mar. 30,05 | Mar. 31, 05° Jan. 10, 05
2006 Dec. 28, 05 Aug. 1, 06 Dec. 15, 05 Feb. 8, 06 Feb. 28, 06 Jan. 30, 06

payments made later than in the first quarter of the PICES fiscal year or partial payments are indicated in bold
partial (95.7%) payment, remainder paid October 3, 2003 (21 months overdue)

partial (72%) payment, remainder paid October 10, 2002 (9 months overdue)

partial (78%) payment, remainder paid August 10, 2004 (19 months overdue)

partial (96.5%) payment, remainder paid July 18, 2003 (6 months overdue)

partial (50%) payment, remainder paid September 8, 2004 (8 months overdue)

partial (86%) payment, remainder paid December 30, 2005 (12 months overdue)

partial (96.6%) payment, remainder paid April 25, 2005 (4 months overdue)

L - L T N P e N

F&A Endnote 5
External funding and special contributions received since PICES XIV

For the period since PICES XIV (October 2005), efforts from the PICES scientific community, national
delegates, F&A Committee members, and the PICES Secretariat resulted in the following extra-budgetary
contributions for various activities initiated/co-sponsored by PICES:

Special projects
= In 2005, the North Pacific Research Board (NPRB, U.S.A.) approved a grant of US $99,957 to

support a PICES project entitled “Integration of ecological indicators for the North Pacific with

59




F&A-2006

emphasis on the Bering Sea: A workshop approach”. The project will be completed by February
2007.

In 2005, NPRB also approved the amount of CND $90,000 for the development of the next North
Pacific Ecosystem Status Report. Main activities in the project will be taking place in 2007-2009.

Symposia/sessions/workshops

The Ocean Research Institute (University of Tokyo, Japan) and SOLAS-Japan provided funding for
the IFEP workshop (October 17—18, 2005, Tokyo, Japan) to synthesize results from the second in sifu
iron enrichment experiment in the western subarctic North Pacific (SEEDS-II). Funds for the project
were managed by Dr. Atsushi Tsuda (member of the PICES IFEP-AP).

The Fisheries Research Agency of Japan (FRA), the Asian Pacific Network and the APN Capacity
Building/Enhancement for Sustainable Development in Developing Countries Program (APN
CAPaBLE provided funding for the MODEL workshop on “Global comparison of sardine, anchovy
and other small pelagics: Building towards a multi-species model” (November 14—17, 2005, Tokyo,
Japan). Funds for the project were managed by Drs. Shin-ichi Ito (Co-Chairman of the PICES
MODEL Task Team) and Michio Kishi (MODEL Task Team member).

The Pacific Island Fisheries Science Center (PIFSC/NMFS, U.S.A.) allocated $3,000 to partially
offset PICES’ expenses for the 2006 inter-sessional Science Board/Governing Council meeting (April
17-18, 2006, Honolulu, U.S.A.).

The Global Ocean Ecosystem Dynamics Project (GLOBEC), U.S. GLOBEC, the Western Pacific
Fishery Management Council (WPFMC, U.S.A.), and the Korean Ocean Research & Development
Institute (KORDI, Korea) contributed US $10,000, US $12,000, US $15,000 and US $3,000,
respectively, for the 2006 CCCC Symposium on “Climate variability and ecosystem impacts on the
North Pacific: A basin-scale synthesis” (April 19-21, 2006, Honolulu, U.S.A.). [In 2005, the North
Pacific Fishery Management Council (NPFMC, U.S.A.), PIFSC (U.S.A.), and NPRB (U.S.A))
provided US $5,000, US $10,000, and US $20,000, respectively, for this symposium.]

The Pacific Scientific Research Fisheries Center (TINRO-Center, Russia) co-sponsored the
ESSAS/PICES workshop (June 12—14, 2006, St. Petersburg, Russia) to develop comparative studies
of the subarctic seas. Funds for the project were transferred directly to the host institute
“Giprorybflot”.

The Department of Fisheries and Oceans (DFO, Canada) contributed $3,975 for the 2006 Symposium
on “Time series of the Northeast Pacific: A symposium to mark the 50" anniversary of Line-P” (July
5-8, 2006, Victoria, Canada). [In 2005, DFO contributed $10,000 for this symposium.]

The Seoul National University (SNU), KORDI (Korea), and the Pukyong National University
(PKNU) provided major funding for the CREAMS/PICES workshop on “Model/data inter-
comparison for the Japan/East Sea” (August 21-22, 2006, Busan, Korea).

FRA (Japan) allocated more than 4,500,000 JPY (about $45,000) for invited speakers and convenors
to attend PICES XV.

The International Council for the Exploration of the Sea (ICES), Integrated Marine Biogeochemistry
and Ecosystem Research (IMBER) and Surface Ocean-Lower Atmosphere Study (SOLAS) accepted
PICES’ invitation to co-sponsor relevant sessions/workshops to be held at PICES XV and provided
travel support for additional invited speakers for the Science Board Symposium on “Boundary
current ecosystems” (ICES), BIO Topic Session on “Interactions between biogeochemical cycles and
marine food webs in the North Pacific” (IMBER) and IFEP/MODEL Workshop on “Modeling iron
biogeochemistry and ocean ecosystems” (SOLAS).

Capacity building
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PIFSC (U.S.A.) and the Alaska Fisheries Science Center (AFSC, U.S.A.) contributed $17,095 (US
$15,000) and $11,285 (US $10,000), respectively, to finance the PICES Intern Program.

The Asia Pacific Network for Global Change Research (APN), Scientific Capacity Building/
Enhancement for Sustainable Development in Developing Countries Program (CAPaBLE) and the
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Inter-American Institute for Global Change Research (IAI) provided support for scientists from
developing countries to participate in the MODEL workshop on “Global comparison of sardine,
anchovy and other small pelagics: Building towards a multi-species model” (November 14-17,
2005, Tokyo, Japan). Funds for the project were managed by members of the PICES MODEL Task
Team, Drs. Michio Kishi and Francisco Werner.

The Scientific Committee on Oceanic Research (SCOR) allocated $16,675 (US $15,000) for
scientists from countries with “economies in transition” to attend the 2006 CCCC Symposium on
“Climate variability and ecosystem impacts on the North Pacific: A basin-scale synthesis” (April 19-
21, 2006, Honolulu, U.S.A.) and PICES XV (October 13-22, 2006, Yokohama, Japan).

The University of Hawaii Pelagic Fisheries Research Program (UH PFRP, U.S.A.) provided travel
support for 7 students and post-docs from the Pacific Rim countries to attend the 2006 CCCC
Symposium (April 19-21, 2006, Honolulu, U.S.A.).

SNU (Korea), KORDI (Korea), the Korean Ministry of Maritime Affairs and Fisheries (MOMAF),
the National Fisheries Research and Development Institute (NFRDI, Korea), and the Brain Korea 21
Program of the Korean Ministry of Education and Human Resources provided major funding for the
first PICES summer school on “Ocean circulation and ecosystem modeling” (August 23-25, 2006,
Busan, Korea).

NPRB (U.S.A.) committed $16,500 (US $15,000) to support the PICES/ICES Early Career Scientists
Conference (June 26-29, 2007, Baltimore, U.S.A.).

PICES Secretariat

Korea contributed $19,200 to support a part-time position at the PICES Secretariat.

F&A Endnote 6
Budget for FY 2007
Category Allotment
Personnel Services 408,000
Annual Meeting 20,000
Special Meetings 88,000
Travel 82,000
Printing 70,000
Communication 40,000
Equipment 8,000
Supplies 7,500
Contractual Services 18,000
Miscellaneous 3,500
Total 745,000
Source Contribution
Contributions from six Contracting Parties 651,000
Transfer from Working Capital Fund 94,000
Total 745,000
2007 Annual Fee for each Contracting Party 108,500
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REPORT OF THE 2006 INTER-SESSIONAL SCIENCE BOARD MEETING

o3

O

The fourth inter-sessional Science Board
meeting, with participation from Governing
Council, took place on April 17-18, 2006, at the
Ala Moana Hotel, Honolulu, U.S.A. The
meeting was hosted by the Government of the
United States as represented by NOAA/Fisheries
(National Marine Fisheries Service, NMEFS).
Dr. Kuh Kim, Science Board Chairman,
welcomed the participants to the meeting. A list
of attendees and the meeting agenda are
appended as SB-IM Endnotes 1 and 2,
respectively.

Mid-term updates (Agenda Item 2)
Biological Oceanography Committee (BIO)

BIO Chairman, Dr. Michael J. Dagg, reported
that the Committee is sponsoring or co-
sponsoring four theme sessions at PICES XV.

The Advisory Panel on Micronekton sampling
inter-calibration experiment (MIE-AP) has re-
analyzed most of the samples taken during the
MIE-1 cruise from October 6-13, 2004, off
Hawaii, U.S.A., in order to obtain the length
frequency data of major taxonomic groups.
Taxonomic verification of major species is
continuing. The MIE-2 experiment, employing
several micronekton gears on board the R/V
Hokko-Maru, was conducted from September 23
to October 3, 2005, off Kushiro, Japan. Length
frequencies of major species and taxonomic
groups and acoustic data were taken and are
being analyzed.

The Advisory Panel on Marine birds and
mammals (MBM-AP) will co-sponsor a
workshop (W8) in conjunction with PICES XV
on “Responses of marine mammals and seabirds
to large-scale and long-term climate change:
Mechanisms of environmental forcing”, with
Hokkaido University Center of Excellence.
Between 2 and 4 invited speakers will be funded
by the University, but speakers have not yet
been finalized. The final product resulting from
the BIO/MBM-AP Topic Session convened at

PICES XIII will be published as a Deep- Sea
Research II special volume on “Top predator
hot spots in the North Pacific” in May, 2006.

The Advisory Panel on [Iron fertilization
experiment in the subarctic Pacific Ocean
(IFEP-AP) held a 2-day workshop on the
SEEDS-II experiment from October 17-18,
2005, in Tokyo, Japan, co-sponsored by the
Ocean Research Institute (University of Tokyo).
The goals of the workshop were to synthesize
the results from the second in sifu iron
enrichment experiment in the western subarctic
North Pacific (SEEDS-II) and to discuss
similarities and differences in responses of
biological processes and export fluxes between
SEEDS-I and SEEDS-II. Thirty-nine scientists
from Canada, Japan, New Zealand and the U.S.
attended. A report of the workshop was
published in PICES Press Vol. 14(1) in January
2006. A report on the IFEP 2004 workshop on
in situ iron enrichment experiments in the
western (SEEDS-I) and eastern (SERIES)
subarctic North Pacific will be published in July
2006 in the PICES Scientific Report series.
Twenty-five papers on the SERIES experiment
will be published in a special volume of Deep-
Sea Research II in late 2006. Dr. Jun Nishioka
(Japan) will be a Co-Convenor from I[FEP-AP
for the IFEP/MODEL workshop (W1) on
“Modeling iron biogeochemistry and ocean
ecosystems” at PICES XV, but confirmation is
still needed from MODEL-TT that Dr. Fei Chai
(U.S.A.) will serve as another Co-Convenor.

The Section on Carbon and climate (CC-S) is
getting organized and is coming up with good
ideas. CC-S had its first meeting on November
17, 2005, in Shonan Village, Japan. Acting Co-
Chairmen, Drs. James Christian (Canada) and
Toshiro Saino (Japan) were elected as Chairmen
during the meeting. Science Board approved the
revision of the Section’s terms of reference at
the inter-sessional SB/GC meeting in 2005, and
the Section is looking to increase their activities.
CC-S noted that they require a biologist to fill a
gap in expertise. Since replacing WG 17, CC-S
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is still awaiting the write-up of “Guide to best
practices for oceanic CO, measurements and
data reporting” by Dr. Andrew Dickson. The
Executive Secretary, Dr. Alexander Bychkov,
stated that PICES had an important commitment
to produce the Guide since the Inter-
governmental Oceanographic Commission (IOS)
provided funds to PICES for its publication, and
it will serve as a useful reference for the Repeat
Hydrography Program of CLIVAR. Resources
have been exhausted in trying to contact and
urge Dr. Dickson to complete the Guide, and the
Secretariat requested a U.S. delegate to resolve
this issue. The Section has also submitted a
proposal for a Topic Session tentatively entitled
“Decadal changes in carbon and biogeochemical
systems in the North Pacific” to be held at
PICES XVI in Victoria, Canada.

Item 2 Action

Governing Council:

2.1 Dr. Boehlert to contact Dr. Dickson
regarding the write-up of “Guide to Best
Practices”.

Fishery Science Committee (FIS)

FIS Chairman, Dr. Gordon H. Kruse, briefly
stated that the FIS-sponsored sessions and
workshops for PICES XV were in good order.
Convenors have been contacted to finalize
descriptions, invited speakers, and funding
needs. Dr. Richard J. Beamish, Co-Convenor of
the FIS workshop (W2) on “Linking climate
trends in productivity of key commercial species
in the subarctic Pacific”, expressed concern
about budget cuts in NOAA/Fisheries and
requested funding for invited speakers. Dr.
Kruse reported that the Northwest Atlantic
Fisheries Organization (NAFO) is asking PICES
to co-sponsor a symposium on “Reproductive
and recruitment processes in exploited marine
fish stocks” in fall 2007 (see Agenda Item 7 for
details).

Marine Environmental Quality Committee

(MEQ)
MEQ Chairman, Dr. John E. Stein, stated that

the Committee is looking for a candidate from
the western Pacific to take over the
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Chairmanship position. MEQ has an alternative
candidate from the eastern Pacific in case a
western Pacific candidate cannot be found.

The Section on Ecology of harmful algal blooms
in the North Pacific (HAB-S) is continuing to be
productive. Co-Chairman, Dr. Vera L. Trainer
(U.S.A)) is seeking funds from NOAA for the
development of a mapping function for HAE-
DAT (IOC/ICES/PICES Harmful Algal Event
Database), and Dr. Tatiana Yu. Orlova and
colleagues (Russia) have applied for funds from
the Asia Pacific Network (APN) to improve the
ability to forecast blooms. HAB-S is making
progress in developing an international database,
with the assistance from Dr. Henrik Enevoldsen
of IOC.

Progress of WG 18 on Mariculture in the 21"
century — The intersection between ecology,
socio-economics and production is slow for
various reasons. Dr. Yukimasa Ishida (Japan)
noted that WG 18 was set up to encourage Asian
participation.  Mr. Fengkiu Liang (alternate
delegate, China) agreed that there was a need for
Chinese participation, and he will seek
nomination of new members. All member
countries have submitted their national reports
on the status and projected trends in marine
aquaculture, and the reports are under editorial
review.

Members of WG 19 on Ecosystem-based
management science and its application to the
North Pacific were asked to characterize major
“eco-regions” by defining the region’s
ecological and management boundaries in order
to see where different PICES countries can
collaborate in studying and managing
ecosystems that span international boundaries.
National and international approaches to
establishing science-based eco-regions will be
compiled and compared to existing or planned
“management” regions. All delineated areas
will be gathered and digitized for a GIS chart,
and a report will be prepared.

New Co-Chairman of WG 21 on Non-
indigenous aquatic species, Ms. Darlene Smith
(Canada), attended the annual meetings of the
ICES/IOC/IMO Working Group on Ballast



Waters and Other Ship Vectors (WGBOSV) and
the ICES Working Group on Introductions and
Transfers of Marine Organisms (WGITMO) in
March 2006, in Oostende, Belgium. Dr. Stein
noted that Dr. Stephan Gollasch’s term as
Chairman of both groups is coming to an end,
and MEQ is keen to have Dr. Gollasch’s
expertise in invasive species and experience
from ICES.
Technical Committee on
(MONITOR)

Monitoring

MONITOR Vice-Chairman Dr. Sei-ichi Saitoh,,
reported that progress on NPESR is very slow.
Dr. Bychkov expressed concern with the status
of NPESR in which there does not appear to be a
plan to proceed to the next step/version. The
last report was published in late 2004. PICES
has some funds from the North Pacific Rsearch
Board (NPRB) to publish the next version.
Suggestions were made to base the next version
on the same format as the pilot report, and just
make modifications. Dr. Bychkov said this issue
is not just a MONITOR problem, but that all
Committees have to be looked at to determine
the gaps that need to be filled. Committees need
to provide advice to MONITOR; however,
Committee Chairmen appear to be waiting for
instructions from MONITOR. Science Board
Chairman, recommended that Drs. Saitoh and
Jeffrey M. Napp should decide what they need
from the Committees.

Dr. Harold P. Batchelder noted that the Advisory
Panel on Continuous Plankton Recorder Survey
in the North Pacific (CPR-AP) had completed
their Terms of Reference. Dr. Saitoh said there
were problems in obtaining financial support for
the CRP program. Dr. Vera Alexander,
enquired if the project scope could be expanded,
since once ships are equipped, there are
opportunities to expand the observations made
from the ships of opportunity. Dr. Bychkov
suggested that perhaps the Advisory Panel is no
longer needed to supervise the CPR program,
and that the activities can be overseen by
MONITOR directly.

SG-GOOS was established at PICES XIV, and 6
members representing all PICES member

SB-IM-2006

countries were selected, but communication
amongst them has not yet occurred. Drs. Saitoh
and Napp will meet at the ESSAS/PICES
workshop in June 2006 to discuss a means of
establishing communications.

Action

MONITOR:

2.2 Discuss the need to maintain CPR-AP
under MONITOR and report to Science
Board at PICES XV.

2.3 Have ideas for next version of NPESR by
PICES XV.

Physical Oceanography and Climate Com-
mittee (POC)

POC Chairman, Dr. Michael G. Foreman,
informed the meeting that the POC Action Plan
was finalized, and Topic Sessions and
workshops were set for PICES XV.

WG 20 on Evaluations of climate change
projections was progressing well. Members
were approved by the national delegates,
membership was completed, and Co-Chairmen
were in place. WG 20 will have their inaugural
workshop at PICES XV.

The Advisory Panel for a CREAMS/PICES
Program in FEast Asian marginal seas
(CREAMS-AP) is very active in organizing an
international workshop on “Model/data inter-
comparison for the Japan/East Sea” scheduled
for August 21-22, 2006, and followed by a
summer school on “Ocean circulation and
ecosystem modeling” from August 23-25, 2006,
both to be held in Busan, Korea. They are
seeking funding to turn this summer school into
an annual event. There is discussion on whether
or not to restrict the summer school to just East
Asian Seas. The Panel just met on April 11-12,
2006, with 8 members from China, Korea, and
Japan present, and much progress has been
made. Dr. Ig-Chan Pang, Korean national
delegate, informed the meeting that the Korean
Ministry of Maritime Affairs and Fisheries
(MOMAF) awarded a grant of approximately
US $1.1 million (1 hundred million Korean
won) in 2006 for EAST-I (East Asian Seas Time
series-I) as a program of CREAMS/PICES.

65



SB-IM-2006

MOMAF will continue the financial support
within the annual budget to accomplish the goal
of the EAST-I program.

Technical Committee on Data Exchange
(TCODE)

TCODE Chairman, Dr. Igor I. Shevchenko,
presented the Committee report. = TCODE
maintains its own website, and this homepage
contains Workplan and progress towards its
implementation. TCODE has been involved in
establishing dialogue with various bodies of the
international, national, state and local
organizations, commissions and programs
dealing with marine data management of
physical, chemical and biological properties. A
TCODE member will participate at the meeting
of the ICES Working Group on Marine Data
Management in May of 2006. The WG Co-
Chairmen have been invited to attend PICES
XVIin Yokohama.

TCODE has collected the meteorological,
physical, chemical, biological and fisheries
oceanographic time series of PICES member
nations. The North Pacific Ecosystem
Metadatabase (NPEM) was developed under the
PICES umbrella. Now TCODE is involved into
a new project aimed to connect PICES member
nations’ metadatabase systems into one
integrated resource. If accomplished, any user
of any one metadata inventory will be able to
search for data catalogued by any other
participating system with a single search request.
Separate metadatabases will be able to be cross-
searched without compromising national data
ownership, data integrity, or security of the
national metadata products. PICES provided
partial support for Phase I of this project in
2005, in which NPEM and KODC (Korea
Oceanographic Data Center) adopted a pilot
federation to allow a public internet search of
their combined metadata collections in a single
session. A report on Phase I findings of the
data-sharing project for federated metadata on
North Pacific ecosystems has been published in
PICES Press, Vol. 14(1), 2006, and a PICES
Scientific Report will be published in 2006.
TCODE requests PICES support on the same
level as in 2005 to federate with JODC (Japan
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Oceanographic Data Center) and MIRC (Marine
Information Research Center, Japan) in Phase 11
of the data-sharing project.

Discussions were under way between
Dr. Thomas C. Wainwright and the PICES
Secretariat to transfer the MODEL website
contents (MODEL documents, NEMURO
source code and documentation) to the PICES
website. Dr. Shevchenko volunteered to host the
MODEL website on the TINRO website, if the
Secretariat was not able to do so.

Climate Change and Carrying Capacity
Program Implementation Panel (CCCC-IP)

The CCCC Program will convene a PICES/
GLOBEC symposium on “Climate variability
and ecosystem impacts on the North Pacific: A
basin-scale synthesis” on April 19-21, 2006, in
Honolulu, U.S.A. Proceedings of the
symposium will be published in a special issue
of Progress in Oceanography in 2007 or 2008,
and the accomplishments of the Program will be
provided in a PICES Scientific Report. CCCC-
IP Co-Chairmen, Drs. Batchelder and Suam
Kim, were requested to have a plan for a wrap-
up of the Program by PICES XV.

The Climate Forecasting and Marine
Ecosystems Task Team (CFAME) held a 2-day
workshop on “4 comparison of regional
mechanisms for fish production:  Ecosystem
perspectives” on January 12-13, 2006, at the
Ocean Research Institute of the University of
Tokyo, Japan. A brief report of the workshop
was published in PICES Press, Vol. 14(1), 2006.
They are planning their next workshop (W7) on
“Climate forcing and marine ecosystems” in
conjunction with PICES XV. Co-Convenors of
the workshop are Drs. Kerim Aydin (U.S.A.),
Jacquelynne R. King (Canada) and Akihiko
Yatsu (Japan).

The MODEL Task Team extended its
NEMURO model to sardine and anchovy in a
workshop on “Global comparison of sardine,
anchovy and other small pelagics: Building
towards a multi-species model” held from
November 14-17, 2005, also in Tokyo. A
summary of workshop results was published in



PICES Press, Vol. 14(1), 2006. Dr. Michio J.
Kishi, former MODEL Co-Chairman and one of
the leaders in the development of the NEMURO
model, was awarded the prestigious Japanese
Society of Fisheries Oceanography Uda Prize
for his work on ecological modeling studies.

Action

CCCcC-IP:

2.4  Provide a plan for wrapping up the CCCC
Program by PICES XV.

Action Plans (Agenda Item 3)

The Action Plan template was modified by
Dr. Stein, with input from Science Board
members, at PICES XIV. All members agreed
that the outline and structure of the template
were very useful in helping them put their plans
together. Dr. Dagg inquired if it was better to be
specific or generic when discussing tasks.
Drs. Bychkov and Stein pointed out that it was
up to each Committee. However, if tasks were
to be specific, then timelines would be required.
Dr. Alexander suggested inserting a timetable as
an addendum, in order to add clarity. Action
Plans will allow Committees/Program to get
their focus in place and will help Council to
review and determine if Action Plans are
relevant to the Strategic Plan. The Action Plans
will be updated yearly, and products will be
included in the PICES Annual Report. It was
also agreed that a list of priorities in each Action
Plan would allow Council to revise the Strategic
Plan as needed in order to meet the needs of the
Committees/Program.

Action

Committee Chairmen:

3.1 Prioritize the activities within their Action
Plans prior to Science Board and Council
meetings at PICES XV.

Status of preparations for PICES XV
(Agenda Item 4)

Japanese national delegate, Dr. Tokio Wada,
thanked the Executive Secretary for meeting
with the Local Organizing Committee in
Yokohama in November 2005. He informed
Science Board and Council that accommodation
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information is posted on the PICES website.
Entrance visas will be required for Chinese and
Russian participants. Details will be shortly
available on the PICES website. Dr. Wada also
stated that the Fishery Research Agency (FRA)
of Japan will commit about $30,000 to support
travel of invited speakers and convenors to
attend the Annual Meeting, and $40,000 will be
coming from PICES. Dr. Bychkov stated that
IMBER, SOLAS, and ICES are acting as co-
sponsors of specific Topic Sessions and
workshop, and that overall, PICES XV is in
good shape. Dr. Bychkov will contact
convenors of all sessions/workshops to see who
will need funding to attend the Annual Meeting.

Action
Secretariat:

4.1 Contact session convenors to see who will
require funding to attend PICES XV.

Status of proposed publications (Agenda
Item 5)

Dr. Bychkov reported that a total of 8 PICES
Scientific Reports were expected for publication
in 2006. The final report of WG 16 on Climate
change, shifts in fish production, and fisheries
management has come back from 2 reviewers
(feedback from a third reviewer is pending) who
have suggested substantial changes, which may
delay publication. As the report stands, only the
Gulf of Alaska region has been submitted for the
United States. Options were to publish as an
unbalanced report or wait until an author could
be found to write the U.S. west coast section.
Ms. Patricia Livingston suggested that since the
terms of reference have changed for the
Working Group, perhaps the report could be
written on what still needs to be accomplished.
Drs. Bychkov and Suam Kim pointed out that
this could be done in a foreword. The status of
“Guide to best practices for oceanic CO,
measurements and data reporting” is unknown
(see Agenda Item 1 for details). The Russian
contribution to the WG 18 report based on the
national reports on the current status and trends
in aquaculture in PICES member countries has
just been received this year, but there is no word
from WG 18 Co-Chairmen, Drs. Ik-Kyu Chung
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and Carolyn Friedman if the report will be ready
for 2006.

Deputy  Executive  Secretary, Dr.  Skip
McKinnell, presented a progress report on 7
special issues that are slated for publication in
primary journals in 2006 and 2007.

Action

Secretariat:

5.1 Discuss with Drs. Beamish and Yatsu the
feasibility of adding a section to the final
report of WG 16 on what still needs to be
accomplished.

Future Integrative Scientific Program(s) for
PICES (Agenda Items 6 and 11)

Discussion focused on how to reach consensus
on a preferred theme with the candidate title
“Forecasting and Understanding Trends,
Uncertainty and Responses of the North Pacific
Marine Ecosystem” (FUTURE) for the Future
Integrative  Scientific ~ Program(s) (FISP).
Actions taken by the Study Group on FISP (SG-
FISP) since PICES XIV were reviewed. Science
Board and Council members were encouraged to
contribute a short, one-page description, similar
to that provided by Drs. Wada and Ishida, of
what was considered to be the ultimate
goal(s)/theme for the Program, along with a list
of associated central scientific issues and key
research activities. An ad hoc FISP sub-group,
consisting of Drs. Stein, Dagg and Foreman, was
nominated to distill input and to prepare a
2-page draft summary of FUTURE which will
be distributed to SG-FISP, Science Board and
Council within one month of this inter-sessional
meeting for review and feedback. The final
document will be circulated to SG-FISP, Science
Board and its Committees and Program, and
Council prior to PICES XV. Dr. Stein will
present the FISP outline and the next steps in the
development of the Program at an Open Forum
during PICES XV.

Status of proposed inter-sessional symposia
and workshops (Agenda Item 7)

Dr. Bychkov presented the status of symposia
and workshops for 2006 and beyond. A

68

CREAMS/PICES workshop on “Model/data
inter-comparison for the Japan/East Sea” will
be held in Busan, Korea, on August 21-22,
2006, followed by a summer school on
“Circulation and ecosystem modeling” from
August 23-25. The summer school is a new
endeavor for PICES. The organizers have
resources to support young scientists from all
PICES member countries, and Dr. Bychkov
requested national delegates to convey this
information to their agencies.

An international conference on “The Humboldt
Current system:  Climate, ocean dynamics,
ecosystem processes and fisheries” is scheduled
for November 27-December 1, 2006, in Lima,
Peru. Dr. R. Ian Perry has been nominated to
the Scientific Steering Committee as a
representative of PICES. The venue for an
ICES/PICES conference on “Marine
bioinvasions” has been set in Washington, DC,
U.S.A., in the spring of 2007, but the Scientific
Steering Committee is yet to be decided. The 4™
International Zooplankton Production
Symposium, co-sponsored by ICES, PICES and
GLOBEC, will take place from May 28-June 1,
2007, in Hiroshima, Japan. The Scientific
Steering Committee (SSC) has selected titles for
the sessions, but does not yet have descriptions
of session themes, and must do so by May 2006.
Dr. Bychkov requested Dr. Dagg, who is one of
symposium convenors, to urge the SSC
members to decide on descriptions. Dr. Kruse
informed Council and Science Board that the
Northwest ~ Atlantic  Fisheries Organization
(NAFO) had contacted PICES to inquire if
PICES would be willing to co-sponsor a
symposium with ICES and NAFO on
“Reproductive and recruitment processes in
exploited marine fish stocks” to be held October
1-3, 2007. Dr. Kruse distributed this proposal
to his FIS where it was viewed with interest by
the Russian members, but Canadian members
felt it would be better for PICES to have its own
symposium or Topic Session. Science Board
agreed that PICES should be involved.

Action

Governing Council:

7.1 Inform agencies in their countries that
PICES has funds available for young



scientists to attend the summer school in
Busan, Korea, August 23-25, 2006.

Dr. Dagg:
7.2 Urge International Zooplankton
Production Symposium Steering

Committee members to finalize session
theme descriptions by May 2006.

Secretariat:

7.3 Draft a letter to the Executive Secretary of
NAFO agreeing to co-sponsor the
symposium but suggesting options that
would be more desirable to PICES.

Interactions with other organizations and
programs (Agenda Items 8 and 15)

Dr. Bernard A. Megrey and others from the U.S.
and Norway proposed a scientific theme session
entitted  “Comparative  marine  ecosystem
Structure and function: Descriptors and
characteristics” to be held at the 2007 ICES
Annual Science Conference (ASC) in Helsinki,
Finland. It has been accepted by the ICES
Consultative Committee and the ICES Bureau.
Dr. lan Perry accepted their offer to be a co-
convenor. Drs. Megrey and Perry have invited
PICES to co-sponsor this session. This item was
deferred until PICES XV.

Dr. Bychkov stated that ICES and GLOBEC
were still PICES’ most important strategic
partners at this time. PaCOOS (Pacific Coast
Ocean Observing System) is anticipating
increased funding for its ocean observing system
and is considered a potential partner for future
relations. Dr. McKinnell currently sits as an ex
officio member on their Governing Board.
Council had discussed building bridges with the
APEC (Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation)
Working Groups on Fisheries (APEC-FWG) and
Marine Resources Conservation (APEC-MRC).
The Secretariat is attempting to find contacts to
these groups.

Action

Science Board:

8.1 Discuss the possibility of committing
PICES resources and funds to sponsor a
theme session at ICES ASC in 2007.

Secretariat:

8.2 Seek APEC contacts.
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Status of memberships and chairmanships
(Agenda Item 9)

Dr. Stein is in his fifth year as MEQ Chairman.
Science Board requested help from Council to
find suitable candidates to replace him. TCODE
Chairman, Dr. Shevchenko, was into his third
year. Dr. Shevchenko will discuss taking over
this position with TCODE Vice-Chairman,
Dr. Megrey, at PICES XV. CCCC-IP Co-
Chairman, Dr. Batchelder, was into his fourth
year, and a suitable replacement has not yet been
found. The situation has been complicated by
the uncertainty of the exact time the CCCC
Program will wrap up. In addition, another
CCCC-IP Co-Chairman, Dr. Suam Kim, is due
to rotate off at PICES XV. Dr. McKinnell
suggested that two Co-Chairmen from the
CCCC Task Teams be invited to oversee
CCCC’s chairmanship. Dr. Napp nominated
Dr. Phillip R. Mundy (U.S.A.) to be Chairman
of SG-GOOS (under MONITOR). Science
Board and Council endorsed the nomination.

Action

Governing Council:

9.1 Seek nominations for chairmanship of
MEQ Committee.

Specific activities within high priority
projects/and issues (Agenda Items 10 and 13)

Dr. Kuh Kim proposed the establishment of a
Science Board Chairman-elect position which
would facilitate the continuity of Science Board
affairs as PICES continues to expand. Science
Board unanimously endorsed this suggestion.
Pending Council’s decision, the position would
take affect at PICES XV. If approved, the Vice-
Chairman position would not be needed in the
third year of a 3-year term of chairmanship.

The merit of having a FISP workshop in 2007
was discussed. Science Board agreed to plan for
a workshop in March 2007 to draft a Science
Plan for FUTURE. A FISP sub-group (see
Agenda Items 6 and 11) was nominated to
prepare a 2-page draft outline of the goal(s)/
theme, central scientific issues and key research
activities for the Program. The outline will be
reviewed by FISP-SG, Science Board and
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Council and revised as needed before a final
decision will be made at PICES XV.

Capacity building activities were reviewed under
Agenda Item 14. The other two high priorities
(North Pacific Ecosystem Status Report and
GOOS integration) were briefly discussed in
Agenda Item 2.

Hokkaido University has digitized some of their
hydrographic time series data dating from 1934
to produce Volume 1 of their fisheries and
oceanographic data base (HUFO-DAT) on CD-
ROM. Work on Volume 2 that includes gill net
data collected by T/S Oshoro-maru and T/S
Hokusei-maru in the western and eastern North
Pacific and the Bering Sea, is in progress. Dr.
Saitoh informed the meeting that 2/3 of the data
still needs to be processed and the project is
stalled due to a lack of funding. It would take
US $20,000 to digitize 50 year’s worth.
Ms. Livingston stated that NOAA may be able
to contribute funds, as some cruises have
sampled in U.S. waters. Dr. McKinnell
proposed that PICES contribute $10,000. Other
potential sources of funding may be NPAFC and
NPRB. Science Board and Council endorsed
contributing to the cost of this endeavor.

Action

FISP sub-group:

13.1 FISP sub-group to prepare a 2-page draft
outlining central scientific issues and key
research activities to be distributed to SG-
FISP, Science Board and Council within a
month of the inter-sessional Science
Board/Governing Council meeting, and to
have a revision completed by early July
for distribution to member countries.

Secretariat:

13.2 Contact various agencies for the purpose
of matching funds with PICES to support
Hokkaido University’s data digitizing
project (HUFO-DAT).

Selection of PICES XVI Topic Sessions
(Agenda Item 12)

The theme for PICES XVI, scheduled for

October 26—November 4, 2007, in Victoria,
Canada, is “The changing North Pacific:
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Previous patterns, future projections and
ecosystem impacts”. A tentative title submitted
for the BIO/CC-S Topic Session was “Decadal
changes in carbon and biogeochemical systems
in the North Pacific”, convenors and some
potential invited speakers were suggested.

Action

Committee Chairmen:

12.1 Provide names of potential invited
speakers.

Dr. Richards/Mr. Labonté:

12.2 Provide name of potential keynote
speaker.

Capacity building actions (Agenda Item 14)

PICES/ICES have a contract with the University
of Maryland to provide local organizing support
for the Young Scientist Conference in
Baltimore, U.S.A. The Conference is scheduled
in the week of June 24, 2007, but a contract with
the venue has not yet been signed.

Discussion of a PICES summer school on
marine sciences as a regular event was deferred
to a future date. Dr. Kuh Kim suggested that
once the outcome of the first CREAMS/PICES
summer school (see Agenda Item 7 for details)
was known, Science Board would be able to
better assess the feasibility of holding a summer
school on an annual basis.

PICES spends $25,000-30,000 annually on
travel for young scientists. Dr. Bychkov stated
that the best approach to continue support for
young scientists is for member countries to
match funds with PICES. For example,
GLOBEC-Korea and the State Oceanic
Administration (SOA) provided funds for young
Korean and Chinese scientists, respectively, to
attend PICES XIV. Dr. Suam Kim noted that
GLOBEC-Korea will continue this funding
pattern for another 8§ years.

Guidelines for future Working Groups
(Agenda Item 16)

Dr. Foreman began a draft set of guidelines for
future Working Groups, but asked for guidance
from Science Board on the best approach to take
regarding certain items. Some related



suggestions for preparing the guidelines
included putting WG 20 on the PICES website
as a model, providing advice for potential
Chairmen, and having Working Groups meet
inter-sessionally. Dr. Bychkov said there might
be proposals for new Working Groups by PICES
XV, so it would be desirable to have a set of
guidelines in place by then.

Action

Dr. Foreman:

16.1 Prepare a draft of guidelines, circulate to
Science Board for comments, and try to
have a set of guidelines in place by PICES
XV.

PICES communications (Agenda Item 17)

It was stressed that an important component of
PICES’ profile was its ability to communicate to
users. PICES Web Administrator, Ms. Julia
Yazvenko’s presentation, showing progress
since a new PICES website was created in 2004,
was favourably received by Council and Science
Board members. A comparison of 2005 with
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2004 showed a continued improvement in
information and user-friendliness, and a
substantial increase in  website traffic.
Dr. Batchelder, Web Committee Chairman,
requested that a replacement be found for him,
and that members were still needed for POC and
MONTOR Committees.

Action

Science Board and Committees:

17.1 Nominate a Web Committee replacement
for Dr. Batchelder.

17.2 Nominate Web Committee members from
POC and MONITOR..

2006 Wooster Award (Agenda Item 18)

Documents for the Wooster Award nominee
were reviewed and discussed by Science Board
in camera.

Other business (Agenda Item 19)

There was no other business.
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Gordon H. Kruse (Chairman, FIS)

Sei-Ichi Saitoh (Vice-Chairman, MONITOR)

Igor 1. Shevchenko (Chairman, TCODE)

John E. Stein (Vice-Chairman, Science Board;
Chairman, MEQ)

Governing Council members and advisors

Vera Alexander (Chairman, PICES)

Lev N. Barcharov (national delegate, Russia)
George Boehlert (national delegate, U.S.A.)
Yukimasa Ishida (advisor, Japan)

Serge Labonté (national delegate, Canada)

Fengkui Liang (alternate national delegate,
People’s Republic of China)

Patricia Livingston (advisor, U.S.A.)

Ig-Chan Pang (national delegate, Republic of
Korea)

Samuel Pooley (national delegate, U.S.A.)

Laura Richards (national delegate, Canada)

Tokio Wada (national delegate, Japan)
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Alexander Bychkov (Executive Secretary)
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Science Board inter-sessional meeting agenda

Monday, April 17, 2006

L.

2.
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Welcome, participants, logistical details,
purpose of meeting

Mid-term update on activities of
Committees and CCCC Program and their
subsidiary bodies

2.1 BIO (Dagg)

2.2 FIS (Kruse)

2.3 MEQ (Stein)

2.4 MONITOR (Saitoh)

2.5 POC (Foreman)

2.6 TCODE (Shevchenko)

2.7 CCCC (Batchelder/Kim)

Action Plans for each Committee and
Program

Status of preparations for PICES XV
Status of proposed publications

Future Integrative Scientific Program(s) for
PICES

Status of proposed inter-sessional symposia
and workshops

8.

9.

10.

Interactions with other organizations and
programs

Status of memberships/chairmanships for
Committees/Program and their subsidiary
bodies

Specific activities within high priority
PICES projects/and issues

Tuesday, April 18, 2006

11.

12.
13.

14.
15.

16.
17.
18.
19.

Future Integrative Scientific Program(s) for
PICES (Agenda Item 6, continued)
Selection of PICES X VI topic sessions
Specific activities within high priority
PICES projects/and issues (Agenda Item 10,
continued)

Capacity building actions

Interactions with other organizations
(Agenda Item 8§, continued)

Guidelines for future Working Groups
PICES communications

2006 Wooster Award

Other business
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The Science Board met from 12:30-14:00 hours
on October 15, 2006, to review the agenda and
to discuss items relating to the upcoming PICES
scientific sessions. An Open Forum on the next
integrative ~ science  program, FUTURE
(Forecasting and  Understanding  Trends,
Uncertainty and Responses of the North Pacific
Ecosystem) was convened on October 19
(17:00-18:00).  Science Board met again on
October 21 (9:00-18:00) to talk about the
remainder of the agenda. Ms. Rosalie Rutka
served as rapporteur for the Science Board and
open forum meetings. (See SB Endnote 1 for list
of participants.)

October 15, 2006

Science Board Chairman, Dr. Kuh Kim,
welcomed the members and called the meeting
to order. The agenda was discussed and adopted
as presented in SB Endnote 2.

Drs. Manuel Barange (Executive Director of
GLOBEC International Project Office) and
Francisco E. Werner (Chairman of GLOBEC
Scientific Steering Committee) were invited to
this session and met with Science Board to
discuss the ongoing links between GLOBEC and
PICES, via the Climate Change and Carrying
Capacity (CCCC) Program, the context of the
CCCC synthesis as part of the GLOBEC
synthesis, the development of PICES-GLOBEC
links through ESSAS (Ecosystem Studies of the
Sub-Arctic Seas Program), and to acknowledge
the work PICES and GLOBEC conduct in
partnership.

Review of procedures for Best Presentation
Awards and Closing Session (Agenda Item 3)

The Chairman, with assistance of Deputy
Executive Secretary, Dr. Skip McKinnell,
reviewed the criteria for Best Presentation
Awards. One Best Presentation and one Best
Poster Award will be given by each Committee
and Program, regardless of the number of
Topic/Contributed Paper Sessions sponsored, to

recipients who are early career scientists. The
Science Board Symposium Best Presentation
Award is open to all presenters, regardless of
stage of career. Each Committee/Program
Chairman/Co-Chairman would be responsible
for  selecting the award  recipients.
Dr. McKinnell proposed that the Science Board
Symposium Best Presentation Award be
renamed to the Ware Award, in honour of the
memory and scientific excellence of the Science
Board’s first Chairman, Dr. Daniel Ware, but it
was not unanimously supported.

The Closing Session will consist of a brief
summary of PICES XV by the Science Board
Chairman, followed by presentations of awards
from each Committee and Program. Dr. John E.
Stein will then review the next steps for the
implementation of FUTURE.

Review of procedures for documentation of
PICES scientific sessions (Agenda Item 4)

Documentation of scientific sessions and
workshops is required by the PICES Secretariat
for the Annual Report (SB Endnote 3). Science
Board members were asked to be responsible for
ensuring that the convenors for their sponsored
session/workshop complete their reports by the
end of PICES XV.

Election of the next Science Board Chairman
(Agenda Item 5)

Dr. Stein was unanimously endorsed by Science
Board to be Chairman-elect. This position will
be for one year until the end of PICES XVI, and
will allow for the continuity of Science Board
business.

October 19, 2006
Open Forum on FUTURE
An Open Forum on the future integrative science

program of PICES was led by Dr. Stein, who
reviewed the draft outline for FUTURE prepared
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following the inter-sessional Science Board/
Governing Council meeting held in April 2006.
The goal of the Open Forum was to increase the
specificity of the key research activities of
FUTURE, such as scientific understanding,
forecasts, and communication. Dr. Stein invited
each Committee/Program Chairman to present
comments from their business meetings on
themes and directions for FUTURE.
Afterwards, audience members provided
comments or expressed their views. Dr. Stein
thanked everyone for their participation and
emphasized that written comments to him or the
Secretariat were still welcome.

The next steps in developing the FUTURE
Science Plan are to (1) establish a Writing Team
to draft the Plan, (2) hold a workshop in April
2007, to refine the draft Plan, (3) review the
revised Plan within the PICES community,
(4) hold a workshop at the next Annual Meeting
to review and revise the Plan, and (5) seek
outside peer reviews of the Science Plan.

October 21, 2006

The Chairman opened the second session of
Science Board and welcomed the participation
of Drs. Glen Jamieson (Chairman-elect of MEQ)
and Michio J. Kishi (Co-Chairman-elect of
CCCC-IP).

High priority projects (Agenda Item 6)

Timelines and preliminary details for a Science
Plan for FUTURE were discussed. Participants
for the proposed FISP Writing Team, external
reviewers, and potential workshop attendees
were considered and nominated by Science
Board.

Completion of Science Board recom-
mendations and Governing Council decisions
from PICES XIV and the 2006 inter-sessional
SB/GC meeting (Agenda Item 7)

Science Board accepted the report on decisions
and recommendations from PICES XIV (SB
Endnote 4) and the 2006 inter-sessional Science
Board/Governing Council meeting that were of
relevance, with minor changes occurring for
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(1) the publication of the special issue of
Ecological Modelling delayed from 2006 to
early 2007.

Status of action items from the 2006 inter-
sessional Science Board/Governing Council
meeting (Agenda Item 8)

Mid-term updates (Inter-sessional meeting
Agenda Item 2)

Dr. Jeffrey M. Napp, Chairman of MONITOR,
reported that the Advisory Panel on Continuous
Plankton Recorder Survey in the North Pacific
(CPR-AP) was making progress in its program
and strongly recommended the need to maintain
it under MONITOR. He indicated that minor
changes in CPR-AP’s terms of reference may be
proposed at the next inter-sessional Science
Board meeting in 2007.

Science Board endorsed the establishment of a
Section on North Pacific Ecosystem Status
Report within MONITOR that would deliver
three types of products for the next NPESR on a
timely basis. Information would be made
available annually in web format, synthesis and
analysis on a less frequent basis (3 to 5 years), in
the form of a hard copy report (and web), and a
long-range outlook once every 5 to 10 years.
Dr. Napp agreed to investigate costs and
methods of producing the data.

Dr. Harold Batchelder, CCCC-IP Co-Chairman,
informed Science Board that PICES XVI in
Victoria, Canada, would be the last meeting in
which the Program would sponsor scientific
sessions. A strategy to wrap up the Program had
not been put in place, but he and Dr. Kishi,
would evaluate the progress of the new PICES
integrative science program, before ending the
CCCC Program. Future plans include preparing
a PICES Scientific Report.

Action Plans (Inter-sessional meeting Agenda
Item 3)

Science Board members had a short discussion
on Action Plans and a suggestion was made to
update the plans yearly, but no firm steps were
taken to endorse it.



A sub-committee was formed under the auspices
of the BIO Committee to revise and update the
BIO Action Plan by the 2007 inter-sessional
Science Board/ Governing Council meeting.

Interactions with other organizations (Inter-
sessional meeting Agenda Items 8 and 15)

Invited guest, Dr. Adolf Kellermann, Head of
the ICES Science Program, discussed plans for
the restructuring of the ICES organization to
facilitate better communication and flow of
information, which would be presented to ICES
Council for endorsement. He invited Science
Board members to review and see if they wished
to co-sponsor three theme sessions at the 2007
ICES Annual Science Conference in Helsinki,
Finland, and a symposium on “Herring: Linking
biology, ecology and status of populations in the
context of changing environments” to be held in
Galway, Ireland, in 2008.

Guidelines for future PICES Working Groups
(Inter-sessional meeting Agenda Item 16)

Science Board thanked Dr. Michael G. Foreman,
POC Committee Chairman, for his efforts in
preparing a set of guidelines for future PICES
Working Groups in place by PICES XV.

PICES communications (Inter-sessional meeting
Agenda Item 17)

Dr. Batchelder suggested that the PICES website
should be designed as a dynamic site rather than
an archive, as it now stood, but that he did not
have time to devote attention to this issue.
Dr. Gordon H. Kruse, FIS Committee Chairman,
recommended that Ms. Julia Yavzenko, PICES
Web and Database Administrator, contact all the
Committee/Program Chairmen to encourage
feedback and suggestions. Dr. Sei-Ichi Saitoh,
MONITOR Vice-Chairman, volunteered to be
on the Web Committee.

Report of elections of new Committee/Group
Chairmen (Agenda Item 9)

Science Board recommended the following
changes which were presented to Governing
Council for approval:
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*  Dr. Glen Jamieson to replace Dr. John Stein
as MEQ Chairman;

= Dr. Hak-Gyoon Kim to be Vice-Chairman
of MEQ;

* Dr. Michio Kishi to replace Dr. Suam Kim
as Co-Chairman of the CCCC Program;

= Dr. Hao Wei to be the new MODEL Task
Team Co-Chairman;

=  Dr. Young-Shil Kang to be the new CFAME
Task Team Co-Chairman.

Reports from Scientific and Technical
Committees, CCCC IP and subsidiary bodies
(Agenda Item 10b and 10c¢)

Science Board discussed reports from its
Committees and Program. Specific details can
be found in the individual reports of the
Committees/Program elsewhere in this Annual
Report.

Science Board recommended that:

» WG 18 on Mariculture in the 21st century —
The intersection between ecology, socio-
economics and production be disbanded for
inadequate progress in achieving its tasks;

= PICES withdraw as a co-sponsor of the
North Pacific Data Buoy Advisory Panel.

Science Board recommended establishing:

= A Section on the North Pacific Ecosystem
Status Report under the direction of the
MONITOR Technical Committee (terms of
reference can be found in MONITOR
Endnote 3);

= A Study Group on Marine aquaculture and
ranching in the PICES region, under the
direction of Science Board (terms of
reference can be found in GC Appendix B).

High priority projects (Agenda Item 11)

Science Board recommended that Dr. Kishi
defer proposing a 2008 PICES summer school
until the 2007 inter-sessional Science Board/
Governing Council meeting.

Dr. Napp reported that SG-GOOS had almost
fulfilled its terms of reference and recommended
that PICES should not propose a North Pacific
GOOS pilot project and instead, it should play a
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strong role in coordination and facilitation of
North Pacific regional projects by being active
in the GOOS Regional Alliance (GRA)
programs.

Items with financial implications (Agenda
Item 12)

Inter-sessional meetings (Symposia; workshops;
Working Group, Section, and CCCC Program
meetings) proposed for 2006 and beyond
(Agenda Item 12a)

The following inter-sessional = meetings/

workshops are to be convened/co-sponsored in

2006 and beyond (a List of Acronyms can be

found at the end of the Annual Report):

= An international conference (co-sponsored
by IMARPE, IRD, NASA, FAO, GLOBEC,
ICES, PICES, IMBER) on “The Humboldt
Current system: Climate, ocean dynamics,
ecosystem  processes and  fisheries”,
November 27-December 1, 2006, Lima,
Peru;

* A 2-day meeting of the FISP Science Plan
Writing Team, February 16-17, 2007, in
Seattle, U.S.A.;

* A 2-day meeting of CREAMS-AP, March
2007, in Qingdao, China;

= A 3-day workshop to develop a Science Plan
for future integrative scientific program of
PICES and an inter-sessional Science Board
meeting, April 16-19, 2007, in Yokohama,
Japan;

= A display of PICES publications at the joint
meeting of the Mexican Fisheries Society
and the Mexican Chapter of the American
Fisheries Society, May 2—4, 2007, in La Paz,
Mexico

= A 3-day CFAME workshop on “Linking
climate-forcing mechanisms to indicators of
species  ecosystem-level — changes: a
comparative approach”, May 2007, in
Seattle, U.S.A., or June 2007, in Hakodate,
Japan;

= A 3-day FIS workshop on “Forecasting
climate impacts on fish production”, May
2007, in Seattle, U.S.A., or June 2007, in
Hakodate, Japan;

= The 5th International Conference on
“Marine bioinvasions” (co-sponsored by
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PICES, ICES and the U.S. National Sea
Grant College Program), May 21-24, 2007,
in Cambridge, U.S.A. (approved in 2003);

* A 2-day joint meeting of PICES WG 21 on
Non-indigenous aquatic species, ICES WG
on Introductions and Transfers of Marine
Organisms and ICES/IOC/IMO WG on
Ballast Waters and Other Ship Vectors, May
25-26, 2007, in Cambridge, U.S.A.;

= The 4th International  Zooplankton
Production Symposium on “Human and
climate forcing of zooplankton populations”
(co-sponsored by PICES, ICES and
GLOBEC), May 28-June 1, 2007,
Hiroshima, Japan (approved in 2003);

= ESSAS/PICES workshops on “Evaluation of
climate scenarios for subarctic regions” (1
day) and “The role of seasonal sea ice cover
in marine ecosystems” (2 days), June 4-6,
2007, in Hakodate, Japan;

= Conference for Early Career Scientists on
“New frontiers in marine science”, (co-
sponsored by ICES), June 26-29, 2007, in
Baltimore, U.S.A.;

= ICES/PICES Theme Sessions on
“Integrating observations and models to
improve predictions of ecosystem response
to physical variability”, on “Comparative
marine ecosystem structure and function:
Descriptors and characteristics” and on
“The ecosystem approach:  What’s the
impact on marine science, science based
advice and management of marine
ecosystems” at the ICES Annual Science
Conference, September 17-21, 2007,
Helsinki, Finland;

= An International Symposium on
“Reproductive and recruitment processes in
exploited marine fish stocks” (co-sponsored
by NAFO, ICES and PICES), October 1-3,
2007, in Lisbon, Portugal;

= An International Symposium on “Effects of
climate change on the world’s oceans” (co-
sponsored by ICES, PICES, 10C, GLOBEC,
SCOR, and WCRP), May 19-23, 2008, in
Gijon, Spain.

Travel requests for 2007 (Agenda Item 12b)

PICES XVI
* Invited speakers for Topic Sessions at the



Annual Meeting with the normal allocation
of approximately $5,000 per Committee
(including Science Board) and CCCC
Program; additional requests are subject to
fund availability;

1 invited speaker for the BIO (MIE-AP)
workshop on “Lessons learned during MIE-
1 and MIE-2: Reconciling acoustics and
trawl data”;

1 invited speaker for the FIS workshop on
“Methods for standardizing trawl surveys to
ensure constant catchability’;

1 invited speaker for the FIS/MEQ (WG 19)
workshop on “Comparative analysis of
frameworks to develop ecosystem-based
approach to management and research
needed for implementation”;

2 invited speakers for the MEQ (HAB-S)
workshop on “Review of selected harmful
algae in the PICES region: III. Heterosigma
akashiwo and other harmful raphidophyes”.

Inter-sessional meetings

PICES representative to participate in the 3™
Forum of GOOS Regional Alliances
(November 14-17, 2006, Cape Town, South
Africa);

PICES representative to attend the GOOS
Scientific Steering Committee meeting
(March 13-17, 2007, in Seoul, Korea);
PICES representative to present information
on activities of the Organization at the joint
meeting of the Mexican Fisheries Society
and the Mexican Chapter of the American
Fisheries Society (May 2-4, 2007, in La
Paz, Mexico);

2 invited speakers for the FIS workshop on
“Forecasting climate impacts on fish
production” (May 2007, in Seattle, U.S.A.,
or June 2007, in Hakodate, Japan);

2 invited speakers for the CFAME workshop
on “Linking climate-forcing mechanisms to
indicators of species  ecosystem-level
changes: a comparative approach” (May
2007, in Seattle, U.S.A., or June 2007, in
Hakodate, Japan);

2-3 Asian scientists to attend the 5"
International Conference on “Marine
bioinvasions” and the joint meeting of
PICES WG 21, ICES WGITMO and
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ICES/IOC/IMO WGBOSV (May 21-26,
2007, in Cambridge, U.S.A.);

= PICES SSC members for the 4"
International ~ Zooplankton ~ Production
Symposium on “Human and climate forcing
of zooplankton populations” (May 28—-June
1, 2007, in Hiroshima, Japan);

= 1 member of WG 20 to attend
ESSAS/PICES workshops on “Evaluation of
climate scenarios for subarctic regions” and
“The role of seasonal sea ice cover in
marine ecosystems” (June 4-6, 2007, in
Hakodate, Japan);

=  PICES representative to attend the 10C
General Assembly (June 2007, in Paris,
France);

= PICES representative to attend the SCOR
Executive Committee meeting (August
2007, in Bergen, Norway);

= 3 PICES convenors to the joint ICES/PICES
Theme Sessions at the ICES Annual Science
Conference (September 17-21, 2007, in
Helsinki, Finland);

= PICES representative to attend the NPAFC
Fifteenth Annual Meeting (September 2007,
in Vladivostok, Russia);

=  PICES convenor and SSC member to attend
the Symposium on “Reproductive and
recruitment processes in exploited marine
fish stocks” (October 1-3, 2007, in Lisbon,
Portugal).

Science Board Chairman to attend:

» The workshop to develop a Science Plan for
future integrative scientific program of
PICES and an inter-sessional Science Board
Meeting (April 2007, in Yokohama, Japan);

= PICES Sixteenth Annual Meeting (October
2007, in Victoria, Canada).

Proposed publications (PICES Scientific Report
series and primary journals) for 2006 and
beyond (Agenda Item 12¢)

Special issues of primary journals (2007-2008)

v Ecological Modelling (February 2007; Guest
Editors: M.J. Kishi, S.-I. Ito, B.A. Megrey
and F.E. Werner) — selected papers on
NEMURO and NEMURO.FISH models
(approved in 2004);
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Deep-Sea Research 11 (2007; Guest Editors:
K. Drinkwater, G. Hunt, D. Mackas and S.
McKinnell) — selected papers from the
ESSAS Symposium on “Climate variability
and  sub-arctic  marine  ecosystems”
(approved in 2005);

Progress in Oceanography (2007; Guest
Editors: H. Batchelder and S. Kim) —
selected papers from the PICES/GLOBEC
Symposium on “Climate variability and
ecosystem impacts on the North Pacific: A
basin-scale synthesis” (approved in 2005);
Progress in Oceanography (2007; Guest
Editors:  A. Pefia, S. Bograd and A.
Bychkov) — selected papers from the
symposium on “Time series of the Northeast
Pacific: A symposium to mark the 50"
anniversary of Line-P” (approved in 2005);
Plankton and Benthos Research (2007-2008;
Guest Editors: H. lizumi and TBD) —
selected papers from the PICES XV Topic
Session on “The human dimension of
jellyfish blooms”;

Journal of Marine Systems (2007-2008;
Guest Editors: K.-I. Chang, S. McKinnell,
C. Mooers and TBD) — selected papers from
the 2006 CREAMS/PICES workshop on
“Model-data inter-comparison for the
Japan/East Sea”;

ICES Journal of Marine Science (2008;
Guest Editors: J. Carlton, J. Pederson and
TBD) — selected papers from the 5™
International Conference on “Marine
bioinvasions”;

ICES Journal of Marine Science (2008;
Guest Editors: M. Dagg, R. Harris, L.
Valdez and S.-I. Uye) — selected papers
from the 4™ International Zooplankton
Production Symposium on “Human and
climate forcing of zooplankton populations”;
Journal of Northwest Atlantic Fishery
Science (2008; Guest Editors: R. Brodeur,
M. Dickey-Collas and E. Trippel) — selected
papers from the NAFO/PICES/ICES
Symposium  on  “Reproductive  and
recruitment processes of exploited marine
fish stocks™.

PICES Scientific Report series (2007-2008)

Final report of WG 16 on “Climate change,
shifts in fish production, and fisheries

management” (approved in 2002 for
publication in 2004; delayed until 2007,
pending review by FIS; Editors: R.

Beamish and A. Yatsu);

Guide to best practices for oceanic CO,
measurements and data reporting (approved
in 2002 for publication in 2004; delayed
until 2007, pending review by CC-S;
Editor: A. Dickson);

Final report of WG 19 on “Ecosystem-based
management science and its application to
the North Pacific” (Editors: G. Jamieson, P.
Livingston and C.-I. Zhang; in 2008).

PICES Technical Report series (2007)

Metadata federation of PICES member
countries (Editors: B.A. Megrey, S.A.
Macklin, K. Bahl and P.D. Klawitter;
withdrawn from the PICES Scientific Report
series).

Other publications (2007—2008)

American Fisheries Society book on “The
ecology of juvenile salmon in the Northeast
Pacific Ocean:  Regional comparisons”
(approved in 2005 for publication in 2006;
delayed until 2007; Guest editors: R.D.
Brodeur, C. Grimes, L. Haldorson and S.
McKinnell);

Book of Abstracts for the 4™ International
Zooplankton Production Symposium on
“Human and climate forcing of zooplankton
populations”;

Book of Abstracts for the ICES/PICES
Conference for Early Career Scientists on
“New frontiers in marine science”;

Announcement, poster and Book of
Abstracts for PICES XVI;

Two issues of PICES Press (newsletter);
PICES 2007 Annual Report.

Recommendations for new working groups
and other subsidiary bodies (Agenda Item 13)

This was discussed under Agenda Item 10.



Development of PICES XVI draft schedule of
scientific sessions and workshops (Agenda
Item 14)

Science Board determined that the theme for
PICES XVI, to be held October 26 to November
4, 2007, in Victoria, Canada, should be “The
changing North Pacific:  Previous patterns,
future projections, and ecosystem impacts” (SB
Endnote 5). The following sessions and
workshops, in order of Committee/Program,
were recommended to be convened at PICES
XVI:

1-day Science Board Symposium:

The changing North Pacific: Previous patterns,
future projections, and ecosystem impacts (SB
Endnote 4);

1-day BIO Contributed Paper Session;

Y4-day BIO workshop:

Lessons learned during MIE-1 and MIE-2:
Reconciling acoustics and trawl data (MIE-AP
Endnote 3);

1-day BIO/POC Topic Session:
Decadal changes in carbon biogeochemistry in
the North Pacific (CC-S Endnote 3);

Y2-day BIO/FIS/POC Topic Session:

Phenology and climate change in the North
Pacific: Implications of variability in the timing
of zooplankton production to fish, seabirds,
marine mammals and fisheries (humans) (BIO
Endnote 4b);

1-day CCCC Contributed Paper Session;

1-day CCCC/FIS Topic Session:
Towards ecosystem-based management: Recent
developments and successes in multi-species
modeling” (MODEL Endnote 3);

1-day FIS Contributed Paper Session;

1-day FIS Topic Session

Ecosystem approach to fisheries: Improvements
on traditional management for declining and
depleted stocks (FIS Endnote 3);
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1-day FIS workshop:
Methods for standardizing bottom trawl surveys
to ensure constant catchability (FIS Endnote 5);

1-day FIS/CCCC Topic Session:
Fisheries interactions and local ecology (FIS
Endnote 4);

1-day FIS/MEQ workshop:
Comparative analysis of frameworks to develop
an ecosystem-based approach to management

and research needed for implementation
(WG 19 Endnote 3);

1-day MEQ Topic Session:
Non-Indigenous Species: Climate Change,

Evolutionary Consequences and Ecological
Impacts (WG 21 Endnote 3);

Y2-day MEQ Topic Session
The relative contributions of off-shore and in-
shore sources to harmful algal bloom

development and persistence in the PICES
region (HAB-S Endnote 4);

1-day MEQ workshop:

Review of selected harmful algae in the PICES
region: IIl. Heterosigma akashiwo and other
harmful raphidophytes and '>-day laboratory
demonstration on DSP detection (HAB-S
Endnote 3);

1-day MEQ/FIS Topic Session:
Coldwater biogenic habitat in the North Pacific
(MEQ Endnote 5);

1-day MONITOR Topic Session:
Recent advancements in ocean observing
systems:  Scientific discoveries and technical
aspects (MONITOR Endnote 5);

Y2-day MONITOR/BIO workshop:

Measuring and monitoring primary productivity
in the North Pacific (MONITOR Endnote 4);
1-day POC Contributed Paper Session;

1Y4-day POC/CCCC workshop:

Climate scenarios for ecosystem modeling
(CFAME Endnote 4);
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1-day POC/MODEL/MONITOR Topic Session:
Operational forecasts of oceans and ecosystems
(POC Endnote 5)

Y»-day TCODE Topic Session:

Data management, data analysis and data
delivery systems to support detection and
prediction of ecosystem change in the North

Pacific and the Arctic and its impacts (TCODE
Endnote 4)

To implement Council’s request to have no
more than three parallel sessions, adjustments in
length for some sessions/workshops were made.
A final draft schedule, below, and final session
list (GC 06/S1) reflect these decisions.

Draft Schedule (January 30, 2007)

Time Events
09:00-12:30 | FIS/MEQ BIO POC/CCCC

Fri. ' ' Workshop (W1) SG-MAR

Oct. 26 Workshop Workshop Meeting

| 14:00-18:00 (W3) MBM-AP (W6) WG 21
Meeting Meeting
) ) MONITOR/BIO POC/CCCC

Sat. 09:00-12:30 WG 19 W(i\r/[k]igop# Workshop (W5) Workshop (W6) WG 21

Oct. 27 ) ) Meeting CREAMS-AP WG 20 | CFAME Meeting
14:00-18:00 (W4) : : .

Meeting Meeting | Meeting
) ) WG 19 HAB-S FIS . MODEL
09:00-12:30 Meeting Meeting Workshop (W2) CC-S Meeting Meeting

Sun. 12:30-14:00 SB Lunch Meeting *

Oct. 28 ] ) WG 19 HAB-S FIS . CCCCIP/EC
14:00-18:00 Meeting Meeting Workshop (W2) CC-S Meeting Meeting*
18:00-20:00 SG-GOOS Meeting CPR-AP Meeting

Mon. 09:00-10:30 Opening Session

Oct. 29 | 11:00-18:00 Science Board Symposium (S1)

. . MEQ

Tues. 09:00-12:30 BIO/POC CCCC/FIS Topic Session (S6)

Oct. 30 Topic Session (S2 Topic Session (S3
14:00-18:00 pic Session (S2) opic Session (S3) .MEQ/I.:IS

Topic Session (S7)
09:00-15:30 CCcccC POC FIS/CCCC/BIO F&A

Wed. ) ) Paper Session Paper Session Topic Session (S5) Meeting *

Oct. 31 ) ) BIO FIS MEQ . TCODE MONITOR
16:00-19:30 Meeting Meeting Meeting POC Meeting Meeting Meeting

_ _ FIS MONITOR BIO
;}él\l]rsi 09:00-18:00 Topic Session (S4) Topic Session (S8) Paper Session
18:00-20:30 Poster Session and E-Posters
. _ BIO/FIS/POC
. 09:00-12:30 1 poc/ccCC/MONITOR FIS Topic Session (S11)
Nov. 2 14:00-17:30 Topic Session (S9) Paper Session . TCODE
Topic Session (S10)
17:30-18:30 Closing Session

Sat. *

Nov. 3 FISP Workshop

Iil:z/ 4 09:00-18:00 Science Board Meeting * Governing Council Meeting *

Mon. . . . . S

Nov. 5 09:00-18:00 Governing Council Meeting
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Selection of PICES XVII theme and
description (Agenda Item 15)

Science Board was unable to achieve consensus
between “Beyond observations to achieving
understanding and forecasting in a changing
North Pacific:  Forward to the Future” and
“Forward to the Future: Understanding and
forecasting in a changing North Pacific” for the
preferred theme title for PICES XVII, to be held
from October 23 to November 2, 2008, in
Dalian, China, with the National Marine
Environmental Monitoring Centre of the State
Oceanic Administration as the local organizer.
Both titles were submitted to Governing Council
for review. The description for the theme will be
discussed and finalized at the 2007 inter-
sessional Science Board/Governing Council
meeting.

Relations with other international programs/
organizations (Agenda Item 16)

Science Board endorsed partial support for a
2007 ESSAS workshop on the “Role of sea ice
in marine ecosystems”, co-sponsored by
GLOBEC.

No additions were recommended by the Science
Board for the existing Standing List of
International Organizations and Programs (see
the 2005 Annual Report SB Endnote 7).

Next inter-sessional Science Board meeting
(Agenda Item 17)

The Chairman will contact Science Board
members when a schedule has been set for the
workshop to develop a Science Plan for
FUTURE.
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Other business (Agenda Item 17)

Dr. Tokio Wada, Japanese national delegate and
Governing Council Vice-Chairman, proposed
the establishment of a new PICES award
certificate for organizations and groups that have
made contributions to PICES activities and the
progress of marine science in the North Pacific
through long-term monitoring operations, and/or
data management of various ocean conditions
and marine bio-resources. Drs. Wada and Kim
will discuss wording for the certificate, which
will be circulated to the Science Board members
for approval.

Dr. Suam Kim, CCCC Program Co-Chairman,
informed Science Board that he had received
comments from some participants during the
Annual Meeting that room for e-posters had not
been considered. Dr. Batchelder noted that
some poster presentations were put up for only
part of the day, providing little opportunity to
assess them. He suggested establishing a set of
guidelines for poster displays for the next
Annual Meeting.

Because the majority of award recipients for
Best Presentations at the Closing Session were
not present, Dr. Dagg suggested that recipients
for future Annual Meetings be encouraged to
remain for the Closing Session.

Best Presentation and Poster Awards

Dr. Jack A. Barth (U.S.A.) received the Best
Presentation Award at the Science Board
Symposium for his paper (co-authored with John
M. Bane) entitled “Intra-seasonal wind
oscillations and their influence on northern
California Current coastal ecosystems”.

Awards given by Committees and Program can
be found elsewhere in the Annual Report.

The Science Board meeting concluded at 1730
hours.
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SB Endnote 1

Participation list

Members

Harold P. Batchelder (Co-Chairman, CCCC-IP)
Michael G. Foreman (Chairman, POC)
Yukimasa Ishida (SB, representative of Japan)
Kuh Kim (Chairman, Science Board)

Suam Kim (Co-Chairman, CCCC-IP)

Gordon H. Kruse (Chairman, FIS)

Jeffrey M. Napp (Chairman, MONITOR)
Fangli Qiao (SB, representative of China)

Igor 1. Shevchenko (Chairman, TCODE)

John E. Stein (Chairman, MEQ)

SB Endnote 2

Invited Observers

Manuel Barange (Director, GLOBEC)
Glen Jamieson (Chairman-elect, MEQ)
Adolf Kellermann (Head, Science Programme,

ICES)

Michio J. Kishi (Co-Chairman-elect, CCCC-IP)
Stewart (Skip) M. McKinnell (Deputy Executive

Secretary, PICES)

Francisco E. Werner (SSC Chairman, GLOBEC)

Science Board meeting agenda

October 15,2006 (12:30-14:00)

1.
2.
3.
4,

S.

Welcome and opening remarks

Adoption of agenda

Review of procedures for Best Presentation
Awards and Closing Session

Review of procedures for documentation of
PICES scientific sessions
Election of the next
Chairman

Science Board

October 16, 2006 (17:00-18:00)
Open forum on FUTURE

October 21, 2006 (09:00-17:30)

6. High Priority Projects

7. Completion of Science Board
recommendations and Governing council
decisions from PICES XIV and the 2006
inter-sessional SB/GC meeting

8. Status of action items from the 2006 inter-
sessional Science Board/Governing Council
meeting

SB Endnote 3

9.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.
18.

Report of elections of new Committee
Chairmen

Reports from Scientific and Technical
Committees, CCCC IP and subsidiary
bodies

High Priority Projects (Agenda Item 6,
continued)

Items with financial implications
Recommendations for new working groups
and other subsidiary bodies (Agenda Item
10, continued)

Development of PICES XVI draft schedule
of scientific sessions and workshops
Selection of PICES XVII theme and
description

Relations  with  other
programs/organizations
Next inter-sessional Science Board meeting
Other business

international

Review of procedures to enhance documentation of PICES scientific sessions
(From: PICES Annual Review 2001, SB Endnote 11, p. 52)

For the last few years, PICES has only included
information of the proposed Topic Sessions for
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the upcoming year in its Annual Report, and has

not provided details

regarding the actual



scientific sessions after their conclusion,
particularly with regard to any key discussions
or recommendations that such sessions might
have generated. It became clear to those who
are preparing reviews of PICES scientific
accomplishments over the last decade, that we
have not well-documented the science contained
in our Annual Meetings, with the exception of
papers that were compiled later into PICES
Scientific Reports or other publications.

If we are to better track the state of our
knowledge and future needs for improvement, it
seems we should have a better system for
documenting our scientific sessions and the
discussions and recommendations that come
from those. One possible system would be that
employed by ICES in their Annual Report. (See
a copy of their latest annual report on the web at
http://www.ices.dk/products/AnnualRep/2001
annualreport.pdf). The section devoted to the
Annual Science Meeting puts forth the following
information:

- keynote lectures and abstracts

- science meeting agenda (session schedules)

- details of each scientific session

The last item, details of each scientific session,

contains an organized description of each
session that includes:

SB Endnote 4
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- purpose of the session (derived from the
initial session description);

- details of the content of the papers presented
in summary form;

- summary of the discussions and conclusions
of the session with regard to: research gaps
that need to be filled; recommendations for
future sessions or groups, or work;
recommendations for other actions; and

- list of the documents (author and title)
presented.

PICES has struggled to enhance the discussions
at our Topic Sessions, and if we ask convenors
to document the sessions and the discussions, we
may see a better organization of Topic Sessions
in this regard. We would also have a more
organized ~way to provide scientific
recommendations for action to the parent
Committee(s) that sponsored the session.

Recommendation: Session convenors be asked
to provide a summary of their session that
includes the four points listed above, and these
summaries be included in the PICES Annual
Report. This practice would begin with the
PICES Eleventh Annual Meeting in 2002. Also,
session convenors should be requested to
include a fixed amount of discussion time at the
end of their sessions (15 minutes) in order to
provide for proper discussion of the papers and
issues raised by the papers.

Status of Science Board recommendations and Governing Council decisions from PICES XIV and
the 2006 Inter-sessional SB/GC meeting

05/S/2: Inter-sessional meetings/workshops

The following inter-sessional meetings and
workshops were convened or co-sponsored after
PICES XIV:

= an FRA/APN/TAI/PICES/GLOBEC Work-
shop on “Global comparison of sardine,
anchovy and other small pelagics: Building
towards a multi-species model”, November
14-17, 2005, Tokyo, Japan (approved in
2004);

» an International Repeat Hydrography
Workshop (co-sponsored by JAMSTEC,

CLIVAR and IOCCP) and a meeting of the
PICES Carbon and Climate Section,
November 14-16, 2005, Shonan Village,
Japan;

= a SEEDS-II Experiment Workshop (co-
sponsored by the Ocean Research Institute
(University of Tokyo) and PICES) to
synthesize results from the second in situ
iron enrichment experiments in the western
subarctic North Pacific (SEEDS II), and to
discuss differences in magnitude, biology
and export between SEEDS I and SEEDS 11,
October 17-18, 2005, Tokyo, Japan;
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a symposium, co-sponsored with NPAFC,
on “The status of Pacific salmon and their
role in North Pacific marine ecosystems”,
October 30-November 1, 2005 (in
conjunction with the NPAFC Annual
Meeting), Jeju, Korea;

a CCCC/CFAME Workshop on “4
comparison of regional mechanisms for fish
production: Ecosystem  perspectives”,
January 12—13, 2006, Tokyo, Japan;

a panel discussion at the “Marine Science in
Alaska” Symposium, January 25, 2006,
Anchorage, U.S.A., and a session during the
North  Pacific  Fisheries Management
Council meeting, week of February 6,
Seattle, U.S.A., to involve the Bering Sea
and international communities in the

development of a set of operational
objectives;

an inter-sessional Science Board/Governing
Council meeting, April 17-18, 2006,

Honolulu, U.S.A.;

a PICES/GLOBEC Symposium on “Climate
variability and ecosystem impacts on the
North Pacific: A basin-scale synthesis”,
April  19-21, 2006, Honolulu, U.S.A.
(approved in 2003);

a PICES/NPRB Workshop on “Integration
of ecological indicators for the North
Pacific with emphasis on the Bering Sea”,
June 1-3, 2006, Seattle, U.S.A.;

an ESSAS/PICES Workshop to develop
comparative studies of the sub-Arctic seas,
June 12—14, 2006, St. Petersburg, Russia;

a Symposium entitled “Time series of the
Northeast Pacific Ocean: A symposium to
mark the 50" anniversary of P-line” (co-
sponsored with DFO), July 5-8, 20006,
Victoria, Canada (approved in 2004);

a CREAMS/PICES Workshop on “Model-
data inter-comparison for the Japan/East
Sea”, August 21-22, 2006, and a PICES
summer school on “Circulation and
ecosystem modeling”, August 23-25, 2006,
Busan, Korea;

ICES/PICES theme sessions on “Large-
scale changes in the migration of small
pelagic fish and the factors modulating such
changes” and on “Operational
Oceanography” at the ICES Annual Science

Conference, September 2006, Maastricht,
Netherlands.

The following were held in conjunction with
PICES XV in Yokohama, Japan:

A 1-day IFEP/MODEL workshop (co-
sponsored by SOLAS) on “Modeling iron
biogeochemistry and ocean ecosystems”,
October 12, 2006;

A 2-day FIS workshop on “Linking climate
to trends in productivity of key commercial
species in the subarctic Pacific”, October
13-14, 2006;

A 1-day FIS/MEQ workshop on “Criteria
relevant for the determination of unit eco-
regions for EBM in the PICES area”,
October 15, 2006;

A 1-day MEQ workshop on “Review of
selected harmful algae in the PICES region:
1I. Dinophysis & Cochlodinium”, October
14, 2006;

A 1-day POC workshop on “Evaluation of
climate change projections”, October 14,
2006;

A 1-day MONITOR/TCODE workshop on
“Data management, delivery and
visualization of products from Ocean
Observing Systems in major boundary
currents” October 15, 2006;

A 1-day CFAME workshop on “Climate
forcing and marine ecosystems” October 13,
2006;

A 1-day BIO/POC workshop on “Responses
of marine mammals and seabirds to large-
scale and long-term climate change:
Mechanisms of environmental forcing”
October 12, 2006.

05/S/3: Travel Support

Full or partial travel support was provided to:

PICES XV

1 invited expert from Europe (Patrick
Gentien) to the MEQ (HAB-S) Workshop
on “Review of selected harmful algae in the
PICES region: 1l. Dinophysis and
Cochlodinium spp.”;

1 invited speaker (Elizabeth Fulton) to the
MEQ/FIS (WG 19) Workshop on “Criteria



relevant to the determination of unit eco-
regions for ecosystem-based management in
the PICES area”;

2 invited speakers (Curtis Covey, Keith
Rogers) to the POC (WG 20) Workshop on
“Evaluation of climate change projections”.

Inter-sessional meetings

PICES representative to attend the 2005
CalCOFI Conference and the PaCOOS
Board meeting (December 2005, La Jolla,
U.S.A));

PICES observer to participate in the NEAR-
GOOS meeting (January 2006, Pusan,
Korea; may or may not require travel
support);

1 scientist to attend the CCCC/CFAME
Workshop on “A comparison of regional
mechanisms for fish production: Ecosystem
perspectives” (January 2006, Tokyo, Japan);
TCODE representative to attend the meeting
of the ICES Working Group on Marine
Data Management (dates and venue TBD);
PICES representative to attend the meetings
of the ICES/IOC/IMO Working Group on
Ballast Waters and Other Ship Vectors and
the ICES Working Group on Introductions
and Transfers of Marine Organisms (March
2006, Oostende, Belgium);

Dr. Kenneth A. Rose (U.S.A.) to present
MODEL contribution to the April 2006
CCCC Symposium on “Climate variability
and ecosystem impacts on the North Pacific:
A basin-scale synthesis”;

1 scientist to participate in the
ESSAS/PICES Workshop to develop
comparative studies of the sub-Arctic seas
(June 2006, St. Petersburg, Russia);

PICES representative to attend the I10C
Executive Committee meeting (June 2005,
Paris, France);

1 invited speaker to the CREAMS/PICES
Workshop on “Model-data inter-comparison
for the Japan/East Sea” and 1 lecturer to the
summer school on “Circulation and
ecosystem modelling” (August 2006, Busan,
Korea);

1 PICES convenor to the joint ICES/PICES
theme sessions at the ICES Annual Science
Conference (September 2006, Maastricht,
Netherlands);
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PICES representative to attend the NPAFC
Fourteenth Annual Meeting (October 2006,
Vancouver, Canada).

05/S/4: Publications

Publications produced after the PICES XIV

include:

Special issues of primary journals in 2006

Progress in Oceanography, Vol. 68(2-4),
2006 (Guest Editors: G. Hunt and S.
McKinnell) — selected papers from the
PICES XIII Topic Session on “Mechanisms
that regulate North Pacific ecosystems:
Bottom up, top down, or something else?”
(approved in 2004);

Deep-Sea Research I, Vol. 53(3-4), 2006
(Guest Editors: W. Sydeman, R. Brodeur, A.
Bychkov, C. Grimes and S. McKinnell) —
selected papers from the PICES XIII Topic
Session on “Hot spots and their use by
migratory species and top predators in the
North Pacific” (approved in 2004);
Ecological Modelling (2007; Guest editors:
M. Kishi, B. Megrey, S.-I. Ito and F.
Werner) — selected papers on NEMURO and
NEMURO.FISH models (approved in
2004);

Deep-Sea Research 11 (2006; Guest Editors:
P. Boyd and P. Harrison) — selected papers
from the IFEP SERIES experiment.

PICES Scientific Report Series

Report of the 2004 Workshop on “In situ iron
enrichment experiments in the eastern and
western subarctic Pacific” (Report No. 31), S.
Takeda and C.S. Wong (Eds.), 207 pp.

Report of the 2005 Workshop on “Oceanic
ecodynamics comparison in the subarctic
Pacific” (Report No. 32), C.B. Miller and T.
Ikeda (Eds.), 105 pp.

Other publications

PICES Handbook and Handbook for
Chairmen and Convenors.

PICES Press - Newsletter

Two regular issues: Vol. 14, No. 1 (January
2006) and Vol. 14, No. 2 (July 2006).
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05/S/5: Future of current groups

» WG 16 on Climate change, shifts in fish
production and fisheries management (under
the direction of FIS) should be disbanded;

= WG 17 on Biogeochemical data integration
and synthesis (under the direction of POC)
was disbanded and replaced by the Section
on Carbon and climate (under the direction
of BIO and POC); The completion of
“Guide to best practices for oceanic CO,
measurements and data reporting” is in
progress;

= Responsibility for the Advisory Panel on
Continuous  Plankton  Recorder (CPR)
survey in the North Pacific moved from the
CCCC Program to the MONITOR Technical
Committee;

= Responsibility for the Advisory Panel on
Iron fertilization experiment in the subarctic
Pacific Ocean moved from the CCCC
Program to BIO.

SB Endnote 5

05/S/6: New PICES groups

= A Study Group on Future integrative
scientific program(s) was established under
the direction of Governing Council,
(approved at the 2005 inter-sessional
Governing Council meeting);

= A Section on Carbon and climate was
formed under the direction of POC and BIO,
(approved at the 2005 inter-sessional
Governing Council meeting);

» A Working Group on Evaluations of climate
change projections was established under
the direction of POC;

» A Working Group on Non-indigenous
aquatic species was formed under the
direction of MEQ);

= A Study Group to develop a strategy for
GOOS was established under the direction
of MONITOR.

Theme for PICES XVI (Victoria, Canada)
“The changing North Pacific: Previous patterns, future projections, and ecosystem impacts”

The PICES Special Publication, ‘“Marine
Ecosystems of the North Pacific”, concluded
that “during the past five years profound
changes have occurred in the North Pacific
climate system, in the composition, abundance
and distribution of its living marine resources,
and in the human societies that depend on the
North Pacific Ocean and its resources”. The
Science Board Symposium at PICES XVI will
build on studies of climate variability and other
anthropogenic impacts in the North Pacific and
its marginal seas, the latest North Pacific climate
projections  (whose results have been
summarized in the Fourth Assessment Report of
the Inter-governmental Panel for Climate
Change), future scenarios for direct human
forcing by population growth and fishing, and
the combined impacts that these changes have
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already had, and can be expected to have, on
North Pacific ecosystems. This theme will
address issues such as: 1) trends versus
variability; 2) synergisms between climate and
direct human forcing; 3) ecosystem indicators
and their applicability in the future; 4) impacts
arising from regional changes (e.g., less ice-
cover in the Bering Sea and Sea of Okhotsk,
aquatic bioinvasions); 5) the effects of terrestrial
climate change (e.g., river discharge); 6) how
projected global change and anthropogenic
impacts may alter sustainability of the North
Pacific; and 7) what should be the key messages
for policy makers regarding sustainability of the
North Pacific. Talks describing links with
climate change in the Arctic and the
International Polar Year Projects are also
welcome.
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REPORT OF BIOLOGICAL OCEANOGRAPHY COMMITTEE

3

O

The Biological Oceanography Committee
(hereafter BIO) met from 16:00-18:30 hours on
October 18, 2006. The Chairman, Dr. Michael
J. Dagg, called the meeting to order and
welcomed the participants (BIO Endnote 1).
Dr. Sinjae Yoo served as rapporteur. The
proposed agenda was reviewed and approved
without additions (B/O Endnote 2).

Progress reports of existing subsidiary bodies
(Agenda Item 3)

The full progress reports of all subsidiary bodies
are included elsewhere in this Annual Report.
Brief summaries are as follows:

Advisory Panel on Micronekton sampling inter-
calibration experiment (MIE-AP)

A presentation was given by Dr. Evgeny A.
Pakhomov, Co-Chairman of MIE-AP. He
reviewed the results and data processing from
the two inter-calibration cruises (MIE-1 and
MIE-2) organized by the Panel in 2004 and
2005, and plans for the MIE-3 experiment. The
report on the PICES XV MIE-AP workshop
(W9) can be found in the Session Summaries
chapter of this Annual Report. = MIE-AP
proposed a workshop on “Lessons learned
during MIE-1 and MIE-2: Reconciling
acoustics and trawl data”, to be held next year
at PICES XVI (MIE-AP Endnote 3). Convenors
will be Drs. Pakhomov and Orio Yamamura.
The Committee supported this proposal, but it
was undecided if the workshop will be a %- or
¥-day event.

Advisory Panel on Marine birds and mammals

(MBM-AP)

A presentation was given by Dr. Hidehiro Kato,
Co-Chairman of MBM-AP. He focused on the
results of the PICES XV MBM-AP workshop
(W8) on “Responses of marine mammals and
seabirds to large-scale and long-term climate

change: Mechanisms of environmental forcing”
(co-sponsored by BIO, POC and Center of
Excellence of Hokkaido University). The brief
report of this workshop can be found in the
Session Summaries chapter of this Annual
Report. Another main activity of the group is a
joint CPR-AP/MBM-AP monitoring project
using ships of opportunity.

MBM-AP proposed a ‘»-day Topic Session at
PICES XVI (to be co-sponsored by BIO, FIS
and POC) on “Phenology and climate change in
the North Pacific: Implications of variability in
the timing of zooplankton production to fish,
seabirds, marine mammals and fisheries
(humans)” (BIO Endnote 3b). This was
discussed in more detail under Agenda Item 5.

MBM-AP has continuing concern about lack of
membership from all PICES member countries
and requested PICES to communicate this
concern to Canada, China and Korea.

The Committee was informed that MBM-AP
was proposing to modify its Terms of Reference
slightly, but these changes were provided after
PICES XV (MBM-AP Endnote 2), and will be
reviewed by BIO later.

The Committee recommended that PICES
nominate Dr. Kato to serve as PICES’
representative to the International Whaling
Commission.

Advisory Panel on [ron fertilization experiment
in the subarctic Pacific Ocean (IFEP-AP)

A presentation was given by Dr. Shigenobu
Takeda, Co-Chairman of IFEP-AP. He put the
main emphasis on the recent and future
publications from iron-enrichment experiments
in the subarctic North Pacific initiated by the
Panel, and on the results of the IFEP/MODEL
workshop (W1) on “Modeling iron biogeo-
chemistry and ocean ecosystems” and the BIO
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Topic Session (S4) on “Synthesis of in situ iron
enrichment experiments in the eastern and
western subarctic Pacific” held at PICES XV
(for details see the Session Summaries chapter of
this Annual Report).

BIO supported the publication of a synthesis
manuscript in Eos based on the three completed
iron enrichment experiments in the subarctic
North Pacific.

BIO also supported the proposal by IFEP-AP to
close activity of the Panel at PICES XVI in
October 2007, and to propose a new working
group consisting of experimentalists and
modelers to examine the causes for the different
responses in the completed iron enrichment
experiments in the subarctic North Pacific and to
develop new hypotheses on the mechanisms
controlling phytoplankton production in this
region. Terms of Reference for a new working
group under BIO have to be presented at the
inter-sessional Science Board meeting in April
2007.

Section on Carbon and Climate (CC-S)

A brief summary of the CC-S activities is
available in the POC report. Details can be
found in the CC-S chapter of the Annual Report.

Summaries of scientific sessions/workshops at
PICES XV (Agenda Item 4)

Summaries written by the convenors of each
session and workshop can be found in the
Session Summaries chapter of the Annual
Report. The list of BIO-sponsored events at
PICES XYV includes:

= [FEP/MODEL workshop (W1): Modeling
iron biogeochemistry and ocean ecosystems,

= BIO/POC workshop (W8): Responses of
marine mammals and seabirds to large-
scale and long-term climate change:
Mechanisms of environmental forcing;

=  MIE-AP workshop (W9):  Micronekton
sampling gear inter-calibration experiment;

=  BIO/FIS Topic Session (S2): The human
dimension of jellyfish blooms;

88

= BIO Topic Session (S3): Interactions
between biogeochemical cycles and marine
food webs in the North Pacific;

= BIO Topic Session (S4): Synthesis of in situ
iron enrichment experiments in the eastern
and western subarctic Pacific;

=  BIO Topic Session (S5): Advances in epi-
and meso-pelagic ecosystem research;

= BIO Poster session.

Projects, symposia and workshops (Agenda
Item 5)

(a) Completed meetings

Summaries of three completed meetings
originally recommended by BIO were presented:

OECOS East and West

Dr. Charles B. Miller summarized the status of
the Oceanic Ecodynamics Comparison in the
Subarctic Pacific (OECOS) project that was
originally discussed as a comparison of various
aspects of lower trophic level processes in the
eastern and western gyres of the subarctic
Pacific Ocean. Proceedings of the PICES-
sponsored OECOS workshop, held in May 2005,
in Corvallis (U.S.A.), were published in 2006 as
PICES Scientific Report No. 32.

OECOS-East: The first proposal, involving U.S.
and Canadian researchers, was declined by the
U.S. National Science Foundation (NSF). It is
now planned to propose to NSF a short-term,
project development grant. If successful, the
results will facilitate a new proposal to
undertake shipboard investigations in 2009.

OECOS-West: The Japanese component has
been funded, and two cruises are scheduled for
2007: March 6-16 on the R/V Oshoru Maru,
and mid-April to mid-May on the R/V Hakuho
Maru.

The Committee strongly supports OECOS, a
collaborative program among PICES member
countries, and encourages Dr. Miller to continue
in his pursuit of funds for OECOS-East.



2006 Line-P Symposium

Dr. Angelica Pefia noted that the symposium
titled “Time series of the Northeast Pacific: A
symposium to mark the 50" anniversary of
Line-P” was held in July 2006, in Victoria
(Canada). A summary of the meeting is
available in the most recent issue of PICES
Press (Vol. 14, No. 2). All presentations are
viewable at http://www.pices.int/publications/
presentations/default.aspx. Selected papers from
the symposium will be published as a special
issue of Progress in Oceanography in late 2007
or early 2008. Drs. Pefia, Steven Bograd and
Alexander Bychkov are the Guest Editors for
this volume.

2006 ESSAS workshop

Dr. George L. Hunt reported on the PICES-
hosted ESSAS (Ecosystem Studies of the Sub-
Arctic Seas) workshop to develop comparative
studies of the sub-Arctic seas, held in June 2006,
in St. Petersburg (Russia). A summary of the
meeting is available in the most recent issue of
PICES Press (Vol. 14, No. 2).

(b) Upcoming events
PICES XVI

The next PICES Annual Meeting (PICES XVI)
will be held October 26-November 4, 2007, in
Victoria (Canada). The theme for this meeting
is “The changing North Pacific:  Previous
patterns, future projections and ecosystem
impacts”. The Committee recommends that the
following scientific sessions be convened at
PICES XVI:

= A I-day BIO Contributed Paper Session
with papers focused on biological aspects of
the meeting theme, and with specific
encouragement for young scientists to give
oral presentations (B/O Endnote 3a);

= A joint BIO/FIS/POC Topic Session on
“Phenology and climate change in the North
Pacific: Implications of variability in the
timing of zooplankton production to fish,
seabirds, marine mammals and fisheries
(humans)” (BIO Endnote 3b), it remained
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unclear whether the requested time would be
Va-, ¥a-or a full day;

= A l-day joint BIO/POC Topic Session on
“Decadal changes in carbon biogeo-
chemistry in the North Pacific” (CC-S
Endnote 3);

= A I-day joint FIS/CCCC/BIO Topic Session
on “Fisheries interactions and local
ecology” (FIS Endnote 4).

Committee members were requested to consider
potential invited speakers for the Science Board
Symposium, and to send their nominations to the
BIO Chairman by e-mail.

PICES XVII

BIO discussed the 2008 PICES Annual Meeting
to be held in Dalian, China. Discussion was
limited by the absence of all BIO Committee
members from China. BIO endorsed the
meeting theme, “Beyond observation of the
North Pacific environment. Rebuild, nowcast
and forecast” proposed by China, but suggested
adjusting the wording of the title to make the
meaning clearer. It was also noted that the text
of the description is too narrow, focused mainly
on modeling, and it should be modified to be
more consistent with the title. BIO endorsed the
theme.

4™  International Zooplankton  Production
Symposium

This symposium will be held May 28—June 1,
2007, in Hiroshima (Japan). Dr. Michio J. Kishi
is a member of the Local Organizing
Committee, and Drs. Dagg and David L. Mackas
represent PICES on the Scientific Steering
Committee.

Year of the Euphausiid

Dr. William T. Peterson summarized activities
and plans for development of the Year of the
Euphausiid. A document titled “Protocols for
measuring molting rate and egg production of
live euphausiids” has been prepared with the
objective of providing uniformity of methods
throughout PICES countries, and is posted on
the PICES website. Activities in the coming
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year will include a workshop on “Krill biology
and ecology”, to be convened by Drs. So
Kawaguchi and Peterson as part of the 4"
Zooplankton Production Symposium.
Dr. Peterson indicated that he may request
PICES to form a Euphausiid Working Group at
the next Annual Meeting.

(c) New proposals

4™ PICES workshop on “The Okhotsk Sea and
adjacent areas”

Dr. Kishi proposed that a 4™ PICES workshop
on “Okhotsk Sea and adjacent areas” be
convened in the summer of 2007 (BIO Endnote
4). The previous workshops were held in 1995
(Vladivostok, Russia), 1999 (Nemuro, Japan)
and 2003 (Vladivostok). BIO supported the
proposal, but suggested postponing the
workshop for one year (probably until August
2008), so further discussion and a financial
request will occur at PICES XVI.

SOLOPC:s float array

Dr. David Checkley (U.S.A.) was unable to
attend the BIO meeting to present information
about SOLOPCs. They are novel, profiling
floats that combine a SOLO (~Argo) Lagrangian
profiling float with a Laser-Optical Plankton
Counter and fluorometer. Several parameters
(T, S, P, Chl a fluorescence, particles, and
zooplankton) are assessed autonomously, and
data are sent ashore via Iridium. The array of
SOLOPCs will be embedded within the much
larger array of Argo floats and will provide
useful information on constituents of the
biological pump in the North Pacific. For wide
coverage across the North Pacific, deployment
of instruments will need the help of PICES
members. The opportunity exists to collaborate
in gathering comparative data from research
vessels in the vicinity of SOLOPCs and
interpreting the resultant data. Members were
encouraged to talk with Dr. Checkley after his
presentation at Topic Session S3.
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2007-2009 ESSAS workshops

Dr. Hunt described a request from ESSAS for
PICES to co-sponsor ESSAS workshops to be
held in the next three years in: Hakodate, Japan
(2007), Gijon, Spain (2008), and probably
Seattle, U.S.A. (2009). BIO was generally
supportive but had reservations about the
funding.

Financial requests (Agenda Item 6)

Financial requests associated with proposed BIO

activities for the next year include:

= travel support for 1 invited speaker for the
BIO Contributed Paper Session and 1
invited speaker for each of three BIO-
sponsored Topic Sessions at PICES XVI;

= travel support for 1 invited speakers for the
MIE-AP workshop at PICES XVI;

= funds to publish the proceedings of the 2006
BIO/FIS Topic Session on “The human
dimensions of jellyfish blooms” as a special
issue of Plankton and Benthos Research.

BIO supported the requests from ESSAS for
PICES to co-sponsor the ESSAS workshops in
2007-2009. Nevertheless, the Committee was
concerned about committing PICES to all three
workshops at once and suggested that each
request should be evaluated separately.

BIO confirmed its support for PICES to co-
sponsor a scientific session titled “Comparative
marine ecosystem structure and function:
Descriptors and characteristics” at the 2007
ICES Annual Science Conference in Helsinki,
Finland. The Committee was later reminded
that participation in this session had been
approved previously at the April 2006 inter-
sessional Science Board meeting.

BIO was informed by Dr. Atsushi Yamaguchi
that Japan will host a workshop in May 2008, to
discuss findings from the 2007 OECOS-West
cruises, and that at next year’s PICES Annual
Meeting, the organizers will request travel funds
for several OECOS-East colleagues to attend
this workshop.



BIO Action Plan (Agenda Item 7)

A sub-Committee consisting of Drs. Dagg,
Kishi, Yoo and Vladimir Radchenko was formed
to revise and update the BIO Action Plan.
Revisions will be completed and circulated to all
committee members for comments, then
returned to the sub-Committee for finalization
prior to the April 2007 inter-sessional Science
Board meeting.

North Pacific Ecosystem Status Report
(Agenda Item 8)

It was agreed that BIO should provide
MONITOR with some ideas about what should
be included in the next North Pacific Ecosystem
Status Report, which is expected to be finalized
in 2009. A sub-Committee consisting of Drs.
Pena, Alexei Orlov and Particia Wheeler was
formed to address this issue, and to make
recommendations to BIO at PICES XVIL
Dr. Hunt indicated that this issue was also
discussed at the June 2006 ESSAS workshop in
St. Petersburg and agreed to forward their
recommendations to the sub-Committee.

Future PICES integrative scientific program
(Agenda Item 9)

There was discussion about the draft outline of

FUTURE, the proposed new integrative science

program for PICES. BIO supported the general

goals of the program and made some specific
suggestions, including:

* OQutreach to society, managers and
governments is not a one-way avenue, and
mechanisms for two-way dialog need to be
pursued.

= FEach PICES member country has unique
procedures for communication of important
science findings to society, managers and
government, so there can be no single
PICES approach for all countries. It was
agreed, however, that the broad goal of
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better communication should be a part of the
new Science Plan.

= The idea of conveying the degree of
uncertainty (certainty) in communications
was strongly endorsed.

» Smaller, point-by-point, comments on the
draft outline will be sent to Science Board.

BIO web page (Agenda Item 10)

Each member of the Committee was asked to
provide the BIO Chairman with a 1-2 sentence
description of his/her area of scientific expertise
for addition to the BIO web page. No additional
recommendations were made.

Other business (Agenda Item 11)

This year, the Committee was responsible for
selecting winners for BIO Best Presentation and
Best Poster Awards from BIO-sponsored Topic
Sessions S3, S4 and S5 (FIS handled the joint
BIO/FIS Topic Session S2). Only young
scientists were eligible for the Best Presentation
Award.

The panel consisting of Drs. Dagg, Pefia and
Wheeler selected the paper by Andrew L. King
(co-authored by Kathy Barbeau) entitled
“Macro- and micronutrient limitation of
phytoplankton standing stock in the southern
California Current System” and given at the S3
BIO Topic Session as the best BIO presentation.

The panel consisting of Drs. Richard Brodeur,
Dagg, Penia and Wheeler selected the paper by
Satoshi Kitajima (co-authored by Fuminori
Hashihama, Shigenobu Takeda and Ken Furuya)
entitled “Nitrogen fixation in the subtropical and
tropical western North Pacific” and presented at
the S3 BIO Topic Session as the best BIO
poster.

At next year’s Annual Meeting in Victoria,
awards for the best oral presenter and best poster
will be determined by Drs. Pefia and Wheeler.
Additional committee members may be added.
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BIO Endnote 1

Participation list

Members

Richard D. Brodeur (U.S.A.)
Michael J. Dagg (U.S.A., Chairman)
Michio J. Kishi (Japan)

David L. Mackas (Canada)

Hideki Nakano (Japan)

Alexei Orlov (Russia)

BIO Endnote 2

Angelica Pefia (Canada)
Vladimir Radchenko (Russia)
Patricia A. Wheeler (U.S.A.)
Atsushi Yamaguchi (Japan)
Sinjae Yoo (Korea)

(Observers’ names were not taken.)

BIO meeting agenda

1. Welcome and introductions, appointment of
rapporteur

2. Approval of agenda

3. Progress reports of existing subsidiary
bodies:

= MIE-AP

= MBM-AP
= JFEP-AP
= CC-S

4. Summaries of scientific sessions/workshops
at PICES XV
5. Projects, symposia and workshops:
(a) Completed
* OECOS East and West
= 2006 Line-P Symposium
= 2006 ESSAS workshop
(b) Upcoming events
= PICES XVI in Victoria (Canada)

BIO Endnote 3

» PICES XVII in Dalian (China)

= 4™ International Zooplankton Production
Symposium

= Year of the Euphausiid

(c) New proposals

= 4™ PICES workshop on “The Okhotsk
Sea and adjacent areas”

=  SOLOPC:s float array

= 2007-2009 ESSAS workshops

= Line-P letter of support

Financial requests

BIO Action Plan

North Pacific Ecosystem Status Report

9. Future PICES integrative science program

10. BIO web page

11. Other business

12. Adjournment

e

BIO-sponsored Topic Sessions proposed for PICES XVI

a) 1-day BIO Contributed Paper Session

The theme of PICES XVI is “The changing
North  Pacific:  Previous patterns, future
projections, and ecosystem impacts”. In this
session, we welcome papers on biological
aspects of the PICES XVI theme as well as
papers on other aspects of biological
oceanography in the North Pacific and its
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marginal seas (except S2 and SI11 topics).
Young scientists are especially encouraged to
submit papers to this session.

Recommended convenors: Michael J. Dagg
(U.S.A.), Michio J. Kishi (Japan) and Angelica
Pena (Canada).
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b) Y- or 1-day BIO/POC/FIS Topic Session on “Phenology and climate change in the North Pacific:
Implications of variability in the timing of zooplankton production to fish, seabirds, marine

mammals and fisheries (humans)”

Ecosystems of the North Pacific Ocean are
characterized by strong seasonal variability in
productivity. The Inter-governmental Panel for
Climate Change projections indicate that
substantial changes in phenology (timing events)
and the biological interactions that depend on
the seasonal cycle are likely. Several
mechanistic hypotheses have been set forth to
explain changes in fish production in relation to
phenology, including “match-mismatch” and
“optimal environmental window”, yet there have
been few tests of these ideas. In light of climate
change predictions and recent changes in
phenology in some North Pacific ecosystems
(e.g., late upwelling in the California Current in
2005/2006), the session will focus on the
implications of changes in the timing of seasonal
zooplankton production to upper trophic level
organisms through changes in their trophic

ecology, physiology and behavior. Physical
environmental changes that influence phenology
also are within the scope of this session. Papers
which test hypotheses, present new theoretical
treatments, and/or provide models of life history
variation are encouraged. In particular,
integrated, multi-trophic level, multi-disciplinary
analyses are sought. We anticipate publication
of the papers from this topic session in primary
literature.

Recommended convenors:  Elizabeth  A.
Logerwell (FIS, U.S.A.), David L. Mackas
(BIO, Canada), Shoshiro Minobe (POC, Japan)
and William J. Sydeman (MBM-AP, U.S.A.).

Potential invited speakers: Gregory Beaugrand
(UK) and Nils Stenseth (Norway).

¢) 1-day BIO/POC Topic Session on “Decadal changes in carbon biogeochemistry in the North

Pacific” (CC-S Endnote 3)

d) 1-day joint FIS/CCCC/BIO Topic Session on “Fisheries interactions and local ecology” (see FIS

Endnote 5).

BIO Endnote 4

Proposal for a 4" PICES workshop on “The Okhotsk Sea and adjacent areas”

The Okhotsk Sea and its adjacent area play an
important role in the circulation and formation
of water masses in the North Pacific Ocean. It is
unique because of the formation of seasonal sea
ice. The disappearance of ice will cause drastic
changes and affect the oceanographic conditions
and ecosystems of the North Pacific. In spite of
its important role, no significant cooperative
research activities on ecosystem dynamics in
this area were conducted during the CCCC
Program time period. Thus, PICES needs to
take the lead in promoting and coordinating
cooperative research in this region by convening
the proposed workshop. The main objective of
the workshop will be to identify the key
scientific questions concerning the response of
Okhotsk Sea and adjacent area ecosystems to

climate change. These can potentially be
addressed as a component of the next PICES
integrative scientific program, FUTURE.

Time: Summer of 2007 (or 2008)
Place: Abashiri (or Nemuro), Japan

Potential convenors: Makoto Kashiwai, Michio
J. Kishi and Tokio Wada (Japan), Vyacheslav
Lobanov and Vladimir I. Radchenko (Russia),
and TBD (U.S.A.).

Plan: A 3-day workshop will consist of plenary
sessions to review physical forcing, LTL and
HTL chemistry and biology, and the fisheries of
the area, group discussions and a summary
session.
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REPORT OF FISHERY SCIENCE COMMITTEE

The meeting of the Fishery Science Committee
(hereafter FIS) was held from 16:00-19:40
hours on October 18, 2006. Dr. Gordon H.
Kruse called the meeting to order and welcomed
the participants. The meeting was attended by
12 FIS members and 22 observers representing
all PICES member countries except China (FIS
Endnote 1). Dr. Paul Spencer served as
rapporteur.

The draft agenda was reviewed, and the only
change was to move discussion of the FIS
Action Plan after discussion of proposals for
Topic Sessions and workshops (FIS Endnote 2).

Implementation of PICES XIV decisions
(Agenda Item 3)

At PICES XV, FIS sponsored a 1-day BIO/FIS
Topic Session on “The human dimension of
jellyfish blooms™ (S2), a 1-day FIS/CCCC Topic
Session on “Key recruitment processes and life
history strategies: Bridging the temporal and
spatial gap between models and data” (S7), a
1-day FIS/MEQ Topic Session on “Aquaculture
and sustainable management of the marine
ecosystem” (S8), and a %-day FIS Contributed
Paper Session. Also, FIS sponsored a 2-day FIS
workshop on “Linking climate to trends in
productivity of key commercial species in the
subarctic Pacific” (W2), and a 1-day MEQ/FIS
workshop on “Criteria relevant to the
determination of unit eco-regions for ecosystem-
based management in the PICES area” (W3).
Summaries of these sessions and workshops can
be found in the Session Summaries chapter in
this Annual Report.

2006 FIS Best Presentation and Poster Award
(Agenda Item 4)

The FIS Best Presentation Award is available to
early career scientists only. The FIS Best Poster
Award is open to all scientists, but the recipient
must be the senior author of the poster and must
have attended the Annual Meeting.

This year’s winners were selected from the FIS
Contributed Paper Session and the BIO/FIS
Topic Session S2. The committee consisting of
Drs. Kruse, Richard D. Brodeur (convenor of
Topic Session S2) and Chang Ik-Zhang selected
the paper by Min Ho Kang (co-authored by Jung
Youn Park and Suam Kim) entitled “Genetic
variations and differences of chum salmon
(Oncorhynchus keta) collected from the Bering
Sea and along the North Pacific region” and
given at the Topic Session S2 as the best FIS
presentation. The committee consisting of Drs.
Masahide Kaeriyama and Hyoung Chul Shin
selected the paper by Atsushi Kawabata entitled
“Distribution and biomass of the Japanese
common squid, Todarodes pacificus, estimated
by acoustic survey in the Pacific coastal waters
off the northern Japan” and presented at the FIS
Contributed Paper Session as the best FIS
poster.

New PICES integrative science program,
FUTURE (Agenda Item 5)

The Committee reviewed the draft outline for
the next PICES integrative science program
(FUTURE). The U.S. delegation presented a
draft set of potential science priorities for
FUTURE, which formed the basis for further
discussion. FIS identified the following science
priorities:

1. global climate change (e.g., shifts in species
distributions, changes in productivity, shifts
in predator-prey dynamics);

2. natural and human effects on marine
ecosystems (e.g., separate effects of climate
vs. human effects such as trawling effects on
seafloor, the study of local ecological
mechanisms, the need for field
experiments);

3. improved monitoring to detect change (e.g.,
monitoring systems needed to detect
changes in the environment of fishes,
improved stock assessments, advancements
in development of ecosystem indicators);
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4. forecasting (e.g., the need to predict changes
in fish stocks with climate change at various
scales of variability);

5. ecosystem-based fishery management (e.g.,
development and validation of ecosystem
models, development of operational
objectives for conservation and socio-
economics, advancement in the science of
ecosystem-based management); and

6. more effective communication (e.g.,
strengthen communication to managers, the
general public and others outside of PICES,
strengthen partnerships with organizations
having shared interests).

Other discussion included the need to develop
forecasts (priority area 4) at scales relevant to
ecology and fisheries.  This priority was
distinguished from monitoring because it is
model-based. Discussion also considered the
need for hypothesis testing, for instance, within
science priority area 2. An example could be
experiments with control and treatment areas
within the sea. There is a strong need to move
beyond correlations and to take a more
mechanistic approach.  Finally, the need to
consider feedback between monitoring and
modeling was discussed.

A FIS Writing Team was formed to prepare a 3-
to 5-page summary of the FIS science priorities.
The team will consist of the FIS Chairman, plus
one member from each country: Dr. Laura
Richards (Canada), Dr. Yukimasa Ishida (Japan),
Dr. Chang-lk Zhang (Korea), Dr. Alexander
Glubokov (Russia), Dr. Michael Schirripa
(U.S.A.), and a Chinese representative to be
named later. Dr. Kruse will prepare a first draft
for review and revision by the Writing Team.
Then he will incorporate contributions from the
Writing Team in a second draft to be sent for
review to the full FIS Committee.

Review of FIS Action Plan (Agenda Item 6)

Dr. Kruse suggested that he can update the FIS
Action Plan using information provided by the
FIS-sponsored Working Groups and FIS
members, and circulate it for review to the full
Committee prior to the 2007 PICES Annual
Meeting in Victoria.
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Report of WG 16 on Climate change and
fisheries management (Agenda Item 7a)

Dr. Richard Beamish reported on progress in
completing the report from FIS WG 16 on
Climate change, shift in fish production, and
fisheries management. Since last year, the
document has been assessed by three reviewers.
The reviewers’ comments have been addressed
by Dr. Beamish. Reports from the various
countries sometimes speculated on the effects of
global warming on fish populations. Different
countries had different interpretations, and those
differences are reflected in the document. Not
all countries considered the same species. Some
of the reviewers’ comments regarded choice of
species. Dr. Beamish respected the choices of
the countries in these matters. There was an
attempt to standardize styles of national reports
to the extent possible. Dr. Steven J. Bograd has
been asked to help prepare a synopsis of the
results;  otherwise, a synopsis written by
Dr. Beamish will be used. The revised report
has been submitted to FIS. FIS formed a
committee consisting of the FIS Chairman and
Drs. Yukimasa Ishida, Elizabeth A. Logerwell
and Mikhail Stepanenko to review the revised
report and to advise PICES on report
publication.

Progress report of WG 18 on Mariculture in
the 21st century (Agenda Item 7b)

Dr. Michael Rust reported on progress by
MEQ/FIS Working Group 18 on Mariculture in
the 21" century — The intersection between
ecology, socio-economics and production (see
WG 18 chapter in this Annual Report for details).
The first two Terms of Reference were
completed; the third is to propose a joint
MEQ/FIS workshop for PICES XVI in Victoria.
The duration of this workshop will be
determined later. The workshop would produce
an Action Plan on scientific issues for
aquaculture. Dr. Richards indicated that the
workshop will be important for completing the
Terms of Reference of WG 18. The Working
Group has suffered low attendance in the past
two meetings due to lack of adequate financial
support. Providing support for the attendance of
Chinese scientists would help, as well as funding



for a professional facilitator. Dr. Glen Jamieson
reported that MEQ proposed that WG 18 be
disbanded and that a Study Group be formed to
determine the next steps for PICES concerning
aquaculture.

Progress report of WG 19 on Ecosystem-based
management science and its application to the
North Pacific (Agenda Item 7c¢)

Dr. Jamieson reviewed activities of MEQ/FIS
WG 19 on Ecosystem-based management
science and its application to the North Pacific,
and the results of the PICES XV MEQ/FIS
workshop (W3) on “Criteria relevant to the
determination of unit eco-regions for ecosystem-
based management in the PICES area”. The
report of WG 19 is included elsewhere in this
Annual Report, and the workshop summary can
be found in the Session Summaries chapter. The
Working Group proposed a joint FIS/MEQ
workshop on  “Comparative  analysis  of
frameworks to develop an ecosystem-based
approach to management and research needed
for implementation” to be held at PICES XVI
(WG 19 Endnote 3). The Committee noted that
excellent progress has been made by this
Working Group.

Proposals for new subsidiary bodies (Agenda
Item 8)

One proposal for a new FIS Working Group on
Theoretical —anadromy was presented by
Dr. Skip McKinnell. The proposal noted that
there are competing mechanisms for the rapid
increase in catches that occurred in the latter part
of the 20™ century. A significant reduction in
the age of smolts was observed in several Bristol
Bay sockeye salmon populations after 1976/77,
causing greater numbers of juveniles to enter the
sea. Smolt age and survival are linked because
most of the mortality of sockeye salmon, for
example, happens in fresh water. The main
objective of the Working Group would be to
build a high-resolution salmon model to
examine the influence of inter-annual variation
in important life-history characteristics. The
model should be generally applicable to all
salmonids and could potentially be linked to
NEMURO. Dr. Beamish commented that ocean
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mortality may still be a driving factor in
population regulation. Dr. McKinnell clarified
that the model would be an entire life-cycle
model. It was suggested that this need could
potentially be addressed by a NPAFC Working
Group (as they are interested in the effect of
climate), or it could be a cooperative effort
between PICES and NPAFC. Drs. Ishida and
Zhang indicated that this proposal is a low
priority to Japan and Korea, respectively, and
that it is most likely a low priority for China. It
was also noted that starting this Working Group
now may preclude other subsidiary bodies more
aligned with FUTURE, which could be
developed at PICES XVII. FIS decided to
postpone formation of a new Working Group
until a Science Plan for FUTURE is finalized.

Proposals for Topic Sessions and workshops
at PICES XVI (Agenda Item 9)

Proposals for Topic Sessions included:

= a l-day FIS Topic Session on “Ecosystem
approach to fisheries: Improvements on
traditional management for declining and
depleted stocks” presented by Dr. Ishida
(FIS Endnote 3);

= a l-day joint FIS/CCCC/BIO Topic Session
on “Fisheries interactions and local
ecology” put forward by Dr. Logerwell (F1S
Endnote 4);

= a l-day joint MEQ/FIS Topic Session on
“Coldwater biogenic habitat in the North
Pacific” suggested by Dr. Jamieson (MEQ
Endnote 5);

= a ls-day joint BIO/FIS/POC Topic Session
on “Phenology and climate change in the
North Pacific: Implications of variability in
the timing of zooplankton production to fish,
seabirds, marine mammals and fisheries
(humans)” presented by Dr. Logerwell (B/O
Endnote 3b);

* a l-day joint CCCC/FIS Topic Session on
“Towards ecosystem-based management:
Recent developments and successes in multi-
species modeling” presented by Dr. Jacob
Schweigert (MODEL Endnote 3).

The proposed FIS Topic Session on “ecosystem

approach to fisheries” would address questions,
such as “How do we rebuild depleted stocks
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under variable climate regimes?” The proposal
was unanimously supported by FIS members
and was given top priority for PICES XVI.

It was suggested that the MEQ/FIS session on
“cold-water biogenic habitat” is a low priority
one compared to the other proposed sessions.
Concern was expressed that this topic may not
be of interest to all PICES member counties.

FIS had much discussion about the remaining
three proposals. All topics are of interest to FIS,
but there was concern that the Committee may
not be able to co-sponsor so many sessions. It
was noted that BIO supports the “fisheries
interactions and local ecology” session proposal,
and consideration was given to deferring to BIO
only.

Discussion noted some commonalities between
the session on “multi-species modeling” and the
session on “fisheries interactions”. FIS opted to
combine these two proposals, allowing for a 1.5-
day session. It was noted that CCCC selected
the unmerged version of the “multi-species
modeling” session as a high priority. The
merged session was approved by FIS and given
a second priority behind the FIS Topic Session
on “ecosystem approach to fisheries”. The FIS
convenors of both sessions (Drs. Aydin and
Logerwell) noted their preference to keep the
two sessions separate, unless there is insufficient
time in the schedule to convene both sessions.
The decision to merge may need to be resolved
at the Science Board meeting, where CCCC is
present to discuss it.

FIS also supported the proposal for a '2-day
“phenology” session and ranked this as a third
priority.  FIS requests the use of “timing”
instead of “phenology” in the title, so it is more
widely understood.

FIS unanimously approved having a 1-day FIS
Contributed Paper Session at PICES XVI.

Proposals for workshops included:

» a l-day FIS workshop on “Methods for
standardizing trawl surveys to ensure
constant catchability” (FIS Endnote 5);
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= a l-day joint FIS/MEQ workshop on
“Comparative analysis of frameworks to
develop an ecosystem-based approach to
management and research needed for
implementation” (WG 19 Endnote 3).

= a l-day MEQ/FIS workshop on “Scientific
issues for sustainable aquaculture in the
PICES region.”

Dr. Logerwell described the proposal for the
“trawl survey” workshop. This topic has been
addressed by ICES, with U.S. participation. The
workshop could be expanded to include acoustic
surveys and off-bottom trawls, as well. It was
suggested that Dr. David Reid (UK) would be a
good invited speaker from ICES. It was noted
that there has also been some work in
standardization for surface trawls used in the
NPAFC BASIS program. There is a need to
ensure that we do not simply reproduce the work
of ICES, and there may be unique issues for
PICES nations. Dr. Ishida voiced support for
this topic, and it was noted that this is part of the
FIS Action Plan. Russia advised that
standardization is a complicated, long-term
problem.  FIS supported the proposal and
requested that this workshop consider trawl
standardization (not just bottom trawls).

The FIS/MEQ workshop on “ecosystem-based
approaches to management” was introduced by
Dr. Jamieson. The proposed workshop would
address the status and progress of ecosystem-
based management science efforts in the PICES
region, and would complete the Terms of
Reference of WG 19. FIS gave this workshop
top priority.

The details were not available for the MEQ/FIS
workshop on  “sustainable  aquaculture”.
Dr. Richards recommended that FIS yield sole
sponsorship for this workshop to MEQ, and all
members agreed.

Relations with other international programs
and organizations (Agenda Item 10)

Dr. Ichiro Nomura explained the operations of
the Fishery Department of FAO (Food and
Agriculture  Organization) and suggested
potential areas for collaboration between FAO



and PICES. Among others, these areas include:
(1) efforts to make the ecosystem approach to
fisheries operational, (2) development of
collaborative information systems, and (3) “fish
in food” model and food safety. FIS looks
forward to potential future collaborations with
FAO.

The Committee discussed plans and proposals
for upcoming FIS-related international meetings
with requested PICES co-sponsorship.

The NAFO/PICES/ICES  symposium on
“Reproductive and recruitment processes of
exploited marine fish stocks” was approved at
the 2006 inter-sessional Science Board meeting
and is now planned for October 1-3, 2007, in
Lisbon, Portugal. Previously, FIS nominated
Dr. Richard Brodeur (U.S.A.) to serve as a
symposium convenor, and Drs. Suam Kim
(Korea) and Jie Zheng (U.S.A.) as members of
the Scientific Steering Committee.

A proposal was received requesting PICES
sponsorship for the 1% GLOBEC/CLIOTOP
(Climatic Impacts on Oceanic Top Predators)
symposium to be held December 3—7, 2007, in
La Paz, Mexico. The symposium will highlight
the state of the art in the field and try to identify
emerging directions and future challenges.
Concern was expressed that the symposium
organizers are seeking only a financial donation,
and not scientific contribution, from PICES, and
a flyer has been distributed already without
indicating PICES involvement. Given the lack
of PICES involvement in the planning of this
forum, FIS does not endorse PICES sponsorship
of the symposium.

FIS received two proposals inviting PICES to
(1) co-sponsor, with NASCO, NPAFC and ICES,
a symposium on “Marine mortality of salmon”
to be held in 2009/2010; and (2) co-organize,
with ICES, a symposium on “Biodiversity and
ecosystem-based management to be held in
2009. Neither proposal was very comprehensive,
and no one present could offer more information.

Regarding marine mortality of salmon, it was
determined that this topic may not be of broad
interest to PICES, as related symposia in the
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past have attracted few PICES scientists who
were not already participating in NPAFC
activities. Therefore, FIS does not feel that this
topic is a high priority for PICES. Although the
proposal for the biodiversity symposium was
vague on details, FIS agreed that this topic is of
much interest to PICES-member countries. As
this symposium appears to be in the very early
stages of development, FIS recommends that
PICES obtain more information about the
symposium, including opportunities for PICES
involvement to help set symposium objectives
and overall planning, and to consider co-
sponsorship.

An international conference on “Linking herring
biology, ecology, and status of populations in a
changing environment” (sponsored by ICES,
GLOBEC and the Marine Institute of Ireland) is
already scheduled for August 26-29, 2008, in
Galway, Ireland. ICES representative,
Dr. Adolf Kellermann, indicated that PICES will
be invited to join as another co-sponsor. It was
noted that the former FIS Chairman,
Dr. Douglas Hay (Canada), serves as a member
of the Scientific Steering Committee.

Dr. George L. Hunt reported on progress by
GLOBEC/ESSAS, including the workshop held
in June 2006, in St. Petersburg, Russia. ESSAS
made a formal request for PICES to support
their work on sub-Arctic seas through the series
of workshops to be held in the next three years:
Hakodate, Japan (2007), Gijon, Spain (2008),
and probably Seattle, U.S.A. (2009). The 2007
workshop will focus on the role of sea ice, the
2008 workshop will discuss the role of
advection, and the 2009 workshop will be
looking at the role of temperature. FIS follows
with interest the work by ESSAS.

Proposed inter-sessional meetings (Agenda
Item 11)

Dr. Anne Hollowed reported that participants of
the PICES XV FIS workshop on “Linking
climate to trends in productivity of key
commercial species in the subarctic Pacific”
(W2) recommended that FIS look at 30 key
species to develop forecasts of their stock trends.
It was noted that FIS would work with CCCC
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(CFAME), POC (WG 20) and MONITOR to
develop single-species forecasts. These
forecasts could be developed in time to be
included in the 2009 North Pacific Ecosystem
Status Report. A 3-day inter-sessional FIS
workshop on “Forecasting climate impacts on
fish production” was proposed to bring together
fishery scientists, oceanographers, and modelers.
Two options were suggested: in May 2007, in
Seattle (U.S.A.), or alternatively in association
with the June 2007 ESSAS workshops in
Hakodate (Japan). Travel funds from PICES are
requested for two invited speakers.  FIS
supported this proposal for an inter-sessional
workshop and travel request.

Proposed publications (Agenda Item 12)

= [f accepted, the final report of WG 16 will
be published as a PICES Scientific Report in
2007;

» Three FIS-sponsored Topic Sessions
recommended for PICES XVI (“Ecosystem
approach to fisheries: Improvements on
traditional management for declining and
depleted stocks”, “Fisheries interactions
and local ecology”, and “Phenology and
climate change in the North Pacific:
Implications of variability in the timing of
zooplankton production to fish, seabirds,
marine mammals and fisheries (humans)”)
include plans for publishing special issues in
primary journals.

Requests for travel support (Agenda Item 13)
Travel support is requested for:

= 1 invited speaker for the FIS workshop at
PICES XVI on “Methods for standardizing
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trawl  surveys to  ensure  constant
catchability” (FIS Endnote 5);

= 1 invited speaker for the FIS Topic Session
at PICES XVI on “Ecosystem approach to
fisheries:  Improvements on traditional
management for declining and depleted
stocks” (FIS Endnote 3);

* 1 invited speaker for the FIS/CCCC/BIO
Topic Session at PICES XVI on “Fisheries
interactions and local ecology” (FIS
Endnote 4);

= 1 invited speaker, with costs to be shared
with BIO and POC, for the BIO/FIS/POC
Topic Session on “Phenology and climate
change in the North Pacific: Implications of
variability in the timing of zooplankton
production to fish, seabirds, marine
mammals and fisheries (humans)” (BIO
Endnote 3b).

Dr. Beamish recommended that financial
support for scientists attending the PICES
Annual Meeting should be given higher priority
than travel of PICES scientists to non-PICES
meetings. The low participation in the PICES
Annual Meeting by Chinese scientists was noted,
and FIS discussed whether this was an issue of
travel support.

Theme for PICES XVII (Agenda Item 14)

No information was available on the proposed
theme for PICES XVII to be held in Dalian,
China.

Other business (Agenda Item 15)

No other business was raised.



FIS Endnote 1

FIS-2006

Participation List

Members

Richard J. Beamish (Canada)
Elena P. Dulepova (Russia)
Alexander Glubokov (Russia)
Toyomitsu Horii (Japan)
Yukimasa Ishida (Japan)
Masahide Kaeriyama (Japan)
Gordon H. Kruse (U.S.A., Chairman)
Elizabeth A. Logerwell (U.S.A.)
Laura Richards (Canada)
Michael Schirripa (U.S.A.)
Hyoung-Chul Shin (Korea)
Chang-lk Zhang (Korea)

Observers
Kerim Y. Aydin (U.S.A.)

Galina Gavrilova (Russia)

FIS Endnote 2

Christopher Harvey (U.S.A.)
Anne B. Hollowed (U.S.A.)
Evan Howell (U.S.A.)
Chih-Hao Hsieh (Japan)
George L. Hunt (U.S.A.)
Oleg Ivanov (Russia)
Yeonghye Kim (Korea)
Hidetada Kiyofuji (U.S.A.)
Hideaki Kudo (Japan)
Patricia Livingston (U.S.A.)
Skip McKinnell (PICES Secretariat)
Ichiro Nemura (FAO)
Jonathan Phinney (U.S.A.)
Jacob Schweigert (Canada)
Paul Spencer (U.S.A.)

Oleg Zolotov (Russia)

Jie Zheng (U.S.A.)

Mikhail Stepanenko (Russia)
Andrew Trites (Canada)

Inja Yeon (Korea)

FIS meeting agenda

1. Welcome, introductions, and nomination of
a rapporteur
2. Adoption of agenda
3. Implementation of PICES XIV decisions
4. 2006 FIS Best Presentation and Poster
Award
5. New PICES integrative science program:
a. Review of FUTURE outline
b. National perspectives on the content of
FUTURE
c. Defining FIS science priorities within
FUTURE
d. Formation of FIS writing team
6. Review of FIS Action Plan
7. Progress reports of the existing Working
Groups:
a. WG 16 (FIS) on Climate change, shift in
fish  production, and  fisheries
management

b. WG 18 (MEQ/FIS) on Mariculture in
the 21" century

c. WG 19 (MEQ/FIS) on Ecosystem-based
management science and its application
to the North Pacific

Proposals for new subsidiary bodies

9. Proposals for Topic Sessions and workshops
at PICES XVI

10. Relations with other international programs
and organizations:
a. FAO
b. Proposed joint symposia
c. Other organizations

11. Proposed inter-sessional meetings

12. Proposed publications

13. Travel support requests

14. Theme for PICES XVII (Dalian, China)

15. Other business

o
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FIS Endnote 3

Proposal for a 1-day FIS Topic Session at PICES XVI on “Ecosystem approach to fisheries:
Improvements on traditional management for declining and depleted stocks”

An ecosystem approach to fisheries (EAF),
which recognizes the complexity of ecosystems
and the interconnections between its component
parts, has been recently advocated by many
fisheries management bodies. In PICES
countries, some fisheries resources are in high
abundance and healthy, but others are decreasing
or already depleted. Most causes of stock
declines can be ascribed to climate changes and
overfishing. Stocks in declining or depleted
conditions  require  prompt,  appropriate
management  actions, perhaps including
ecosystem approaches. This session invites
papers that examine: (1) major factors
responsible for the status of fish stocks,
particularly those that are decreasing or
depleted;  (2) limits to traditional fishery

FIS Endnote 4

management measures to address causes of
stock declines; (3) new perspectives on fishery
management that promote sustainable fishery
management from an ecosystem perspective;
and (4) case studies of rebuilding plans for
depleted stocks — their successes and failures.
Manuscripts contributed to this session will be
considered for publication in the journal
Fisheries Research following peer-review.
Submission deadline of manuscripts is
November 30, 2007.

Recommended convenors:  Yukimasa Ishida
(Japan), Gordon H. Kruse (U.S.A.), Ted Perry
(Canada), Vladimir I. Radchenko (Russia) and
Chang-lk Zhang (Korea).

Proposal for 1-day FIS/CCCC/BIO Topic Session at PICES XVI on
“Fisheries interactions and local ecology”

Ecosystem models are often employed to
evaluate the effects of fishing and to distinguish
natural variability from human impacts. These
models typically operate at large spatial and
temporal scales, which are appropriate for their
goals and objectives. However, these models
would benefit from better information on local-
scale processes as there are likely to be
bottlenecks at short time scales and small spatial
scales that are critical to wunderstanding
recruitment variability. Similarly, there may be
critical foraging interactions that happen at local
scales, particularly for central place foragers
such as marine mammals and seabirds. Small-
scale effects of fishing such as “localized
depletion” may have ecosystem-level
consequences. More information on local-scale
survival, foraging, movement, reproduction and
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pelagic habitat selection would allow food-web
and population dynamics modelers to make
better scenarios of the effects of natural
variability and/or fishing on ecosystems. Papers
are solicited on the following topics: (1) current
ecosystem models and the assumptions that
require further research; (2) techniques for
assessing climate impacts on predator-prey
interactions at top trophic levels; (3) techniques
for assessing local-scale dynamics of survival,
foraging, movement, reproduction and pelagic
habitat selection; and (4) techniques for
assessing prey field response to fishing.

Recommended convenors: Kerim Y. Aydin
(U.S.A.), Jason Link (U.S.A.) Elizabeth A.
Logerwell (U.S.A.) and an Asian scientist
(TBD).
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Proposal for 1-day FIS workshop at PICES XVI on
“Methods for standardizing trawl surveys to ensure constant catchability”

Standardization in the gear and methodology
used to conduct pelagic and bottom trawl
surveys is essential for a correct interpretation of
catch per unit effort as a measure of relative
abundance. In the United States, standardization
problems stemming from inaccurate
measurement of the towing warps on a NOAA
survey vessel resulted in a thorough review of
standardization =~ methodology and the
development of the National Bottom Trawl
Survey Protocols (http://spo.nmfs.noaa.gov/
tm/tm65.pdf) governing the operation of all
NOAA-sponsored surveys. Subsequently, ICES
formed the Study Group on Trawl Survey
Standardization to examine the same issue for
ICES-sponsored multinational surveys, and to
formulate a similar set of standardized operating
protocols expected to be published in the fall of

2007. The proposed workshop will review the
various pelagic and bottom trawl surveys
conducted by PICES member countries, with a
focus on the operational protocols used to ensure
that survey catchability remains constant over
time. Topics to be discussed likely would
include a consideration of various instruments to
monitor trawl performance, such as acoustic
trawl measurement systems, bottom contact
sensors and speed through water sensors, as well
as trawl design and operation procedures that
allow trawl catchability to be robust to
environmental variation.

Recommended convenors: David A. Somerton

(U.S.A.), Greg Workman (Canada) and Jin-
Yeong Kim (Korea).
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The meeting of the Marine Environmental
Quality Committee (MEQ) was held from
16:00-19:30 hours on October 18, 2006. The
Chairman, Dr. John E. Stein, called the meeting
to order and welcomed the participants and
observers (MEQ Endnote 1). The level of
attendance was much greater than last year,
which was an encouraging development for
MEQ. The Committee reviewed the draft
agenda (MEQ Endnote 2), and it was adopted.
Dr. Glen Jamieson served as rapporteur.

Implementation of PICES XIV decisions
(Agenda Item 3)

There were no pressing issues for the Committee
pending from last year’s meeting in Vladivostok
(Russia). The Chairman did not summarize the
report of the inter-sessional Science Board/
Governing Council meeting (April 2006,
Honolulu, U.S.A.) because the main topic of this
meeting was the development of a new
integrative science program of PICES, which
will be discussed in detail later (Agenda Item 6).

Membership and chairmanship of MEQ
(Agenda Item 4)

A new Japanese member, Dr. Kunio Kohata,
was introduced to the Committee. The
Chairman acknowledged Japan’s appointment of
Dr. Kohata to MEQ.

There continues to be an overall issue of having
full participation in MEQ by all PICES member
countries. At this meeting, only 7 of the 17
members of MEQ were in attendance. The
Committee expressed again its concern that
there was no official participation in MEQ from
China this year; however, we did have several
observers from China. The Committee also
noted that there was, for a second year in a row,
minimal participation by the United States.

This was the sixth year of Dr. Stein’s
chairmanship of MEQ, and the Committee must

elect a new Chairman. All efforts to identify a
candidate from the western Pacific were not
successful. ~ With Dr. Alexander Bychkov
(Executive Secretary of PICES) in attendance,
the Committee unanimously elected Dr. Glen
Jamieson of Canada as the new MEQ Chairman.
The Committee thanked Dr. Stein for his
leadership of MEQ over the past years.

Dr. Hak Gyoon Kim of Korea was elected as the
MEQ Vice-Chairman. The Committee
commended Dr. Kim for being willing to accept
the nomination and election as Vice-Chairman,
since he already co-chairs the HAB Section.

2006 MEQ Best Presentation and Poster
Awards (Agenda Item 5)

The MEQ Best Presentation Award was given to
Masami Hamaguchi for the paper (co-authored
by Naoaki Tezuka) entitled “Biological impacts
caused by the release of the imported manila
clam, Ruditapes philippinarum, in Japan”
presented at the FIS/MEQ Topic Session on
“Aquaculture and sustainable management of
the marine ecosystem” (S8).

The MEQ Best Poster Award was given to
Minkyu Choi for the paper entitled “Behavior
and contamination of estrogenic nonylphenols in
Masan Bay, Republic of Korea” presented at the
MEQ Poster Session.

Review of MEQ Action Plan (Agenda Item 6)

Because of the importance of having appropriate
time for discussion on the new integrative
science program of PICES (FUTURE), the
Committee did not review the Action Plan
(MEQ Endnote 3). Nonetheless, the Committee
had spent a considerable time last year on the
Action Plan, and thus concluded that it is
reasonably complete and reflects the current
objectives of MEQ.
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New PICES integrative science program
(Agenda Item 7)

The Committee had a good discussion of the
next integrative science program of PICES and,
overall, endorsed the direction as outlined in the
current draft of FUTURE. Members also found
that the direction of FUTURE is well aligned
with the objectives of MEQ. The Committee
suggested that:

» climate change, ocean acidification,
biological invasions and species expansion
are major threats to the marine ecosystem
globally, and should be focus areas for
FUTURE;

= there is a need to identify the most
appropriate  ecosystem indicators  for
forecasting, and that additional effort and
focus is needed to determine how we
communicate science to managers and the
general public in the most effective way;

= attention should be given to the issue of
cumulative effects from multiple stressors
on ecosystem structure and function.

Progress reports of MEQ subsidiary bodies
(Agenda Item 8)

Section on Ecology of harmful algal blooms in
the North Pacific

Drs. Vera L. Trainer and Hak Gyoon Kim, HAB
Section Co-Chairmen, reported on the results of
their workshop on “Review of selected harmful
algae in the PICES region: II. Dinophysis and
Cochlodinium” and laboratory demonstration on
Heterosigma cell toxin detection, MEQ Topic
Session on “Harmful algal blooms in the PICES
region: New trends and potential links with
anthropogenic influences”, and the HAB Section
(HAB-S) business meeting convened at PICES
XV. Summaries of the workshop and session
can be found in the Session Summaries chapter
of this Annual Report.

For PICES XVI, the HAB Section recommends
continuing an annual series of workshops to
document the existing knowledge on the eco-
physiology of harmful algal bloom species that
impact all, or most, countries in the North
Pacific. This time, discussion will center on
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Heterosigma akashiwo and other harmful
raphidophytes. Other activities proposed for the
Annual Meeting are: a Topic Session focusing
on off-shore and in-shore sources to harmful
algal bloom development and persistence, and a
business meeting with country reports for HAB
events in 2005-2006 and discussion of HAE-
DAT use (see also Agenda Item 10).

In addition, the MEQ Committee heard a
presentation from Dr. Monica Lyon on the
IOC/ICES/PICES HAE-DAT (Harmful Algae
Event Database). Substantive progress has been
made in expanding HAE-DAT to be a truly
global database. PICES and HAB-S were
commended for their concerted and consistent
efforts to work with HAE-DAT to get PICES
member countries’ data into the system, and to
assist in developing and testing the new web-
based data entry interface. All PICES member
countries were requested to:

* recheck their country  monitoring
descriptions to ensure they are correct and as
comprehensive as possible;

= participate in a month trial period for
suggestions/improvements to HAE-DAT;

= input HAB event data to HAE-DAT for
2003 directly to the on-line database.

The full HAB-S report is included elsewhere in
this Annual Report.

WG 18 on Mariculture in the 21st century

Dr. Michael Rust, standing in for both WG 18
Co-Chairmen, reviewed activities of the
Working Group and the results of the MEQ/FIS
Topic Session on “Aquaculture for sustainable
management of marine environment and
ecosystem” and their business meeting. The
report was also given to FIS. The summary of
the session and full WG 18 report are included
elsewhere in this Annual Report.

The Committee was very concerned for the
second year of very poor attendance at the
WG 18 meeting, only 4 of the 14 members were
present, and neither of the Co-Chairmen
attended. MEQ proposes to close this Working
Group as it is not anticipated that they will be
able to meet their Terms of Reference.



Nonetheless, the issue of marine aquaculture is
of great interest to all PICES member countries.
This was clear from the quality of talks in the
aquaculture session this year and the good
attendance at the session. Because of these
findings, the Committee suggests forming a
Study Group on Marine aquaculture and
ranching in the PICES region that would make
recommendations on the course that PICES
could take in the science of marine aquaculture.
These recommendations could be considered by
MEQ and FIS for inclusion in their Action Plans
(see MEQ Endnote 4 for the proposed Terms of
Reference).

WG 19 on FEcosystem-based management
science and its application to the North Pacific

Dr. Glen Jamieson, WG 19 Co-Chairman,
reported on the activities of the Working Group
and the results of their workshop on “Criteria
relevant to the determination of unit eco-regions
for ecosystem-based management in the PICES
area”. The summary of the workshop and full
WG 19 report are included elsewhere in this
Annual Report. Dr. Jamieson noted that to date
the Working Group has had no participation
from China, so there is no data or input with
respect to EBM initiatives occurring in this
country. The Working Group proposed a 1-day
FIS/MEQ workshop on “Comparative analysis
of frameworks to develop an ecosystem-based
approach to management and research needed
for implementation” to be held at PICES XVI
(WG 19 Endnote 3). Travel funds are requested
for 1 invited speaker to attend the workshop.

WG 21 on Non-indigenous aquatic species

Ms. Darlene Smith, WG 21 Chairman, reported
on the first meeting of the Working Group. In
particular it was noted that a Co-Chairman from
the western Pacific needs to be appointed. It
was requested that Russia consider nominating
Dr. Vasily Radashevsky as a member of
WG 21, and that he, if appointed, be named as
WG 21 Co-Chairman. For PICES XVI, the
Working Group proposed a 1-day MEQ Topic
Session on “Non-indigenous species: Climate
change,  evolutionary  consequences  and
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ecological impacts” (WG 21 Endnote 3). Travel
funds are requested for 2 invited speakers to
attend the session. The Working Group also
recommended a 2-day inter-sessional meeting
with relevant ICES Working Groups on marine
bioinvasions.

The full report of Working Group 21 can be
found as a chapter in this Annual Report.

MEQ proposals for new subsidiary bodies
(Agenda Item 9)

The Committee suggests that a Study Group on
Marine aquaculture and ranching in the PICES
region be created (MEQ Endnote 4). The Study
Group should complete its report by April 2008,
for consideration at the inter-sessional Science
Board/Governing Council Meeting.

Proposals for Topic Sessions and Workshops
at PICES XVI (Agenda Item 10)

The Committee proposes that the following
Topic Sessions and workshops to be convened at
PICES XVI:

= a Il-day MEQ/FIS Topic Session on
“Coldwater biogenic habitat in the North
Pacific’ (MEQ Endnote 5);

= a l-day MEQ Topic Session on “Non-
indigenous species: Climate change,
evolutionary consequences and ecological
impacts” (WG 21 Endnote 3);

= a I-day MEQ Topic Session on “The
relative contributions of off-shore and in-
shore sources to harmful algal bloom
development and persistence in the PICES
region” (HAB-S Endnote 4);

= a l-day MEQ workshop on “Review of
selected harmful algae in the PICES region:
III.  Heterosigma akashiwo and other
harmful raphidophyte” preceded by a 's-day
laboratory demonstration on Heterosigma
cell and toxin detection (HAB-S Endnote 3);

» a l-day MEQ workshop on “Comparative
analysis of frameworks to develop an
ecosystem-based approach to management
and research needed for implementation”
(WG 19 Endnote 3).
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Relations with other international programs
and organizations (Agenda Item 11)

ICES and PICES are still cooperating on
planning for the Fifth International Marine
Bioinvasions Conference to be held May 21-24,
2007, in Cambridge, U.S.A. To foster
interactions with ICES on marine bioinvasions,
the WG 21 Chairman, Ms. Darlene Smith,
attended the 2006 annual meetings of the
ICES/IOC/IMO Working Group on Ballast
Waters and Other Ship Vectors and the ICES
Working Group on Introductions and Transfers
of Marine Organisms (March 2006, Oostende,
Belgium). To continue these discussions, Dr.
Judith Pederson (Chairman of WGITMO) and
Dr. Anders Jelmert (Chairman of WGBOSYV)
attended the WG 21 meeting at PICES XV, and
Ms. Smith is going to participate in the 2007
annual meetings of WGITMO and WGBOSV
(March 2007, Dubrovnik, Croatia). A 2-day
joint meeting of WG 21, WGITMO and
WGBOSYV is proposed in conjunction with the
Marine Bioinvasions Conference. Topics for
discussion include:

= ballast water sampling methods;

= NIS databases;

» taxonomic challenges;

= ICES Code of Practice for ship hull fouling;
= rapid response and control options.

Proposed inter-sessional meetings (Agenda
Item 12)

MEQ supported a proposal to hold a 2-day joint
meeting of WG 21 with ICES WGITMO and
ICES/IOC/IMO WGBOSYV, in fulfillment of one
of its Terms of Reference. The meeting would
be convened May 25-26, 2007, immediately
following the Fifth International Marine
Bioinvasions Conference. Travel funds from
PICES are requested to permit 1 Chinese and 1
Russian member to attend the Conference and
the joint meeting.

As pointed out in the WG 19 report, this
Working Group has had no participation from
China, meaning that there are no data or input
with respect to EBM initiatives in this country.
Suggestions are to: 1) have a preliminary
meeting of WG 19 in China, in September 2007,
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to facilitate and engage their participation, and
to coordinate and compile all work to make sure
they are prepared for PICES XVI, or 2) have a
2-day WG 19 meeting in Victoria in late
October, in conjunction with PICES XVI for
planning the final report, at which time Chinese
participation will hopefully occur.

Proposed publications (Agenda Item 13)

The following publications were proposed for

2007-2008:

= apaper in a primary journal on national eco-
region approaches based on the results of the
PICES XV workshop on “Criteria relevant
to the determination of unit eco-regions for
ecosystem-based management in the PICES
area’”;

* a paper in a primary journal on comparative
EBM frameworks based on the results from
the proposed PICES XVI workshop on
“Comparative analysis of frameworks to
develop an ecosystem-based approach to
management and research needed for
implementation”;

= final WG 19 report in the PICES Scientific
Report series (2008);

= a WG 19 brochure on ecosystem-based
management (2008) in a format similar to
the FERRRS Advisory Report.

Travel requests (Agenda Item 14)

Travel support is requested for:

* 1 invited speaker for the MEQ/FIS Topic
Session on “Coldwater biogenic habitat in
the North Pacific” (MEQ Endnote 5);

* | invited speaker for the MEQ Topic
Session on “The relative contributions of
off-shore and in-shore sources to harmful
algal bloom development and persistence in
the PICES region” (HAB-S Endnote 4);

= 2 invited speakers for the MEQ Topic
Session on  “Non-indigenous  species:
Climate change, evolutionary consequences
and ecological impacts” (WG 21 Endnote
3);

= 2 invited speakers, 1 from the western
Pacific and 1 from the eastern Pacific, for
the MEQ workshop on “Review of selected
harmful algae in the PICES region: IIL



Heterosigma akashiwo and other harmful
raphidophyte” (HAB-S Endnote 3);

1 invited speaker for the MEQ workshop
“Comparative analysis of frameworks to
develop an ecosystem-based approach to
management and research needed for
implementation” (WG 19 Endnote 3);

1 Russian delegate to attend the HAB
Section meeting at PICES XVI (or request
Russia to find a substitute member that can
travel to HAB-Section meetings);

MEQ Endnote 1
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1 Chinese and 1 Russian member of WG 21
to attend the Fifth International Conference
on “Marine bioinvasions” and a joint
meeting of WG 21 with ICES WGITMO
and ICES/IOC/IMO WGBOSV.

Theme for PICES XVII (Agenda Item 15)

Due to a lack of time this agenda item was not
discussed.

Participation list

Members

Glen Jamieson (Canada)
Hak-Gyoon Kim (Korea)

Kunio Kohata (Japan)

Olga Lukyanova (Russia)
Darlene Smith (Canada)

John E. Stein (U.S.A., Chairman)
Dong Beom Yang (Korea)

Observers

Alexander Bychkov (PICES)
Andrey Chernyaev (Russia)
Blake Feist (U.S.A.)

Galina Gavrilova (Russia)
Graham Gillespie (Canada)

Chuanlin Huo (China)

Ichiro Imai (Japan)

Yoichiro Ishibashi (Japan)
Chang-Gu Kang (Korea)
Takuya Kawanishi (Japan)
Serge Labonte (Canada)
Chang Kyu Lee (Korea)

Sam Geon Lee (Korea)
Monica Lion (IOC)

Bruce Mundy (U.S.A.)

Jeung Sook Park (NOWPAP)
Vasiliy Radashevsky (Russia)
Michael Rust (U.S.A.)

Vera L. Trainer (U.S.A.)
Jinhui Wang (China)

Lijun Wang (China)
Yasunori Watanabe (Japan)

MEQ meeting agenda

MEQ Endnote 2

1. Welcome and introductions

2. Adoption of agenda

3. Implementation of PICES XIV decisions

4. Membership and chairmanship of MEQ

5. 2006 MEQ Best Presentation and Poster
Awards

6. Review of MEQ Action Plan

7. New PICES integrative science program

8. Progress reports of MEQ subsidiary bodies:

a. Section on Ecology of harmful algal
blooms in the North Pacific

b. WG 18 (MEQ/FIS) on Mariculture in
the 21st century

c. WG 19 (MEQ/FIS) on Ecosystem-based

1.

12.
13.
14.
15.
16.

management science and its application
to the North Pacific

d. WG 21 (MEQ) on Non-indigenous
aquatic species

Proposals for new subsidiary bodies

. Proposals for Topic Sessions and workshops

at PICES XVI

Relations with other international programs
and organizations

Proposed inter-sessional meetings

Proposed publications

Travel support requests

Theme for PICES XVII (Dalian, China)
Other business
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MEQ Endnote 3

MEQ Action Plan (October 2006 — First Draft)

Mission of the MEQ Committee

The MEQ Committee will expand its science
from physical/chemical quality as related to
toxic contaminants to include: structure,
process, and function of the marine system that
sustains both ecosystem and human health.
Ecosystem health will ultimately affect human
health. Rather than focusing on physical drivers
of ecosystem change, MEQ is concentrating on
anthropogenic drivers of marine ecosystem
health.

The Committee notes that each nation has a
different approach and management structure for
insuring marine environmental quality, which in
turn, influences the direction and relative
priority for research and science advice. In other
words, each culture and society has a different
view of what quality represents. It is important
to make sure that the efforts of MEQ include,
and are useful to, each PICES member country.

Ecological health issues can include:

= Disease, biological pollution, Dbacteria,
HABsS;

» Biodiversity, species introductions and
unintentional introductions of exotic species;

= Sustainability of the ecosystem, future use
of resources;

= Integrated coastal zone management,
ecosystem-based management;

= Predictive models, ecological forecasting.

Given the above view of MEQ’s mission, the
Committee made the following revisions to the
list of issues in the current MEQ Action Plan.

Issues that were deleted because the focus is too
narrow or they are the purview of another
PICES Scientific Committee are:

* Impacts of climate change on coastal
ecosystems;

= Biogeochemical  processes regulating
contaminant dynamics in sediments;

» Harmonization of existing methods used in
PICES countries;
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= Scientific criteria for protection of marine
ecosystems from contaminants.

Issues remaining unchanged, altered to broaden

focus, or included de novo are as follows:

= Mariculture;

= Biological and physical transport of
anthropogenic substances in the marine
environment;

=  Anthropogenic impacts on benthic habitat
(formerly in the Plan as “trawling effects on
benthic habitat”);

= Identification and assessment of emerging
chemical and  biological  pollutants
(including exotic species), and their impacts
on marine ecosystems;

= Definition of indicators or biological
markers of marine ecosystem health, with
relevance to human health and welfare;

= Needing further clarification is a topic
addressing anthropogenic impacts on trophic
dynamics and biodiversity that impact
system sustainability.

Strategy of the MEQ Committee

The PICES mission has five central themes:
Advancing scientific knowledge;

Applying scientific knowledge;

Fostering partnerships;

Ensuring a modern organization in support
of PICES activities; and

E. Distributing PICES scientific information.

oOw

Specific goals are identified within each of these
themes. The Actions of MEQ will seek to meet
goals under each of the themes.

Theme A Advancing scientific knowledge

Goal 1 Understand the physical, chemical,
and biological functioning of marine ecosystems

Action 1.1 ~ Address the substantial need for
improved data and information on the
occurrence and mechanisms of harmful species
in the North Pacific:



Task 1.1.1 ~ Conduct a workshop on HAB
species (Dinophysis and Cochlodinium) in 2006;
Task 1.1.2  Hold a scientific session on HAB
research in the western Pacific (2006);

Task 1.1.3  Initiate discussion of the role of
cnidarians and ctenophores in the marine
environment.

Action 1.2 Develop a process for conducting
holistic assessments of the impact of human
activities, and identify a suite of indicators or
variables that will facilitate the monitoring of
ecosystem status:

Task 1.2.1  Produce an assessment of the
spatial and temporal patterns of contaminants for
inclusion in the NPESR;

Task 1.2.2  In conjunction with 1.2.1, initiate
assessment of relationship between contaminant
levels and their effects on marine ecosystems.

Goal 2 Understand and quantify the impacts
of human activities and climate on marine
ecosystems

Action 2.1  Evaluate and increase knowledge
in PICES of the potential impacts of aquaculture
on ecosystems of the North Pacific:

Task 2.1.1 Hold a scientific session on
“Aquaculture and the sustainable management
of the marine environment”,;

Task 2.1.2 Hold a workshop to train PICES
scientists in methods to conduct risk assessments
on aquaculture activities (note the ICES Code of
Practice for Introductions and Transfer of
Marine Organisms).

Action 2.2 Evaluate and increase knowledge
on the potential impacts of intentional and
accidental introductions of non-native species
and their vectors of introductions, and
collaborate with ICES on introductions and
transfers of non-indigenous organisms, including
genetically modified organisms:

Task 2.2.1 Propose a PICES WG on
introduced species (2006);

Task 2.2.2  Participate in the International
Marine Bioinvasions Conference (2007);
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Task 2.2.3  Conduct a joint PICES/ICES
workshop on introduced species (2007/8).
Action 2.3 Evaluate and increase under-
standing of how human health issues are
inextricably linked to ocean conditions,
primarily in coastal areas:

Task 2.3.1  Conduct a workshop/session on
“Oceans and human health” issues in the North
Pacific.

Action 2.4  Develop the scientific basis for an
ecosystem approach to management, including
assessments and the provision of scientific
advice:

Task 2.4.1  Identify and evaluate the use of
indicators for assessing the achievement of
ecosystem based management;

Task2.4.2 Continue and expand the
development of ecosystem models that facilitate
the assessment of monitoring and scientific
knowledge of ecosystem functions in a holistic
manner;

Task2.4.3 Hold a scientific session on
approaches to designating eco-regions and areas
that are ecologically and biologically significant
(20006);

Task 2.4.4  Develop country reports on
approaches to ecosystem-based management
(20006);

Task 2.4.5  Hold a symposium on the science
of ecosystem based management.

Goal 3  Provide advice on methods and tools
to guide scientific activities

Action 3.1  Examine and assess methods for
measuring HAB species and toxins for use by
scientists and agencies of PICES member
countries:

Task 3.1.1  Conduct a workshop at PICES
XIV to review methods Pseudo nitzschia and
Alexandrium

Task 3.1.2  Work to develop capacity for
Russian scientists to assess and monitor HAB
species and toxin levels;

Task 3.1.3  Conduct a series of laboratory
demonstrations of DSP detection.
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Theme B Applying scientific knowledge

Goal 4 Provide scientific advice towards wise
use of the North Pacific Ocean

Action 4.1 None

Theme C  Fostering partnerships

Goal 5 Promote collaboration with
organizations,  scientific =~ programs, and
stakeholders that are relevant to the PICES goals

Action 5.1  Develop an approach for formal
linkages with ICES/IOC/IMO WGBOSV (WG
on Ballast and Other Ship Vectors) and/or the
ICES WGITMO (WG on Introductions and
Transfers of Marine Organisms) over the long
term.

Goal 6 Promote
scientists within PICES

collaboration among

Action 6.1  Develop and maintain joint
activities of PICES scientists with IOC in
development of an international HAB database
(HAE-DAT):

Task 6.1.1  Prepare event reports for 2001—
2003.
MEQ Endnote 4

Action 6.2 Provide input to the
implementation of activities of GEOHAB and
I0C Intergovernmental Panel on Harmful Algal
Blooms in the PICES area, such as the HAB
database (see 6.1).

Theme D Ensuring a modern organization in
support of PICES activities

Goal 7 Provide an effective infrastructure to
support PICES programs

Action 7.1 None

Theme E  Distributing PICES
information

scientific

Goal 8 Make the scientific products of PICES
accessible
Action 8.1  Publish Working Group reports:
Task 8.1.1  Publish country reports on status
of mariculture in PICES member countries in the
PICES Scientific Report series;

Task 8.1.2  Publish inventories on non-
indigenous organisms for PICES member
countries in the PICES Scientific Report series;
Task 8.1.3  Publish a brochure on ecosystem
based management.

Proposed Terms of Reference for a Study Group on
Marine aquaculture and ranching in the PICES region

1. Review and assess the reasons why PICES
WG 18 had limited success in achieving
their Terms of Reference;

2. Develop a list, by PICES member country,
of the highest priority (but no more then 10)
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marine aquaculture and/or ocean ranching
science needs;

3. Develop recommendations of goals and
action items for the next 5-10 years that
could be included in Action Plans of MEQ
or FIS.
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Proposal for a 1-day MEQ/FIS Topic Session at PICES XVI on
“Coldwater biogenic habitat in the North Pacific”

Some of the fauna that are most vulnerable to
physical disturbances are the long-lived, slow
growing and physically fragile species (corals
and sponges) that provide biogenic habitat in
deep water. It is increasingly recognized world-
wide that deepwater biogenic habitat has not
been conserved in the past, with the result that
the conservation of such habitat has become a
high priority in many jurisdictions. At least in
the eastern Pacific, large areas have been
established to exclude bottom trawling to protect
deep-water corals and sponges. Considerable
effort is being expended to identify and
determine their distributions and to assess their

ecological role as fishery habitat. This session
welcomes  presentations  that  describe:
1) distributions of deepwater biogenic habitat in
the PICES regions; 2) threats to biogenic habitat
species in the area; 3) the ecological role of
biogenic structures as habitat for commercial
and other species; and 4) the management
measures applied or developed to conserve these
species and the habitat they provide.

Recommended convenors: Glen Jamieson

(Canada), J. Anthony Koslow (U.S.A.) and
Chang-Ik Zhang (Korea).
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REPORT OF MONITOR TECHNICAL COMMITTEE

The Monitor Technical Committee (MONITOR)
met from 16:00-18:30 hours on October 18,
2006, under the chairmanship of Dr. Jeffrey M.
Napp. Eight of 16 MONITOR members were
present, and a total of 20 scientists from all 6
PICES member countries were in attendance
(MONITOR Endnote 1). The meeting agenda
was slightly modified (MONITOR Endnote 2) to
accommodate the needs of guest presenters and
issues that arose after the original agenda was
circulated. Dr. Phillip R. Mundy served as
rapporteur.

North Pacific Ecosystem Status Report
(Agenda Item 2)

The Committee reviewed the draft proposal for
producing the next North Pacific Ecosystem
Status Report (NPESR) and supported the plan
for MONITOR to develop the following
NPESR-related products: (1) a website
reporting seminal time series from Large Marine
Ecosystems in the PICES region, (2) a paper
(and PDF) wversion of the full report, and
(3) brochure-like Outlooks or Advisories to
PICES member countries on emerging
ecosystem issues (MONITOR Endnote 3).

The Committee recommended that a Section
within MONITOR be established to deliver all 3
products. Suggested Terms of Reference and
initial Co-Chairmen are included with the
recommendation (MONITOR Endnote 3).

It was noted that several of PICES member
countries (Canada, Japan, Korea, and the United
States) either have ecosystem status reports of
their own, or have data and time series available
via the web with an English interface. China
also has such a website, but there is not yet an
English version. These will be valuable
resources for the production of the LME web
reporting and the next NPESR, and may help to
dramatically decrease the amount of work
necessary to develop the products.

One important issue is the funding of the
website and NPESR. There is currently about
$80,000 for the NPESR in funding remaining
from the North Pacific Research Board. The
Committee asked the PICES Secretariat if the
funds could be used to begin development of the
website. The Committee recognizes that this
will reduce funds available for a hardcopy report.
Nevertheless, it was felt that fewer workshops
would be needed to generate future versions of
the hardcopy report because PICES already has
significant experience in producing the first
report, and the time series reported in the first
version would only have to be updated, not
recreated. = The Committee leadership and
PICES Secretariat should meet to discuss
budgets for all proposed products and to identify
other possible sources of funding. Included in
these discussions will be a budget for personnel
and funds necessary for continuation of the
website after the contract with the developer
expires.

Committee members emphasized that the
website, if designed properly, would build
towards the full hardcopy report and not be an
additional, isolated project.  The proposed
NPESR Section is charged with formulating a
statement of requirements to facilitate this
outcome. When it comes time to prepare the
hardcopy report, updated time series and
interpretive text from the website can be used
verbatim in the hardcopy report. The website
can also be used to link to the most recent
NPESR and related PICES reports regarding
monitoring in PICES member countries.

Progress report of Study Group on PICES
involvement with GOOS (Agenda Item 3)

Dr. Mundy presented the initial results of the
Study Group to develop a strategy for GOOS
(SG-GOOS). After consultation with national
and international GOOS representatives, the
Study Group recommended that PICES not
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attempt to initiate a new GOOS North Pacific
pilot project. Instead, it was suggested that
PICES should play a strong role in coordination
and facilitation of North Pacific regional
projects. SG-GOOS further recommended that a
Section on North Pacific Observing Systems
(NPOS) be established within MONITOR, to
track and organize PICES efforts in GOOS, and
that MONITOR’s Terms of Reference be
amended to explicitly include facilitation of
cooperation, communication and coordination
among North Pacific ocean observing systems.

PICES has a long history of successful
coordination and facilitation of research across
national boundaries and can best contribute to
GOOS by being active in the GOOS Regional
Alliance (GRA) programs. PICES would
provide a forum for representatives of the
existing North Pacific observing systems to
develop cross-GRA (international) observing
projects, improve observing technologies, and
compare data and information sharing protocols.
The latter objective would be in cooperation
with TCODE.

The Committee recommended that PICES send
representatives to the 3" Forum of GRAs to be
held on November 14-17, 2006, in Cape Town,
South Africa, and to the next GOOS SSC
meeting to be held on March 13-17, 2007, in
Seoul, Korea.

The Committee thanked Dr. Mundy for his
leadership of the Study Group and the Study
Group members for their contributions. The full
SG-GOOS progress report is included elsewhere
in this Annual Report.

Other relevant reports (Agenda Item 4)

PICES/NPRB Ecological Indicators workshop

Dr. Skip McKinnell (PICES Secretariat) briefed
Committee members on a workshop on
“Integration of Ecological Indicators for the
North Pacific with Emphasis on the Bering Sea”.
This workshop, co-sponsored by PICES and
NPRB, was held on June 1-3, 2006, in Seattle,
U.S.A. Details of the workshop are available on
the PICES web site at http://www.pices.int/
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projects/Bering_Indicators/bering.aspx). The
draft meeting report is being reviewed by the
meeting convenors and NPRB. It will soon be
published and available to the public.

Progress report of CPR-AP and status of the
PICES CPR Pacific project

Dr. Charles B. Miller (Chairman of CPR-AP)
briefed the Committee on the results of the
Advisory Panel’s meeting and the current status
of the CRP Pacific project. The project now
includes collection of bird and mammal
observations, as well as surface water properties
(T, S, chlorophyll fluorescence) along the north—
south and east—west runs. Scientific progress by
the investigators is commendable. New patterns
of temporal and spatial variability in plankton,
birds, and mammals are being discovered and
described. The full CPR-AP progress report is
included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

An urgent issue before the Advisory Panel is the
funding status of the CPR project. The east—
west and north—south transect lines are funded
by different entities, NPRB and the Exxon
Valdez Oil Spill (EVOS) Trustee Council,
respectively).  Dr. Sonia Batten, principal
investigator of the PICES CPR Pacific project,
recently wrote a proposal to request funding to
continue the north—south transect. While the
EVOS Science Review Committee endorsed the
proposal and recommended it for funding, the
EVOS Science and Executive Directors
recommended that it not be funded on the basis
of low relevance to PWS (Prince William
Sound) herring, the main focus of the Trustees.
Without new funding, the north—south transect
will be dropped. Funding for the east—west
transect also needs to be renewed. Drs. Batten
and David L. Mackas will submit a proposal to
NPRB in December 2006, to continue work
along that transect.

MONITOR supports the request by CPR-AP
that a letter be sent to the EVOS Trustees on
behalf of PICES strongly urging that the north—
south transect of the CPR Pacific project receive
funding for 2007 (CPR-AP Endnote 3). The
timeline is very short as decisions are to be made
by the end of October.



Science Board asked MONITOR to review the
Terms of Reference for CPR-AP and determine
whether or not there was a need to continue the
Advisory Panel. This was discussed both at the
CPR-AP meeting and at the MONITOR
Committee meeting.  Both groups believe
strongly that an Advisory Panel is needed to
advise and advocate for the CPR project. It was
felt that MONITOR would be very busy creating
the new website and developing NPESR, and
that the CPR project would not receive the
attention it needed without an Advisory Panel.
The MONITOR and the CPR-AP Chairmen will
review the Terms of Reference and, if necessary,
make suggestions on how they should be
changed. It should be noted that MONITOR did
discuss whether or not the Terms of Reference
should be expanded to include all vessel of
opportunity programs in the PICES region since
the east—west transects have bird and mammal
observations as well as sea surface water
properties. ~ MONITOR felt that this was
premature given the funding situation of the
CPR Pacific project.

PICES web publications

The PICES ad hoc committee to improve PICES
web content was not active last year. The
MONITOR Vice-Chairman, Dr. Sei-Ichi Saitoh,
graciously agreed to continue to serve as the
MONITOR representative. Several suggestions
were made for items that could be placed on the
Committee’s web page.

MONITOR/TCODE workshop at PICES XV

MONITOR and TCODE co-sponsored a 1-day
workshop at PICES XV on “Data management,
delivery, and visualization of high volume data
products”, with the subtitle “How to drink from
a fire hose without drowning.” The workshop
was very successful and well attended. In
addition to the oral presentations during the
workshop, there were several electronic
demonstrations given at the workshop and
during the Poster Session. The workshop report
can be found in the Session Summaries chapter
of this Annual Report. The Committee thanked
Drs. Mackas and Saitoh for their efforts as
MONITOR co-convenors of this workshop.
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Progress report of CREAMS-AP

Dr. Vyacheslav Lobanov described the recent
activities of the POC Advisory Panel for a
CREAMS/PICES Program in East Asian
marginal seas (CREAMS-AP). The Panel’s first
meeting was held on April 11-12, 2006, in
Seoul, Korea. He described the history of the
various CREAMS programs (since 1993) and
included the present program and expansion of
the measurements into biology and chemistry by
all the member countries.

CREAMS-AP has been very active in capacity
building and hosted a first PICES summer
school for young scientists on August 23-25,
2006, in Busan, Korea. The theme of the
summer school was “Ocean circulation and
ecosystem modeling”. Lectures and tutorials
were presented to 37 students from 8 countries
(all PICES member countries plus Chile and
Indonesia) by 7 lecturers and 3 assistants from
Japan and the United States. The school was
scheduled immediately after the
CREAMS/PICES workshop on “Model/data
inter-comparison for the Japan/East Sea” held
on August 21-22, also in Busan.

The Advisory Panel proposed to MONITOR

(and will make the same proposal to POC) that

the following capacity building events for young

scientists be organized:

= a winter school on “Field survey of sea ice
area” in February or March 2008, in
Vladivostok, Russia;

= a summer school on “Ecosystem-based
management and ecosystem approach” in
August 2008, in Hakodate, Japan;

= a summer school on “Recent methods of
investigating  red-tide  organisms  and
controlling red tides” in 2009, in Busan,
Korea).

MONITOR recommended that PICES support
these capacity building activities.

New PICES integrative science program
(Agenda Item 5)

Practically no time was spent on this issue at the
meeting, except to note that MONITOR
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endorsed the draft outline of the new integrative
science program of PICES, FUTURE. It was
felt that the direction of FUTURE is well
aligned with the objectives of MONITOR.

MONITOR Action Plan (Agenda Item 6)

MONITOR did not review its Action Plan
during the meeting because much of the
discussion had been on the NPESR development,
which is the major element of the MONITOR
Action Plan. It was announced that the Science
Board was requesting that the Committees
include a timeline with their Action Plans. The
Chairman stated that when the request became
official and Committee Chairmen were given
guidance for the format, that he would draft a
timeline and electronically circulate it to the
MONITOR members for discussion, revision,
and approval.

National reports of relevant monitor and
observation activities (Agenda Item 7)

National reports were made by Canada (Mackas
and Crawford), Japan (Saitoh and Sugisaki),
Korea (Ro), Russia (Lobanov), and the United
States (Barth, Mundy and Napp). The Chairman
requested that presenters with electronic
presentations provide a copy to Dr. Saitoh for
posting on MONITOR’s web page.

Planning for PICES XVI (Agenda Item 8)

MONITOR supported a proposal by Dr. Saitoh
to convene a 's-day workshop on “Measuring
primary productivity in the North Pacific’. He
volunteered to be a co-convenor and has
approached several other experts in the topic to
join him. Later in the week, at the Science
Board meeting, BIO expressed an interest in co-
sponsoring this workshop and nominating a co-
convenor. The workshop title was modified and
the description was prepared after PICES XV
(MONITOR Endnote 4).

The Committee strongly supported a proposal by
Dr. Jack Barth to convene a 1-day Topic Session
on “Recent advancements in ocean observing
systems:  Scientific discoveries and technical
aspects” (MONITOR Endnote 5).

118

The Committee also agreed to co-sponsor, with
POC and CCCC, a 1-day Topic Session on
“Operational  forecasts of oceans and
ecosystems” (POC Endnote 4).

Proposal for inter-sessional meetings and
publications, and travel support requests
(Agenda Item 9)

The Committee did not receive any proposals for
inter-sessional meetings and publications.

Travel funds are requested from PICES for:

= 1 invited speaker for the MONITOR Topic
Session on “Recent advancements in ocean
observing systems: Scientific discoveries
and technical aspects”;

* 1 invited speaker for the MONITOR
workshop  on  “Measuring  primary
productivity in the North Pacific”.

2006 MONITOR Best Presentation and Best
Poster Awards (Agenda Item 10)

Presentations made at the MONITOR workshop
(W6) on “Data management, delivery, and
visualization of high volume data products”
were not eligible for the awards. Given the mix
of paper titles presented at the Topic Session
(S10) on “Synchronous and asynchronous
responses of North Pacific boundary current
systems to climate variability” (jointly sponsored
by POC, MONITOR and CCCC), the Science
Board felt that POC should have primary
responsibility for judging these papers and
posters.

Other Business (Agenda Item 11)

It was reported that a letter of support for the
preservation of Canadian oceanographic time
series was being solicited from PICES by the
convenors of the recent (July 5-8, 2006)
symposium on “Time series of the Northeast
Pacific Ocean: A symposium to mark the 50"
anniversary of Line-P” in Victoria (Canada).
The symposium affirmed the value of these time
series and the need to continue them into the
future. The letter was originally to come from
BIO, but may be more appropriate coming from
MONITOR.  The Committee supports the



preservation and continuation of valuable time
series and agreed to work with BIO and the
Secretariat to find the correct way to write such
a letter.

Dr. Saitoh announced that the Hokkaido
University released version 1.1 of its fisheries
and oceanographic data base (HUFO-DAT) on
CD, and that copies are available.

MONITOR Endnote 1

MONITOR-2006

Acknowledgements

The Chairman thanks Dr. Vera Alexander
(PICES Chairman) and Dr. R. Ian Perry for their
assistance on PICES rules and procedures during
the meeting and Dr. Phillip R. Mundy for
serving as rapporteur.

Participation list

Members

Jack Barth (U.S.A.)

Vyacheslav B. Lobanov (Russia)
David L. Mackas (Canada)

Phillip R. Mundy (U.S.A.)

Jeffrey M. Napp (U.S.A., Chairman)
Young Jae Ro (Korea)

Sei-Ichi Saitoh (Japan, Vice Chairman)
Hiroya Sugisaki (Japan)

MONITOR Endnote 2

Observers

Vera Alexander (PICES Chairman)
William B. Crawford (Canada)
Kiyotaka Hidaka (Japan)

M. Hoshimoto (Japan)

Chuanlin Huo (China)

Yeong-Hye Kim (Korea)

Anthony Koslow (Australia/U.S.A.)
Skip McKinnell (PICES Secretariat)
Charles B. Miller (U.S.A.)

R. Ian Perry (Canada)

Kazuaki Tadokoro (Japan)

Takashi Yoshida (Japan, NEAR-GOOS)

MONITOR meeting agenda

—

Introductions

2. North Pacific Ecosystem Status Report

3. Progress report of the Study Group on
PICES involvement with GOOS

4. Other relevant reports:

a. PICES/NPRB Ecological Indicators
workshop

b. Progress report of CRP-AP and status of
the PICES CPR Pacific project

c. PICES web publications

d. MONITOR/TCODE workshop (W6) at
PICES XV

e. CREAMS Advisory Panel

5. New PICES integrative science programs

MONITOR Action Plan

7. National reports of relevant monitor and

observation activities

Planning for PICES XVI

9. Proposal for inter-sessional meetings and
publications, and travel support requests

10. 2006 MONITOR Best Presentation and Best
Poster Awards

11. Other Business

a

i

119



MONITOR-2006

MONITOR Endnote 3

Proposal for the development of future editions of the North Pacific Ecosystem Status Report

I. Brief history

At PICES XIV (2005), PICES convened a
workshop to review the successes and
shortcomings of the first (pilot) North Pacific
Ecosystem  Status Report (published in
December 2004), and to decide how future
reports should look. Discussion focused on
several key topics or questions:

=  What should the report contain?

»  Who is the intended audience?

=  How often should it be “published”?

=  What form should it take?

=  Who would be responsible for preparing it?

Those attending emphasized the need for timely
information and suggested that the product,

audience, and format might be best addressed in

Table 1 NPESR-related products.

future iterations if a staggered or nested
approach was used in its development. Some
(easy to obtain) information would be readily
available on an annual basis, while the more
synthetic information and analyses would be
available less frequently. The participants also
discussed the need to make some products
specifically for policymakers from the PICES
member countries. The group settled on the
following approach (Table 1): whereby some of
the time series are made available to users on an
annual basis via the web, syntheses and
interpretations (similar to the first NPESR)
would be published on the web and in hardcopy
less frequently (every 3-5 years), and longer
range outlooks for policy makers might be
published once every 5-10 years, or more
frequently if there were emerging issues that
warranted concern or special attention.

Product Audience Period Form Who
Time series scientists, public | annual web Contractor and
PICES Secretariat
Syntheses/interpretations scientists, public, | 3-5 years web and hardcopy | Working Group
of ecosystem status policy makers
Outlooks policy makers 5-10 years | brochure and web | Working Group

II. Implementation of the future NPESR

The Committee recommends that a new section
be established under MONITOR. The NPESR
Section would be comprised of 4 members of
MONITOR, 1 representative of each of the
PICES Committees (BIO, FIS, MEQ, POC,
TCODE) and a member from the PICES
Secretariat. Drs. Napp and Saitoh are willing to
be the first Co-Chairmen of this new Section.

Proposed Terms of Reference for Section

1. Serve as the Editorial Board for the NPESR
web page to review format and content, to
make initial recommendations on technical
details of web page (location of server(s),
distributed vs. single server, etc.), and to
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construct plan to transition responsibility for
maintenance from a contractor to PICES;
2. Prepare the full NPESR paper publication
for review at PICES XVII in October 2008,
and for completion/publication no later than
June 2009;
Evaluate NPESR Version 2 and make
recommendations for the next iteration;
4. Evaluate options for passive and active
communication of ecosystem status;
5. Recommend process for the development of
Outlooks and oversee their publication.
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NPESR time series website

The proposal is to create a PICES NPESR
website (similar to the Bering Climate Page;
www.Beringclimate.noaa.gov) that would serve
many of the core indices/time series listed in the



last NPESR. The new website would contain
explanations about the relevance of the different
time series and how they are collected, just like
the first NPESR. The website would need the
dedicated attention of programmers and quality
control persons the first couple of years. If
PICES is interested, Dr. James Overland (PMEL,
NOAA, U.S.A.) could manage a team to do the
programming and maintenance for 3 years.
After 3 years, responsibility for maintenance of
the website would be transferred to another
entity based on the recommendation of the
NPESR Section and the approval of the Science
Board. A rough cost estimate for start-up is
$35,000 in Year I (bare bones website), $25,000
in Year II, and perhaps the same or less in
Year III. It might be possible to use the funds
already received from NPRB to fund the start-up
of this website. This would leverage funds that
NPRB already paid to initiate the Bering
Climate Page, and would allow the website to be
constructed much more quickly.

Table 2 Timeline for the time series website.

MONITOR-2006

and hosted by an in-kind donation from a
national laboratory, a national program, or a
member country. It could be funded and hosted
on a rotating basis among PICES member
countries. The NPESR Section will write a
proposal to fund maintenance.

Paper and web NPESR

The paper NPESR would be produced in ways
very similar to the method used by PICES to
produce the first report.

Table 4 Timeline for the paper NPESR.

Task When Who
Establish NPESR 2007 | Science Board
Section and Governing

Council

Determine details of 2007 | Section and
report and process Secretariat
Determine chapter 2007 | Section and
authors, begin writing authors
Complete writing, hold 2008 | Section and
synthesis workshop(s), authors
present draft at annual
meeting
Final editing, publish 2009 | Section and
report Secretariat

Task When Who
Build NPESR time 2007-2008 | Contractor
series website
Begin transfer of 2009 Contractor
responsibility of and TBD
website
Assume responsi- 2010 TBD
bility for website

Table 5 Key responsibilities for the paper
NPESR.

Table 3 Key responsibilities for the time-series
website.

Establish NPESR Section Science Board and
and Terms of Reference Governing Council

Establish report format and | NPESR Section
structure

Data quality control Initially contractor and

Address recommendations | NPESR Section
and reported gaps

NPESR Section,
transferred to Section in
2009
Data selection and Recommendations made
requests by NPESR Section; data

requests made through
Secretariat or Section

Authorship of NPESR Section
explanations
Periodic review MONITOR

Identify authors and NPESR Section

necessary synthesis

workshops

Write report Chapter authors

Track writing progress NPESR Section

Convene synthesis NPESR Section and

workshop(s) Secretariat

Publish report Secretariat and NPESR
Section

The major question is “How will PICES fund
the maintenance of the website after depleting
existing funding?” Perhaps it could be funded

Major issues are:
*  What is the true cost of publishing the report
with only a single synthesis workshop?
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How much of this cost was borne by PICES
last time?

= If we use NPRB funds to establish the
NPESR time series website, what will fund
the synthesis workshop and the printing and
artwork necessary to publish the report on
paper?

=  NPESR Section could write a proposal to
NPRB.

= Use general funds or contributions from
PICES member countries.

Outlooks

The Outlook is intended to contain short, broad
statements to governments and the general
public summarizing our current knowledge of
ecosystem status and trends. It would most
likely be published in the form of a color
brochure, or short pamphlet, and may require
publication in the language of each member
country. The Outlook would state what we
know, as well as what we think we need to know
to have more confidence in our statements.

MONITOR Endnote 4

Table 6 Timelines for the Outlook.

Task When Who
Establish NPESR 2007 | Science Board
Section and Governing

Council

Select subject for first 2008 | NPESR Section
Outlook

Write, edit, and 2009 | NPESR Section

translate first Outlook and Secretariat

Publish 2009 | Secretariat and
NPESR Section

Table 7 Key responsibilities for the Outlook.

Solicit member country MONITOR and Science
needs to define scope Board

and format

Determine distribution Secretariat, Governing
methods Council

Major questions are:

=  How would we fund such an Outlook?

= Are there issues that would affect how
widely the Outlook did or did not get
circulated?

Proposal for a /2-day MONITOR/BIO workshop at PICES XVI on
“Measuring and monitoring primary productivity in the North Pacific”

Marine net primary productivity is a key metric
of ecosystem health and carbon cycling and is
commonly a function of plant biomass, incident
solar flux, and a scaling parameter that accounts
for variations in algal physiology. Net primary
productivity is defined as the amount of
photosynthetically fixed carbon available to the
first heterotrophic level, and is the relevant
metric for addressing environmental questions
ranging from trophic energy transfer to the
influence of biological processes of carbon
cycling. Long-term monitoring of primary
productivity is a high priority for PICES nations
because it is one of the essential parameters for
the understanding of marine ecosystems and
biogeochemistry. Recently, measurement
technology of primary production has become
extremely advanced through the application of
fast repetition rate fluorometers, satellites, buoys,
etc. However, inconsistencies between in situ
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measurements and satellites still exist, and there
are some differences between the values
obtained with C'* and C'* isotopic methodology.

This workshop will discuss the state-of-the-art
primary productivity measurement technology
and its application to understanding primary
productivity in the North Pacific. Presentations
at this workshop should: address techniques for
measuring primary productivity, compare in situ
and satellite measurements of primary
productivity, demonstrate the utility of long time
series measurements in understanding ecosystem
variability, and describe the application of
primary productivity studies to marine
ecosystems and biogeochemistry.

Recommended convenors: Paul J. Harrison
(Canada/Hong-Kong) and Sei-ichi Saitoh
(Japan).
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Proposal for a 1-day MONITOR Topic Session at PICES XVI on
“Recent advancements in ocean observing systems: Scientific discoveries and technical aspects”

Given the rapid development of ocean observing
systems across the North Pacific, it is timely to
discuss their use for scientific discovery and
ecosystem research, and to describe the technical
advancements in ocean sensors, observational
platforms, and improvements in data
management and exchange. By providing
sustained interdisciplinary observations of
atmospheric and oceanic processes, observing
systems can capture important events
influencing ocean ecosystems. Advanced
sensors and platforms are creating new
opportunities  for  deciphering ecosystem
dynamics. With the increase in data return
across observatories, it is critical that data
management and interchange be addressed.

Papers are welcome on: scientific discoveries
made possible by ocean observing systems;
observed climate impacts on ocean ecosystems
and fisheries; advanced ocean sensors including
optical, acoustic and genomic devices;
autonomous platforms including underwater
vehicles and vertical profilers; data
management and exchange; and interoperability
among ocean observatories. The intention is to
have a mixture of scientific and technical talks
on ocean observing systems. The session will be
complemented by commercial displays around
the theme of ocean observatories.

Co-Convenors: Jack Barth (U.S.A.) and TBD.
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REPORT OF PHYSICAL OCEANOGRAPHY
AND CLIMATE COMMITTEE

The meeting of the Physical Oceanography and
Climate Committee (hereafter POC) was held
from 16:00-18:15 hours on October 18, 2006.
The Chairman, Dr. Michael G. Foreman, called
the meeting to order and welcomed members
and observers (POC Endnote 1). Dr. Steven J.
Bograd served as the rapporteur. The Chairman
introduced Dr. Nathan Mantua (U.S.A.) as a new
member of the Committee and thanked
Dr. Stephen C. Riser (U.S.A.) for his past
service. The draft agenda was adopted (POC
Endnote 2).

Completion of PICES XIV decisions (Agenda
Item 4)

The POC Contributed Paper Session proposed
for PICES XV was approved by Science Board
and held on October 17. Dr. Foreman gave a
brief summary of the session. There were 19
presentations and 23 posters. A full report has
been submitted to the PICES Secretariat and is
included in the Session Summaries chapter of
this Annual Report.

The POC/MONITOR/CCCC Topic Session on
“Synchronous and asynchronous responses of
the North Pacific boundary current systems to
climate variability” was also approved by
Science Board and will be held on October 20.
(The summary of this session can be also found
in the Session Summaries chapter of this Annual
Report.)

The symposium titled “Time series of the
Northeast Pacific: A symposium to mark the
50" anniversary of Line-P” was held in July
2006, in Victoria, Canada. A special issue of
Progress in Oceanography is being prepared
from papers presented at the symposium.

The CREAMS/PICES workshop on “Model/
data inter-comparison for the Japan/East Sea”
and the first PICES summer school on “Ocean

circulation and ecosystem modeling” were both
approved by Science Board and held
successfully in August 2006, in Busan, Korea.
More details are provided in the report of the
Advisory Panel for a CREAMS/PICES Program
in East Asian Marginal Seas (CREAMS-AP)
under Agenda Item 5b.

The Early Career Scientists Conference
(organized with ICES) entitled “New frontiers in
marine science” was approved by Science Board
and is scheduled for June 26-29, 2007, in
Baltimore, U.S.A.

The ICES/PICES/IOC Symposium “Effects of
climate change on the world’s oceans” was
approved by Science Board and will be held
May 19-23, 2008, in Gijon, Spain, with Luis
Valdés, John Church, and William Peterson as
convenors.

Progress report of the Section on Carbon and
climate (Agenda Item 5a)

Dr. James Christian, Co-Chairman of the
Section, reported that a productive 2-day
meeting was held October 14—15, 2006. Several
scientific  presentations were given, and
discussions on issues regarding data sharing and
steps to getting a data synthesis process in
motion to develop a North Pacific carbon
database were carried out. A proposal to
convene a Topic Session at PICES XVI in
Victoria will be put forward to Science Board.
Details can be found in the CC-S chapter of the
Annual Report.

Progress report of CREAMS/PICES
Adyvisory Panel (Agenda Item Sb)

This report was presented by Drs. Yasunori
Sakurai, Co-Chairman of the Panel, and Kyung-
Il Chang, organizer of the CREAMS/PICES
workshop and summer school. The Panel met
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twice during 2006. The first meeting was
convened on April 11-12, in Seoul, Korea,
hosted by the Research Institute of
Oceanography of the Seoul National University.
The second meeting was held on October 15 at
PICES XV, in Yokohama, Japan. The details
can be found in the CREAMS-AP chapter of this
Annual Report.

A very successful workshop and a summer
school were held August 21-25, 2006, in Busan,
Korea. The workshop on “Model-data inter-
comparison for the Japan/East Sea” included 24
presentations in  separate  sessions  on
Observations, Model/data comparisons,
Nowcast/Forecast  systems, and Ecosystem
modeling.  The workshop proceedings are
available on a CD-ROM, and negotiations are
underway to publish papers arising from the
workshop in a special issue of Journal of Marine
Systems. A positive response has been received
from the Chief Editor, and a proposal is being
prepared. This publication is planned for the
summer of 2007, and will include approximately
17 papers.

The theme of the summer school was “Ocean
circulation and ecosystem modeling”, and there
were 7 lecturers. Forty-seven applications were
received but space restrictions allowed the
selection of only 37 participants. They were
from all six PICES member countries plus Chile
and Indonesia, and mostly graduate students.
Tutorials were also given along with the
lectures. Future summer schools are planned,
but to avoid conflict with the ICES/PICES Early
Career Scientists Conference in 2007, the next
school will not be until 2008.

Progress report of North Pacific Data Buoy
Advisory Panel (Agenda Item 5c¢)

A Power Point presentation was prepared by the
Panel Technical Coordinator, Mr. Bruce Lohnes,
and a summary was presented by Dr. Foreman.
As this Advisory Panel usually has their annual
meeting at the same time as PICES, their annual
report is often a year out of date. For the POC
meeting presentation, Dr. Foreman retrieved
more up-to-date material online. Given the web
availability of this data and problems associated
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with receiving an accurate report, Dr. Foreman
asked the Committee whether POC needs to
keep getting this report each year. Dr. Foreman
thinks it is no longer necessary, and no other
opinions were offered by the Committee.
Consequently a recommendation will be made to
Science Board that POC no longer requests this
report. The Chairman will also inquire what this
means for the status of the Advisory Panel.

Progress report of WG20 on “Evaluations of
climate change projections” (Agenda Item 5d)

Dr. Foreman reported that the proposed Terms
of Reference for WG 20 were approved by
Science Board and Governing Council and the
membership was finalized. Drs. Foreman and
Yasuhiro Yamanaka were named as Co-
Chairmen. The first workshop for the group was
held October 14, 2006, in Yokohama.
Approximately 40 people (10 WG 20 members
and 28 observers representing all PICES
member countries and several international
organizations) attended, and there were 3 invited
and 11 contributed presentations along with
discussions of future plans and collaborations
for the group. Dr. Foreman also participated in
the CFAME workshop and business meeting on
October 13 and 15, respectively, and the
JSC/CLIVAR Working Group on Coupled
Modelling held in September 2006, in Victoria,
Canada.

Workshop discussions focused on collaborations

with CFAME. Outcomes were:

= Drs. Arthur Miller, Emanuele Di Lorenzo
and Enrique Curchitser, all WG 20
members, are to provide outputs from their
high-resolution circulation models of the
California Current System to Dr. Vera
Agostini  (CFAME) for her ecosystem
model;

» Drs. Hiroyasu Hasumi and Yasuhiro
Yamanaka, both WG 20 members, to work
similarly on the Kuroshio/Oyashio region;

* Dr. Ig-Chan Pang, WG 20 member, to
investigate both the feasibility of using
climate forcing for his high-resolution
circulation model of the Yellow and East
Seas, and collaboration with Dr. Jai-Ho Oh,



another WG 20 member, specializing in
high-resolution atmospheric climate models;

= Ensemble global climate model results to be
computed for the Sea of Okhotsk and
provided to Dr. Victor Lapko for
understanding possible changes to that
ecosystem;

* A joint WG 20/CFAME workshop to be
proposed for PICES XVI, with Drs.
Foreman and Jacquelynne R. King
(CFAME) as convenors.

Potential collaboration with ESSAS (Ecosystem
Studies of Sub-Arctic Seas) was also discussed.
Dr. James E. Overland, POC member, is
planning an ESSAS working group to compute
an ensemble of climate projections for sub-
Arctic regions including the Bering and Okhotsk
Seas, so there is an obvious overlap with
activities of WG 20. In June 2007, ESSAS will
have a workshop in Hakodate, and it was
recommended that travel support be requested
for one WG 20 member (probably Dr. Muyin
Wang) to attend. Collaboration with CLIVAR,
financial support for WG 20 research, and
FUTURE (the new PICES integrative science
program) were also briefly discussed. The
summary of the workshop can be found in the
Session Summaries chapter of this Annual
Report.

POC Action Plan (Agenda Item 6)

The Chairman reported that the POC Action
Plan was approved by Science Board and
suggested that it need not be reviewed or
updated this year. The Committee agreed.

Next major PICES integrative scientific
program (Agenda Item 7)

This item was moved to the end of the meeting
as it was expected to consume as much time as
was available (which is basically what
happened).

The Chairman gave a brief summary of the
history leading up to the present 2-page outline
for this scientific proposal (FUTURE). He
stated that POC will likely play a stronger role in
FUTURE than it did in the CCCC Program.
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Dr. Christian initiated a lengthy discussion
expressing concern about the term “forecasting”
in the acronym. He stated that no models are
currently available to provide ocean circulation
forecasts, and that we have to be careful not to
promise something that cannot be delivered. Dr.
Foreman stated that in terms of forecasting, what
might be possible are seasonal-scale and
climate-scale forecasting. Dr. Shin-ichi Ito said
that the term “projection” is better than forecast,
as that is what is employed in the climate
modeling community. However that would
destroy the acronym. Dr. Albert J. Hermann
suggested that the difference in terminology is
semantic. He also suggested that “forecasting”
might be replaced with “speculating” to give the
new acronym SUTURE. Dr. Bograd also
expressed concern with “forecasting”. We still
have a long way to go to understand
mechanisms, so it is not clear that we are at the
stage to be able to forecast or predict. It was
concluded that the key to any forecast is the
expression of the associated uncertainty, and this
is something that must be made clear to users of
any forecast.

In response to one of the questions directed
toward each PICES Committee on FUTURE, a
discussion then ensued on assigning priorities to
each of the key research activities. This evolved
into a re-writing exercise, the outcome of which
is given in POC Endnote 3. As expected, issues
related to POC capabilities were given higher
priority.

In response to another question “What type of
forecasts should we develop?”, the consensus
seemed to be any type that we believe can be
developed with confidence. However, it was
stressed that along with each forecast, it is
essential to quantify the uncertainty.

With regard to a third question on “How to
broaden the communication of PICES science?”,
the final conclusion seemed to be that the
emphasis by POC should be on communicating
our science within the PICES community (BIO,
FIS, etc.), who are closer to the policy makers
and managers than us. The first requirement is
to have them understand our science and the
caveats that come with our products.
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Planning PICES XVI (Agenda Item 8)

POC approved the following scientific sessions
for PICES XVI:

» a l-day joint POC/CCCC/MONITOR Topic
Session on “Operational forecasts of oceans
and ecosystems” proposed by Dr. Ito (POC
Endnote 4);

= a l-day joint BIO/POC Topic Session on
“Decadal changes in carbon biogeo-
chemistry in the North Pacific.” proposed by
the Section on Carbon and climate (CC-S
Endnote 3);

* a Y- or l-day BIO/FIS/POC Topic Session
on “Phenology and climate change in the
North Pacific: Implications of variability in
the timing of zooplankton production to fish,
seabirds, marine mammals and fisheries
(humans)”, proposed by MBM-AP (BIO
Endnote 3b);

* a l-day POC Contributed Paper Session to
be convened by Drs. Foreman and Ichiro
Yasuda; it was indicated that this session
does not require invited speakers.

The Committee also approved the request for a
joint POC/CCCC (WG 20/CFAME) workshop
(CFAME Endnote 4) tentatively entitled
“Climate scenarios for ecosystem modeling”, to
be held at PICES XVI, with Drs. King and
Foreman as convenors. There will be no invited
speakers for this workshop.

Possible invited speakers for the Science Board
Symposium at PICES XVI were briefly
discussed, and only one name was put forward,
Dr. Nathan Mantua. However, as he is a POC
member and works in nearby Seattle, he may not
need travel support.

PICES XVII theme (Agenda Item 9)

The theme suggested by China for PICES XVII,
“Beyond observation of the North Pacific
Environment: Rebuilt, Nowcast, Forecast” was
briefly discussed. It was pointed out that it was
perhaps too close to the POC/CCCC/MONITOR
Topic Session proposed by Dr. Ito. Science
Board will decide if changes are needed.
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Relations with international programs and
organizations (Agenda Item 10)

Dr. Vyacheslav Lobanov was not available to
present a report on the status of the GOOS and
NEAR-GOOS projects.

As mentioned in Agenda Item 5d, collaboration
with ESSAS was encouraged, and a proposal to
send a WG 20 member to the June 2007 ESSAS
workshop will be made to Science Board.

Proposals with financial implications (Agenda
Item 11)

Proposed inter-sessional meetings for 2007 and
beyond:

» Logistical support for the April 2007
CREAMS-AP meeting to be held in
Qingdao, China (suggested by Dr. Yury L
Zuenko).

Proposed publications for 2007 and beyond:

»  “Guide to best practices for oceanic CO,
measurements and data reporting” to be
published in 2007 as a PICES Scientific
Report (funds for this publication have
already been allocated);

= Collection of papers from the August 2006
CREAMS/PICES workshop to be published
in 2007 as a special issue of Journal of
Marine Systems.

Travel support requests:

Travel support is requested for:

* | invited speaker for the POC/CCCC/
MONITOR Topic Session (POC Endnote
4);

* 1 invited speaker for the BIO/POC Topic
Session (CC-S Endnote 3);

= 1 invited speaker, with costs to be shared
with BIO and FIS, for the BIO/FIS/POC
Topic Session (BIO Endnote 3b);

= 1 WG 20 member to attend the June 2007
ESSAS workshop in Hakodate, Japan.

The first two requests have higher priority.



POC Best Presentation and Best Poster
Award (Agenda Item 12)

Drs. Lobanov, Yasuda, and Foreman acted as
judges for the POC Best Presentation Award to
be given to an early career scientist presenting in
the POC Contributed Paper Session or the
POC/MONITOR/CCCC Topic Session S10.
The winner was Ye Yuan (China) for his paper
in the POC Contributed Paper Session on
“Estimating suspended sediment concentration
using ADCP, LISST-100, and OBS in Jiaozhou
Bay and Laizhou Bay, China”.

Drs. Ito, Bograd, and Zuenko acted as judges for
the POC Best Poster Award (which is no longer
restricted to young presenters). The winner was
Jong Jin Park (Korea) for his poster in the POC

POC Endnote 1
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Contributed Paper Session on “Kinetic energy
flux of inertial frequency motion out of the mixed
layer and its balance with wind energy input in
the global scale ocean”.

Other business (Agenda Item 13)
No other business was raised.

Adoption of report and recommendations to
Science Board (Agenda Item 14)

The preceding report has been circulated and
approved by all committee members.  All
recommendations to Science Board were
brought forward by Dr. Foreman at their
meeting on October 21, 2006.

Participation list

Members

Steven J. Bograd (U.S.A.)

Kyung-I1 Chang (Korea)

James Christian (Canada)

Michael G. Foreman (Canada, Chairman)
Shin-ichi Ito (Japan)

Hee-Dong Jeong (Korea)

Young-Gyu Park (Korea)

Elena Ustinova (Russia)

Muyin Wang (U.S.A., alternate for J. Overland)
Ichiro Yasuda (Japan, Co-Chairman)
Yury . Zuenko (Russia)

Observers

Albert J. Hermann (U.S.A.)
Mingkui Li (China)

Victor Kuzin (Russia)
Vadim Navrotsky (Russia)
Ig-Chan Pang (Korea)
Gongke Tan (China)
Yasuhiro Yamanaka (Japan)
Fei Yu (China)

POC meeting agenda

POC Endnote 2

1. Welcome, introductions, opening remarks
2. Adoption of agenda

3. Introduction of new members

4. Completion of PICES XIV decisions:

a. POC Paper Session at PICES XV

b. POC/MONITOR/CCCC Topic Session
at PICES XV

c. 2006 Line-P Symposium

d. 2006 CREAMS/PICES Workshop on
“Model/data inter-comparison for the
Japan/East Sea” and PICES Summer

School on “Ocean circulation and
ecosystem modeling”

e. 2007 Conference for Early Career
Scientists on “New frontiers in marine
science”

f. 2008 ICES/PICES/IOC Symposium, on
“Effects of climate change on the
world’s oceans”

5. Progress reports of existing subsidiary
bodies:

a. Section on Carbon and climate
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b. CREAMS/PICES Advisory Panel
c. North Pacific Data Buoy Advisory Panel
d. WG 20 on Evaluations of climate
change projections

6. POC Action Plan

7. Next major PICES integrative scientific
program (FUTURE): Roles for POC and
respective member countries

8. Planning PICES XVI (Victoria, Canada)

. PICES XVII (Dalian, China) theme

10. Relation with other international programs

and organizations

POC Endnote 3

11. Items with financial implication:
a. Proposed inter-sessional meetings for
2007 and beyond
b. Proposed publications for 2007 and
beyond
c. Travel support requests
d. Other items
12. 2006 POC Best Presentation and Best Poster
Awards
13. Other business
14. Adoption of POC report and recommen-
dations to Science Board

Suggestions from POC concerning the range of Key Research Activities described in FUTURE

The following are recommendations from POC
for re-ordering and rewording of the Key
Research Activities that are currently described
in the FUTURE prospectus:

* investigate mechanisms
ecosystem response to change;

= develop integrated models to forecast
ecosystem change scenarios and to provide
estimates of the uncertainties associated
with those forecasts;

» provide advice on the implementation of
ocean observing systems;

underlying

POC Endnote 4

* investigate climate change and develop
human impact scenarios;

= develop integration and visualization tools
to communicate ecosystem knowledge and
complexity;

= develop data management protocols to
support this research;

= develop indicators of ecosystem status and
condition to meet conservation and
management objectives;

= assess and communicate uncertainty and its
implications to managers, communities
dependent on the ocean, and the general
public.

Proposal for a 1-day POC/CCCC/MONITOR Topic Session at PICES XVI on
“Operational forecasts of oceans and ecosystems”

Numerical models of ocean dynamics are
becoming increasingly sophisticated and are
now used to forecast future ocean states. The
forecasts vary in geographic scale from local
embayments to the global ocean, and on
temporal scales, from one day to several years.
Improvements in ocean forecasting will
contribute directly to forecasts of fisheries where
the linkages between ocean dynamics, fish
migration, and fishery ground formation are
understood.  Likewise, lower trophic level
(LTL) ecosystem models have been coupled to
numerical models of ocean circulation and tested
at many sites. LTL models can now anticipate

130

the production of planktonic prey and biomass
when the state of the ocean is captured
accurately by ocean circulation models.
Moreover, fish growth and recruitment models
are starting to be coupled to LTL ecosystem
models. The growing interest in ecosystem-
based management, and the need to develop a
management/decision policy will no doubt rely
upon forecasts from coupled physical-ecosystem
models. To fully realize the potential of model-
based products for ecosystem-based
management, a relatively high predictability of
ocean structures is essential. This session will
review the current status of operational ocean



prediction models, discuss the ability of physical
models to forecast ecosystem state and clarify
the approaches needed for future studies and
improvements. Ideally, we seek papers
describing operational forecasts of oceans and/or
ecosystem-state and, more importantly,
evaluations of their performance. Operational
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forecasts can be based on numerical or statistical
models, and comparisons of these two
approaches are welcome.

Recommended convenors: Michael G. Foreman

(Canada), Shin-ichi Ito (Japan), Skip McKinnell
(PICES) and Francisco E. Werner (U.S.A.).
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REPORT OF TECHNICAL COMMITTEE ON DATA EXCHANGE

3

b

The meeting of the Technical Committee on
Data Exchange (TCODE) was held from 16:00-
19:30 hours on October 18, 2006. The
Chairman, Dr. Igor I. Shevchenko, called the
meeting to order and welcomed the participants.
The meeting was attended by 7 TCODE
members and 5 observers representing all PICES
member countries and international
organizations (TCODE Endnote 1). Mr. Robin
M. Brown served as rapporteur. The Committee
reviewed the provisional agenda, and it was
adopted with several items added to New
Business (TCODE Endnote 2).

Review progress on items in the 2005/2006
Workplan (Agenda Item 3)

Assistance with HAE-DAT database activities

The Committee reviewed the progress made
with the development of the HAE-DAT
(Harmful Algal Event Database) partnership.
The new version of the IOC-ICES-PICES
database was introduced at the HAB-S meeting.
This version will allow users to input, view and
search data on-line (http://www.iode.org/haedat)
and to get maps via a map server. The system
will be open within 1 month after PICES XV
and will be on trial for several months before it
is revised into its final format. It was
recommended that continued assistance with the
database and required metadata be provided to
the Section on Ecology of harmful algal blooms
in the North Pacific.

Convene joint MONITOR/TCODE Workshop at
PICES XV on dense/real time data systems

A 1-day MONITOR/TCODE Workshop on
“Data management, delivery and visualization
of high-volume data products” was convened on
October 15. Presentations covered a wide range
of topics. Summaries of posters and e-posters
were presented as a part of the workshop. After

the presentations, there was a lively discussion
of future directions. The summary of the
workshop is included elsewhere in this Annual
Report.

Update NPEM and TCODE inventory

The North Pacific Ecosystem Metadatabase
(NPEM) now contains all records from the
TCODE metadata inventory, but there are
questions about who is responsible for updating
metadatabase. Current methods such as internal
QC checking and regular mailout notifications
are routine. It seems that only federated
searching could be considered as the real
solution.

Establish a dialogue with ICES Working Groups
involved in data management issues

Dr. Shevchenko contacted Drs. Michele Fichaut
and Helge Sagen, Co-Chairmen of the ICES
Working Group on Marine Data Management
(WGMDM). Dr. Georgiy Moiseenko, a member
of WGMDM, attended their meeting (May 8-10,
2006, in Copenhagen, Denmark) and made a
presentation on PICES TCODE activities. Some
interest was expressed in making contacts and
coordinating activities with TCODE.  The
WGMDM Co-Chairmen were invited, but were
unable to attend PICES XV, as WGMDM will
be disbanded by the end of 2006, and a new
ICES Working Group on Data and Information
Management (WGDIM) will be established.
WGDIM will provide ICES with advice on all
aspects of data management including technical,
data policy, data strategy and user-oriented
guidance, and will meet for the first time from
June 12-14, 2007, in Copenhagen. Dr. Sagen
and two former Co-Chairmen of the ICES Study
Group on Management of Integrated Data
(SGMID), Drs. Christopher Zimmermann and
Peter Wiebe, will serve as Co-Chairmen of
WGDIM.
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At the 2006 ICES Annual Science Conference,
Dr. Bernard Megrey participated in the theme
session on “Environmental and fisheries data
management, access, and integration” and
discussed with session convenors, Drs. Zimmer-
mann, Sagen and Wiebe, possible joint
sponsorship of future meetings of mutual
interest by the newly formed ICES WGDIM and
PICES TCODE. A WGDIM plan is to sponsor a
data theme session every other year to track new
developments in this quickly changing field.
TCODE should consider co-sponsoring these
sessions to strengthen ties between ICES and
PICES data management activities. In
particular, there was some discussion about
asking WGDIM, after it is formally constituted,
to co-sponsor a TCODE session at PICES XVI
in Victoria, Canada. Drs. Moiseenko and
Megrey will report, through the TCODE
Chairman, on changes in ICES groups and
future opportunities for collaboration.

PICES Federated Searching Project

The objectives of the PICES project “Federate
metadata on North Pacific ecosystems” were to
create standardized metadata descriptions of
national, institutional and agency databases and
to serve those descriptions in a web-based, one-
stop environment with search and delivery
capability. In Phase I, KODC (Korean
Oceanographic Data Center) and NPEM
personnel, using partial support from PICES,
developed the application over a year, with
major progress coming from joint meetings held
in August 2005 (Seattle, U.S.A.) and October
2005 (Busan, Korea). KODC had translated
some metadata records to English and became a
registered node of the National Spatial Data
Infrastructure (NSDI) clearinghouse
(http://registry.fgdc.gov/serverstatus/). A paper
by S. Allen Macklin, Bernard A. Megrey, Kyu-
Kui Jung and Hae-Seok Kang on Korea and U.S.
federate marine metadata collections was
published in PICES Press (Vol. 14, No. 1).
Recently, Hae-Seok Kang has brought servers
on-line and now more than 700 Korean records
are available.

The PICES Federated Searching Project was
continued in 2006. A workplan similar to that
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developed for NPEM-KODC federation was
used. Phase II included two successful planning
meetings of NPEM and MIRC (Marine
Information Research Center, Japan) personnel,
again with partial support from PICES, to
discuss required technical details and hurdles
and the means to address and solve problems
associated with metadata federating. A draft
report on “Metadata federation of PICES
member countries” was prepared by Bernard A.
Megrey, S. Allen Macklin, Kimberly Bahl and
P. Daniel Klawitter to provide technical
guidance for anyone wishing to become a
partner of this federation. The report will be
finalized after its review by TCODE members.

Dr. Megrey described a change in international
metadata standards from FGDC (Federal
Geographic Data Committee) to ISO 19115 and
its biological extensions. As a member of ISO
(International Organization of Standards), the
United States is required to adopt these
standards. This will lead to modifications in the
PICES metadata clearinghouse interface
standards and will require changes for existing
and future clearinghouse servers.

With the move of the U.S. metadata
clearinghouse interface from proprietary to open
source software, the potential exists for PICES
to adopt the open source standard, federate
metadata internally and sever their relationship
with the U.S. clearinghouse nodes. Related
costs, consequences and benefits of this
approach and recommendations were briefly
discussed. The Committee asked Mr. Macklin
to consider opportunities for establishing Asian-
side “mirror” clearinghouse servers with the
FGDC/NSDI Secretariat.

After the completion of Phases I and II of the
project, the PICES Metadata Federation will
include 5 nodes (PICES-NPEM, PICES-KODC,
PICES-NFRDI, PICES-TINRO and PICES-
MIRC) from 4 countries (the United States,
Republic of Korea, the Russian Federation and
Japan).

Future participation of Canada and China in the
PICES Metadata Federation may be possible
through NSDI-CAP (NSDI  Cooperative



Agreement Program) funding, and TCODE will
pursue this option. TCODE also requests that
PICES support Phase III of this project at the
same level (US $4,000) as Phases I and II
(pending  successful funding applications
elsewhere) (TCODE Endnote 3).

National annual reports (Agenda Item 4)

TCODE members from all member countries,
Robin Brown (Canada), Ruguang Yin (China),
Tomowo Watanabe (Japan), Kyu-Kui Jung
(Korea), Georgiy Moiseenko (Russia) and
Bernard Megrey (U.S.A.), presented national
annual reports. These reports include lists of
key institutes and agencies, key persons and
contacts, links to data and metadata sets, ocean
observing systems, data and metadata formats
and standards, information technologies for
collecting, measuring and enumerating marine
organisms, marine data management programs
that underpin marine science programs, data
polices, software applicable in marine
ecosystems studies and modeling, publications
on marine data management issues, education
materials, efc.  All reports are posted at
http://tcode.tinro.ru/pices15.html.

Updates on data management activities in
PICES member countries and international
organizations (Agenda Item 5)

Mr. Norio Baba (Japan) described ongoing data
management programs of NOWPAP (Northwest
Pacific Action Plan) and potential areas of
collaboration with PICES. Regional Activity
Centers of NOWPAP deal in particular with
harmful algal blooms. Mr. Baba expressed
interest in the Metadata Federated Searching
Project and mentioned funding opportunities for
capacity building to generate metadata records.

Discussion of new PICES integrative science
program, FUTURE (Agenda Item 6)

The Committee reviewed the program
description. There was much discussion about
“prediction” and the difficulty it implied.
TCODE could assist in some of the
underpinnings (or infrastructure) of such a
program through a federated metadata searching
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capability. Metadata inventories also contribute
to outreach. TCODE could continue to
showcase new approaches to data integration,
visualization and management. There was a
feeling that the targeted “clients” of the program
(governments, policy and resource managers)
might not be all receptive. @~ TCODE was
designed to support the science program of
PICES. However, at the moment, it is somewhat
difficult to wunderstand exactly what the
requirements might be.

Planning for PICES XVI (Agenda Item 7)

TCODE proposed a scientific/e-poster session
for PICES XVI on “Data management, data
analysis and data delivery systems to support
detection and prediction of ecosystem change in
the North Pacific and the Arctic and its impacts”
(TCODE Endnote 4).

PICES XVII theme (Agenda Item 8)

TCODE supported the proposal for the PICES
XVII theme, “Beyond observation of the North
Pacific environment:  Rebuild, nowcast and
forecast”. Some concern was expressed that the
wording seems narrow and could be improved
by replacing “environments” with “ecosystems”.

Relations with other international programs
and organizations (Agenda Item 9)

No proposals on updates for the PICES Standing
List of International and Regional Organizations
and Programs were made. Potential relations
with ICES and NOWPAP were discussed under
Agenda Items 3 and 5.

Election of TCODE Chairman and Vice-
Chairman (Agenda Item 10)

Dr. Shevchenko was requested, and agreed, to
continue for one more year as TCODE
Chairman. Dr. Megrey will serve as TCODE

Vice-Chairman.

Items with financial implications (Agenda
Item 11)

TCODE requests support for:
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= 1 invited speaker to attend the TCODE
scientific/e-poster session at PICES XVI;

= Phase III of the PICES project “Federate
metadata on North Pacific ecosystems”
(pending successful funding applications)
(see TCODE Endnote 3).

New business (Agenda Item 12)

At the recommendation of the F&A Committee,
TCODE asked Mr. Brown to be an advisor to
the PICES Secretariat review of electronic
publishing and archiving activities.

TCODE strongly supported a proposal by
Dr. Tokio Wada for a PICES Monitoring
Service Award. The award aims to recognize
the organizations and groups of PICES member
countries for their contribution to the progress of
marine science in the North Pacific through their
long-term monitoring operations and data
management.

TCODE recommended that a new electronic
PICES Technical Report series be established
and that the report on “Metadata federation of
PICES member countries” be published in this
series.

To reduce publishing costs, PICES should adopt
a practice common to other scientific meetings
(e.g., ICES and AFS) to print only the meeting
schedules and to prepare the Book of Abstracts
for Annual Meetings and other symposia in CD-
ROM format only. The CDs would be
distributed to all meeting participants. It would

TCODE Endnote 1

be very convenient to include key URLs for
every paper in the Book of Abstracts (CD).

TCODE Workplan for 2006/2007 (Agenda
Item 13)

Based on the discussion of all agenda items, the

Committee adopted the following workplan:

=  Continue to support HAB-S work with
HAE-DAT database and required metadata
(Responsibility — R. Brown);

* Continue Federated Metadata Searching
Project (S.A. Macklin, B.A. Megrey, I
Shevchenko, N. Baba):

o Complete Phase II report and promote
use of metadata;

o Carry out Phase III, including capacity
building;

o Investigate utility of an Asian-side
metadata server;

o Publish a report on “Metadata federation
of PICES member countries” in the
proposed PICES Technical Report series;

= Organize the scientific/e-poster session on

“Data management, data analysis and data

delivery systems to support detection and

prediction of ecosystem change in the North

Pacific and the Arctic and its impacts” at

PICES XVI (K.K. Jung, S.A. Macklin);

= Develop collaboration with ICES Working
Group on Data and  Information
Management (G. Moiseenko, B.A. Megrey,
1. Shevchenko);

= Provide advice on electronic publishing and
archiving to the Secretariat (R. Brown);

=  Coordinate activities with MONITOR
Technical Committee (T. Royer).

Participation list

Members

Robin M. Brown (Canada)
Kyu Kui Jung (Korea)
Bernard A. Megrey (U.S.A.)
Georgiy Moiseenko (Russia)
Igor I. Shevchenko (Russia)
Tomowo Watanabe (Japan)
Ruguang Yin (China)
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Norio Baba (NOWPAP)

John Holmes (Canada)

S. Allen Macklin (U.S.A.)

Toru Suzuki (Japan, CC-S liaison)
Joon Yong Yang (Korea)
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TCODE meeting agenda

[a——

Welcome and introduction of members

2. Adoption of agenda

3. Review progress on items in the 2005/2006

Workplan:

a. Continue to support HAB-S work with
HAE-DAT database and required
metadata

b. Convene joint MONITOR/TCODE
Workshop at PICES XV on dense/real-
time data systems

c. Update NPEM and TCODE inventory

d. Initiate a dialogue with ICES Working
Groups involved in data management
issues

e. Prepare and post a report on the PICES
Federated Searching Project: Phase I

f. Continue the PICES  Federated
Searching Project: Phase II

g. Update TCODE Action Plan

h. Coordinate activities with MONITOR

TCODE Endnote 3

Data-sharing project “Federate metadata on

Significant progress has been made over the past
two years to connect PICES member nations’
metadatabase systems into one integrated
resource. With this new scientific resource, a
user of any one metadata inventory will have the
ability to search for data catalogued by any and
all other participating systems with a single
search request. Using modern data management
techniques to cross-search separate metadata-
bases provides the advantages of shared
metadata  without compromising national
ownership, data integrity, or security of national
metadata products.

TCODE adopted a pilot KODC-NPEM
federation as part of its 2004/2005 Workplan. In
Phase I of this project, the first two PICES nodes
(PICES-NPEM and PICES-KODC) were
registered with the National Spatial Data
Infrastructure (NSDI) clearinghouse. Since then
another Korean node (PICES-NFRDI KODC)
and a Russian node (PICES-TINRO Metadata
Node) have been brought on line.

4. National annual reports
5. Updates on data management activities in
PICES member countries and international

organizations

6. FUTURE (new PICES integrative science
program)

7. Planning for PICES XVI

8. PICES XVII theme

9. Relations with other international programs
and organizations

10. Election of TCODE Chairman and Vice-
Chairman

11. Items with financial implications

12. New business:
a. Review of PICES electronic publishing

and archiving

b. Monitoring Service award

c. PICES Technical Report series

d. Book of Abstracts on CD-ROM

TCODE Workplan for 2006/2007

North Pacific ecosystems: Phase III”

In Phase II of this project, with the successful
2006 NSDI Cooperative Agreement Program
(CAP) proposal ‘“North Pacific Ecosystem
Metadata Federation: Japanese Component” and
PICES support, a Japanese node (PICES-MIRC)
was brought on-line on October 19, 2006.

The status of the PICES nodes can be found at
http://registry.fgdc.gov/serverstatus/ by scrolling
down to the servers whose name begins with
PICES, and the nodes can be searched by going
to http://clearinghouse3.fgdc.gov/. The PICES
Metadata Federation now includes 5 nodes from
4 countries (Japan, Republic of Korea, the
Russian Federation and the United States of
America). The addition, in the nearest future, of
Chinese and Canadian metadata will complete
the Metadata Federation of PICES nations. The
new 2007 NSDI CAP announcement will appear
in early November, and we plan to prepare at
least one proposal to complete the PICES
Metadata Federation.
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We propose, as Phase IIl of the project, to
federate with Canada and/or the People’s
Republic of China and ask PICES to continue to
support this project at the same level as last year
(US $4,000), conditional on three essential
elements: (1) confirmation by Canada and/or
China that they are willing to federate metadata;
(2) that there will be suitable programs in the
upcoming announcement by the NSDI CAP
against which we can propose for further
financial assistance; and (3) that TCODE can
prepare a successful proposal to the NSDI CAP.

TCODE Endnote 4

Since NSDI CAP funds cannot be programmed
to foreign countries, PICES support will enable
travel for training of non-U.S. personnel to
attend planning meetings to discuss technical
issues related to metadata standards and
communication protocols required by the
clearinghouse.

Proponents of the proposal: S. Allen Macklin
(NOAA/PMEL, U.S.A.) and Bernard A. Megrey
(NOAA/AFSC, U.S.A.).

Proposal for a Topic Session at PICES XVI on
“Data management, data analysis and data delivery systems to support detection and prediction of
ecosystem change in the North Pacific and the Arctic and its impacts”

Profound changes have occurred in the North
Pacific climate system, in the composition,
abundance and distribution of its living marine
resources, and in the human societies that depend
on the North Pacific Ocean and its resources. New
and novel techniques are needed to handle the
ever-increasing volume of scientific data and to
understand its meaning with respect to climate
variability, anthropogenic impacts and the
combined impacts that these changes have already
had, and can be expected to have, on North Pacific
ecosystems. This session will address methods
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such as high-volume data management, cabled
observatories, regime shift detection and
prediction, and ocean observing systems.
Presentations describing links with climate and
ecosystem change in the Arctic and relating to the
International Polar Year Projects are also
welcome.  Oral presentations and electronic
posters are encouraged.

Recommended convenors: Kyu Kui Jung (Korea)
and S. Allen Macklin (U.S.A.).
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REPORT OF THE SECTION ON CARBON AND CLIMATE

The meeting of the Section on Carbon and
climate (hereafter CC-S) was held from
09:00—-17:00 hours on October 14 and October
15, 2006. Drs. James Christian and Toshiro
Saino, Co-Chairmen of CC-S, opened the
meeting and welcomed members and observers
(CC-S Endnote 1). The draft agenda was
reviewed and adopted unanimously (CC-S
Endnote 2).

Methods manual (Agenda item 2)

Dr. Christian gave an update on the progress of
the “Guide to best practices for oceanic CO,
measurements and data reporting” that remains
as unfinished business of WG 17. He has
worked with Drs. Andrew Dickson and
Christopher Sabine and PICES staff (Ms.
Rosalie Rutka) to transfer the chapters to a
Microsoft Word/MathType format for more
accessible editing by the community, and several
chapters have already been extensively edited
and re-written. A list of chapters was presented
and volunteers were solicited to review the
scientific content. These chapters are to be
posted on the web for community input, as
decided at the November 2005 CC-S meeting.
Dr. Alex Kozyr agreed to host the interactive
review web page on his servers at CDIAC.
(Update: As of December 2006, almost all
chapters have been converted to the Word
format and posted on the CDIAC website for
review.)

Reports of collaborating organizations and
agencies (Agenda item 3)

Reports were given on several national and
international programs relevant to the mandate
of CC-S, and of individual agencies within
PICES member countries. From Japan,
separate reports were received from the Japan
Agency for Marine-Earth  Science and
Technology (JAMSTEC, Shuichi Watanabe),
the Japan Fisheries Agency (JFA, Tsuneo Ono),
the Centre for Global Environmental Research

(CGER, Yukihiro Nojiri), and the Japan
Meteorological Agency (JMA, Masao Ishii).
All have ongoing observational programs which
will contribute data to the North Pacific carbon
data synthesis. Dr. Saino (Nagoya University)
reported on a new moored profiling system for
daily in sifu measurements of primary
productivity.  The instrument has operated
successfully at Station K2, which is also
regularly occupied by JAMSTEC.

Other ocean carbon programs represented
included: CLIVAR/Repeat  hydrography
(Richard A. Feely), SOLAS (Mitsuo Uematsu),
IMBER (Hiroaki Saito) and CARBO-OCEAN
(R. Feely and A. Kozyr). GEOTRACES was
briefly discussed, but was not represented at the
meeting. CLIVAR is funded until 2012 in the
United States, and the current decadal survey is
about 40% complete. SOLAS and IMBER
have published a joint plan on carbon cycle
research. SOLAS-Japan has been funded until
2010. IMBER-Japan expects funding for field
work in the western North Pacific over the next
6 years (2007-2012).

CARBO-OCEAN is an Atlantic-centric program
scheduled from 2005 to 2009. While doing
extensive field surveys, they also had the first
meeting on synthesizing carbon data from the
Atlantic, Arctic and Southern Oceans in June
2006, in Iceland. Two CC-S members, Drs.
Feely and Kozyr, are on the CARBO-OCEAN
Scientific Steering Committee, and Drs. Steven
Emerson, Kitack Lee and Toshiro Saino, all
CC-S members, are on its International Advisory
Panel. The initial 2 years’ results will be
presented at an upcoming workshop in the
Canary Islands in December 2006.

The most recent IOCCP progress report (May
2006) was briefly discussed. @ The report
indicated that PICES WG 17 had disbanded, but
its authors did not seem to be aware of the
formation of CC-S. The Section will inform
IOCCP of this, and of progress on the methods
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manual. [OCCP and the SOLAS/IMBER
Carbon Group will be holding a workshop in
Paris, France, in April 2007. Drs. Feely and
Lee are on the workshop Organizing Committee.

NOAA-PMEL hosted a workshop on carbon
fluxes along the North American Continental
Margins (NACM) on October 10-11, 2006.
The workshop declared as an objective a
compilation of all historic measurements out to
~300 km from shore. The current estimate of
net C uptake by NACM is 1.9 Pg/y (£100%).
Lower latitudes tend to be a carbon source, and
higher latitudes (>30°N) tend to be a sink.
There are too few data to state definitively
whether the system as a whole is a source or a
sink. There are few data from the Gulf Coast,
or from the Canadian and Mexican parts of the
Pacific coast. Future goals of NACM are (1) to
integrate with fisheries and coastal management
to get carbon observations on as many programs
as possible, (2) to integrate numerous existing
programs, and (3) to improve remote sensing
and in water autonomous technologies and
promote broader implementation of existing
technologies.  These activities are closely
related to CC-S objectives.

CC-S will ask participants to provide updates at
future CC-S meetings, and may ask PICES to
co-sponsor future joint workshops.

Data integration for synthesis: Why do we
need the integrated dataset? (Agenda Item 4)

Synthesis of carbon data for the North Pacific
was extensively discussed. A similar
undertaking in the Atlantic Ocean is underway
under CARBO-OCEAN. PICES is clearly
responsible for the North Pacific in this respect.
It was suggested that the GLODAP (Global
Ocean Data Analysis Project) synthesis could
serve as a model. GLODAP is still collecting
data, and has developed a consistent system for
QA/QC. The person principally responsible for
this is Dr. Robert Key (Princeton University,
U.S.A.). Dr. Feely is a Principal Investigator
on the NOAA grant that funds this work, and he
offered some of his time to this effort. Dr Key
also works closely with Dr. Kozyr of CDIAC.
The present GLODAP data set in the North
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Pacific (2004) has very limited temporal
coverage (89% of DIC data north of 20°S were
collected in the years 1991-1994).

Several technical and organizational issues
relating to metadata were raised. Dr. Kozyr
stated that use of the CDIAC data-submission
webform is not mandatory, and that they will
accept user metadata in plain text, Word or PDF
format. CDIAC needs information from
individual investigators that cannot necessarily
be obtained from other data centers. JODC, for
example, does not handle metadata. CDIAC
also requires English metadata, which can create
bottlenecks due to the expense of translation.

The group decided that PICES will create a
working synthetic data set, open within the
group but not public domain, as we did for the
2004 Seattle workshop (http://cdiac.ornl.gov/
oceans/NOAA_Workshop/Data.html), using
GLODAP as a model. The ocean will be
divided into 4 regions: Northwest Pacific,
Northeast Pacific, Tropical Pacific and South
Pacific. Marginal seas will be initially
excluded. The data set will include all nutrient
and oxygen measurements as well as carbon
system measurements, but will not include
cruises where no carbon measurements were
made. Investigators responsible for each
region are: Drs. Nobuo Tsurushima (Northwest
Pacific), Sabine (Northeast Pacific), Feely and
Masao Ishii (Tropical Pacific) and Key (South
Pacific). Drs. Key and Kozyr will serve as
overall project coordinators.

Science topic presentations (Agenda Item 5)

Presentations were given by several CC-S
members and observers (see CC-S Endnote 2).
Topics ranged from biogeochemistry of a
northwest Pacific estuary to estimating surface
ocean pCO, at basin-scale from satellite data.

Topic Session at PICES XVI (Agenda Item 6)

The description of a 1-day BIO/POC Topic
Session proposed to Science Board at the April
2006 inter-sessional meeting was submitted to
the membership. Some revisions were made to
the text, and possible invited speakers discussed.



The revised description (CC-S Endnote 3) was
submitted to POC and BIO on October 18, and

CC-S Endnote 1

CC-S-2006

to Science Board on October 21. Financial
support for 2 invited speakers was requested.

Participation list

Members

Andrey Andreev (Russia)

James Christian (Canada, Co-Chairman)
Richard A. Feely (U.S.A.)

Hernan Garcia (U.S.A.)

Alex Kozyr (U.S.A.)

Tsuneo Ono (Japan)

Toshiro Saino (Japan, Co-Chairman)
Toru Suzuki (Japan)

Shuichi Watanabe (Japan)

Pavel Tischenko (Russia)

Observers
Norio Baba (Japan)

Alexander Bychkov (PICES)
Rongshuo Cai (China)

CC-S Endnote 2

Fei Chai (U.S.A.)

Michael Dagg (U.S.A.)
Makio Honda (Japan)
Akio Ishida (Japan)

Masao Ishii (Japan)
Michio Kawamiya (Japan)
Mingkui Li (China)
Akihiko Murata (Japan)
Xiuren Ning (China)

Jun Nishioka (Japan)
Yukihiro Nojiri (Japan)
Keith Rodgers (U.S.A.)
Fangli Qiao (China)
Hiroaki Saito (Japan)
Vedula V.S.S. Sarma (Japan)
Zhenya Song (China)
Hiroya Sugisaki (Japan)
Nobuo Tsurushima (Japan)
Mitsuo Uematsu (Japan)

CC-S meeting agenda

—

Welcome, introductions, approval of agenda

2. Methods manual for CO, measurements

3. Reports of collaborating organizations and
agencies

4. Data integration for synthesis: Why do we
need the integrated dataset?

5. Science topic presentations:

a. Richard Feely: Decadal changes in the
aragonite saturation horizon

b. Vedula Sarma: Satellite algorithm for
pCO; in the North Pacific

c. Andrey Andreev: Excess pH in the
subarctic North Pacific

d. Pavel Tischenko: Hydrochemical
study of the Amur River estuary

e. Makio Honda: JAMSTEC K2 time
series

6. Topic Session at PICES XVI in Victoria
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CC-S Endnote 3

Proposal for a 1-day BIO/POC Topic Session at PICES XVI on
Decadal changes in carbon biogeochemistry in the North Pacific”

This session will be the first effort by the PICES
Section on Carbon and Climate (CC-S) to
synthesize the current understanding on
inter-relationship between the carbon cycle and
climate in the Pacific. Emphasis will be placed
on decadal change in carbon cycling, e.g.,
anthropogenic carbon, air—sea exchange of CO,,
the biological pump, impacts of increasing levels
of carbon dioxide on carbonate chemistry and
marine biota, and possible feedbacks to
atmospheric greenhouse gases. We expect that
the session will enable us to update our
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understanding of the relationships between the
carbon cycle, marine biota, and climate in the
Pacific, and to identify gaps in our knowledge
for future research in areas of importance for the
PICES Section on Carbon and Climate.

Recommended convenors: James Christian
(Canada) and Toshiro Saino (Japan).

Potential invited speakers: Taro Takahashi
(U.S.A.), James Orr (France), Ichiro Yasuda and
Makio Honda (Japan)
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REPORT OF THE SECTION ON
ECOLOGY OF HARMFUL ALGAL BLOOMS IN THE NORTH PACIFIC

3
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The Section on Ecology of harmful algal blooms
in the North Pacific (hereafter HAB-S) met from
08:30-17:30 hours on October 15, 2006, under
the chairmanship of Drs. Hak-Gyoon Kim and
Vera L. Trainer. The meeting was attended by 8
members from Canada, Japan, Korea, and the
U.S.A. (HAB-S Endnote I). While there were 5
observers from China, none from Russia
attended the meeting. The proposed agenda for
the meeting was reviewed and approved (HAB-S
Endnote 2).

Scientific presentations (Agenda Item 3)

Presentations were given by several HAB-S
members and observers (see HAB-S Endnote 2).
Topics ranged from HAB monitoring to
information on the development of new projects.

HAE-DAT database (Agenda Items 4 and 5)
Current status

Area codes have been finalized for all PICES
member countries except for Canada, and its
codes are being entered. In the summary of
HAE-DAT since 2000, it is important to note
that incomplete or missing data is not the same
as no HABs present, which must be made clear
on the website. Dr. Monica Lion and Mr.
Benjamin Sims presented the new on-line
version of the IOC/ICES/PICES database.
National reports have been entered from the
ICES area from 1987 to 2004 (1681 reports). At
present, there are changes from the old form (10
questions) to the new form in a user-friendly
format that now uses ISO country codes. PICES
is the first group of countries to submit data in
the new format.

Next steps

The new HAE-DAT system allows: (1) input of
data by national representatives — an on-line

input form is ready for use; (2) one to view and

search existing data on-line (90% done); and

(3) to get maps (via a UMN map server). The

development of the  on-line  system

(http://www.iode.org/haedat) is currently being

funded by NOAA/NOS/CSCOR. This system

will be open for direct access of data and for

comments within 1 month after PICES XV.

Potential users will have about 2 months to

comment before it is revised into its final format.

PICES members have been asked to:

* join the HAE-DAT mailing list by getting a
password/name;

= test the system to see what is wrong, and
inform HAE-DAT staff;

= check the existing reports and correct them
where necessary; and

= enter new records.

Suggested revisions by PICES members to

HAE-DAT include:

= creating a general map of area codes in each
country for reference, or a pop-up window
with area codes (need a visual tool);

= using the depth of maximum cell or toxin
concentrations;

= collaborating with NOWPAP (their
bibliography of HAB references and their
database);

= stating clearly on the website what each
country is actually reporting and which areas
are actually being monitored for HABs and
for what species or toxin.

All PICES member countries were requested to:

* recheck their country  monitoring
descriptions to ensure they are correct and as
comprehensive as possible;

= participate in a month trial period for
suggestions and improvements to HAE-
DAT (ICES members also will be
contacted);

* input HAB event data to HAE-DAT for
2003 directly to the on-line database.
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The further development of HAE-DAT will also
benefit from establishing links with MON-DAT
(shellfish monitoring program, currently not
very user friendly) and with HAB-MAP (to
compile information on occurrence of toxic
species from gray literature, websites and
databases (thru ISSHA) to make maps).

Discussion focused on HAE-DAT effectiveness,
possible modifications and future data efforts
followed by a practical exercise on entering
national HAB data for the year 2002 in the
database.

National reports (Agenda Item 6)
Canada: No report.

China: In 2002, bi-weekly sampling was carried
out in 19 red tide monitoring zones. 453 red
tides occurred in China from 2001-2005, most
frequently in June. These are discoloration of
water events so economic losses are not
necessary, but there appears to be a trend toward
more HAB species in China in recent years.
Most red tides are found in the East China Sea.
Red tides are found in all months in the South
China Sea (more species due to its tropical
nature), most frequently in spring. There is an
increasing trend of elevated N:P ratios (> 100 or
more) in some places like the Pearl River
estuary.

Japan: There are 7 HAE area divisions in Japan
(area codes: JP-01 to JP-07). In 2002, a total of
301 events were reported, 32 with damage.
Most of them occurred in Kyusyu (JP-05) which
had 123 events and 19 with damage. In the Seto
Inland Sea (JP-04), there were 89 events and 8
with damage. The major species of concern are
C. antique, C. marina, H. akashiwo, K.
mikimotoi and H. circularisquama. C.
polykrikoides was found in JP-06 (San-in area)
for the first time. The first attention to PSP in
Japan occurred in 1978. It used to be found only
in northern Japan, but now it is also occured in
southern Japan. There was a US $60 million
loss to the finfish aquaculture industry in 1972.
This stimulated the introduction of the Seto
Inland Sea Law in 1973 to curb eutrophication.
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Japan reports red tides separately from PSP and
DSP events.

Korea: An overview on recent East Asian

regional cooperation efforts was provided,

including:

=  JOC/WESTPAC HAB workshops;

= PICES HAB Section activities;

= NOWPAP activities since 1994;

= EAST-HAB (Japan, Korea and China) since
2004;

= MOMAF(NFRDI)/NOAA workshop on
Cochlodinium in May 2006

Russia: No report.

U.S.A.: The U.S. National HAB Office takes
charge of all the reports to be submitted to HAE-
DAT from the country. Agencies responsible
for HAB incidence reporting on the U.S. West
Coast are: Alaska Department of Fish and
Game, Washington Department of Health,
Oregon Department of Agriculture, and
California Department of Health.

Planning for PICES XVI (Agenda Item 7)

Since 2005, the HAB Section has been holding
an annual series of workshops to document the
existing knowledge on the eco-physiology of
harmful algal bloom species that impact all, or
most, countries in the North Pacific. For PICES
XVI, the Section recommends a 1-day MEQ
workshop on “Review of selected harmful algae
in the PICES region: III. Heterosigma akashiwo
and other harmful raphidophytes”, co-convened
by Drs. Ichiro Imai and Charles Trick (HAB
Endnote 3). A product from the workshop will
be a list of recommendations to help guide
collaborative HAB research priorities in PICES
countries over the next 5 years. The workshop
will be preceded by a !s-day laboratory
demonstration on Heterosigma cell and toxin
detection. Drs. Trainer, Trick and Mr. Robin
Brown have agreed to co-lead the
demonstration. Travel funds are requested for 2
invited speakers to attend the workshop. The
suggested experts are: Atsushi Ishimatsu and
Tatsuya Oda (Nagasaki University, Japan),
Theodore Smayda (University of Rhode Island,



U.S.A)), and Carmelo Tomas (University of
North Carolina, U.S.A.)

The Section also proposes a 1-day MEQ Topic
Session on “The relative contributions of off-
shore and in-shore sources to harmful algal
bloom development and persistence in the
PICES region”, co-convened by Drs. Hao Guo
and Trainer (HAB-S Endnote 4). Travel funds
are requested for 1 invited speaker to attend the
session. The suggested experts are: Barbara
Hickey (University of Washington, U.S.A.),
Andy Thomas (University of Maine, U.S.A.)
and a Cochlodinium expert from the western
Pacific.

HAB Endnote 1
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A 1-day HAB-S meeting is recommended,
which includes country reports for HAB events
in 2005-2006 and discussion of HAE-DAT use.
To strengthen and ensure the success of HAE-
DAT, the Section requests stronger participation
by a delegate from Russia and funding for this
delegate, if needed.

Other business (Agenda Item 8)

The results of the annual HAB workshops on
Alexandrium and  Pseudo-nitzschia  (2005)
Cochlodinium and Dinophysis (2006), and
Heterosigma (2007) are expected to be
published as a PICES Scientific Report or other
publication. The lead authors and sections of
this publication will be outlined at PICES XVI.

Participation list

Members

William P. Cochlan (U.S.A.)

Ichiro Imai (Japan)

Shigeru Itakura (Japan)

Hak-Gyoon Kim (Korea, Co-Chairman)
Vera L. Trainer (U.S.A., Co-Chairman)
Charles Trick (Canada)

Yasunori Watanabe (Japan)

Mark L. Wells (U.S.A.)

Observers

Robin M. Brown (Canada)
Rongshuo Cai (China)

HAB Endnote 2

Hao Guo (China)

Janice Lawrence (Canada)
Xuezheng Lin (China)
Monica Lion (Spain, IOC)
Kazumi Matsuoka (Japan)
Kazutaka Miryahara (Japan)
Satoshi Nagai (Japan)
Tatsuya Oda (Japan)
Beatriz Reguera (Spain)
Jack Rensel (U.S.A.)
Theodore Smayda (U.S.A.)
Jinhui Wang (China)

John E. Stein (U.S.A.)
Lijun Wang (China)
Takafumi Yoshida (Japan)

HAB-S meeting agenda

—

Welcome, goals of HAB Section meeting

2. Approval of agenda

3. Scientific presentations:

= “The monitoring system on HABs in
China” by H. Guo

" “4 regional U.S. west coast observing
system for toxigenic Pseudo-nitzschia”
by V.L. Trainer, B. Hickey and M.G.
Foreman)

" “An international paralytic shellfish
poisoning project” by B. Wright

4. Progress in the development of an
international collaborative harmful algal
event database: The joint IOC/ICES/PICES
HAE-DAT

5. Discussion and assistance in entering year
2002 data into HAE-DAT

6. National reports/HAE-DAT (year 2002)

Planning for PICES XVI

8. Other business

~
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HAB Endnote 3

Proposal for a 1-day MEQ workshop and % day laboratory demonstration at PICES XVI on
“Review of selected harmful algae in the PICES region: IIl. Heterosigma akashiwo and other
harmful raphidophytes”

This workshop is the third of an annual series in
which Harmful Algal Bloom (HAB) species that
impact all or most countries in the North Pacific
are discussed in detail. In 2007, we will focus
on one species of raphidophytes, in particular,
Heterosigma akashiwo. This species is
distributed throughout the PICES region and has
caused serious damage to finfish aquaculture,
resulting in severe economic losses in PICES
member countries. The integration of
information from each country will advance our
understanding of this organism. Topics will
include modes of toxicity, distribution, impact

HAB Endnote 4

(differences between toxic and nontoxic strains),
as well as physiology and ecology in each of the
member countries. In particular, we would like
to identify additional studies needed specifically
to define H. akashiwo’s mode of toxicity.
Comparison with similar raphidophytes, namely
Chattonella and Fibrocapsa, will also be
included. The workshop will be preceded by a
half-day laboratory demonstration on
Heterosigma cell and toxin detection.

Recommended convenors: Ichiro Imai (Japan)
and Charles Trick (Canada).

Proposal for a 1-day MEQ Topic Session at PICES XVI on “The relative contributions of off-shore
and in-shore sources to harmful algal bloom development and persistence in the PICES region”

There is increasing recognition that some
harmful algal blooms (HABs) affecting coastal
waters may not have local origins but are
advected from offshore waters. This session
will highlight recent advances in studying the
processes involved in near-shore versus off-
shore development and transport of harmful
algal blooms in the coastal waters of the PICES
region. Of particular interest are field studies
where the relative importance of local versus
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remote development of HABs has been assessed.
The session convenors are soliciting papers
describing known off-shore and near-shore
initiation sites, seedbeds, and the physical
factors that facilitate transport of HABs to
coastal sites where they may impact fisheries.

Recommended convenors: Hao Guo (China)
and Vera L. Trainer (U.S.A.).
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REPORT OF WORKING GROUP 18 ON MARINE AQUACULTURE

3
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The Working Group (WG 18) on Mariculture in
the 21" century — The intersection between
ecology, socio-economics and production met
on October 14, 2006, with Mr. Michael Rust
(U.S.A.) chairing the meeting. Dr. Jack Rensel
served as rapporteur. Only 7 scientists from 4
PICES member countries were in attendance
(representatives from China and Korea were
absent), and only 4 of the 14 Working Group
members were present (WG 18 Endnote 1).
After brief introductions, the draft agenda was
reviewed and approved with no additions
(WG 18 Endnote 2).

Third International Symposium on “Stock
enhancement and sea ranching” (Agenda
Item 3)

The symposium took place in September 2006,
in Seattle (U.S.A.), without PICES support. The
abstracts and program of the meeting can be
found at http://www.searanching.org. Posters
from the meeting will be added in the future.
The symposium proceedings will be published
in Reviews in Fisheries Sciences. The next
symposium will be held in China in 2010.

Reports on other relevant meetings (Agenda
Item 4)

A meeting on “The role of aquaculture in
integrated coastal and ocean management’ was
convened in April 2005, on Oahu, U.S.A. The
product of that meeting entitled “The role of
aquaculture in integrated coastal and ocean
management: An ecosystem approach” (Eds.
J.P. McVey, C-S. Lee, and P.J. O’Bryen) will be
published by The World Aquaculture Society.

Drs. Galina Gavrilova and Vasily Radashevsky
reported that the MEQ/FIS Topic Session on
“Current and emerging issues of marine and
estuarine aquaculture in the Pacific Region:
Carrying capacity, ecosystem function and
socioeconomics” was convened at PICES XIV

(October 2005, Vladivostok, Russia).  The
summary of the session is included in the 2005
PICES Annual Report. The talks on aquaculture
in Russia and on salmon culture were very well
attended. A conclusion from the discussion at
the session was that the issues of carrying
capacity should be continued. Unfortunately
there was no participation by our Chinese
colleagues, and WG 18 membership attendance
was low (only 4 Working Group members were
present).

Summary of WG 18 activities and history
(Agenda Item 5)

WG 18 was established at PICES XII (2003) in
Seoul (Korea), under the direction of the Fishery
Science (FIS) and Marine Environmental
Quality (MEQ) Committees. It was expected
that the focus of this group should be on the
environmental and  ecosystem  function,
sustainability of production (e.g., carrying
capacity of ecosystems), and socioeconomics,
rather than on the technology of aquaculture or
specific aspects of nutrition of culture species.
The WG 18 Terms of Reference can be found in
WG 18 Endnote 3. WG 18 met for the first time
at PICES XIII (October 2004, Honolulu, U.S.A.)
to plan its activities.

National reports on “Current status and trends
in aquaculture” of 5 PICES member countries
were published in the 2004 PICES Annual
Report, and the Russian report was included in
the 2005 Annual Report. This accomplishes the
first Term of Reference of WG 18.

The second Term of Reference was to develop
an overview of current and emerging issues,
with respect to environmental and ecosystem
function, sustainability of production (e.g.,
carrying capacity of ecosystems), and socio-
economics. Two MEQ/FIS Topic Sessions
related to this issue were held at PICES Annual
Meetings (on “Current and emerging issues of
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marine and estuarine aquaculture in the Pacific
Region: Carrying capacity, ecosystem function
and socio-economics” at PICES XIV, and on
“Aquaculture for sustainable management of
marine  environment and  ecosystem”  at
PICES XV), but no overview of current and
emerging issues was produced or discussed.
The summary of the last session is included in
the Session Summaries chapter of this Annual
Report.

The third and final Term of Reference was to
convene a workshop on “Scientific issues for
sustainable aquaculture in the PICES region”.
It was expected that a product from the
workshop would be recommendations for a
PICES Action Plan on scientific issues of marine
aquaculture. No action on this issue was taken.

Discussion on WG 18 future (Agenda Item 7)

Some of the objectives in the WG 18 Terms of
Reference were duplicated by other international
groups, such as APEC, FAO and the World
Aquaculture Society. The question arises — How
should WG 18 fit in or add to what other groups
are already doing? Another question is — What
recommendation should be made to our parent
committees, FIS and MEQ, based on progress on
the three Terms of Reference?

After much discussion, three options were

identified:

1. complete Terms of Reference 2 and 3; if so,
then who does what?

2. change the Terms of Reference; if so, then
to what and who takes leadership for this?

3. dissolve the Working Group.

However, given the importance of this decision
and the lack of attendance of other WG 18
members, those present felt that an e-mail
should be sent to all members to provide their
input (WG 18 Endnote 4).

The Working Group has suffered from low
attendance by members at the past two meetings
(only 4 of the 14 members were present at both
PICES XIV and XV), so work will be done by
correspondence to ensure that any meeting or
workshop at PICES XVI (October 2007,
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Victoria, Canada) is interesting and attractive to
members.

In discussion of option 2, each participant at the
meeting was invited to answer the question
“What would be most beneficial to your country
for a PICES Working Group on Aquaculture to
focus on?” Responses are below:

Canada: Salmon aquaculture is under attack
from some sectors of society.  There is
considerable culture of shellfish on both coasts.
NGO and fisheries groups oppose aquaculture
and there is significant misinformation on the
actual risks of aquaculture operations.

Japan: Economic issues, disease issues and
improving effectiveness of stock enhancement
(sea ranching works but populations continue to
decline) are high priorities. An issue is to
improve quality, not quantity of fish produced
for higher price. Imports from Norway, Korea
and China keep prices of fish low. Hatchery
diseases are problematic, and while there has
been achievements with sea ranching there has
not been much success in recovery and
enhancement of existing stocks.

Russia: There are few hatcheries or farms but
they need to expand. Aquaculture has not been
a focus in the past but is becoming more so now.
In comparison to Japan and China, Russia is not
a traditional seafood consuming country, but
attitudes are changing about expanding seafood
production. Progress is slow, and there are no
government initiatives, but there is growing
recognition that seafood in the diet is important
for health and for socio-economic reasons.

U.S.A.: Marine aquaculture is not a highly
developed industry except for mollusks and a
few finfish on Pacific Coast. Public confidence
in the industry and opposition by fishermen are
major issues, and perhaps PICES should take a
socio-economic focus. The national government
is in the process of developing laws and
regulations for off-shore aquaculture, and
scientific efforts are being made to adopt and
apply FAO guidelines for risk assessment to
help in the decision-making process.
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WG 18 Endnote 1
Participation list

Members Observers

Galina Gavrilova (Russia) Vasily Radashevsky (Russia)
Toyomitsu Horii (Japan) Jack Rensel (U.S.A.)
Michael Rust (U.S.A.) Darlene Smith (Canada)

Hisashi Yokoyama (Japan)

WG 18 Endnote 2
WG 18 meeting agenda
1. Welcome and introductions, appointment of 4. Reports on other relevant meetings or WG
rapporteur interactions
2. Comments from WG 18 Co-Chairmen 5. Summary of WG 18 activities and history
3. Report on Third International Symposium 6. Discussion on future of WG 18
on “Stock enhancement and sea ranching” 7. Other business

WG 18 Endnote 3
Email to WG 18 members sent October 14, 2006

Dear WG-18 member,

We are having discussions in Yokohama that impact the future of our Working Group and would like
your input. This is the third year of our Working Group and it is set to expire. Below are the Terms of
Reference for our group that was agreed to at our first meeting in Hawaii. WG members from Japan,
Russia, and U.S.A. have been discussing these along with observers from Canada and U.S.A. Our current
status is listed under each Term of Reference.

Terms of Reference:

1. Review and report on the current status and projected trends in aquaculture in marine and estuarine
regions of PICES that substantively contribute to world aquaculture; [Done — published by PICES]

2. Develop an overview of current and emerging issues, with respect to environmental and ecosystem
function, sustainability of production (e.g., carrying capacity of ecosystems), and socio-economics;
[Sessions at PICES XIV and XV were convened but no overview document was produced. Are
meeting reports enough? How is this different from other non-PICES efforts?]

3. Convene a workshop on “Scientific issues for sustainable aquaculture in the PICES region”. A
product from the workshop would be recommendations for a PICES Action Plan on scientific issues
of marine aquaculture. [Not started yet. What do we want to do?]

Based on our progress on the three terms of reference, what recommendation should be made to our
parent committees, FIS and MEQ? We have identified three options. Please vote for one and return the
email to mike.rust@noaa.gov by Tuesday, October 17th.

Recommendations to FIS/MEQ
1. Go ahead and complete TORs 2 and 3? If so, then who does what?
2. Change the Terms of Reference? If so, then to what and who takes leadership for this?
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3. Dissolve Working Group.

If you choose option 2 would you support a new Working Group focused on one of these issues? (Vote
for all you would support)

1. Possible new aquaculture working group focused on Canada, Japan, Russia and U.S.A. common

2. Aquatic animal health

3. Economics and regulated development of aquaculture industry (how does science inform decisions?)
Do scientists have these skills alone? Who else should be included in human health (quality?) aspects
of aquaculture?
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REPORT OF WORKING GROUP 19 ON
ECOSYSTEM-BASED MANAGEMENT SCIENCE

The Working Group (WG 19) on Ecosystem-
based management science and its application
to the North Pacific held its second meeting
from October 13-14, 2006, under the co-
chairmanship of Drs. Glen Jamieson and Chang-
Ik Zhang, and Ms. Patricia Livingston.
Dr. Christopher Harvey served as rapporteur. A
list of participants and the meeting agenda can
be found in WG 19 Endnotes I and 2.

Review of national/international approaches
to establishing science-based eco-regions
(Agenda Item 2)

Dr. Ian Perry reviewed the definitions of North
Pacific ecosystems put forth by PICES and other
researchers and institutions, the different
management zones defined by member nations,
and how closely ecosystem boundaries and
management boundaries matched one another.
He concluded that:

» Ecosystem boundaries are often difficult to
define due to the lack of fixed geography
and due to long-term variability in non-static
boundary-forming processes;

*» The Large Marine Ecosystems (LMEs) as
defined by Sherman appear to be the most
useful conceptualization of ecosystems for
PICES member countries;

* Management boundaries are generally
consistent and complementary between
nations, although perhaps less so in the
Bering Sea and in the western Pacific;

= It will be difficult to change -existing
statistical areas due to the historic value and
inertia placed upon their usage, so PICES
must build on historical context rather than
trying to change it;

= Management areas are generally much
smaller than LMEs, but the management
areas can generally be aggregated to
reasonably approximate LMEs.

Theoretical evaluation of the consequences of
an artificial boundary (Agenda Item 3)

Drs. Harvey and Elizabeth Fulton provided an
update on efforts to use Atlantis, a spatially
explicit marine ecosystem modeling software, to
examine how different management strategies
on either side of a jurisdictional boundary (e.g.,
a national border) affect cross-border eco-
systems. Harvey and colleagues are still in the
process of completing an Atlantis model of the
northern California Current, and therefore have
yet to finish this task. It will be done by next
year’s Annual Meeting, either using the northern
California Current model or one of Fulton’s
models for Australia.

National ocean management activity reports
(Agenda Item 4)

Each member country outlined the processes and
frameworks they are using to implement
ecosystem-based management (EBM). A
common problem among member countries is
that the elements of EBM are often handled by
different government agencies (for example,
fisheries are managed by one ministry and
environmental monitoring by another), and that
there is often very little communication and
collaboration between those agencies.

As it was noted last year, there are different
conceptual  frameworks among  member
countries. In Canada, Russia and the United
States, EBM is mainly directed at maintaining or
restoring ecosystems to relatively pristine status,
while in China, Japan and Korea, EBM is
described in the context of resource
enhancement. In addition, there is a need for
greater coordination and integration of
management efforts, both within individual
nations and between nations for resources that
inhabit multi-national waters. As within nations,
different aspects of EBM are handled by
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different agencies or ministries, frameworks
may not exist for coordinating those activities.
Across nations, all PICES member countries
manage resources that move into other EEZs
(Exclusive Economic Zones), and the Working
Group encourages PICES to support the
development of regional management plans in
these multi-national areas.

Two other concerns were raised by WG 19 on
this agenda item. Firstly, certain words (e.g.,
“ecosystem”, “integrative”) have different
meanings and applications among different
member countries, and a glossary of terms with
agreed-upon definitions should be a part of the
WG 19 final report. Secondly, written volumes
describing marine eco-regions and science
supporting EBM are crucial and should be
living, evolving documents. However, they can
grow very large and thus inaccessible to readers
who need the information that they contain.

National ecosystem monitoring approaches
(Agenda Item 5)

WG 19 members described highlights of their

national monitoring plans. Each nation has

devoted considerable resources to monitoring

programs; Russia and Korea, in particular, have

developed long time series and broad spatial

coverage of a wide range of oceanographic and

biological variables. = Emerging issues that

different nations are encountering include:

= the need to better define ecosystem
objectives, so that monitoring programs can
be used most effectively in management;

= the difficulty of getting managers, who are
often in different agencies or ministries, to
use monitoring data in decision-making;

* maintaining funding for  monitoring
programs.

Summaries of recent scientific meetings on
ecosystem indicators (Agenda Items 6 and 7)

Two recent scientific meetings on ecosystem
indicators were reviewed. Drs. Perry and Fulton
revisited the 2004 Paris Symposium on
“Quantitative ecosystem indicators for fisheries
management”, which was described at last
year’s WG 19 meeting. They broadened the
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discussion to include new thinking on indicators.
Dr. Fulton stressed the value that several “types”
of indicators have had in monitoring ecosystem
change. They include: relative biomasses,
biomass ratios (e.g., piscivores to planktivores),
size spectra, maximum fish length, total fishery
removals (or some other total human impact),
size at maturity, biodiversity, and biophysical
variables (e.g., Chl-a). These can be rapidly
measured and do not require special expertise or
modeling to quantify. She has concluded that
monitoring pelagic ecosystems requires fewer
total indicators, but signal detection is slow. By
contrast, demersal systems require more
indicators but signal detection is rapid.

Dr. Perry described the Bering Sea Ecosystem
Indicators project, a PICES effort funded by
NPRB to define objectives, a monitoring
program, and effective indicators for managing
the southeastern Bering Sea. The process
featured pre-workshops with diverse experts and
stakeholders to maximize participation. These
meetings were preparatory to the PICES/NPRB
Indicators workshop convened on June 1-3,
2006, in Seattle, U.S.A. The project has
produced recommendations concerning
ecosystem objectives, socio-economic
objectives, and communication objectives for
better disseminating the project’s work within
PICES, to the broader scientific community, and
to the public. The final report will be published
as PICES Scientific Report No. 33 by the end of
this year. It will include three white papers
developed for the workshop (on “Operational
objectives for the southeastern Bering Sea” by
Gordon Kruse and Diana Evans, on “Toward
ecosystem-based management of the oceans: A
perspective for fisheries in the Bering Sea” by
Andrea Belgrano, Jennifer Boldt, Patricia
Livingston and Jeffrey M. Napp, and on
“Ecological indicators: Software development”
by Sergei N. Rodionov) and a summary of
workshop discussions and recommendations.
Outcomes of the workshop have been used by
NPRB in developing an integrated ecosystem
research plan for the Bering Sea.

It was recommended that WG 19 should focus
not on choosing specific indicators, but rather on
developing a scientific process by which proper



indicators are defined for a given ecosystem,
such that the process can be readily developed
and implemented in an EBM framework.

Content of the WG 19 final report (Agenda
Item 8)

The final WG 19 report, due prior to the 2008
PICES Annual Meeting, will include a general
introduction, national definitions of EBM, and a
glossary listing and defining key terms. It will
then summarize activities toward meeting the
WG 19 Terms of Reference (TOR). Reporting
plans for TORs are detailed below:

TOR #1: Describe and implement a standard
reporting format for EBM in each PICES
country. The report will include: (1) national
definitions of EBM; (2) national objectives for
EBM; (3) descriptions of how objectives are
made operational in each country; (4) reports on
national ocean management activities; and (5) a
synthesis that describes similarities and
differences among national approaches. The
Working Group no longer feels it is practical to
create a standard reporting format because it
would be prohibitively labor-intensive, so this
aspect of the term of reference will not be
considered further.

TOR#2: Review existing definitions of eco-
regions and identify criteria used for defining
ecological boundaries. The report will include
national identification criteria as presented at the
PICES XV MEQ/FIS workshop (W3) on
“Criteria relevant to the determination of unit
eco-regions for ecosystem-based management in
the PICES area”, with particular attention to
how national definitions compare with other
ecosystem definitions (e.g., LMEs). The brief
report of the workshop is included in the Session
Summaries chapter of this Annual Report.

TOR #3: Evaluate indicators from the 2004
Symposium __on __ “Quantitative __ecosystem
indicators for fisheries management”.  The
report will present the WG 19 recommendations
for types of indicators (and not specific
indicators) that have been analyzed in
publications  generated since the 2004
symposium. The Working Group feels that this
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term should be broaden to include and integrate
findings from the NPRB-funded PICES Bering
Sea Ecosystem Indicators project into the final
report.

TOR #4: Describe relevant national marine
ecosystem monitoring approaches, plans, and
models for predicting human and environmental
influences on ecosystems. The WG is
concerned that much of this Term of Reference
has already been addressed, in the PICES
Scientific Report No. 18 on “Impact of climate
variability on observation and prediction of
ecosystem and biodiversity changes in the North
Pacific” (2001). The Working Group proposes
to change this TOR to: Determine if national
monitoring data currently being collected are
sufficient to allow calculations of key indicators.
Each nation will summarize the monitoring
approaches in one ecosystem or eco-region that
are most representative of their implementation
of EBM. Tentatively, those case studies will be:
the Kuroshio Current (Japan), the Yellow Sea
(Korea), the Okhotsk Sea (Russia), the Pacific
North Coast (Canada), and the Bering Sea
(U.S.A.). Key indicators will be calculated for
each system and data gaps will be identified.

TOR #5: Hold an inter-sessional workshop that
addresses the status and progress of EBM
science efforts in the PICES region. For the
purposes of the final report, we will summarize
the content of a 1-day FIS/MEQ workshop on
“Comparative analysis of frameworks to develop
an ecosystem-based approach to management
and research needed for implementation”
proposed for PICES XVI in Victoria, Canada.

In addition, WG 19 will create an 8- to 10-page
brochure that is essentially an Executive
Summary of the final report. It will be
published in 2008, with the foreseen target
audience to be determined later. We hope that
the brochure will be translated into the
languages of all PICES member countries.

Planning for PICES XVI (Agenda Item 9)
WG 19 proposes a 1-day FIS/MEQ workshop

“Comparative analysis of frameworks to develop
an ecosystem-based approach to management
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and research needed for implementation” to be
convened at PICES XVI (WG 19 Endnote 3).

The structure of the workshop would be:

» a keynote talk summarizing activities of the
Working Group;

= invited talks from other PICES Working
Groups and committees (e.g., MONITOR,
TCODE, or parent committees) that describe
EBM-related tools and themes developed by
other groups in PICES;

* invited talks from representatives of external
institutions (e.g., FAO) that describe EBM-
related tools and themes developed outside
of PICES;

» an invited talk on the constraints to
implementation of EBM;

» an invited talk on governance issues and
difficulties related to EBM;

WG 19 Endnote 1

* An invited talk on socio-economic issues
related to EBM; and

= Contributed talks solicited through the
general abstract submission process.

In the evening following the workshop, WG 19
would convene for 2 hours to discuss the content
of the workshop and incorporate it into the final
report.

The desired outcomes of this workshop are:

= to fulfill the Terms of Reference of WG 19;

= to promote general discussion on objectives,
practices, and implementation of EBM in
PICES member countries; and

= To generate papers for a special issue or
theme section of a prominent marine science
journal, such as Marine Ecology Progress
Series or Progress in Oceanography.

Participation list

Members

Elena Dulepova (Russia)

David Fluharty (U.S.A.)

Christopher Harvey (U.S.A.)

Oleg Ivanov (Russia)

Glen Jamieson (Canada, Co-Chairman)
Tatsu Kishida (Japan)

Jae-Bong Lee (Korea)

Patricia Livingston (U.S.A., Co-Chairman)
R. Ian Perry (Canada)

WG 19 Endnote 2

Vladimir Radchenko (Russia)
Inja Yeon (Korea)
Chang-lk Zhang (Korea, Co-Chairman)

Observers

Robin M. Brown (Canada)
K. Alexandra Curtis (U.S.A.)
Elizabeth Fulton (Australia)
Henry Lee (U.S.A.)

Jacob Schweigert (Canada)

WG 19 meeting agenda

October 13

1. Welcome and introductions

2. Review of national and international
approaches (maps, processes used to identify
area) to establishing science-based eco-
regions, and compare these to existing or
planned “management” regions

3. Theoretical evaluation of the consequences
of an artificial boundary that splits an
ecological process and how that could affect
management
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4. National ocean management activity reports:
the process and framework that each country
is using to implement an ecosystem
approach to management

5. National ecosystem monitoring approaches
relevant to the eco-regions considered above

October 14

6. Findings from the 2004 Paris symposium on
“Quantitative  ecosystem indicators for
fisheries management”



7. Findings from the NPRB-funded PICES
Bering Sea Ecosystem Indicators project

WG 19 Endnote 3
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8. Content of the WG 19 final report
9. Planning for PICES XVI

Proposal for a 1-day FIS/MEQ workshop at PICES XVI on
“Comparative analysis of frameworks to develop an ecosystem-based approach to management and
research needed for implementation”

An ecosystem-based approach to management
(EBM) is an integrated approach to management
of land, water, and living resources that
promotes conservation and sustainable use over
a broad range of human activities in an
ecosystem. Implementation of an EBM for
marine ecosystems in the North Pacific Ocean
requires a number of steps and activities. An
explicit framework that outlines the objectives,
legal mandates, and institutional roles and
responsibilities is essential. Data requirements
and analytical tools need to be developed. This
workshop invites papers to: 1) highlight
existing national and international frameworks
for implementation of an ecosystem approach to
management; 2) outline the data requirements
for such an approach; 3) describe the analytical
tools being developed; 4) show the progress in

communicating results of EBM activities; and
5) discuss outstanding research gaps for making
progress. The workshop will be organized to
allow time for keynote summaries of PICES
Working Group 19 results, invited contributions
from other PICES groups, insights by other
organizations involved in providing integrated
ecosystem advice, talks on governance issues
and difficulties, socioeconomic issues, efc.
During a discussion period, participants are
welcome to advise the convenors on the
desirability of publishing the results of the
workshop in a leading primary scientific journal.

Recommended convenors: Glen Jamieson

(Canada), Patricia Livingston (U.S.A.) and
Chang-lk Zhang (Korea).
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REPORT OF WORKING GROUP 20 ON
EVALUATIONS OF CLIMATE CHANGE PROJECTIONS

The Working Group (WG 20) on Evaluations of
climate change projections held its first meeting
in the afternoon of October 14, 2006. The Co-
Chairmen, Drs. Michael G. Foreman and
Yasuhiro Yamanaka, called the meeting to order
and welcomed the participants. The meeting
was attended by 10 Working Group members
and 28 observers representing all PICES
member countries and several international
organizations (WG 20 Endnote I).

The meeting began with a brief presentation by
Dr. Akihiko Yatsu, Co-Chairman of the CFAME
Task Team, on the objectives and progress of
that group. Dr. Foreman then led a discussion
on how WG 20 might collaborate with CFAME
in providing climate change scenario
information that would be useful for the third
component (Scenarios) of the CFAME
workplan. Drs. Arthur Miller, Emanuele Di
Lorenzo and Enrique Curchitser, all members of
WG 20 who have already developed high-
resolution models for the California Current
system that have been, or are soon to be run with
climate forcing, agreed to work with Dr. Vera
Agostini of CFAME in providing physical
information that would be useful for her
ecosystem model of that region. Dr. Hiroyasu
Hasumi agreed to work with Dr. Yamanaka in
providing analogous data from his climate
models in the Kuroshio/Oyashio region. Dr. Ig-
Chan Pang volunteered to adapt his one-tenth of
a degree circulation model for the Yellow and
East China Seas so that it could accept boundary
and atmospheric forcing from one, or an
ensemble, of IPCC global climate model
scenario runs. (In subsequent discussion with
Dr. Foreman he also agreed to contact Dr. Jai-
Ho Oh, another WG 20 member (not present), to
see if it would be feasible to use high-resolution
atmospheric forcing produced by Dr. Oh’s
models for some of these simulations.) In the
absence of a high-resolution circulation model
for the Sea of Okhotsk, it was decided that an

ensemble of climate model results could be
provided to Dr. Victor Lapko for understanding
possible changes to that ecosystem. It was not
determined who would compute this ensemble,
but Dr. Muyin Wang, on behalf of Dr. James E.
Overland, proposed (see second paragraph
below for more details) that calculations of this
type be carried out for all sub-Arctic seas
(including the Sea of Okhotsk) under the
auspices of the GLOBEC regional program on
Ecosystem Studies of Sub-Arctic Seas (ESSAS).
So the ensemble might be computed in
collaboration with that group.

It was also decided (subject to confirmation by
CFAME and approval by Science Board) to
convene a joint WG 20/CFAME workshop on
“Climate scenarios for ecosystem modeling” at
PICES XVI (CFAME Endnote 4). This was
subsequently approved with Drs. Jacquelynne R.
King and Michael G. Foreman to be the co-
convenors. The suggested duration of the
workshop is 1.5 days, with a format being 0.5
days with the groups separate, 0.5 days together
and then 0.5 days apart again.

Dr. Kenneth Drinkwater (ESSAS SSC Co-
Chairman) gave a presentation on the ESSAS
goals and activities, with particular attention
paid to a workshop they are organizing in June
2007, in Hakodate, Japan. Under Dr. Overland’s
leadership, this workshop is planning to initiate
the evaluation of climate change projections for
each of the ESSAS regions, and it was agreed to
submit, through POC, a travel request for one
WG 20 member to attend this meeting.

The issue of financial support for WG 20
members to carry out research relevant to the
Terms of Reference was also briefly discussed.
Dr. Foreman pointed out that although the North
Pacific Research Board (NPRB) does have a
request for proposals due December 1, 2006,
these proposals must fall under the Board’s
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Science Plan. As that plan does not have
provision for physical or climate modeling, it
precludes NPRB as a potential funding source.
The Bering Sea Integrated Ecosystem Research
Program of NPRB is expected to release a
request for proposals soon but it remains to be
seen if WG 20 activities might be supported
from that source. Though WG 20 is happy to
provide letters of support and generally facilitate
individual members in seeking out funding from
their national sources, it does not appear that
there are international vehicles to provide this
support.

The issue of collaborations with international
organizations/programs was briefly discussed.
Dr. William R. Crawford, a Canadian member
of the CLIVAR Pacific Panel, stated that

WG 20 Endnote 1

although this group seems primarily concerned
with the tropical Pacific, it is indeed interested in
the PICES region north of 30°N. It was
suggested that an invitation should be extended
to the CLIVAR Pacific Panel to attend the next
WG 20 workshop.

The final item of discussion was a draft outline
of the integrative science program, FUTURE,
that PICES is hoping to initiate in the next
couple of years. The latest version of the
program outline was presented, and it was
pointed out that the activities of WG 20 fit very
well with the proposal. No specific suggestions
for revisions were given but all were encouraged
to attend either the POC meeting on October 18,
or the Open Forum on October 19, where further
discussions were planned.

Participation list

Members

Enrique Curchitser (U.S.A.)

Emanuele Di Lorenzo (U.S.A.)

Michael G. Foreman (Canada, Co-Chairman)
Hiroyasu Hasumi (Japan)

Arthur J. Miller (U.S.A.)

Ig-Chan Pang (Korea)

Elena Ustinova (Russia)

Muyin Wang (U.S.A.)

Yasuhiro Yamanaka (Japan, Co-Chairman)
Sang-Wook Yeng (Korea)

Observers

Vera Agostini (U.S.A.)

Kerim Y. Aydin (U.S.A.)

Manuel Barange (GLOBEC, U.K.)
Harold P. Batchelder (U.S.A.)
Robin M. Brown (Canada)
Rongshuo Cai (China)
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Curtis Covey (U.S.A.)
William R. Crawford (Canada)
Kenneth Drinkwater (ESSAS, Norway)
Lei Gao (China)

Albert J. Hermann (U.S.A.)
George L. Hunt (U.S.A.)
Masao Ishii (Japan)

Hee-Dong Jeong (Korea)
Michi Kawamiya (Japan)
Jacquelynne R. King (Canada)
Dong-Young Lee (Korea)
Dooji Li (China)

Skip McKinnell (PICES)
Phillip R. Mundy (U.S.A.)
Keith Rodgers (U.S.A.)

Ryan Rykaczewski (U.S.A.)
Zhenya Song (China)

Ping Wang (China)

Francisco C. Werner (GLOBEC, U.S.A.)
Ichiro Yasuda (Japan)

Akihiko Yatsu (Japan)

Yury . Zuenko (Russia)



WG21-2006

REPORT OF WORKING GROUP 21 ON
NON-INDIGENOUS AQUATIC SPECIES

The Working Group on Non-indigenous aquatic
species (WG 21) held its first meeting on
October 13, wunder the chairmanship of
Ms. Darlene Smith. A list of participants can be
found in WG 21 Endnote 1. Dr. Graham
Gillespie served as the rapporteur. The draft
agenda was reviewed and adopted without
changes (WG 21 Endnote 2).

Terms of Reference (Agenda Items 4-6)

The participants reviewed WG 21 Terms of
Reference (TOR) approved at PICES XIV
(October 2005, Vladivostok, Russia). Progress
toward accomplishing these Terms of Reference
and developing a plan for their completion were
discussed concurrently as TOR were reviewed:
A summary of discussion is reported after each
TOR.

TOR#1  Complete an inventory of all aquatic
non-indigenous species (NIS) in all PICES
member countries together with compilation and
definitions of terms and recommendations on
use of terms. Summarize the situation on
bioinvasions in the Pacific and compare and
contrast to other regions (e.g., Atlantic,
Australia, etc.):

Should the inventory of NIS include freshwater
as well as marine species?

This was discussed at some length with the
conclusion that the NIS list would include
marine and estuarine species but would not
include exclusively freshwater species. This
decision was based on PICES’ focus as a marine
science organization and the large magnitude of
species if freshwater NIS were included. It was
suggested to explicitly indicate that “The
organismal domain of WG 21 will be non-
indigenous aquatic taxa that spend any life
history stage in marine, estuarine, or brackish
systems  (this includes anadromous and
catadromous taxa)”.

Should WG 21 create a new on-line database or
take advantage of existing systems such as
NISBASE  (http://www.NISBASE.org/nisbase/
index.jsp) or the Global Invasive Species
Information Network (http://www.gisnetwork.
org/ pubs.html)?

WG 21 recognizes that the creation of a new
PICES on-line database would require resources,
both human and financial. WG 21 members will
investigate the existing internet databases and
provide their preferences on how to proceed
with this issue. [Action]

Drs. Henry Lee and Debbie Reusser will make
contact with both the USGS-Gainesville and the
Smithsonian about the process of linking into
NISBASE. [Action]

Definitions of terms and recommendations on
use of terms

A number of countries (China, Russia, Japan) do
not have definitions described in law or policy,
but do have terms that are generally used to
describe non-indigenous species that may or
may not be harmful. In Canada and the United
States the implication of harmful is associated
with invasive.

The Chairman will compile definitions from
Canada, the U.S. and the ICES Working Group
on [Introductions and Transfers of Marine
Organisms (WGITMO), and will seek input
from China, Korea, Japan and Russia.
Following this meeting draft PICES definitions
will be produced for subsequent discussion and
agreement.

Summarize the situation on bioinvasions in the
Pacific and compare and contrast with other
regions

This was discussed briefly and requires
additional thought as it is potentially a large
undertaking. It was noted that “situation” is a
somewhat vague term. WG 21 seeks advice
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from MEQ on what is meant by “situation”. It
was suggested that “situation” could include a
summary of national legislation/policy, research
programs and management programs. It could
also include a description of the major invasive
species and the impacts they are having.
[Action]

TOR#2 Complete inventory of scientific
experts, in all PICES member countries, on
aquatic non-indigenous species subject areas
and of the relevant national research programs/
projects underway:

An inventory of scientific experts

It was concluded that if distribution of an
inventory of scientific experts was limited to
PICES members that this should not be an issue.
Should the inventory receive wide distribution,
this will need to be re-visited.

The participants discussed the relative scarcity
of taxonomic expertise in all member countries,
with the situation perhaps most pressing in
Western Pacific countries. The Census of
Marine Life (CoML) was identified as an
example of international exchange of taxonomic
expertise, but it was noted that CoML has a
limited lifespan. A joint ICES/PICES workshop
was discussed as a means to continue
centralizing expertise after CoML has completed
its term.

The need to explore linkages between classical
taxonomy and molecular techniques was also
discussed. It was suggested that this would be
an ideal theme for a future symposium.

Dr. Adolf Kellermann suggested that the PICES
and ICES Working Groups may wish to produce
a compilation of vernacular names, and that
ICES and PICES could consider joint financial
support of such an undertaking. The participants
also brought up the possibility of PICES
translating critical taxonomic keys into a
common language (English). This is not exactly
the same as a compilation of vernacular names.

The U.S. has conducted Rapid Assessment

Surveys which are week-long field surveys
attended by a broad range of taxonomic experts.

160

ToR#3  Review and evaluate initiatives on
mitigation measures (e.g., ICES Code of
Practice for the Introduction and Transfer of
Marine  Organisms;, IMO Ballast Water
Management Convention and others such as the
Canadian Introductions and Transfers Code):

Again, this TOR is a significant project. For

now, documents will be compiled and made

available to WG 21 members. The list of
documents was expanded beyond the suggested
examples to add material from Australia and

New Zealand, the Canadian Shipping Act and

U.S. Management Plans and included the

following documents:

= Australian guidelines for managing marine
pest biofouling risks;

=  RAC-SPA Action Plan concerning species
introductions and invasive species in the
Mediterranean Sea;

» Risk assessment of ballast water mediated
species  introduction: A Baltic Sea
approach;

=  Guidelines for controlling the vectors of
introduction into the Mediterranean of alien
species and invasive marine species: Hull
fouling.

It was suggested that the documents be reviewed
for commonalities and uniqueness. [This action
was not assigned. ]

Jeffery Herod is to supply a report developed by
a Technical Advisory Group to the California
State Lands Commission for Ballast Water
Performance Standards. This report includes
summary of best available information and IMO
guidelines. [Action]

References to California reports:
http://ucce.ucdavis.edu/files/filelibrary/5802/259
17.pdf

http://www slc.ca.gov/Division Pages/MFD/MF
D Programs/Ballast Water/Ballast Water Defa
ult.htm

http://www slc.ca.gov/Division_Pages/MFD/MF
D Programs/Ballast Water/Documents_of Inter
est.htm

References to National U.S.A. reports:



http://www.anstaskforce.gov/Species%20plans/n
ational%20mgmt%20plan%20for%20mitten%2
Ocrab.pdf
http://www.anstaskforce.gov/Species%20plans/
Mitten Crab NMP_Implementation Table 092
905.pdf
http://www.anstaskforce.gov/Species%20plans/
Final%20NMP%20for%20the%20Genus%20Ca
ulerpa%?20111005.pdf

TOR#4  Summarize research related to best
practices for ballast water management:

It was noted that only Canada and the U.S. have
ballast water sampling programs.

Suggested sources for information included the
U.S. Coast Guard and U.S. Geological Survey
(USGS), and Richard Emmett at the USCG
Washington DC office was recommended as a
contact. = The Northeast Midwest Institute
website  (http:/www.nemw.org) summarizes
ballast water legislation in the U.S.

Dr. Blake Feist has provided contact information
for USGS work on development of molecular
markers for verifying that ballast water
exchange has occurred (Dr. Rusty Rodriguez,
USGS/Biological Resources Division, Western
Fisheries Research Center, ph.: 206-526-6596,
e-mail: rusty rodriguez@usgs.gov).

The ICES/IOC/IMO Working Group on Ballast
Waters and Other Ship Vectors (WGBOSYV) is
in the process of developing a Technical Manual
for Ballast Water Sampling. It was suggested
that a draft of the document be distributed to
WG 21 members.

Russian participants indicated that they were
interested in ballast water sampling methods.
Responsibility for collecting and summarizing
available material will be assigned later.
[Action]

TOR#5 Coordinate activities of WG 21 on
non-indigenous aquatic species with related
WGs in ICES through a joint back to back
meeting of the PICES and ICES Working
Groups on invasive species in 2007/2008:

WG21-2006

The participants agreed that the objectives of the
coordination of WG 21 and WGITMO and
WGBOSV activities would be the sharing of
information and avoidance of duplication of
effort. This would be facilitated through joint
meetings, cooperative document development,
and post-meeting information exchange (e.g.,
through email summaries or web postings).

A joint meeting of ICES and PICES Working
Groups was suggested. The most viable option
seemed to be a meeting in conjunction with the
5t International Marine Bioinvasions
Conference (May 2007, Cambridge, U.S.A.).
Other possible venues include the spring
meeting of WGITMO and WGBOSV (March
2007, Dobrovnik, Croatia) and PICES XVI
(October 2007, Victoria, Canada).

Potential agenda items include: discussion of
taxonomic issues and development of taxonomic
expertise exchanges between ICES and PICES
member countries; completion of a ballast water
sampling technical manual; development/
completion of Codes of Practice for ship hull
fouling and port sampling; discussion of rapid
response and control options; and consistency
of information gathered, collated and distributed.

The possibility of using PICES funds to provide
travel support for WG 21 members was
discussed. Clarification was to be sought from
the PICES Executive Secretary.

TOR#6  Develop and recommend an approach
for formal linkages between PICES and ICES on
non-indigenous aquatic species:

The participants suggested that (1) ICES and
PICES Working Groups’ Terms of Reference
should be shared, and (2) a joint ICES/PICES
fund for taxonomic specialist exchange be
established. Dr. Kellermann indicated that ICES
would seriously consider this.

Other linkages discussed included joint
meetings, cooperative document development
(e.g., ballast water sampling guidelines, code
practice for hull fouling) and formal
communication of minutes or meeting reports
through e-mail and the web.
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TOR#7: Publish final report summarizing
results and recommendations:

Not much discussion took place on this point,
and no formal dates or targets were set. WG 21
needs to make more progress toward
accomplishing the Terms of Reference before
diving into discussion of the final report.

Currently WG 21 has a 3-year mandate ending
2008. This is in contrast with WGITMO and
WGBOSYV which have been operating for many
years. Depending on the future success of
WG 21 in achieving its Terms of Reference and
the extent of interest of PICES member
countries, PICES may wish to consider creating
a Section on non-indigenous aquatic species
following the termination of WG 21.

PICES XVI - Proposal for a Topic Session on
invasive species (Agenda Item 7)

WG 21 members agreed to propose a full-day

MEQ Topic Session on non-indigenous species

to be held at PICES XVI. During an extensive

discussion, the following key areas for the

session were suggested (WG 21 Endnote 3):

» Evolutionary consequences of invasions:
“Know too much about ecology?
Evolutionary consequences of marine NIS
invasions on native species”.  Studies
abound documenting ecological impacts
(i.e., displacement, mortality, etc.) of NIS
upon native populations, but there are
comparatively few studies that demonstrate
evolutionary impacts. As such, abstracts
that address the topic of evolutionary
impacts of NIS on native biota have to be
solicited, and specifically, these abstracts
need to demonstrate clear evolutionary
responses of native species to selective
pressure from invasive NIS. For example,
an NIS invading and displacing a native
species is an ecological consequence, but a
native species evolving new anti-predator
defenses in response to the invasion of an
NIS is an evolutionary response;

» Ecosystem effects of bioinvasions;
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» Impacts of climate change projections (and
oceanographic variability) on bioinvasions:
“Global climate change and its influence on
the range expansion of NIS, and the
amplitude and frequency of bioinvasions — it
is not just for natives anymore”;

= C(Criteria used to identify species as native or
non-native.

A balance must be reached between having too
many topic areas vs. a very narrow selection that
would reduce participation. Submitted abstracts
that closely adhere to the theme would have
priority for oral presentation, those that are more
generally related to NIS can be accommodated
for oral presentation as space allows or
presented as posters.

Travel funds are requested from PICES for 2
invited speakers to attend the session. Should
the session be approved, invited speakers must
be secured as soon as possible. A few names
were suggested (James Carlton, Chad Hewitt,
Nicholas Bax, John Chapman, Andrew Cohen,
David Pimentel, David Lodge, Michelle Mack,
Daniel Simberloff, Ted Grosholz).

Discussion of potential joint ICES/PICES
meetings (Agenda Item 8)

Two options for a joint meeting of ICES/PICES
were discussed. The first is to take advantage of
WG 21 members’ participation in the upcoming
5t International Marine Bioinvasions
Conference in May 2007 (see Agenda Item 9).
The second is to have it in conjunction with
PICES XVI in October 2007. The following
topics for discussion at the joint meeting were
proposed:

= ballast water sampling methods;

= NIS databases;

= taxonomic challenges;

= ICES Code of Practice for ship hull fouling

= rapid response and control options.

It was suggested that a member of the U.S.
Aquatic Nuisance Species Task Force be invited
to the joint meeting. The issue of travel funds
was raised by a number of WG 21 members.



Fifth International Marine Bioinvasions
Conference (Agenda Item 9)

Dr. Judith Pederson provided an overview of the
Conference to be held May 21-24, 2007, in
Cambridge, Massachusetts, U.S.A. Details can
be found on the Conference website at
http:/massbay.mit.edu or http://www.mit.edu/
mitseagrantweb. Deadline for abstracts
submission is January 2007. All WG 21
members are encouraged to attend the
conference.

Informal round table discussion on priority
aquatic invasive species issues in PICES-
member countries (Agenda Item 10)

Canada — Discussion included: developing data
standards related to geo-referencing and format
and coding standards (including taxonomic
issues related to standard species codes) as they
relate to information transfer from regional to
national initiatives; a summary of programs
underway related to ballast water; bioinvasion
biology, surveys and monitoring; risk
assessment; rapid response plans and citizen
engagement. Vectors of particular concern are
ballast water, fouling, live seafood and aquarium
trades.

China — Priority issues were non-native seagrass
(Spartina) that invaded from North America in
the 1960s and an exotic bivalve that invaded
from Hong Kong and competes for food
resources with cultured species.

Japan — Discussion focused on benthic
community invasion in Tokyo Bay, including
high densities of Mediterranean [European?]
green crab, North American spider crab and
Atlantic quahog clams. Interestingly, these
species are dominant in polluted areas which
limit their interaction with native species.

Russia — Priority issues were increased natural
dispersal of tropical species in response to global
warming; increased risk of invasion due to
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shipping traffic to a proposed oil terminal; and
species of particular concern (tunicates and
spionid polychaetes).

U.S. — Discussion points included development
of control management plans; increased
awareness in the scientific community of NIS
issues (the possibility of research projects as
vectors); the need to develop information bases
for native species (as our native is someone
else’s invader); and the need to be cognizant of
potentially large ecological effects of relatively
small species (e.g., Potamocurbula).

Summary of recommendations to MEQ

WG 21 seeks MEQ approval of the following
recommendations:

1. To hold a joint meeting of WG 21 with the
ICES Working Group on Introductions and
Transfers of Marine Organisms and the
ICES/IOC/IMO Working Group on Ballast
Waters and Other Ship Vectors, in
fulfillment of one of its Terms of Reference.
The meeting would be convened May 25-26,
2007, in Cambridge (U.S.A.), immediately
following the Fifth International Marine
Bioinvasions Conference.  Travel funds
from PICES are requested to permit 1
Chinese and 1 Russian member to attend the
Conference and the joint meeting.

2. To convene a Topic Session at PICES XVI
in Victoria, Canada. This session would
focus on the following key areas:
= Evolutionary consequences of invasions;
» Ecosystem effects of bioinvasions;

» Impacts of climate change projections
(and oceanographic variability) on
bioinvasions;

Travel funds from PICES are requested for 2

invited speakers for this session.

3. To request that Russia nominate Dr. Vasily

Radashevsky as a member of WG 21, and
that he be named as WG 21 Co-Chairman.
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WG 21 Endnote 1

Participation list

Members

Evgenyi Barabanshchikov (Russia)
Blake Feist (U.S.A.)

Toshio Furota (Japan)

Graham Gillespie (Canada)

Henry Lee II (U.S.A))

Bruce Mundy (U.S.A.)

Darlene Smith (Canada, Chairman)
Lijun Wang (China)

WG 21 Endnote 2

Observers

Galina Gavrilova (Russia)

Jeffrey Herod (U.S.A.)

Anders Jelmert (Norway, ICES WGBOSV)
Adolf Kellermann (ICES)

Judith Pederson (U.S.A., ICES WGITMO)
Vasily Radashevsky (Russia)

Debbie Reusser (U.S.A.)

Chiemi Tezuka (Japan)

WG 21 meeting agenda

Welcome and introductions

Nomination of a rapporteur

Adoption of agenda

Review of WG 21 Terms of Reference
Review of progress in accomplishing the
Terms of Reference

6. Develop a plan for completing the Terms of
Reference

M

WG 21 Endnote 3

7. PICES XVI — Proposal for a Topic Session
on invasive species

8. Discussion of potential joint ICES/PICES
meetings

9. Fifth International Marine Bioinvasions
Conference

10. Informal round table discussion on priority
aquatic invasive species issues in PICES
member countries

Proposal for a 1-day MEQ Topic Session at PICES XVI on
“Non-indigenous species: Climate change, evolutionary consequences and ecological impacts”

The global community is becoming increasingly
aware of the importance of invasions of non-
indigenous species in the marine environment.
The issue is extremely complex. This session
will be limited to three sub-topics of interest to
PICES member countries:

1) Global climate change is  further
complicating the study and prediction of
bioinvasions and its influence on the range
expansion of non-indigenous species (NIS)
and the amplitude and frequency of
bioinvasions. This is particularly the case in
areas where bioinvasions have been halted
by climatic conditions. We are seeking
presentations that document the impact of
climate change on marine bioinvasions.

2) Studies abound documenting ecological
impacts (i.e., displacement, mortality, efc.)
of NIS upon native populations, but there
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are comparatively few studies that
demonstrate evolutionary impacts. As such,
we are soliciting papers that address the
topic of evolutionary impacts of NIS on
native biota, and specifically, presentations
that demonstrate clear  evolutionary
responses of native species to selective
pressure from invasive NIS. For example,
an NIS invading and displacing a native
species is an ecological consequence, but a
native species evolving new anti-predator
defenses in response to the invasion of an
NIS is an evolutionary response.

3) Finally, we seek presentations that show the
ecological impacts of bioinvasions that have
led to declines in wild fisheries and
mariculture.

Recommended convenors: Blake Feist (U.S.A.)
and Graham Gillespie (Canada).
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REPORT OF THE STUDY GROUP ON GOOS

The Study Group to develop a strategy for
GOOS (hereafter SG-GOOS) met form 18:30—
20:30 hours on October 17, to consider the draft
report of SG-GOOS to MONITOR. All Study
Group members were in attendance (SG-GOOS
Endnote 1). The SG-GOOS Terms of Reference
are presented as SG-GOOS Endnote 2.

An extensive discussion of the draft report
occupied the available time at the meeting.
Preliminary recommendations were expended to
clarify the role of PICES as a coordinator of
observing systems. It was noted that clarity
must be achieved on what is an observing
system*. In the future, it will be important to
distinguish between observing systems, as
indefinitely long-term multi-disciplinary
integrated monitoring systems, and programs for
producing a limited time series of observations
for limited periods of time.

Recommendations

It is recommended that:

» PICES should not propose a North Pacific
GOOS pilot project to I-GOOS;

= PICES should establish a coordinating body
for North Pacific observing systems, NPOS,
as a section under MONITOR (SG-GOOS
Endnote 3). This NPOS Section would
provide a forum for representatives of the
existing North Pacific observing systems to
develop, in cooperation with TCODE, cross-
GRA (GOOS Regional Alliance)
international observing projects, observing
technologies, and data and information
sharing protocols, starting in 2007;

= the Terms of Reference of the MONITOR
Committee be modified to explicitly include
facilitation of cooperation, communication
and coordination among North Pacific ocean
observing systems.

* Working definition - Observing systems are bodies organized for
long-term monitoring of marine environments

Next steps

It was suggested that the next steps should

include:

» Sending a PICES representative to the 3™
Forum of GOOS Regional Alliances to be
held on November 14-17, 2006, in Cape
Town, South Africa. It appears that
Dr. Vyacheslav Lobanov may be able to
attend; however, Dr. Skip McKinnell may
be able to serve as a backup;

=  Contacting the GOOS Scientific Steering
Committee (GSSC) to explore possible roles
for PICES in the context of the broad
objectives recommended above;

= Requesting the coordination role of PICES
be placed on the agenda of the next GSSC
meeting to be held on March 13-17, 2007, in
Seoul, Korea, and sending a representative
from the NPOS Section to attend this
meeting. Dr. Dong-Young Lee, who chairs
GSSC along with Dr. John Field, has offered
to facilitate participation by the NPOS
Section should it be approved by Council;

= Establishing contacts with the leadership of
the relevant GRAs to explore ways in which
PICES can enable their development and
facilitate coordination with other North
Pacific GRAs. The NPOS Section, if
approved, will make these contacts, based
on the information provided in Table 1;

= Tasking the NPOS Section to report
annually on progress, and preparing further
recommendations on relations between
MONITOR and North Pacific GRAs for the
purpose of developing scientifically and
technically sound observing systems. This
report would address status of coordination
among the components of existing observing
systems, status of cross-GRA projects such
as the Continuous Plankton Recorder project,
progress in establishing foundations for
scientifically sound observing systems, and
progress in the use of common information
exchange methods such as the Global
Telecommunications System (GTS).
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Table 1  Draft survey of North Pacific Ocean Observing Systems including LMEs.
Acronym or title | Contact Party | Status | Real time
Western North Pacific
NEAR-GOOS Takashi Yoshida E Y
CREAMS/PICES Kyung-Ryul Kim and Yasunori Sakurai E N
EAST1 Kyung-I1 Chang E N
SEATS Kon-Kee Liu E Y
YELLOW SEA LME Yihang Jiang E N
YOOS Gongke Tan P
Eastern North Pacific (north — south)

AOOS Molly McCammon E Y
Canada Pacific Coast David Mackas E Y
NANOOS Jan Newton and David Martin E Y
NEPTUNE Canada Chris Barnes E Y
ORION K. Daly P Y
PaCOOS Dolores Wesson E Y
CeNCOOS Heather Kerkering E Y
SCCOOS Eric Terrill E Y
PaclOOS Eileen Shea E Y

Legend: E= existing, P= planned, Y= yes, N=no
Justifications

The establishment of the NPOS Section:

=  Meets the PICES mission of promoting
cooperation and collaboration in marine
sciences among member nations; a forum
for international collaboration within each
region is much needed;

=  Meets MONITOR Terms of Reference to
promote international cooperation in
development of  observing  projects,
observing systems and means of data
gathering and information exchange;

»  Provides workers and contacts to assist in
the production of the North Pacific
Ecosystem Status Report, which is the
responsibility of MONITOR.

Identification of North Pacific Observing
Systems

The identification of specific data types by
observing systems has been deferred pending the
results of the Intergovernmental Oceanographic
Commission (IOC) Circular Letter No. 2199,
requesting that member states provide “National
contributions to the Global Ocean Observing
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System” which will be available at PICES XVI,
and subsequent reports of the proposed
MONITOR NPOS Section. In lieu of this
information, two summary tables (Tables 1 and
2) have been provided.

Table 2 North Pacific Observing System
national contacts and potential NPOS Section
members.

Canada William Crawford E
David Mackas E

China Shaohua Lin E
Hiroya Sugisaki E

Japan Sei-Ichi Saitoh E
Korea Hee-Dong Jeong E
Russia Vyacheslav Lobanov E
Evgeny Karasev E

. Jack Barth E
United States Phillip Mundy E

With input from the participants, SG-GOOS
identified potential members of a North Pacific
Observing Systems Section within MONITOR.
Drs. Mundy and Lobanov were identified as
possible Co-Chairmen.
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Terms of Reference for a Study Group to develop a strategy for GOOS

1. Identify and describe the major observing
systems (present and proposed) in the
PICES region. Descriptions should include
general data types, contact information, and
data transmission (real-time vs. delayed);
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2. Provide a recommendation and justification
to MONITOR on whether or not PICES
should propose a North Pacific GOOS pilot
project to IGOOS.

Proposed Terms of Reference for a Section on North Pacific Observing Systems (NPOS)

To establish a NPOS Section to:

1. Develop a scientific coordinating relation-
ship with international GOOS (I-GOOS)
through appropriate GOOS  Scientific
Steering Committees and regional observing
systems;

2. Provide a forum for communication for
existing North Pacific observing systems;

3. Assist in the development of international
observing projects and observing
technologies;

4. Aid, working in cooperation with TCODE,
the development of data and information
sharing protocols and the use of common
information exchange methods such as the
Global Telecommunications System (GTS).
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REPORT OF THE IMPLEMENTATION PANEL ON
THE CCCC PROGRAM

The Executive Committee of the Climate
Change and Carrying Capacity Program
Implementation Panel (hereafter CCCC-IP/EC)
met from 18:00-20:00 hours on October 15,
2006. The meeting was chaired by Drs. Harold
P. Batchelder and Suam Kim. The Co-
Chairmen welcomed the participants, and after
brief introductions of those present (CCCC-IP
Endnote 1), the draft agenda was reviewed and
adopted with slight modifications (CCCC-IP
Endnote 2).

Business from PICES XIV (Agenda Item 3)

The minutes from PICES XIV (October 2005,
Vladivostok, Russia) were accepted as is. No
other items on-going from last year’s meeting
required discussion.

Review of procedures for Best Presentation
Awards and Closing Ceremony

Awards for CCCC Best Oral and Poster
Presentations were announced at the Closing
Session. The Secretariat provided a list of
presentations that were eligible for this award.
Drs. Batchelder and Kim agreed to serve as
judges to determine the best CCCC oral
presentation from the eligible papers in the
CCCC Topic Sessions (S6), FIS/CCCC Topic
Session (S7) and the CCCC Paper Session.
Dr. Batchelder was nominated and agreed to
select the CCCC best poster for PICES XV. Ms.
Muzzneena Ahmad Mustapha (Hokkaido
University, Japan) won the CCCC Best Oral
Presentation Award for her paper (co-authored
by Sei-Ichi Saitoh) on “Interannual variations of
sea ice and spring bloom occurrences at the
Japanese scallop farming area in the Okhotsk
Sea”, presented at the CCCC Paper Session.
Ms. Yasuko Kamezawa (Hokkaido University,
Japan) won the CCCC Best Poster Presentation
Award for her paper (co-authored by Tomonori
Azumaya, Toru Nagazawa and Michio J. Kishi)

on ‘“Bioenergetics model of Japanese chum
salmon (Oncorhynchus keta) growth”, presented
at the FIS/CCCC Topic Session (S7).

Documentation of scientific sessions (Agenda
Item 4)

CCCC-IP/EC discussed responsibilities for
documenting CCCC-sponsored Topic Sessions
and workshops at PICES XV. Dr. Suam Kim
reminded the Committee that documentation of
scientific sessions and workshops is required of
session/workshop convenors. At PICES XV this
responsibility rests with: Dr. Shin-ichi Ito for
the CCCC Topic Session (S6) on “Modeling and
historical data analysis of pelagic fish, with
special focus on sardine and anchovy”;
Dr. Akihiko Yatsu for the FIS/CCCC Topic
Session (S7) on “Key recruitment processes and
life history strategies: Bridging the temporal
and spatial gap between models and data”;
Dr. Suam Kim for the CCCC Paper Session;
Dr. Fei Chai for the IFEP/MODEL Workshop
(W1) on “Modeling iron biogeochemistry and
ocean ecosystems”, and Dr. Kerim Y. Aydin for
the CCCC Workshop (W7) on “Climate forcing
and marine ecosystems”. These session and
workshop summaries were provided to
Dr. Batchelder by the end of Friday, October 20,
and are included in the Session Summaries
chapter of this Annual Report.

Progress reports of Task Team activities
(Agenda Item 5)

CCCC-IP/EC received reports of CCCC Task
Team activities from Co-Chairmen of MODEL
and CFAME. On October 20, both Task Teams
provided final reports that included a summary
on their progress since PICES XIV and
recommendations and planned activities for
2007, and even some for 2008.

Items of significance for CFAME were:
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= review of activities from the January 2006
CFAME workshop (Tokyo, Japan), April
2006 CCCC Symposium (Honolulu, U.S.A.)
and October 2006 CFAME workshop
(Yokohama, Japan);

» discussion of future work within the
CFAME Terms of Reference;

= discussion on the theme for the next major
PICES scientific program (FUTURE);

= overview of the Bering Sea Ecosystem
Study (BEST) of the GLOBEC regional
program on Ecosystem Studies of Sub-
Arctic Seas (ESSAS), and plans of the June
2007 ESSAS workshops in Hakodate, Japan;

= plans for an inter-sessional CFAME
workshop in the spring of 2007 and a joint
WG 20/CFAME workshop at PICES XVI in
Victoria, Canada. WG 20 is developing
scenarios of future climate in the North
Pacific for use by CFAME (and others) to
allow them to evaluate potential changes in
marine ecosystems. The results of the
spring 2007 inter-sessional workshop would
be CFAME’s contribution to the June 2007
ESSAS workshops and the October 2007
WG 20/CFAME workshop; and

= selection of a new CFAME Co-Chairman.

During the MODEL Task Team meeting the

participants discussed:

» the accomplishments of MODEL over the
past year;

= the outline for the next major PICES
scientific program (FUTURE);

= plans for 2006-2007;

= requests for travel to future meetings;

= various new businesses; and

= the MODEL membership and selection of a
new MODEL Co-Chairman.

Details of these discussions are provided in the
MODEL and CFAME Task Team reports.

GLOBEC’s activities on synthesis and
integration (Agenda Item 6)

Drs. Francisco E. Werner (Chairman of
GLOBEC-International SSC) and Dr. Manuel
Barange (Executive Director of GLOBEC IPO)
attended the CCCC IP/EC meeting to describe
the synthesis and integration activities of
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GLOBEC-International. GLOBEC-International
ends in 2009, however, the recently established
regional programs of GLOBEC such as
CLIOTOP (Climate Impacts on Oceanic Top
Predators) and ESSAS will continue beyond
2009, probably as part of a new science program
of IGBP (International Geosphere-Biosphere
Programme) called IMBER (Integrated Marine
Biogeochemistry and Ecosystem Research).
GLOBEC International and IMBER are
exploring ways to merge these continuing
GLOBEC programs into future IMBER
activities. Funding was also kindly offered by
GLOBEC-International to support travel costs of
scientists from non-PICES nations to CCCC-
related sessions at PICES XVI.

FUTURE - new PICES integrative scientific
program (Agenda Item 7)

CCCC members reviewed the draft outline for a
new PICES integrative scientific program on
Forecasting and  Understanding  Trends,
Uncertainties and Responses of the North
Pacific Ecosystem (FUTURE). There was
consensus that the direction of the proposed
program is good, and that the focus is consistent
with past and ongoing activities of the CCCC
Program.  Two major differences between
CCCC and FUTURE are the emphasis on
forecasting and on education, communication
and outreach in the latter. = FUTURE is
consistent with the planned activities of
MODEL and CFAME, and it is envisioned that
the activities of these two Task Teams could
become part of FUTURE.

There were, however, a number of concerns
expressed by CCCC members about the
FUTURE plan:

= The proposal emphasizes scientific work in
a policy and management context, but the
identity of the “clients” was not clear. Is it
resource managers, the general public, or
both?

» FUTURE is substantially different from
CCCC in that FUTURE has an external
constituency — there was a lack of consensus
among CCCC members whether this
constituency and the associated outreach and
communication that are needed to “connect”



science with management/policy would
require a different approach to science.
Some members felt that the best approach
was for scientists themselves to take on the
task of communicating science to policy
makers, but others felt that specialized
experts in communication will be required.

*  Although forecasts are technically feasible,
the quality of forecasts will be a major issue.
It will be very important that forecasts
intended for policy decisions include
estimates of wuncertainty (probabilities),
similar to what is presently done in weather
forecasting. In particular, ecosystem models
cannot yet provide useful long-term
forecasts.

= PICES should be focused on doing good
science, not on tailoring science to perceived
management needs; if science is high quality
and assists policy makers in decision-
processes, then managers will embrace the
science.

= Management systems and processes for
connecting science to management may
need to be tailored specifically for individual
member countries, and it is not clear that a
single program can address the needs of all.

= Scientific issues should be forwarded to the
managers properly, and the focus on
management and communications could
require a new group within PICES such as
an advisory panel to interpret science for
management and the public.  Research
scientists may not be the best people to play
the science policy role.

= The research on climate forcing and marine
ecosystem responses needs to also include
an emphasis on the short- and long-term
effects of episodic events such as jellyfish
outbreaks and hurricanes.

Changes in CCCC-IP/EC and Task Team
membership (Agenda Item 8)

The CCCC-IP/EC decided to:

* Endorse requests to replace Drs. Akihiko
Yatsu and Shin-ichi Ito with Drs. Young-
Shil Kang (Korea) and Hao Wei (China) as
new Co-Chairmen of CFAME and MODEL,
respectively;
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» Consider MODEL’s request for nomination
of two new members from Russia (instead
of Drs. Irina Ishmukova and Gennady
Kantakov), and addition of one new member
(TBD) from Canada.

CCCC-IP/EC asked Dr. Batchelder to continue
his chairmanship until the conclusion of the
CCCC synthesis phase and development of the
next PICES integrative scientific program, or
through PICES XVIII (2009), whichever comes
earlier. Dr. Michio J. Kishi has been elected as a
new CCCC-IP/EC Co-Chairman, replacing
Dr. Suam Kim.

Suggested changes in membership will be
forwarded to Science Board and Governing
Council for further actions.

The Executive Committee thanked the out-going
Co-Chairmen (Drs. Yatsu, Ito, and Kim) for
their leadership and contributions.

Proposals for new subsidiary bodies (Agenda
Item 9)

The Executive Committee did not receive any
proposals for new subsidiary bodies.

Planning for PICES XVI (Agenda Item 10)

The following scientific sessions and workshops

were proposed:

* a l-day CCCC/FIS Topic Session on
“Towards ecosystem-based management:
Recent developments and successes in multi-
species modeling” (MODEL Endnote 3);

* a l-day POC/CCCC/MONITOR Topic
Session on “Operational forecasts of oceans
and ecosystems” (POC Endnote 4);

= a l-day FIS/CCCC/BIO Topic Session on
“Fisheries interactions and local ecology”
(FIS Endnote 4);

= a l-day CCCC Contributed Paper Session
(CCCC Endnote 3); and

= a 1- or 1%-day POC/CCCC workshop,
preceding the 2007 Annual Meeting, on
“Climate scenarios for ecosystem modeling”
(CFAME Endnote 4).
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Theme proposal for PICES XVII (Agenda
Item 11)

CCCC-IP/EC had no specific suggestions
concerning the theme of the Science Board
Symposium at PICES XVII (October 2008,
Dalian, China).

CCCC inter-sessional activities and travel
support requests/priorities for October 2006-
October 2007 (Agenda Item 12)

The following inter-sessional meeting was

proposed for the period between October 2006

and October 2007:

= A CFAME inter-sessional workshop
(CFAME Endnote 3) on “Linking climate-
forcing mechanisms to indicators of species
ecosystem-level changes: A comparative
approach” in preparation for active
collaboration with WG 20, possibly held in
North America in the spring of 2007.
CCCC-IP/EC endorsed the CFAME request
to support 2 invited speakers for this
workshop (priority level 1).

CCCC-IP/EC requests travel support for:

= 23 CCCC scientists to attend the 4"
International ~ Zooplankton  Production
Symposium to be held May 28-June 1,
2007, in Hiroshima, Japan; it was noted that
this symposium is co-sponsored by PICES;

= 1 invited speaker for the CCCC/FIS Topic
Session on “Towards ecosystem-based
management:  Recent developments and
successes in  multi-species  modeling”
(priority level 2);

= 1 invited speaker for the POC/CCCC/
MONITOR Topic Session on “Operational
forecasts of oceans and ecosystems”
(priority level 2);

* 1 member of CFAME to attend the June
2007 ESSAS workshops (priority level 3).

Report of the April 2006 CCCC Symposium
(Agenda Item 13)

Dr. Batchelder reported on the PICES/GLOBEC
symposium on “Climate variability —and

ecosystem impacts on the North Pacific: A
basin-scale synthesis” held April 19-21, 2006,
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in Honolulu, U.S.A. A total of 90 scientists
from 12 countries attended the symposium. The
symposium  consisted of 3  sub-themes:
(1) Regime shifts; (2) Ecosystem productivity
and structural responses to physical forcing; and
(3) Pan-Pacific comparisons. Panelists shared
their thoughts and insights with audience at the
Closing Discussion (see PICES Press Vol. 14,
No. 2 for details). Outlets for future CCCC
products include the GLOBEC Open Science
Meeting in May 2009 and a planned GLOBEC
Synthesis Book.

CCCC Action Plan (Agenda Item 14)

No time was spent on this issue at the meeting,
except to note that Dr. Batchelder suggested that
he can update the CCCC Action Plan using
information provided by the CCCC Task Team:s.

Relations to other international organizations
and programs (Agenda Item 15)

ICES and regional/national GLOBEC programs
remain the highest priority relations for the
CCCC Program. CCCC-IP/EC identified
linkages with ICES, GLOBEC-International,
and the North Pacific Research Board (NPRB)
as high priorities for the coming year. Also,
there are several regional coastal observing
programs in the Northeast Pacific (e.g., AOOS,
PaCOOS, PNW-IOOS), the Northwest Pacific
(e.g., CREAMS, NEAR-GOOS), that PICES
should maintain connections with. CCCC-
IP/EC must interact closely with NPAFC to
address salmon issues of interest to the CCCC
Program in the North Pacific.

Other business (Agenda Item 17)

Projected CCCC publications

* The scientific contributions of NEMURO
and NEMURO.FISH will be published as a
special issue of Ecological Modelling in the
first quarter of 2007. Drs. M.J. Kishi, S.-I.
Ito, B.A. Megrey and F.E. Werner are the
Guest Editors of the special issue.

= A collection of papers from the April 2006
CCCC synthesis symposium will be
published as a special issue of Progress in



Oceanography in 2008. Drs. Batchelder and
Suam Kim are the Guest Editor of the
special issue. Nineteen papers were
submitted for review, but not all may be
published. The target date for finishing all
papers is June 2007.

A final report of the CCCC Program is
expected to be published in the PICES
Scientific Report Series between PICES
XVI and PICES XVII.

ICES/PICES Early Career Scientist Conference

Dr. Suam Kim described recent progress in
planning the ICES/PICES Conference for Early

CCCC Endnote 1
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Career Scientists on “New frontiers in marine
science” to be held June 26-29, 2007, in
Baltimore (U.S.A.).

Recommendations to Science Board (Agenda
Item 16)

CCCC-IP/EC recommends the approval of
changes in the CCCC-IP/EC and Task Team
membership proposed under Agenda Item 8
above;

CCCC-IP/EC recommends the approval of
the sessions/workshops and travel requests
detailed under Agenda Items 10 and 12.

Participation list

Members

Kerim Y. Aydin (U.S.A.)

Harold P. Batchelder (U.S.A., Co-Chairman)
Shin-Ichi Ito (Japan)

Suam Kim (Korea, Co-Chairman)

William T. Peterson (U.S.A.)

Thomas C. Wainwright (U.S.A.)

Observers

Michio J. Kishi (Japan)
Manuel Barange (GLOBEC International)
Francisco E. Werner (GLOBEC International)

CCCC-IP/EC meeting agenda

Akihiko Yatsu (Japan)

CCCC Endnote 2

1. Welcome and opening remarks

2. Adoption of agenda

3. Business from PICES XIV

4. Review of responsibilities for documenting
CCCC Topic Sessions and workshops

5. Progress reports of Task Team (CFAME and
MODEL) activities

6. Presentation of GLOBEC’s activities on
synthesis and integration

7. FUTURE —new PICES integrative scientific
program

8. Changes in CCCC-IP/EC and Task Team
membership

9. Proposals for new CCCC subsidiary bodies

10.
11.
12.

13.

14

15.

16.

17.

Planning for PICES XVI

Theme proposal for PICES XVII

Planned CCCC inter-sessional activities and
travel support requests/priorities for October
2006-October 2007

Report on the April 2006 CCCC Synthesis
Symposium

CCCC Action Plan

Relations with other international programs
and organizations

Preparation of the CCCC report to Science
Board

Other business

173



CCCC-2006

CCCC Endnote 3

Proposal for a 1-day CCCC Contributed Paper Session at PICES XVI

North Pacific ecosystems and their response to
climate variability have experienced intense
study through GLOBEC and similar programs
over the past 10 years. The PICES Climate
Change and Carrying Capacity (CCCC)
Program addressed the question of “how do
interannual and decadal variations in ocean
conditions affect the species dominance,
biomass and productivity of the key zooplankton
and fish species in North Pacific ecosystems?”.
Ultimately, a goal of the CCCC Program was to
forecast possible consequences of climate
variability on the North Pacific ecosystem. As
the CCCC Program nears completion, it is
worthwhile to examine the program’s successes
on addressing the key elements: climate change,
carrying capacity, and forecasting. This
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evaluation will provide useful information for
moving forward with successor PICES
integrative programs like FUTURE:
Forecasting and  Understanding  Trends,
Uncertainty and Responses of North Pacific
Ecosystems.  We invite abstracts that infer
processes from patterns and link climate, ocean
physics, populations and ecosystems.
Provocative  abstracts that retrospectively
examine the successes and shortcomings of the
CCCC Program are welcome, as are more
traditional presentations on climate, ecosystems
and forecasting.

Recommended convenors: Harold P. Batchelder
(U.S.A.) and Michio J. Kishi (Japan).
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REPORT OF CFAME TASK TEAM

The Climate Forcing and Marine Ecosystems
Task Team (hereafter CFAME) met from 09:00—
12:00 hours on October 15, 2006. Attending
were 11 Task Team members and 7 observers
(CFAME Endnote 1). The agenda was reviewed
and adopted without modification (CFAME
Endnote 2).

Inter-sessional activities (Agenda Item 2)

Dr. Akihiko Yatsu gave an overview of the
results of the January 2006 CFAME workshop
that was convened in Tokyo, Japan. These
results were described in greater detail at the
April 2006 PICES/GLOBEC Symposium on
“Climate variability and ecosystem impacts on
the North Pacific: A basin-scale synthesis” that
was held in Honolulu, U.S.A. A manuscript was
submitted for the special issue of Progress in
Oceanography that will follow the symposium.
In brief, the manuscript examines species with
different life history strategies (opportunistic,
periodic, equilibrium, salmonic, intermediate) in
the North Pacific and postulates mechanisms
whereby climate might affect them.  For
example, the mechanism for intermediate
strategists (e.g., walleye pollock) appears to be
ecosystem dependent (i.e., different mechanisms
in different ecosystems). This research is being
conducted to develop the Ecosystem Research
component of the CFAME  workplan,
specifically with regard to linking life-history
strategies to ecosystems, and to answer the
question “why do species with the same life
histories have different abundance trajectories in
different ecosystems?”.

Dr. Kerim Y. Aydin reviewed the CFAME
discussion of carrying capacity at the January
2006 workshop. Carrying capacity can be
defined as productivity (i.e., rates) and not
traditionally as production. This concept was
also presented at the April 2006 PICES/
GLOBEC Symposium. Due to a lack of time for
ecosystem comparisons at the January 2006
workshop, this idea was not written up but will

be further developed within the Ecosystem
Research component of the CFAME workplan.

CFAME workshop at PICES XV (Agenda
Item 3)

Dr. Jacquelynne R. King gave an overview of
the CFAME workshop held at PICES XV on
October 13, 2006 (see Session Summaries
chapter). It was attended by 21 participants,
from all PICES member countries, and included
presentations from the United States, Russia,
Korea and China. This workshop addressed the
first stage of the Ecosystem Research component
outlined in the CFAME workplan. The
objectives of the workshop were to review the
three ecosystems identified at the October 2005
CFAME meeting at PICES XIV in Vladivostok,
Russia: the California Current system, the Sea
of Okhotsk and the Yellow/East China Seas.

For each region, conceptual mechanisms of
climate forcing were identified. @~ Workshop
participants noted that each ecosystem had
different climate forcing mechanisms: boundary
current upwelling (California Current), sea ice
(Sea of Okhotsk), and freshwater input (East
China/Yellow Seas). Discussion also focused on
ways to classify and compare ecosystems.
Overall, the method employed will depend on
the researchers involved and the level of data
available for the ecosystems of interest.
However, workshop participants agreed on the
general themes captured by various ecosystem
indicators and methods of comparison: food
web structure, life history composition,
structural stability, size composition, and change
in rates (e.g., PB vs. B, PB diversity pathways,
predation load). It was suggested that such a list
of specific comparison types could be made, and
data could be obtained for these comparisons
from each ecosystem. This idea provided strong
motivation for an inter-sessional meeting on
ecosystem-level carrying capacity and other
ecosystem properties in 2007 (see request under
Agenda Item 6).
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Report of ESSAS activities (Agenda Item 4)

Dr. George L. Hunt presented an overview of
the Bering Sea Ecosystem Study (BEST), a
research group participating in the GLOBEC
regional program on Ecosystem Studies of Sub-
Arctic Seas (ESSAS). ESSAS aims to compare,
quantify and predict the impact of climate
variability and global change on the productivity
and sustainability of sub-Arctic marine
ecosystems, one of which is the Bering Sea.
BEST is a large international and integrated
research group. Its first focus will be on the
effect of sea ice reduction (or absence). This
topic is similar to CFAME’s focus on the
importance of sea ice in the Sea of Okhotsk. In
June 2007, ESSAS will convene two workshops
in Hakodate (Japan) on: (1) the role of sea ice in
subarctic ecosystems and (2) evaluation of
climate change projections for each of the
ESSAS regions. These two workshops should
be of interest to CFAME, particularly to the
Ecosystem Research and Scenario components
of its workplan.

Future Integrative Science Program (FISP)
(Agenda Item Sa)

Overall, the FISP outline includes the key

scientific issues of interest to CFAME, and to a

varying degree, all are relevant to the work of

CFAME. Most applicable are:

" marine ecosystem responses on seasonal,
annual and decadal time scales;

» climate forcing of physical, biological and
biogeochemical processes at scales ranging
from the entire North Pacific, to marginal
seas and convergence zones, to coastal
regions relevant to PICES member
countries;

= ecological interactions and linkages between
coastal and offshore waters, western and
eastern Pacific, northern and equatorial
Pacific, and marine, estuarine and
freshwater ecosystems;

* the cumulative impacts of multiple
ecosystem stresses on biological diversity.

The research conducted by CFAME is

applicable to the key activities proposed in FISP.
The work of CFAME will provide a basis for
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developing integrated models and scenarios of
ecosystem change that could be applied to
forecasting in a policy environment, although
this is currently not a focus of CFAME. Some
scientific issues that are missing or not yet
highlighted are: (1) identifying levels of
uncertainty in ecosystem forecasting, and
(2) communication of PICES research to outside
of the PICES community. Research on climate
forcing needs to include episodic responses (e.g.,
jellyfish outbreaks) to extreme warming events,
affects of episodic climate events (hurricanes)
and the changing structure of ecosystems.

Progress on CFAME Terms of Reference and
Workplan (Agenda Item Sb)

The January 2006 workshop was shortened from
3 to 2 days to accommodate members’ schedules.
As a result, the preliminary Ecosystem Research
component was postponed until October 2006.
CFAME is therefore approximately 6 months
behind in its workplan and proposes an inter-
sessional workshop in the spring of 2007 to
finalize its work on ecosystem mechanisms of
climate forcing. This workshop will focus on
formalizing the conceptual mechanisms of
climate forcing; and applying the comparative
approach to the selected focus ecosystems: the
California Current system, the Sea of Okhotsk
and the Yellow/East China Seas. Additionally,
the Kuroshio/Oyashio Current system will be
included since many of the species—mechanism
work conducted by CFAME is applicable to this
system, and it represents a second boundary
current-dominated ecosystem which could
simplify the comparisons between ecosystems
by selecting two with similar dominant
characteristics (i.e., compared to the California
Current system).

It was noted that there is potential overlap of
CFAME Terms of Reference with the objectives
of the PICES XV FIS workshop (W2) on
“Linking climate to trends in productivity of key
commercial species in the subarctic Pacific”
(see the Session Summaries chapter of this
Annual Report), so it was suggested that if this
workshop was to lead to future work by the FIS
Committee, collaboration between the two
groups should be encouraged.



Interaction with WG 20 on Evaluations of
climate change projections (Agenda Item Sc)

Several CFAME members attended all or part of
the PICES XV POC workshop on “Evaluations
of climate change projections” (W5) and were
encouraged that climate modeling results would
be available for CFAME’s modeling efforts. It
was suggested that the period for greater
interaction between CFAME and POC WG 20
on FEvaluations of climate change projections
would follow the proposed 2007 inter-sessional
CFAME workshop. A joint workshop of the
two groups in conjunction with PICES XVI
would be timely.

Workshops and Topic Sessions for 2007
(Agenda Item 6)

CFAME placed their highest priority on a series

of workshops. The sequence is as follows:

1. A CFAME workshop in the spring of 2007
(CFAME Endnote 3) to complete the
comparisons  of  ecosystem  forcing,
structuring, and controlling mechanisms, in
preparation for a collaboration with WG 20
in predicting future ecosystem states and
controlling mechanisms. It was suggested
that this workshop should be held in North
America, possibly in conjunction with a
workshop that was proposed as a follow-up
from the PICES XV FIS workshop. The
workshop could also be held in conjunction
with the June ESSAS workshops in
Hakodate, but it was felt that interactions
between CFAME and ESSAS would be
more focused if CFAME had completed this
component of its workplan earlier in the
spring, before discussing their results with
ESSAS. It was also noted that attendance of
North American members to an inter-
sessional meeting in Japan might be difficult
after three successive CFAME meetings in
Asia (two annual and one inter-sessional).

2. A joint WG 20/CFAME workshop at PICES
XVI where CFAME members would present
the results of their inter-sessional meeting,
and the feasibility and schedule for
providing climate scenarios for CFAME
models would be discussed (CFAME
Endnote 4).
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3. A WG 20/CFAME series of workshops
and/or Topic Sessions beginning in 2008,
possibly under the auspices of the new
PICES integrated program (FUTURE).

MODEL presented a proposal for a joint
CCCC/FIS Topic Session at PICES XVI to
compare different model structures with climate
forcing mechanisms to determine what
advantages different components of a modeling
“suite” might have for making biological
projections (MODEL Endnote 3). CFAME
agreed that this is a priority for a Topic Session
and for CCCC in general. Dr. Vera Agostini
was nominated as a co-convenor.

Drs. Aydin and Elizabeth Logerwell described a
potential FIS/CCCC/BIO Topic Session on the
importance and methods of measuring local
interactions (e.g., between predators on prey)
and links to modeling (FIS Endnote 4). There is
a potential for collaboration with ICES on this
proposal. While CFAME felt that this topic was
interesting, they suggested that FIS should take
the lead in proposing this session, with CCCC
(CFAME) acting as an interested collaborator.
Several suggestions were made on the wording
of the session description to broaden its interest
to member nations, although these comments
have not been included in the proposal.

Travel requests/priorities for 2007 (Agenda
Item 7)

CFAME requests support (in the order of

priority) for:

1. 2 scientists to attend the proposed spring
2007 inter-sessional CFAME workshop
(CFAME Endnote 3). One of the two
invitees will be a Russian scientist to
provide data for the Sea of Okhotsk. 